
 
July 1, 2014                                      CITY COUNCIL AGENDA                                        6:00 p.m. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
 

HONORS AND RECOGNITIONS 
  
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD 
 
4.    CONSENT AGENDA 

a.   Minutes of the Regular City Council meeting held on June 3, 2014 and the Workshop held on   
June 25, 2014 

b.   Approval of Accounts Payable Voucher Numbers: 
- Voucher Numbers 158563 through 158572 in the amount of $895.32. 
- Voucher Numbers 158573 through 158728 in the amount of $389,410.05. 
- Voucher Numbers 158729 through 158882 in the amount of $859,870.43.  

 Approval of Payroll Check Numbers:  
- Direct Deposit Numbers 31479 through 31633.  
- EFT Numbers 624 through 628.  
- Payroll Check Numbers 97270 through 97322.    

c.   Motion to authorize the Mayor to re-appoint Terry Lacey to the Police Department Community 
Advisory Board for a 4-year term. 

d.   Motion to Approve Finance Advisor Professional Services Agreement 
e.   Motion to Approve the Emergency Crescent Harbor Outfall Repair 
f.    Motion to Authorize the Mayor to sign the Letter of Intent to participate in the Island County    
      Multi-Jurisdiction Hazard Mitigation Plan 

 g.   Motion to Authorize the Mayor to sign an Interlocal Agreement with Whatcom, Skagit and  
      Island County jurisdictions establishing a HOME consortium for 2015-17  
h.   Motion to Authorize Purchase of a Toro Mower for Public Works 

 i.    Motion to Authorize the Mayor to sign a Lease Agreement with the Opportunity Council for  
       two (2) City-owned properties 
 j.    Motion to appoint Ron Apgar and Michelle Curry to the Lodging Tax Advisory Committee and  
                  review Committee Membership 
 k.   Motion to Authorize the Mayor to appoint Clifford Howard to the Planning Commission 

 
 
 
5. STAFF, MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS 

a. City Administrator 
b. Mayor 
c. Councilmembers 

 
 
 
 
 

To assure disabled persons the opportunity to participate in or benefit from City services, please provide 24-hour advance  
notice to the City Clerk at (360) 279-4539 for additional arrangements to reasonably accommodate special needs. 

 1



 
July 1, 2014                                      CITY COUNCIL AGENDA                                        6:00 p.m. 
 

 
6. ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 
 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS/PUBLIC MEETINGS 
 a.  Resolution 14-23:  Solid Waste Comprehensive Plan for Island County 
          
 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
 
9.         NEW BUSINESS 
 a.   Police Department 2013 Annual Report 
 b.   Motion to approve the GC/CM Pre-construction Professional Services Agreement for the 
                  Waste Water Treatment Plant with Hoffman  
 c.   Motion to approve the Construction Management Professional Services Agreement with KBA 
                  for the 42-Inch Outfall Project 

d.   Motion to approve the Archaeology Professional Services Agreement with ERCI for the 42-
Inch Outfall Project 

 e.   Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services 
       Agreement with Gray & Osborne for Construction Engineering Services related to the North    
                  Reservoir Project  

f. Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services Agree-
ment with MTC related to the North Reservoir Project 

g.   Motion to Confirm the Mayor’s Appointment of Nikki Esparza as City Attorney and Approve an 
Employment Agreement with Nikki Esparza 

h.   Motion to approve Retainer Agreement for Municipal Legal and Support Services with Weed, 
Graafstra and Benson, Inc. 

i.    Motion to Authorize the Mayor to sign the SECTOR Services Agreement between Oak Harbor  
      Police Department and Washington State Patrol 
 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
As a courtesy to Council and the audience, PLEASE TURN YOUR CELL PHONES OFF before the meeting begins. 
During the meeting’s Public Comments section, Council will listen to your input regarding subjects of concern or 
interest that are not on the agenda. 
 
For scheduled public hearings, if you wish to speak, please sign your name to the sign-up sheet, located in the 
Council Chambers. The Council will take all information under advisement. To ensure your comments are recorded 
properly, state your name and address clearly into the microphone.  Please limit your comments to three minutes in 
order that other citizens have sufficient time to speak. 
 

Thank you for participating in your City Government! 

To assure disabled persons the opportunity to participate in or benefit from City services, please provide 24-hour advance  
notice to the City Clerk at (360) 279-4539 for additional arrangements to reasonably accommodate special needs. 

 2



Oak Harbor City Council 
Regular Meeting Minutes 

June 3, 2014 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Dudley called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 
Present:      Staff Present: 
Mayor Scott Dudley     City Administrator Larry Cort 
Mayor Pro Tem Danny Paggao   Finance Director Doug Merriman 
Councilmember Joel Servatius   City Attorney Nikki Esparza 
Councilmember Jim Campbell   Chief of Police Ed Green 
Councilmember Rick Almberg   Chief of Fire Ray Merrill 
Councilmember Tara Hizon    Development Serv. Director Steve Powers 
Councilmember Bob Severns    Exec. Assist. to the Mayor Kellye Mazzoli 
       Human Resources Director Sara Piccone 
       Senior Planner Ethan Spoo 
        
          
Councilmember Munns was absent. 
         

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INVOCATION 
 

Mia Wallgren, Pastor of First Church of Christ, Scientist, gave the invocation, and Mayor Scott 
Dudley lead the pledge of allegiance.  
 

HONORS AND RECOGNITIONS 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

Mayor Dudley invited Jane Lopez-Santillana, Children’s Librarian at Oak Harbor Library to the 
podium and recognized Sue Norman, Supporter of Oak Harbor Library, and then read the Proc-
lamation for Explore Summer Reading Week – June 23rd - 29th, 2014 
 
Jane Lopez-Santillana thanked the City Council for recognizing Oak Harbor Library Summer 
Reading Programs and invited citizens to become involved.  

 
  

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

Motion:   Councilmember Campbell moved to amend the Agenda to add 9.e to cancel June 17,    
    2014 City Council meeting.  Councilmember Servatius seconded the motion,    
    and the motion carried unanimously. 

 
Motion:  Councilmember Severns moved to approve the Agenda as amended.   
  Councilmember Campbell seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously.   
 
Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 1 
 
 3



CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD 
 

Mayor Scott Dudley opened the citizen comment period at 6:13 p.m.  
 

Skip Pohtilla commented on the training fire. 
 
Mayor Dudley closed the comment period at 6:14 p.m. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

 
a.   Minutes of the Regular City Council meeting held May 20, 2014 and Workshop meet-

ing held on May 28, 2014. 
b.   Approval of Accounts Payable Voucher Numbers 

-     Vouchers Numbers 158422 through 158560 in the amount of $359,219.42. 
 Approval of Payroll Check Numbers 

- Direct Deposit Numbers 31195 through 31347 
- EFT Numbers 616 through 620 
- Payroll Check Numbers 97200 through 97256 

 
Motion:  Councilmember Hizon moved to approve the Consent Agenda items as presented. 
      Motion Seconded by Councilmember Servatius, unanimously carried.   

 
 

MAYOR, STAFF AND COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

City Administrator 
Dr. Cort asked that the Council schedule a Workshop for the 2015-2016 Budget Discussion.   
The Council agreed to June 25th after the regularly scheduled Workshop. 
 
Dr. Cort proposed continuing the 2015-2016 Budget discussion on July 1st prior to the City 
Council meeting at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Mayor 
Mayor Dudley was invited to attend North Whidbey Middle School Teacher Diane Fisken’s 
Eighth Grade class project last Friday.  Mayor Dudley introduced Ms. Fisken to the City Council 
and Ms. Fisken explained the project’s purpose.  The assignment was for her students to design 
and create a prototype sculpture and prepare bid proposal for submission to the City for educa-
tional purposes.  
 
The students involved in the project presented the sculpture and explained their ideas for the 
City Council.  Mayor Dudley read the project description and thanked the students for their crea-
tivity and involvement.     
 
Councilmembers 
Councilmember Campbell attended the Ribbon Cutting for the Fuel Pipeline. 
 
Councilmember Severns explained the importance of pulling ivy from City oak trees. 
 
Councilmember Hizon participated at the training burn by the Fire Department and shared her 
experience. 

Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 2 
 
 4



Councilmember Servatius attended Ribbon Cutting for the Fuel Pipeline and thanked the Navy 
staff.  He spoke to the loss of two kayakers from VAQ 129 and encouraged proper kayak train-
ing.  
  

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 
 

Resolution 14-17:  Investment Policy  
Finance Director Doug Merriman provided the staff report. 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 6:32 p.m., no comment, closed at 6:32  
p.m. 
  
Resolution 14-17:  Investment Policy  
 
Motion:  Councilmember Servatius moved to adopt Resolution 14-21, seconded by    
               Councilmember Campbell, unanimously carried. 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/PUBLIC MEETINGS 
 

Resolution 14-15:  Beckett Landing  
 
Does any Councilmember:  
 
a) have knowledge of any member conducting business or have conducted business with 

this preliminary platt?   
b) have a pecuniary or nonpecuniary interest in the outcome of the proceeding?  

 
 

Councilmembers Serverns and Almberg disclosed their respective involvements with the parties  
of this proceeding, but such connection was not related to the Beckett Landing quasi-judicial  
hearing.  The Councilmembers further explained that there were no conflicts and they  
would be able to participate fairly and impartially as to both opponents’ positions. 
 
No member of the City Council or the audience requested Councilmembers Severns and 
Almberg be recused.  

 
c) have knowledge that his or her employer has a financial interest in the property or area 

which will be impacted by this decision tonight? 
d) live or own property within 300 feet of the area which will be impacted by this decision 

tonight?  
e) have any special knowledge about the substance of the merits of this proceeding which 

would or could cause the member to prejudge the outcome of this proceeding? 
f) believe that he or she cannot sit and hear this matter fairly and impartially both as to the 

respected positions of the proponents and opponents in this proceeding? 
g) Has any Councilmember had any ex parte contacts concerning this matter? 
h) Is there any member of the audience, who because of the appearance of fairness doc-

trine, wishes to disqualify any member of the Council from hearing this matter? 
 
There being no conflicts under the appearance of fairness doctrine, no councilmember was  
recused. 

Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 3 
 
 5



 
Resolution 14-15:  Beckett Landing  
Senior Planner Ethan Spoo provided the staff report.  
 
Mayor Scott Dudley opened the public hearing at 6:50 p.m., no comment, closed at 6:50 p.m. 
 
Resolution 14-15:  Beckett Landing  
 
Motion:  Councilmember Hizon moved to adopt Resolution 14-15, seconded by         
               Councilmember Servatius, unanimously carried. 
 
Motion:  Councilmember Hizon moved to adopt the Planning Commission’s findings of fact,     
               conclusions of law, and record of decision for the Becket Landing Preliminary Platt.      
               Seconded by Councilmember Severns, unanimously carried. 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 
Special Event Permit for the Old Fashioned Fourth of July for Chamber of Commerce  
Police Chief Ed Green provided the staff report. 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 7:10 p.m., no comment, closed at 7:10  
p.m. 
 
Special Event Permit for the Old Fashioned Fourth of July for Chamber of Commerce  
 
Motion:   Councilmember Servatius moved to approve the Special Event Permit permitting the  

    Beer Garden for the Oak Harbor Fourth of July, seconded by Councilmember    
    Almberg, motion carried unanimously. 

 
Motion to Award the Construction Contract for the 42-Inch Outfall Project  
City Engineer Joe Stowell provided the staff report 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 7:20 p.m., no comment, closed at 7:20  
p.m. 
 
Motion to Award the Construction Contract for the 42-Inch Outfall Project  
 
Motion:   Councilmember Hizon moved to authorize the Mayor to sign a contract with Strider  

  Construction in the amount of $727,637.80; motion seconded by Servatius,  
  unanimously carried. 
 
 

Motion:  Councilmember Hizon moved to authorize the City Engineer to administratively     
               approve changes to the construction contract totaling not more than $72,764.00.   

   Motion seconded by Councilmember Severns, unanimously approved. 
 
 
  

Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 4 
 
 6



Motion to approve the Construction Contract for the Truck Scale 
Public Works Director Cathy Rosen provided the staff report. 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 7:31 p.m., no comment, closed at 7:31  
p.m. 
 
Motion to approve the Construction Contract for the Truck Scale 
 
Motion:   Councilmember Servatius moved to authorize the Mayor to sign a contract with   

C. Johnson Construction, Inc. in the amount of $111,822.95, which includes WA state 
sales tax; motion seconded by Campbell, unanimously carried. 

 
Motion:   Councilmember Servatius moved to authorize the City Engineer to administratively  

approve changes to the construction contract totaling not more than $10,064.00;  
motion seconded by Severns, unanimously carried. 

 
 
Select delegates for AWC Annual Conference 
City Administrator Dr. Cort provided the staff report. 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 7:35 p.m., no comment, closed at 7:35  
p.m. 
 
Select delegates for AWC Annual Conference 
 
Motion:   Councilmember moved to select Hizon, Campbell, Mayor Pro Tem Paggao and as  
                delegates to represent Oak Harbor. Motion seconded by Councilmember Campbell,     
                majority carried.  
 
Motion:   Councilmember Campbell moved to Reconsider the last motion.  Motion  
                 seconded by Councilmember Almberg, unanimously carried. 
 
Motion:   Councilmember Almberg moved that the delegates to represent the City of Oak Har 
                Bor at the AWC Conference should be Mayor Pro Tem Paggao, Campbell and   
                Severns.  Motion seconded by Councilmember Servatius, carried unanimously. 
 
Cancelling June 17, 2014 Regular City Council Meeting 
City Administrator Dr. Cort provided the staff report. 
 
Mayor Dudley opened the meeting for public comment at 7:42 p.m., no comment, closed at 7:42  
p.m. 
 
 
Cancel June 17, 2014 Regular City Council Meeting 
 
Councilmember Servatius inquired whether cancelling the June 17th meeting would interfere 
with signing the contract with the Whidbey Island Marathon Director by July 1, 2014.  Dr. Court  
explained that the next meeting would take place on July 1, 2014, so there will be no delay. 
 
 
 

Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 5 
 
 7



Motion:  Councilmember Severns moved to cancel the June 17, 2014 Regular City Council  
Meeting, Motion seconded by Councilmember Campbell, unanimously carried.  
 

 
Casual Dress for June, July and August Council Meetings 
 
Councilmember Campbell introduced a new discussion item regarding casual dress during the 
June, July and August Council Meetings.  The Councilmembers unanimously agreed to casual 
dress code for the Council Meetings during June, July and August. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Councilmember Hizon moved to adjourn, seconded by Councilmember Campbell, unanimously 
carried. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:44 p.m. 
 
 
          Kellye Mazzoli, Executive Assistant to the Mayor 

Regular Meeting Minutes – June 3, 2014 - Page 6 
 
 8



  
Oak Harbor City Council 

Workshop Meeting Minutes 
June 25, 2014 

 
CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Paggao called the meeting to order at 3:04 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL 

 
Present:      Staff Present: 
Mayor Scott Dudley     City Administrator Larry Cort 
Mayor Pro Tempore Danny Paggao   Development Service Director Steve Powers 
Councilmember Jim Campbell   Finance Director Doug Merriman 
Councilmember Beth Munns    City Attorney Nikki Esparza 
Councilmember Tara Hizon    City Clerk Anna Thompson 
Councilmember Bob Severns City    Chief of Police Ed Green 
Councilmember Joel Servatius   Fire Chief Ray Merrill 
Councilmember Rick Almberg   Public Works Director Cathy Rosen  
       Senior Planner Ethan Spoo  
       Mayor’s Exec. Assist. Kellye Mazzoli 
       Accountant Tallie Boyer 
       Project Engineer John Piccone  
       Senior Services Director Mike McIntyre  
       Harbor Master Chris Sublet 
       Senior Serv. Coordinator Barbara Spence 
       City Engineer Joe Stowell 
       Project Engineer Arnie Peterschmidt  
       Parks Manager Hank Nydam 
       Police Department Assis. Meg Massey 
       Fire Deputy Chief Mike Buxton 
       Purchasing Specialist Sandra Place 
            

Departmental Briefings 
 

1. Water System Plan – Public Works/Dev Services (8/06) 
 
Porject Engineer Arnie Peterschmidt provided the staff report including a brief history of 

the Waste Water Treatment Plant and Oak Harbor’s specific needs.  He then explained the pur-
pose and goals of the new Water Plant for our customers. 

 
The link for the Water System Plan can be found on the City’s Website. 
 
Mr. Stowell announced that the Water System Plan will be presented to Council for adoption on 
August 6, 2014. 
 
 
 
Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 1 
 
 9



Councilmembers Hizon, Munns, and Mayor Pro Tem Paggao asked follow up questions. 
Mr. Peterschmidt explained that Public Works provides important water-saving infor-
mation to customers via mail and television. 
 

Pending Agenda Items 
 

1.  Finance Advisor Professional Services Agreement (7/01) – Finance 
 
Finance Director Doug Merriman explained the purpose of this agreement.  At  

this point, the City needs a specialized Financial Advisor for review and advisement of 
our bond process.  
 
This agreement will be presented to Council for the July 1st Council Meeting.  

 
Councilmembers Campbell, Almberg, and Severns requested additional information of 
this item.  
 

2. Solid Waste Comprehensive Plan for Island County (7/01) – Public Works 
 
Public Works Director Cathy explained the importance and necessity of the  

Comprehensive Solid Waste Plan with Island County.  The plan will provide training and 
awareness on waste transfer and recycling.  
 
The Comprehensive Plan can be found on the City Council’s web page. 
 

3. City Attorney Appointment/Renewal with Weed, Graafstra, and Benson (7/01)  
 
City Manager Dr. Cort informed the Council that staff will request the Council to  

apppoint Nikki Esparza as City Attorney at the August meeting.   
 
Weed, Graafsta and Benson’s contract will be extended for limited legal support ser-
vices to be used in Ms. Esparza’s discretion. 
 
Councilmember Almberg asked about the contractual terms in the agreement with 
Weed, Graafstra and Benson. 
 
Councilmember Hizon confirmed staff’s request to transition Ms. Esparza from interim 
City Attorney to City Attorney.  
 
 
 
 

4. HOME Consortium Interlocal Agreement (7/01) – Admin 

Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 2 
 
 10



 
City Manager Dr. Cort provided the council with background of the interlocal  

agreement for the HOME consortium program, which is basically to provide housing for 
the working poor.  The City has no financial commitment to make monetary contribu-
tions to this association. In order to qualify for the HOME Consortium funding, the appli-
cant(s) must have a certain level of population.  This is the primary reason Skagit and 
Whatcom Counties has asked Island County to join in the interlocal agreement. 
 
Paul Schissler, Planner from Skagit County provided the Council with an overview of 
how the project works and how funding is provided to the successful applicant or appli-
cants based on population.  
 
Councilmember Severns and Almberg requested Mr. Schissler explain how HUD dis-
tributes funding among the contracting counties. 
 

5. North Reservoir Project (7/01) – Public Works 
 
Engineers Arnie Peterschmidt and Joe Stowell updated the Council on the North 

Reservoir Project.  The current contractual agreements for the project need to be 
amended in order to continue the project.   
 
Mr. Peterschmidt explained the reasons to amend the current contracts and the details 
involved. These amendments will be presented to Council for formal approval at the Ju-
ly 1, 2014 council meeting. 
 
Councilmember Hizon asked whether the City can be reimbursed for the sub-
contractor’s faulty labor.  
 
Councilmember Almberg asked the City Engineers about the financial changes needed 
in the contract and the problems which caused the additional costs. 
 
Councilmember Munns asked which account will be used to provide additional funds for 
the contract amendment. 
 
Councilmember Campbell asked follow-up questions about the additional money need-
ed to complete the project. Councilmember Severns spoke in support of selecting Hoff-
man Construction.  
 
 
 
 
 

6. GC/CM Contractor Selection (7/01) –Public Works 
Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 3 
 
 11



 
John Piccone and Joe Stowell provided an explanation of the GC/CM process.   

General Contractor /Construction Manager system was established by the state for City 
departments.  The GC/CM selection process is beneficial for this magnitude of a project 
versus the traditional method for hiring contractors, termed “design-bid-build.”  
 
He then gave a summary of contractor interviews and screenings through GC/CM and 
then provided updates on the GC/CM Contractor selection process to build the Waste 
Water Treatment Plant.  

  
Mr. Piccone informed the Council that Public Works will present the appointment of 
Hoffman for approval at the July 1, 2014 Council Meeting.  
 
Councilmember Almberg thanked Public Works staff for utilizing the GC/CM selection 
process for the Waste Water Treatment Plant. 
 
The Mayor briefed Council about a phone call with Waste Management.  Waste Man-
agement will be leaving Oak Harbor. 
 
Mayor Dudley called a 5-minute recess at 4:49 p.m.  
 
Mayor Dudley reconvened the meeting at 5:04 p.m. 
 

Budget Goals 
 

1. 2015-2016 Budget Goals for the General Fund/Senior Services 
 

City Administrator Dr. Cort introduced the Budget Goals Discussion.  He ex-
plained that the purpose of this item is to inform the Council of items added by the de-
partments to allow the Council to prioritize the needs of the City.  Discussion on the 
availability of funds will be put off until a later meeting so that the Council can freely pri-
oritize. 
 
Councilmember Munns commented on Revenue-sharing concerns from the State.  
 
Dr. Cort stated that a dominant project for the 2015-2016 biennial budget will be the 
Waste Water Treatment Plant. Dr. Cort and the Councilmembers engaged in a 
roundtable discussion of the 2015-2016 budget goals provided in the Workshop Packet: 
 
 
General Fund 
Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 4 
 
 12



 
1) Judicial – City Administrator Larry Cort 

• Public Defense increase in allocation of funds 
• Security needed at District Court 

2) Mayor – Mayor Scott Dudley 
• Relocate Legal Department downstairs [City Hall] 
• Improve IT services 
• Animal control lease and the option to buy 

3) City Administrator – City Administrator Larry Cort 
• Economic Development restructuring  
• Staffing request to refund the Administrative Assistant to the City Adminis-

trator – necessary to add to the budget 
• Lobbyist for state legislature 
• Technology plan needs to be improved 
• Legal Department should be relocated for efficiency and safety 
• Safety concerns for utility payments 
• Master Plan to redesign friendlier access to downtown for the public 

4) Human Resources – City Administrator Larry Cort 
• HR information system needed to support the amount of employees we 

have to automate form-centered functions. 
5) Financial Services – Finance Director Doug Merriman 

• Debt policy review 
• Comprehensive Annual Report for GFOA Certificate of achievement  
• Public access to Public Records 
• Internal Restructuring of the Finance Department 

6) Law – City Attorney Nikki Esparza 
• Organization, efficiency, and easing transition to in-house counsel 
• Merge department files into one location  
• Office safety and training  
• Public records requests and limit liability exposure 
• Update legal forms 
• Change prosecution standards 
• Minor code changes 

7) Development Services – Development Services Steve Powers 
• Growth management  
• Staffing and use of resources 
• GIS software license – for mapping and data 
• Comprehensive Plan goals 
• Capital Improvement plan 

Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 5 
 
 13



• Timely and accurate planning and permit review 
8) General Government – City Administrator Larry Cort 

• Insurance for City and rates 
9) Police – Police Chief Green 

• Events within City limits have increased 
• Request to add more staff 
• Update policies 
• Maintain the Police Facility 

10) Animal Control – Police Chief Green 
• Maintain training 
• Facility repairs 

11) Fire – Fire Chief Merrill  
• Hire additional Fulltime Fire Fighters  
• New Fire Trucks 
• Training Requirements  
• Additional Fire station near Fort Nugent  
• Federal Mandate to purchase P25 compatible encrypted radio 
• Update used equipment 

12) Emergency Services – Fire Chief Merrill 
• Emergency training for elected officials  

13) Parks – Public Works Director Cathy Rosen and Parks Manager Hank Nydam 
• Promote community pride and recreational activities for all ages 
• Maintenance of open spaces 
• Facilities in the parks need to be upgraded 
• Surveillance cameras 
• Develop working groups to seed Garry Oak Trees 
• Possible land purchase for future park(s) 
• Fee increases 

14) Whidbey Island Marathon – Dr. Larry Cort 
• Possible Transitional Management of the Race 

 
Special Revenue 
 

1) Senior Services – Mike McIntyre 
• Goals are to support the growing population of the senior center 
• Provide better services for dependents 
• Use resources in the community to absorb costs of the senior center 

 
 

Internal Service Funds 
Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 6 
 
 14



 
1) Equipment Rental – Public Works Director Cathy Rosen 

• Consider rentals 
2) Equipment Replacement – Public Works Director Cathy Rosen 

• Old equipment such as old vehicles need to be replaced. 
• Sharing equipment among departments 

3) Shop Facility – Public Works Director Cathy Rosen 
• Engineering department works in the area – implement proposed preven-

tative maintenance facilities.  
• Update contracting policies 
• Personnel request for 2 additional positions: Staff archeologist and tempo-

rary 4-year term contract capital projects engineer. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
Mayor Dudley adjourned the meeting at 7:15 p.m. 
 
 
                  Anna M. Thompson, City Clerk 

Workshop Meeting Minutes – June 25, 2014 - Page 7 
 
 15



16



06/03/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

1

 8:29:24AM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158563 6/3/2014 0007488  BAYLISS, PAT Ref000215219 UB Refund Cst #00159640  1.77

Total :  1.77

 158564 6/3/2014 0007489  BEARD, KATHLEEN Ref000215220 UB Refund Cst #00162178  125.37

Total :  125.37

 158565 6/3/2014 0007486  BUCHHOLZ, MATTHEW Ref000215216 UB Refund Cst #00156852  117.87

Total :  117.87

 158566 6/3/2014 0007487  CALIJA, FREDERICK Ref000215218 UB Refund Cst #00159605  84.63

Total :  84.63

 158567 6/3/2014 0004102  COLBERT, FLOYD Ref000215214 UB Refund Cst #00126239  110.82

Total :  110.82

 158568 6/3/2014 0007483  HUMPHRIES, JOHN OR NANCY Ref000215212 UB Refund Cst #00123805  18.35

Total :  18.35

 158569 6/3/2014 0007367  KAKIE'S BAKERY Ref000215217 UB Refund Cst #00159564  203.77

Total :  203.77

 158570 6/3/2014 0007484  TRAGANZA, GLEN Ref000215213 UB Refund Cst #00124231  105.45

Total :  105.45

 158571 6/3/2014 0000973  WALDRON CONSTRUCTION Ref000215221 UB Refund Cst #00163316  105.45

Total :  105.45

 158572 6/3/2014 0007485  YOCKEY, JOSEPH Ref000215215 UB Refund Cst #00147833  21.84

Total :  21.84

Bank total :  895.32 10 Vouchers for bank code : bank

 895.32Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report 10

1Page:

17



06/03/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

2

 8:29:24AM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2Page:

18



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

1

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158573 6/5/2014 0000066  AWC EMPLOYEES BENEFITS TRUST 060414 PREMIUMS  43.02

Total :  43.02

 158574 6/5/2014 0000860  STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY 053114 LONG TERM DISABILITY  4,281.04

Total :  4,281.04

 158575 6/9/2014 0001860  CORT, LARRY TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158576 6/9/2014 0003675  CAMPBELL, JAMES TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158577 6/9/2014 0007029  SERVATIUS, JOEL TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158578 6/9/2014 0005085  SEVERNS, ROBERT TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158579 6/9/2014 0006629  HIZON, TARA TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158580 6/9/2014 0000696  PAGGAO, DANNY TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  163.50

Total :  163.50

 158581 6/9/2014 0005840  DUDLEY, SCOTT TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  127.50

Total :  127.50

 158582 6/10/2014 0007449  A-1 PERFORMANCE, INC 20832 JANITORIAL SERVICES  2,813.06

Total :  2,813.06

 158583 6/10/2014 0000007  AA ELECTRIC 8705 TRANSFORMER REPAIR  137.56

Total :  137.56

 158584 6/10/2014 0007496  AKINS, MARK 7046 MOORAGE REFUND  144.23

Total :  144.23

 158585 6/10/2014 0000028  ALL ISLAND LOCK & KEY 47965 SAFE COMBINATION CHANGE  68.75

1Page:

19



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

2

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  68.75 158585 6/10/2014 0000028 0000028  ALL ISLAND LOCK & KEY

 158586 6/10/2014 0000029  ALL PHASE ELECTRIC SUPPLY 0952-705002 PLUG-IN/PHOTOCONTROL  224.62

 69.52PLUG-IN0952-705004

Total :  294.14

 158587 6/10/2014 0001609  ALL QUALITY STITCHES 388 SHIRTS  1,757.14

Total :  1,757.14

 158588 6/10/2014 0000035  AMERICAN SWING PRODUCTS 60396 SHACKLES  674.60

Total :  674.60

 158589 6/10/2014 0002044  ANACORTES.NET/HOW IT WORKS 45667 SSL RENEWAL/SITE SERVICES  275.00

Total :  275.00

 158590 6/10/2014 0000053  ARROW PEST CONTROL, INC 153446 PEST CONTROL  108.70

Total :  108.70

 158591 6/10/2014 0004019  ASSOCIATED PETROLEUM PRODUCTS 0589496-IN FUEL  16,342.43

Total :  16,342.43

 158592 6/10/2014 0000055  ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON 2203 2014 ANNUAL CONFERENCE REGISTRATION  2,625.00

Total :  2,625.00

 158593 6/10/2014 0000159  AT&T MOBILITY 287249477751X0524201 AIRCARDS  462.01

Total :  462.01

 158594 6/10/2014 0000083  BAZA, ALVIN 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158595 6/10/2014 0000091  BENS CLEANER SALES, INC 249039 THERMOSTAT REPLACEMENT  854.27

Total :  854.27

 158596 6/10/2014 0004100  BERGDOLL, RICHARD EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  70.13

Total :  70.13

 158597 6/10/2014 0000103  BLADE CHEVROLET, INC 148009 MODULE KIT  328.55

Total :  328.55

2Page:

20



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

3

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158598 6/10/2014 0000109  BLUMENTHAL UNIFORMS 67688 SHIRT/SEIM  81.51

 351.37UNIFORM ITEMS/PADRTA68238

 326.38UNIFORM ITEMS/ARGYRO68379

 61.95PANTS/ARGYRO68379-01

 64.02BELTS71189

 258.56BOOTS/PADRTA71603

 406.97UNIFORM ITEMS/PADRTA71620

 135.15EXP REIMBEXP REIMB

Total :  1,685.91

 158599 6/10/2014 0000112  BOB BARKER COMPANY, INC UT1000311433 SWEATSHIRTS  130.97

Total :  130.97

 158600 6/10/2014 0007493  BOOK, KLAYTON 060314 KEY DEPOSIT REFUND  5.00

Total :  5.00

 158601 6/10/2014 0003097  BOYER, TALLIE 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158602 6/10/2014 0004642  BRAINARD, JENNIFER 06 MUNICIPAL COURT PRO-TEM  1,156.36

Total :  1,156.36

 158603 6/10/2014 0006769  BRAUN CONSULTING GROUP 1741 MAY 2014/RETAINER  2,650.00

Total :  2,650.00

 158604 6/10/2014 0000137  BRIM TRACTOR COMPANY IM73831 KIT  229.27

 990.78INSTRUMENTIM74152

Total :  1,220.05

 158605 6/10/2014 0005027  BURT'S SAW & MOWER K4503193 ENGINE REPAIR  218.43

Total :  218.43

 158606 6/10/2014 0000143  CADA 1ST HALF 2014 DCTED  2,532.50

Total :  2,532.50

 158607 6/10/2014 0000627  CAPITAL ONE COMMERCIAL 117692385211 SUPPLIES  1,026.08

 257.32SUPPLIES149819185211

 440.86SUPPLIES189818185211

3Page:

21



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

4

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  1,724.26 158607 6/10/2014 0000627 0000627  CAPITAL ONE COMMERCIAL

 158608 6/10/2014 0005208  CARTER, SERLOYD 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158609 6/10/2014 0000150  CASCADE NATURAL GAS 08793000004 NATURAL GAS/POLICE STATION  127.20

 10.00NATURAL GAS/TREATMENT PLANT18583000007

 838.47NATURAL GAS/FIRE STATION36624000000

 111.91ELECTRICITY/ANIMAL SHELTER40661045647

 267.67NATURAL GAS/CITY HALL58793000009

 748.12NATURAL GAS/CITY SHOP80434000008

 39.52NATURAL GAS/ANNEX82193000005

 60.10NATURAL GAS/ADULT CARE CENTER90134000000

Total :  2,202.99

 158610 6/10/2014 0000170  CHIEF SUPPLY 455440 GLOVES  113.07

Total :  113.07

 158611 6/10/2014 0007497  CHRISTOFFERSON, KIRK 526 MOORAGE REFUND  132.78

Total :  132.78

 158612 6/10/2014 0000179  CLERKS PETTY CASH 052714 PETTY CASH  108.25

Total :  108.25

 158613 6/10/2014 0000188  CODE PUBLISHING COMPANY 46690 MUNICIPAL CODE UPDATE  173.56

Total :  173.56

 158614 6/10/2014 0005773  COMCAST 8498300270032002 CABLE  122.48

 12.71XFINITY8498300270032028

Total :  135.19

 158615 6/10/2014 0001711  COMMERCIAL FILTER SALES & SVC 307022 PLEATS  1,435.23

Total :  1,435.23

 158616 6/10/2014 0000202  COREY OIL COMPANY 52190 OIL  66.09

 20.31FUEL77230

Total :  86.40

4Page:

22



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

5

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158617 6/10/2014 0007074  COX, GENEVIEVE 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158618 6/10/2014 0000220  CUMMINS NORTHWEST, INC 001-8906 GASKET  136.43

Total :  136.43

 158619 6/10/2014 0000222  CUSTOM ENGRAVING 14-575 LEAF PLAQUE  34.78

Total :  34.78

 158620 6/10/2014 0007475  DAILY GRIND 812659 COFFEE/TRAYS/WATER  385.72

Total :  385.72

 158621 6/10/2014 0000247  DIAMOND RENTALS 1-500608-28 PORTABLES  49.95

 49.95PORTABLES1-500619-28

 49.95PORTABLES1-500627-28

 49.95PORTABLES1-500627-29

 99.90PORTABLES1-509920-12

 49.95PORTABLES1-515013-4

 1,319.62TENTS1-515537

 49.95PORTABLES1-515826-3

 99.90PORTABLES1-516260

 125.00PORTABLES1-516763

 125.00PORTABLES1-516764

 99.90PORTABLES1-516765

 49.95PORTABLES1-516766

 49.95PORTABLES1-516767

 49.95PORTABLES1-516768

 49.95PORTABLES1-516769

 49.95PORTABLES1-516770

 49.95PORTABLES1-516771

 49.95PORTABLES1-516772

 89.13LAWN MOWER REPAIR1-517440

 42.63REPAIR SERVICES2051

 42.63REPAIR SERVICES2052

 125.01GENIE GS 1930517854

Total :  2,818.07

5Page:

23



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

6

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158622 6/10/2014 0000257  DUTCH MAID CLEANERS 053114 MAY 2014/LAUNDRY SERVICES  243.80

 17.37LAUNDRY SERVICES1069

Total :  261.17

 158623 6/10/2014 0004944  ELKHART BRASS MFG CO, INC 41888 VALVE REPAIR  470.30

Total :  470.30

 158624 6/10/2014 0003154  ESRI 92819243 DESKTOP SINGLE USE PRIMARY  434.80

Total :  434.80

 158625 6/10/2014 0005086  EZINE INDUSTRIES, INC 856925 MAY 2014/COMMUNITY ALERT  9.75

Total :  9.75

 158626 6/10/2014 0002900  FASTENAL WAOAK17220 MARKER/TPR  42.07

 9.02BALL VALVEWAOAK17311

Total :  51.09

 158627 6/10/2014 0000355  FRONTIER 240-2350 CURRENT PHONE CHARGES  1,289.24

 57.00CURRENT PHONE CHARGES279-1060

 215.16CURRENT PHONE CHARGES675-1568

 62.18CURRENT PHONE CHARGES675-1669

 38.12CURRENT PHONE CHARGES675-5190

 56.85CURRENT PHONE CHARGES675-6858

 61.54CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-0500

 57.00CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-1640

 56.85CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-1651

 57.00CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-1789

 56.85CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-2530

 337.99CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-2628

 62.75CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-3902

 83.01CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-8477

Total :  2,491.54

 158628 6/10/2014 0000325  FRONTIER FORD 99511 MANIFOL/NONGASKET  409.46

 89.42NONWEATHER99567

Total :  498.88

 158629 6/10/2014 0001706  GARDNER, PAT EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  1,975.01

6Page:

24



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

7

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158629 6/10/2014 (Continued)0001706  GARDNER, PAT

 420.00EXP REIMBEXP REIMB

Total :  2,395.01

 158630 6/10/2014 0001598  GORDON D KEYES DDS, INC 042114 INMATE SERVICES  32.00

Total :  32.00

 158631 6/10/2014 0000349  GRAINGER 9443769121 V-BELTS  766.49

Total :  766.49

 158632 6/10/2014 0000345  GREATER OAK HBR CHAMBER OF COM 030165 JUN 2014/TOURIST PROMOTION  6,666.67

Total :  6,666.67

 158633 6/10/2014 0002747  GUARDIAN SECURITY 503256 ALARM MONITORING  708.00

Total :  708.00

 158634 6/10/2014 0006590  HAFFNER, OTTO 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158635 6/10/2014 0007492  HAMMOND, DARLENE F 1 TRAVEL REFUND  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158636 6/10/2014 0007236  HAMMOND, JACOB 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158637 6/10/2014 0001251  HEWLETT-PACKARD COMPANY 000157561 CREDIT -239.14

 1,079.39COMPUTER54382626

Total :  840.25

 158638 6/10/2014 0006520  HOPKINS, CAMERON 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158639 6/10/2014 0000392  HUBBARD, SCOTT 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158640 6/10/2014 0000394  HUMAN RESOURCE SERVICES 052614 JUN 2014/UNEMPLOYMENT SERVICES  110.00

Total :  110.00

7Page:

25



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

8

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158641 6/10/2014 0000396  I-COM 14Q3UF-6 3RD QTR 2014/USER FEES  7,397.03

Total :  7,397.03

 158642 6/10/2014 0000417  INDUSTRIAL BOLT & SUPPLY 561761-2 HEX  26.86

Total :  26.86

 158643 6/10/2014 0001469  INTERNATIONAL CODE COUNCIL 3002968 MEMBERSHIP/ANDERSON  125.00

Total :  125.00

 158644 6/10/2014 0002383  ISLAND COUNTY SHERIFF 043014 INMATE MEDS  19.12

Total :  19.12

 158645 6/10/2014 0000411  ISLAND COUNTY TREASURER 060314 CRIME VICTIM COMPENSATION  278.07

Total :  278.07

 158646 6/10/2014 0000412  ISLAND COUNTY TREASURER 060214 2ND QTR/JOINT TOURISM  5,000.00

Total :  5,000.00

 158647 6/10/2014 0000415  ISLAND DISPOSAL 3611529 COLLECTION CHARGES  102.41

Total :  102.41

 158648 6/10/2014 0000433  ISLAND DRUG 114508189517 INMATE MEDS  88.84

 14.49INMATE MEDS114508190184

Total :  103.33

 158649 6/10/2014 0000441  ISLAND SYSTEMS 224632 WATER/MARINA  17.70

 11.80WATER/MARINA224903

Total :  29.50

 158650 6/10/2014 0004458  KETCHUM, NEIL EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  150.00

Total :  150.00

 158651 6/10/2014 0000487  KROESEN'S INC 20671 SHIRTS/ROBERTS-EDLIN  56.40

Total :  56.40

 158652 6/10/2014 0005277  LEE, STEPHANIE 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

8Page:

26



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

9

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158653 6/10/2014 0000979  LES SCHWAB 41400126773 TIRES  382.88

Total :  382.88

 158654 6/10/2014 0004502  LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGE 1404645-20140531 MAY 2014/MINIMUM COMMITMENT  54.35

Total :  54.35

 158655 6/10/2014 0007201  LIFETEK TRAINING, INC 14-366 HS FIRST AID CPR/AED COURSE CARD  92.83

Total :  92.83

 158656 6/10/2014 0000515  LOGGERS & CONTRACTORS, INC 00061131 TIP/COUPLER  105.13

Total :  105.13

 158657 6/10/2014 0000522  LUEHR, TOM 1 DRIVING SERVICES  114.00

 69.00DRIVING SERVICES1

Total :  183.00

 158658 6/10/2014 0000524  LYNDEN ICE 119001760 ICE  162.00

Total :  162.00

 158659 6/10/2014 0001895  MACK, JOAN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  17.00

Total :  17.00

 158660 6/10/2014 0000660  MARKET PLACE FOOD & DRUG 422451 GROCERIES  405.00

 268.73GROCERIES422507

 368.82GROCERIES422508

 256.73GROCERIES830746

Total :  1,299.28

 158661 6/10/2014 0006072  MASTER'S TOUCH, LLC P34304 MAR 2014/POSTAGE FOR LATE NOTICES  444.06

 467.66MAY 2014/POSTAGE FOR LATE NOTICESP34946

 2,917.42MAY 2014/POSTAGE FOR STATEMENTSP34947

Total :  3,829.14

 158662 6/10/2014 0006072  MASTER'S TOUCH, LLC 34946 MAY 2014/MAILING SERVICES FOR LATE NOTIC  276.75

 887.54MAY 2014/MAILING SERVICES34947

Total :  1,164.29

 158663 6/10/2014 0007499  MATHIS, JAMES 3315 MOORAGE REFUND  2,372.78

9Page:

27



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

10

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  2,372.78 158663 6/10/2014 0007499 0007499  MATHIS, JAMES

 158664 6/10/2014 0000040  MATRIX 608250041 LONG DISTANCE  440.13

Total :  440.13

 158665 6/10/2014 0007450  MAZZOLI, KELLYE TRAVEL REIMB TRAVEL REIMB  116.16

Total :  116.16

 158666 6/10/2014 0007498  MCDONALD, GEORGE 584 MOORAGE REFUND  179.34

Total :  179.34

 158667 6/10/2014 0006028  MCI COMM SERVICE 679-3902 LONG DISTANCE  37.27

Total :  37.27

 158668 6/10/2014 0006992  MOON, ANDREW 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158669 6/10/2014 0007495  MOSTAD & CHRISTENSEN, INC 060614 BUSINESS LICENSE REFUND  25.00

Total :  25.00

 158670 6/10/2014 0000587  MOTOR TRUCKS, INC MTS213840 REPAIR SERVICES  1,152.14

Total :  1,152.14

 158671 6/10/2014 0004423  MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVICES 00523577_SNV HANDWHEEL/POST/PACKING  213.81

 520.67SWITCH00523584_SNV

Total :  734.48

 158672 6/10/2014 0000612  NELSON PETROLEUM 0522264-IN FUEL  227.19

Total :  227.19

 158673 6/10/2014 0000621  NIIRO, CEDRIC 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158674 6/10/2014 0001378  NOYES, YVETTE EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  56.95

Total :  56.95

 158675 6/10/2014 0000672  OAK HARBOR ACE 237879 FILM  38.02

 5.11FASTENERS/BOLT239370

10Page:

28



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

11

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158675 6/10/2014 (Continued)0000672  OAK HARBOR ACE

 11.72MEND PLT/COR BRC239455

 2.78FASTENERS239484

 18.05FREIGHT239572

 18.58FREIGHT239952

 7.59SOAP/SPONGE239987

 15.03FASTENERS/LIGHT CONTROL240026

 58.07PRIMER/PAINTBRUSHES240042

 47.81MAGNUM LOCK240045

 6.48KEY240062

 194.53REPAIR240469

 104.84GUARD/RSTP/ROLLER/PAINTBRUSHES240588

 45.66FREIGHT240616

 22.24RSTP/LYSOL/SPRAYER240637

 16.29CABLE240643

Total :  612.80

 158676 6/10/2014 0000668  OAK HARBOR AUTO CENTER 001-203344 FILTERS  6.99

 4.99CIR BRKR001-203365

 150.60ALTERNATOR001-203387

 15.51BEAM/CPSL001-203616

 13.78AIR BAG LAMP001-203735

 112.69BLADERUNNER001-203807

 4.40FILTERS001-203832

 12.44THERMOSTAT001-204031

 92.06AIR SANDER001-204107

 4.40FILTERS001-204109

 121.55MOUNT/HALF-SHAFT001-204240

 183.00OIL001-204241

 18.51FILTERS001-204486

 15.51BEAM/CPSL001-204615

 7.75BEAM/CPSL001-204616

 19.96COUPLER001-204640

 10.00COUPLER001-204644

 4.68FILTERS001-204646

 13.23SWITCH001-204689

 4.58NIPPLES001-204794

11Page:

29



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

12

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158676 6/10/2014 (Continued)0000668  OAK HARBOR AUTO CENTER

 23.27FILTERS001-204878

 23.27FILTERS001-204879

 40.24FILTERS001-204891

Total :  903.41

 158677 6/10/2014 0003007  OFFICE DEPOT 708648118001 WASTEBASKET/JOURNAL/NOTEPAD/FILE POCKETS 69.98

 10.11DATA TRAVELER708648232001

Total :  80.09

 158678 6/10/2014 0000665  OFFICEMAX, INC 849243 FILE FOLDERS/TRAY  46.34

 56.43BUSINESS CARD HOLDER/DESK ORGANIZER858806

Total :  102.77

 158679 6/10/2014 0000666  OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE 709859 PROF SVC/TRAVELERS V PERTEET  8,782.95

Total :  8,782.95

 158680 6/10/2014 0006918  OXFORD SUITES JANTZEN BEACH 129023 HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS/MERRILL  272.52

Total :  272.52

 158681 6/10/2014 0002985  PACIFIC TIRE CO. INC 0076881 TIRES  59.13

 143.22TIRES0076883

 992.18TIRES0077202

 75.95TIRES0077283

Total :  1,270.48

 158682 6/10/2014 0001596  PACIFIC TORQUE, LLC 092487 SENSOR  182.11

Total :  182.11

 158683 6/10/2014 0007491  PADRTA, NATHAN EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  73.33

 108.70EXP REIMBEXP REIMB2

Total :  182.03

 158684 6/10/2014 0007171  PEABODY, CHRISTOPHER TRAVEL REIMB2 TRAVEL REIMB  274.50

Total :  274.50

 158685 6/10/2014 0000299  PLACE, SANDRA 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

12Page:

30



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

13

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  20.00 158685 6/10/2014 0000299 0000299  PLACE, SANDRA

 158686 6/10/2014 0000710  PLATT ELECTRIC SUPPLY, INC 134778 CLAMPS/LUGS  39.40

Total :  39.40

 158687 6/10/2014 0007500  POLICE CHAPLAINS, INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE41154 MEMBERSHIP/LAWLER  125.00

Total :  125.00

 158688 6/10/2014 0000724  PONY MAILING & BUSINESS CENTER 225794 SHIPPING  13.80

 13.80SHIPPING225888

Total :  27.60

 158689 6/10/2014 0000726  PORT SUPPLY 006965 LINE-STASET CCRD BULK  243.04

Total :  243.04

 158690 6/10/2014 0000746  PUGET SAFETY EQUIPMENT 0019753-IN CLOSEOUT CHECKLITE  199.32

Total :  199.32

 158691 6/10/2014 0000743  PUGET SOUND ENERGY 200003131170 ELECTRICITY/WELL #7  13.02

 4,801.26ELECTRICITY/700 SE PIONEER WAY LAGOON200005933094

 13.02ELECTRICITY/WELL #6200010549943

 12,969.79ELECTRICITY/STREET LIGHTS3000000007421

 9,944.59ELECTRICITY/STREET LIGHTS300000007421

 240.35ELECTRICITY/INTSCTN OF MIDWAY300000010458

 154.08ELECTRICITY/900 SE MIDWAY BLVD300000010516

 25.35ELECTRICITY/2220 SW VISTA PARK DRIVE30000009906

Total :  28,161.46

 158692 6/10/2014 0007386  RMT Q86786 RELIEF VALVE  141.18

Total :  141.18

 158693 6/10/2014 0000781  SAFEWAY 727919 GROCERIES  52.31

 71.18GROCERIES809411

Total :  123.49

 158694 6/10/2014 0000796  SCHROER, PAUL 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

13Page:

31



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

14

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158695 6/10/2014 0000801  SEA WESTERN, INC 175829 AXE  60.19

Total :  60.19

 158696 6/10/2014 0005967  SEATTLE AUTOMOTIVE DIST S6-318980 PAD SET/ROTOR  229.23

Total :  229.23

 158697 6/10/2014 0004415  SEATTLE PUMP 14-2021 LEADER HOSE  255.99

Total :  255.99

 158698 6/10/2014 0000822  SHRED-IT USA, INC 9403668233 SHREDDING  69.60

Total :  69.60

 158699 6/10/2014 0000830  SIRENNET.COM 0170924-IN LIGHTBAR/INTERCEPTOR  1,029.00

 99.36BULB0171213-IN

Total :  1,128.36

 158700 6/10/2014 0000831  SIX ROBBLEES', INC 14-283352 BOSTROM SEAT  460.32

 68.46ROUND MIRROR14-285974

 478.01HOOK/TRANSPORT/RATCHET14-286446

 45.87DRAIN VALVE14-287196

 93.30DRAIN VALVE14-287197

Total :  1,145.96

 158701 6/10/2014 0000814  SKAGIT FARMERS SUPPLY 490851 PROPANE  46.66

 29.34RUBBER MAT492284

Total :  76.00

 158702 6/10/2014 0000843  SOLID WASTE SYSTEMS, INC 0069693-IN PIN  107.18

Total :  107.18

 158703 6/10/2014 0000846  SOUND PUBLISHING 1052259 NOTICE OF SALE-MATHIS  62.30

 37.38PUBLIC AUCTION STORAGE SHED 4-021052260

 62.30HAZE LOUNGE1053490

 74.76PUBLIC HEARING1058885

 37.38ORD 16911058888

Total :  274.12

 158704 6/10/2014 0000851  SPRINT 140239187 LONG DISTANCE  8.89

14Page:

32



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

15

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158704 6/10/2014 (Continued)0000851  SPRINT

 5.76LONG DISTANCE182311697

Total :  14.65

 158705 6/10/2014 0000860  STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY 052114 LIFE/POCFF  270.63

Total :  270.63

 158706 6/10/2014 0007203  STANFORD, TRAVIS 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158707 6/10/2014 0003883  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3231080701 DRAWER RACK  33.48

 4.96INDEX CARDS3231080702

 124.96REPORT COVERS3231080703

 130.83MOUSE PAD/LETTER OPENER/INDEX CARDS/BIND3231080706

 20.91PAPER3231080709

 16.51PAPER3231080710

 19.16DISPLAY PORT3231628624

 72.51CHAIRMAT3231628626

 119.55MARKER BOARD/KIT3231628628

-19.16CREDIT3232105633

 326.44INKCART3232105636

Total :  850.15

 158708 6/10/2014 0005786  STOWES SHOES & CLOTHING 108661 BOOTS/NUCKOLS  165.96

Total :  165.96

 158709 6/10/2014 0000874  SURETY PEST CONTROL 1014701 PEST EXTERMINATION  97.83

 32.61PEST EXTERMINATION1015389

 54.35PEST EXTERMINATION1016214

Total :  184.79

 158710 6/10/2014 0007494  SUTTON, ADAM 060314 CPL FEE REIMBURSEMENT  32.00

Total :  32.00

 158711 6/10/2014 0001053  TREASURER, WASHINGTON STATE 060314 COURT/BC FEES  14,888.62

Total :  14,888.62

 158712 6/10/2014 0000923  UNITED PARCEL SERVICE 0000A0182W204 SHIPPING  2.23

15Page:

33



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

16

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158712 6/10/2014 (Continued)0000923  UNITED PARCEL SERVICE

 11.23SHIPPING0000A0182W214

Total :  13.46

 158713 6/10/2014 0000922  UNUM LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY 051914 LONG TERM CARE  142.20

Total :  142.20

 158714 6/10/2014 0004903  US BANK 4485591000119689 CREDIT CARD PURCHASES  1,234.34

Total :  1,234.34

 158715 6/10/2014 0004903  US BANK 4485590100104948 CREDIT CARD PURCHASES  1,168.64

Total :  1,168.64

 158716 6/10/2014 0004903  US BANK 4485591000646855 CREDIT CARD PURCHASES  174.61

Total :  174.61

 158717 6/10/2014 0007173  VON HADEN, BRADLEY EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  85.00

Total :  85.00

 158718 6/10/2014 0006387  WALTON BEVERAGE COMPANY 80352346 BEVERAGES -797.25

 2,401.50BEVERAGES84814758

Total :  1,604.25

 158719 6/10/2014 0003917  WALTON, DAVID 060914 WELLNESS INCENTIVE  20.00

Total :  20.00

 158720 6/10/2014 0001052  WASHINGTON STATE PATROL 00053862 SERVICES FOR MARATHON  464.34

 10.00BACKGROUND CHECKSI14008637

 445.50BACKGROUND CHECKSI14008903

Total :  919.84

 158721 6/10/2014 0000995  WEST, GARY EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  428.00

Total :  428.00

 158722 6/10/2014 0001039  WESTERN PETERBILT, INC P256027 TRUCK/#45  111,033.79

 111,033.79TRUCK/#46P256028

 423.13PIPE/CLAMPSS820675

 5.17GASKETS821375

16Page:

34



06/10/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

17

 4:02:45PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158722 6/10/2014 (Continued)0001039  WESTERN PETERBILT, INC

 10.95FREIGHT CHARGESS821392

 231.69SHAFT AXLES821408

 231.69SHAFT AXLES821499

 30.54SWITCHS821849

Total :  223,000.75

 158723 6/10/2014 0001000  WHIDBEY AUTO PARTS, INC. 212694 LISLE  87.26

 38.68STRIPING WHL212805

Total :  125.94

 158724 6/10/2014 0000675  WHIDBEY COMMUNITY PHYSICIANS 040914-24 PHYSICAL/RILEY  225.00

Total :  225.00

 158725 6/10/2014 0001010  WHIDBEY TELECOM 3722316 CURRENT NET CHARGES  41.45

 63.05ALARM MONITORING3725398

Total :  104.50

 158726 6/10/2014 0004961  WOODWARD, GREGORY EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  10.00

Total :  10.00

 158727 6/10/2014 0001061  XEROX CORPORATION 701756394 APR 2014/COPIER RENTAL  4,484.22

Total :  4,484.22

 158728 6/10/2014 0001067  ZEP SALES & SERVICE 9000983720 TOILET PAPER  762.63

Total :  762.63

Bank total :  389,410.05 156 Vouchers for bank code : bank

 389,410.05Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report 156

17Page:

35



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

1

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158729 6/24/2014 0000950  LICENSING, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF 061914 CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMITS  798.00

Total :  798.00

 158730 6/25/2014 0000950  LICENSING, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF 062414 CONCEALED WEAPONS PERMITS  18.00

Total :  18.00

 158731 6/25/2014 0007449  A-1 PERFORMANCE, INC 20925 JANITORIAL SERVICES  286.00

Total :  286.00

 158732 6/25/2014 0000028  ALL ISLAND LOCK & KEY 23226 DND  21.74

 149.58PADLOCKS23273

Total :  171.32

 158733 6/25/2014 0000029  ALL PHASE ELECTRIC SUPPLY 0952-705499 PLUG-IN CB  5.35

 85.57PHOTOCONTROL0952-705501

Total :  90.92

 158734 6/25/2014 0000042  ANACORTES, CITY OF 900-9080-00 MAY 2014/WATER PURCHASED  118,345.00

 118,345.00APR 2014/WATER PURCHASED900-9080-00

 118,345.00MAR 2014/WATER PURCHASED900-9080-00

 622.44MAY 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-01

 831.14APR 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-01

 1,031.11MAR 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-01

 9,252.68MAY 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-02

 9,801.53APR 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-02

 8,652.20MAR 2014/WATER PURCHASED901-9080-02

Total :  385,226.10

 158735 6/25/2014 0002044  ANACORTES.NET/HOW IT WORKS 35127 JUN 2014/WEB HOSTING  75.00

 15.95JUN 2014/WEB HOSTING35167

Total :  90.95

 158736 6/25/2014 0000050  ARAMARK 15677594 UNIFORM ITEMS  335.47

Total :  335.47

 158737 6/25/2014 0005001  ARAMARK 938116000 UNIFORM SERVICES  1,009.66

1Page:

36



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

2

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  1,009.66 158737 6/25/2014 0005001 0005001  ARAMARK

 158738 6/25/2014 0007490  ARGYRO, JAMES EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  135.15

Total :  135.15

 158739 6/25/2014 0000053  ARROW PEST CONTROL, INC 154028 PEST CONTROL  108.70

Total :  108.70

 158740 6/25/2014 0004019  ASSOCIATED PETROLEUM PRODUCTS 0595983-IN FUEL  5,399.47

 28,056.13FUEL0596423-IN

Total :  33,455.60

 158741 6/25/2014 0000055  ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON 1078-43043 REGISTRATION/PICCONE  75.00

Total :  75.00

 158742 6/25/2014 0000065  AVOCET ENVIRONMENTAL TESTING 1401579-IN TESTING  112.00

 100.00TESTING1401710-IN

Total :  212.00

 158743 6/25/2014 0007502  BAON, LOWELA 061614 KEY DEPOSIT REFUND  5.00

Total :  5.00

 158744 6/25/2014 0002650  BARTLESON, MARIANE 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158745 6/25/2014 0006746  BAYVIEW ENGINEERING INDUSTRIES 1441 MACHINING  257.62

Total :  257.62

 158746 6/25/2014 0004631  BLAKE, KAY 1 TRAVEL REFUND  140.00

Total :  140.00

 158747 6/25/2014 0000109  BLUMENTHAL UNIFORMS 67688 SHIRT/SEIM  81.51

 351.37UNIFORM ITEMS/PADRTA68238

 326.38UNIFORM ITEMS/ARGYRO68379

 61.95PANTS/ARGYRO68379-01

 64.02BELTS71189

 258.56BOOTS/PADRTA71603

 406.97UNIFORM ITEMS/PADRTA71620

2Page:

37



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

3

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  1,550.76 158747 6/25/2014 0000109 0000109  BLUMENTHAL UNIFORMS

 158748 6/25/2014 0006833  BOONSTRA, JAN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158749 6/25/2014 0006834  BOONSTRA, WILLIE 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158750 6/25/2014 0002943  BRAUNSTEIN, ANGELA EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  20.18

Total :  20.18

 158751 6/25/2014 0007504  BRUNER, JIM 1 MEMBERSHIP REFUND  30.00

 45.00TRAVEL REFUND2

Total :  75.00

 158752 6/25/2014 0005027  BURT'S SAW & MOWER 2160 VALVE SOLENOID  60.17

Total :  60.17

 158753 6/25/2014 0000627  CAPITAL ONE COMMERCIAL 108406485211 SUPPLIES  1,101.81

Total :  1,101.81

 158754 6/25/2014 0006215  CAROLLO 0134787 PROF SVC/PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING AND FAC 5,228.12

 43,860.63PROF SVC/WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT PREL0134793

Total :  49,088.75

 158755 6/25/2014 0000150  CASCADE NATURAL GAS 03963180678 NATURAL GAS/210  10.60

 120.61NATURAL GAS/20811829220273

 10.60NATURAL GAS/20712470743597

 10.60NATURAL GAS/20513275491754

 10.60NATURAL GAS/20245420760055

 10.60NATURAL GAS/20157309970234

 56.12NATURAL GAS/20462337906945

 14.39NATURAL GAS/20967984882349

 10.60NATURAL GAS/20392612025210

Total :  254.72

 158756 6/25/2014 0000160  CENTRAL WELDING SUPPLY AN27899 WIRE  300.82

3Page:

38



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

4

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  300.82 158756 6/25/2014 0000160 0000160  CENTRAL WELDING SUPPLY

 158757 6/25/2014 0000170  CHIEF SUPPLY 031302 BOOTS/ENGLE -103.58

 129.49BOOTS/ENGLE464852

Total :  25.91

 158758 6/25/2014 0006817  CHRISTENSEN DESIGN MANAGEMENT 2014-1 PROF SVC/WASTEWATER FACILITY  5,039.37

Total :  5,039.37

 158759 6/25/2014 0005485  CLATTERBUCK, TOM 1 TRAVEL REFUND  150.00

Total :  150.00

 158760 6/25/2014 0000179  CLERKS PETTY CASH 061614 PETTY CASH  174.09

 62.84PETTY CASH062514

Total :  236.93

 158761 6/25/2014 0000186  COASTWIDE LABORATORIES W2672333 AIR FRESHENER  92.57

Total :  92.57

 158762 6/25/2014 0001433  COLE, DONNA 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158763 6/25/2014 0005773  COMCAST 8498300271046803 CABLE/INTERNET  412.08

 210.77INTERNET8498300290363841

Total :  622.85

 158764 6/25/2014 0003125  COMMERCE, DEPARTMENT OF PWTF-153005 SR 20 QUIET COVE WATER TRANSMISSION MAIN 30,206.77

 24,360.03SR 20 QUIET COVE WATER TRANSMISSION MAINPWTF-93041

Total :  54,566.80

 158765 6/25/2014 0000197  CONCRETE NORWEST 960135 CRUSHED ROCK  171.33

Total :  171.33

 158766 6/25/2014 0002357  CORRECT EQUIPMENT 29711 ALARM SYSTEM  4,598.01

Total :  4,598.01

 158767 6/25/2014 0006352  COUPEVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT 13-12 MARATHON VOLUNTEERS  1,000.00

4Page:

39



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

5

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  1,000.00 158767 6/25/2014 0006352 0006352  COUPEVILLE SCHOOL DISTRICT

 158768 6/25/2014 0002529  CROSS, EVA JEAN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158769 6/25/2014 0007505  DASHER, ZEPHORAH 1 TRAVEL REFUND  100.00

Total :  100.00

 158770 6/25/2014 0000247  DIAMOND RENTALS 1-500608-29 PORTABLES  49.95

 49.95PORTABLES1-500619-29

 49.95PORTABLES1-500627-30

 99.90PORTABLES1-509920-13

 49.95PORTABLES1-515013-5

 49.95PORTABLES1-515826-4

 99.90PORTABLES1-516260-2

 99.90PORTABLES1-516260-3

 125.00PORTABLES1-516763-2

 125.00PORTABLES1-516764-2

 99.90PORTABLES1-516765-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516766-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516767-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516768-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516769-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516770-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516771-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-516772-2

 49.95PORTABLES1-517387

 114.14BRAKE CABLES1-518742

 31.90CAN PUMPING517797

Total :  1,444.99

 158771 6/25/2014 0007511  DLT SOLUTIONS S1256502 AUTODESK INFRASTRUCTURE DESIGN SUITE  6,057.05

Total :  6,057.05

 158772 6/25/2014 0005670  DOUBLE R - OAK HARBOR 65898-2 SANDBLASTER  26.09

Total :  26.09

 158773 6/25/2014 0005840  DUDLEY, SCOTT TRAVEL REIMB TRAVEL REIMB  436.00

5Page:

40



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

6

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  436.00 158773 6/25/2014 0005840 0005840  DUDLEY, SCOTT

 158774 6/25/2014 0000273  EDGE ANALYTICAL, INC 14-06305 TESTING  1,144.00

 18.00TESTING14-09679

 66.00TESTING14-10550

 300.00TESTING14-10754

Total :  1,528.00

 158775 6/25/2014 0000279  EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF945052-10 7 1ST QTR 2014/UNEMPLOYMENT  10,911.76

Total :  10,911.76

 158776 6/25/2014 0000251  ENTERPRISE SERVICES, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF7115216 REGISTRATION/PETERSCHMIDT  375.00

Total :  375.00

 158777 6/25/2014 0007161  EWING 8043370 BUG CAP  13.51

 537.16ROTORS/NOZZLE8124627

Total :  550.67

 158778 6/25/2014 0000306  FARMERS EQUIPMENT COMPANY IB76178 DECAL  45.18

Total :  45.18

 158779 6/25/2014 0002900  FASTENAL WAOAK17279 LEAD TEST  33.56

 24.15TAP/NYLOCKWAOAK17456

 39.11NUTS/B&GWAOAK17493

Total :  96.82

 158780 6/25/2014 0004823  FEENEY WIRELESS 30134898 INTERNET ROUTING APPLIANCE  5,919.64

Total :  5,919.64

 158781 6/25/2014 0000304  FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC 0418566 COUPLING  275.77

Total :  275.77

 158782 6/25/2014 0002057  FIRE MARSHALS, WASHINGTON STATE ASSOC OF1774 REGISTRATION/BUXTON  25.00

Total :  25.00

 158783 6/25/2014 0003066  FISH AND WILDLIFE, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OFHPA757 LAGON OUTFALL REPAIR  150.00

Total :  150.00

6Page:

41



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

7

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158784 6/25/2014 0006093  FRAZIER SURVEYING, LLC 94 DEED RESEARCH  318.75

Total :  318.75

 158785 6/25/2014 0007141  FREEDOM PROPERTIES, LLC 063014 JUN 2014/ANIMAL SHELTER  2,500.00

Total :  2,500.00

 158786 6/25/2014 0004971  FREEMAN, DENISE L 2014-37 UNIFORM ITEMS  968.91

Total :  968.91

 158787 6/25/2014 0004801  FREITAS, PAT 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158788 6/25/2014 0000355  FRONTIER 279-0841 CURRENT PHONE CHARGES  69.97

 182.80CURRENT PHONE CHARGES679-5551

Total :  252.77

 158789 6/25/2014 0000326  FRONTIER BUILDING SUPPLY 92998 WOOD  13.63

 19.56PLYWOOD93149

 199.16TREATED93869

 7.39TREATED93886

Total :  239.74

 158790 6/25/2014 0000325  FRONTIER FORD 99753 NONMOTOR  26.60

Total :  26.60

 158791 6/25/2014 0002767  GATEWAY CONTROLS, INC 2014515 PROX CARDS  904.34

Total :  904.34

 158792 6/25/2014 0007501  GIBBON, NOEL 061214 KEY DEPOSIT REFUND  5.00

 5.00KEY DEPOSIT REFUND061214A

Total :  10.00

 158793 6/25/2014 0002940  GRAY & OSBORNE, INC 13518.00-12 PROF SVC/WATER SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS  6,882.12

Total :  6,882.12

 158794 6/25/2014 0007506  HAGA, CAROLYN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  10.00

Total :  10.00

7Page:

42



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

8

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158795 6/25/2014 0005806  HAMLIN, BARNEY 1 TRAVEL REFUND  22.00

Total :  22.00

 158796 6/25/2014 0006904  HANSON, FAY 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158797 6/25/2014 0000323  HD FOWLER COMPANY I3652503 NOZZLES  515.24

Total :  515.24

 158798 6/25/2014 0000380  HEALTH, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF N01663 PROJECT REPORT REVIEW  3,705.00

Total :  3,705.00

 158799 6/25/2014 0003095  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES 1571538 DUALRNGTSR  25.41

 26.44BALLAST/YELSTDCONN/ORNGSTDCON2021349

 61.25RODS2043128

 26.04HOLLOW POLY2560589

 44.00VIG15M3024137

 44.14COUPLING/ELBOWS/PIPE3024208

 14.10OTLT SURGE3024798

 30.0625 PK 80G/PRECICISION/WIREWHEEL3053426

 9.22BD EDG BL3561304

 31.50MIRFRTW4042969

 32.33TAPE4595077

 268.73GRL/TANK5092217

 114.08FILTERS584909

 4.76TUBE6021233

 7.599PCHEXSEC6041143

 138.08GAS CAN/LTCHBOX/TOTE/PLAINT6090326

 7.40ADAPTERS/BUSHINGS/TEES7020843

 28.62LXPRSLG/FLOOR FINISH9020127

 43.41TANK EXCHNGE9042485

 29.90NOZZLES/STRAP/HARDWARE9053670

-1.49CREDIT9090039

 73.87SMA/HDX SPR/PLANT FOOD/MARIGOLDS/ANNUALS9182933

 30.43PPP&FSLTGRYG9580664

 58.46TAPE/PLIERS9595522

8Page:

43



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

9

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  1,148.33 158799 6/25/2014 0003095 0003095  HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES

 158800 6/25/2014 0005250  HONEYMOON BAY COFFEE ROASTERS 675017 COFFEE SUPPLIES  280.66

Total :  280.66

 158801 6/25/2014 0005872  IMPAIRED DRIVING IMPACT PANEL 061514 DUI/UNDERAGE DRINKING PREVENTION PANEL  166.67

Total :  166.67

 158802 6/25/2014 0000417  INDUSTRIAL BOLT & SUPPLY 563371-1 NUTS/HOUSING/WEDGES/SOCKET  296.40

 161.58SPRAY PAINT563925-1

Total :  457.98

 158803 6/25/2014 0004410  ISLAND COUNTY PUBLIC HEALTH 1302 HEPATITS IMMUNIZATIONS  60.00

Total :  60.00

 158804 6/25/2014 0002383  ISLAND COUNTY SHERIFF 061714 INMADE MEDS  13.41

Total :  13.41

 158805 6/25/2014 0000410  ISLAND COUNTY SOLID WASTE 053114 MAY 2014/TIPPING FEES  76,246.59

 22.50DISPOSAL1107162

Total :  76,269.09

 158806 6/25/2014 0000415  ISLAND DISPOSAL 050514 APR 2014/COLLECTION CHARGES  15,357.41

 11,556.87MAY 2014/COLLECTION CHARGES060414

Total :  26,914.28

 158807 6/25/2014 0000476  KERR, JACK 06-14 JUN 2014/PUBLIC DEFENSE SCREENING  1,400.00

Total :  1,400.00

 158808 6/25/2014 0005628  KESSLER, ROSE 1 TRAVEL REFUND  10.00

Total :  10.00

 158809 6/25/2014 0005220  LA QUINTA INNS & SUITES 06765817 HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS/SHELLEY  96.11

Total :  96.11

 158810 6/25/2014 0000522  LUEHR, TOM 1 DRIVING SERVICES  105.00

 102.00DRIVING SERVICES1

9Page:

44



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

10

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  207.00 158810 6/25/2014 0000522 0000522  LUEHR, TOM

 158811 6/25/2014 0002449  LUNDGREN, KATHLEEN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  10.00

Total :  10.00

 158812 6/25/2014 0001895  MACK, JOAN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  105.00

Total :  105.00

 158813 6/25/2014 0000530  MAILLIARD'S LANDING NURSERY 84109 YARD WASTE  417.90

 639.45YARD WASTE84209

 251.30YARD WASTE84350

 20.00YARD WASTE84400

 192.50YARD WASTE84404

 20.00YARD WASTE84421

 282.45YARD WASTE84491

 380.45YARD WASTE84538

 476.00YARD WASTE84685

 249.20YARD WASTE84750

 231.35YARD WASTE84819

 315.35YARD WASTE84896

 377.65YARD WASTE84963

 152.95YARD WASTE85010

 199.15YARD WASTE85030

 261.80YARD WASTE85247

 255.50YARD WASTE85321

 327.25YARD WASTE85396

 371.00YARD WASTE85476

 491.75YARD WASTE85528

 386.75YARD WASTE85794

 267.75YARD WASTE85845

 297.15YARD WASTE85912

 350.00YARD WASTE85994

 20.00YARD WASTE86811

 97.83CRUSHED ROCK87078

Total :  7,332.48

 158814 6/25/2014 0000660  MARKET PLACE FOOD & DRUG 422516 GROCERIES  281.27

10Page:

45



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

11

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158814 6/25/2014 (Continued)0000660  MARKET PLACE FOOD & DRUG

 127.33GROCERIES830657

Total :  408.60

 158815 6/25/2014 0004052  MASTER METER SYSTEMS 0065428-IN DMMR/EMMR CHARGER/ANTENNA KIT  338.24

 65.00DMMR BATTERY0065429-IN

Total :  403.24

 158816 6/25/2014 0005127  MICHALSKI, PAT 1 TRAVEL REFUND  210.00

 280.00TRAVEL REFUND2

Total :  490.00

 158817 6/25/2014 0005266  MOFFATT & NICHOL ENGINEERS 69789 PROF SVC/STORMWATER OUTFALL  5,116.30

Total :  5,116.30

 158818 6/25/2014 0005445  MONTOYA, MATTHEW J 106 JUN 2014/PUBLIC DEFENSE  5,500.00

Total :  5,500.00

 158819 6/25/2014 0000587  MOTOR TRUCKS, INC MV80420 TANK/CAP  229.42

Total :  229.42

 158820 6/25/2014 0007507  NELSON, JOYCE 1 TRAVEL REFUND  50.00

Total :  50.00

 158821 6/25/2014 0000610  NORTH CENTRAL LABORATORIES 338762 BOD SEED/NUTRIENT/FILTERS/PIPET BULB  464.01

Total :  464.01

 158822 6/25/2014 0000672  OAK HARBOR ACE 238786 BOAT SNAP  26.07

 8.65CUT OFF WHL/BLADES239910

 66.25PLIERS/CAPS239929

 139.07AUTOCUT/BLADE239944

 27.16HP ULTRA240083

 35.96IRON/CORNER BRACE240138

 9.22WALL ANCHOR/CEMENT240176

 78.43HAMMERITE/CUP240182

 14.12CAM WHEEL240220

 15.21PAINT240242

 23.46CONN WIRE/BUTT/SCREWDRIVER240294

11Page:

46



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

12

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158822 6/25/2014 (Continued)0000672  OAK HARBOR ACE

 38.02GAS CAN/OIL240342

 0.75PLUMBING SUPPLIES240447

 24.44BULB/INSECT CONTROL240464

 40.94BLADES/WHEEL GRIND/SPIKES240516

 11.79BLADES/CUT OFF WHL240544

 28.76CEMENT/PRIMER/COUPLE240550

 5.97BUSHING240578

 4.35FASTENERS240612

 22.33PAINTBRUSHES240699

 7.29CAULK/FASTENERS240704

 14.12CEMENT240719

 4.88WHEEL BRUSH240723

 3.25CAP240762

 64.08DUSTPAN/DRILL BIT/RSTP240790

 21.70RSTP240850

 380.40LOOP HANDLE240913

 20.25BLADES/WHEEL GRINDS240949

 30.07VALVE REPAIR/FASTENERS240957

 40.98FREIGHT240970

 4.29CHAINS240991

 10.03COVERS/FASTENERS241015

 11.58MTL CUT WHEEL241027

 13.63BUNGEE CORDS241036

 8.67MAGLITE/MASKING TAPE241041

 28.25PLUG241051

 14.65BALLCOCK/SPLY241080

 27.69DECK BRUSH241082

 14.98WEEDER/TROWEL241098

 33.87CEMENT/CAPS/RAKE241111

 4.09HOOKS241119

 23.21FREIGHT241154

 77.63GLASS CLEANER/FILTERS/BULBS/PRIMER241157

 404.16PAINTBRUSHES/PAINT241195

 32.54RSTP241237

 70.64HAMMERITE241243

 10.30CEMENT/PUTTY KNIFE241290

12Page:

47



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

13

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158822 6/25/2014 (Continued)0000672  OAK HARBOR ACE

 2.05KEY241323

 70.64HAMMERITE241346

Total :  2,070.87

 158823 6/25/2014 0000668  OAK HARBOR AUTO CENTER 001-204802 HYDRAULIC MOUNT/DRIVE AXLES -121.55

 318.06TAC REPAIR001-205030

 15.65GASKET001-205593

-288.06TAC REPAIR001-205732

 14.25RELAY001-205803

 5.838MP001-205852

 45.64FILTERS001-205858

 28.57FILTERS001-206079

 201.10SEAT COVER001-206404

 42.74OXYGEN SENSOR001-206407

 23.78FOAMY ENGINE BR/DEGREASER001-206416

Total :  286.01

 158824 6/25/2014 0000681  OAK HARBOR SCHOOL DISTRICT 0000130459 JUN 2014/COMPUTER NETWORK SUPPORT  6,708.33

Total :  6,708.33

 158825 6/25/2014 0003007  OFFICE DEPOT 715678249001 TONER  78.06

Total :  78.06

 158826 6/25/2014 0000665  OFFICEMAX, INC 148492 TONER  152.61

Total :  152.61

 158827 6/25/2014 0000666  OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE 712651 PROF SVC/SWINOMISH INDIAN TRIBAL COMMUNI 1,417.29

 48.24PROF SVC/TRAVELERS VS PERTEET712652

Total :  1,465.53

 158828 6/25/2014 0007508  OLSON, BARBARA 1 TRAVEL REFUND  50.00

Total :  50.00

 158829 6/25/2014 0001377  ORCA INFORMATION 359759 PRE-EMPLOYMENT/WALLACE  75.00

 75.00PRE-EMPLOYMENT/PETERSCHMIDT360379

Total :  150.00

13Page:

48



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

14

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158830 6/25/2014 0002985  PACIFIC TIRE CO. INC 0077564 TIRES  71.61

 473.95TIRES0077638

 888.42TIRES0077813

 71.61TIRES0077817

 612.88TIRES0077848

Total :  2,118.47

 158831 6/25/2014 0001615  PART WORKS, INC 383418 ACTUATOR  102.06

Total :  102.06

 158832 6/25/2014 0000709  PERS 01051203 MAY 2014/UNFUNDED LIABILITY  26.98

Total :  26.98

 158833 6/25/2014 0007446  PICCONE, SARA EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  150.00

Total :  150.00

 158834 6/25/2014 0000299  PLACE, SANDRA EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  79.00

Total :  79.00

 158835 6/25/2014 0000724  PONY MAILING & BUSINESS CENTER 225709 SHIPPING  50.00

 38.24SHIPPING226191

 4.53SHIPPING226414

Total :  92.77

 158836 6/25/2014 0000746  PUGET SAFETY EQUIPMENT 0020008-IN FIRST AID KITS  196.04

Total :  196.04

 158837 6/25/2014 0000743  PUGET SOUND ENERGY 200000136776 ELECTRICITY/1301 SE CATALINA DR  37.54

 3,045.40ELECTRICITY/DISPLT200000881421

 16.21ELECTRICITY/WIND200000919684

 2,323.01ELECTRICITY/CITY SHOP200000947859

 14.44ELECTRICITY/EBATH200001097589

 13.55ELECTRICITY/1888 NE 5TH AVE PUMP200001884218

 131.21ELECTRICITY/30505 ST ROUTE 20200002036164

 60.81ELECTRICITY/34777 STATE ROUTE 20 SIGN200002036719

 147.03ELECTRICITY/BTWN BAYSHORE DR & BEEKSMA D200002036917

 18.71ELECTRICITY/2000 SW SCENIC HEIGHTS ST200002037097

 10.82ELECTRICITY/1780 SW SPRINGFIELD CT200002037261

14Page:

49



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

15

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158837 6/25/2014 (Continued)0000743  PUGET SOUND ENERGY

 84.59ELECTRICITY/3285 SW SCENIC HIEGHTS ST200002037501

 10.21ELECTRICITY/552 NW CLIPPER DR200002170617

 22.22ELECTRICITY/2075 SW FT200002511539

 158.86ELECTRICITY/CMFTST200002723381

 17.64ELECTRICITY/1000 SE IRELAND ST200003267636

 115.63ELECTRICITY/1957 SW FORT NUGENT RD RESTR200003459654

 28.72ELECTRICITY/650 NE 7TH AVE200004342099

 106.91ELECTRICITY/800 SW MIDWAY BLVD200004562878

 10.21ELECTRICITY/1577 NW 8TH AVE200004856627

 10.21ELECTRICITY/SMIITH PARK200005263310

 20.38ELECTRICITY/WKITCH200005461666

 6,019.61ELECTRICITY/700 SE PIONEER WAY LAGON200005933094

 12.90ELECTRICITY/5941 STATE ROUTE 20200006103952

 169.96ELECTRICITY/SW ERIE ST SW BARRINGTON DR200007268135

 130.30ELECTRICITY/700 AV W & MIDWAY200007702943

 10.21ELECTRICITY/75 SE JEROME ST200007824192

 10.83ELECTRICITY/FABER ST & HARVEST DR200008386993

 15.82ELECTRICITY/ANNEX200008816189

 36.11ELECTRICITY/2330 SW ROSARIO PL200010322895

 106.26ELECTRICITY/1948 NW CROSBY AVE200010499248

 25.49ELECTRICITY/1661 NE 16TH AVE200010499446

 69.07ELECTRICITY/651 SE BAYSHORE DR200010530240

 10.82ELECTRICITY/PARK200010530802

 163.70ELECTRICITY/940 SE PIONEER WAY CAB200010531024

 10.92ELECTRICITY/1300 NE BIG BERRY LOOP200010531172

 128.99ELECTRICITY/CABI200010531354

 83.75ELECTRICITY/800 SE DOCK ST200010531941

 118.31ELECTRICITY/BALLPK200010699706

 783.12ELECTRICITY/SR 20 & 650 AV W200011316839

 19.32ELECTRICITY/ADULT CARE CENTER200011551930

 42.15ELECTRICITY/285 SE JEROME ST200011579964

 10.22ELECTRICITY/128 E WHIDBEY AVE200012220337

 1,217.22ELECTRICITY/FIRE STATION200012278087

 3,108.88ELECTRICITY/TREATMENT PLANT200012425357

 16.35ELECTRICITY/PIONEER PARK200012838765

 1,866.82ELECTRICITY/MARINA200013370750

15Page:

50



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

16

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158837 6/25/2014 (Continued)0000743  PUGET SOUND ENERGY

 2,027.62ELECTRICITY/672 CHRISTIAN RD200013734963

 120.90ELECTRICITY/1540 SE PIONEER WAY LIFTST200013968405

 57.16ELECTRICITY/1370 SE DOCK ST200014151886

 934.93ELECTRICITY/CITY HALL200014596478

 10.21ELECTRICITY/1678 SW 8TH AVE200015399153

 111.39ELECTRICITY/600 NE 7TH AVE200015618321

 65.86ELECTRICITY/287 SE CABOT DR200015685833

 356.24ELECTRICITY/690 SW HELLER RD200017255619

 1,015.16ELECTRICITY/CITY BEACH PARK200017441482

 92.54ELECTRICITY/1367 NW CROSBY AVE SIGNAL200017575347

 70.53ELECTRICITY/3300 OLD GOLDIE RD200017653656

 180.14ELECTRICITY/1000 SW THORNBERRY DR200017654415

 15.29ELECTRICITY/2081 NE 9TH AVE200017853025

 1,429.70ELECTRICITY/POLICE STATION200017968427

 44.14ELECTRICITY/90 SE PIONEER WAY200019043344

 45.17ELECTRICITY/1137 NW KATHLEEN DR200019500517

 14.38ELECTRICITY/626 CHRISTIAN RD200020179194

 581.58ELECTRICITY/SENIOR CENTER200020235012

 14.83ELECTRICITY/KITEST200020308330

 33.38ELECTRICITY/980 SW MCCROHAN ST200022441113

 26.95ELECTRICITY/945 E WHIDBEY AVE #B200023231067

 51.06ELECTRICITY/700 W HELLER RD200023360569

 19.20ELECTRICITY/275 SE PIONEER WAY200023982057

 32.62ELECTRICITY/1285 NE TAFTSON ST200024715845

 182.34ELECTRICITY/33500 STATE ROUTE 20200025075157

 109.61ELECTRICITY/2725 NE GOLDIE ST220000598098

 48.11ELECTRICITY/END OF GUN CLUB RD220002244337

 13.33ELECTRICITY/SW FAIRWAY POINT DR SW CARNE220002247165

 454.13ELECTRICITY/321 SE PIONEER WAY #101220003651407

 564.54ELECTRICITY/275 SE PIONEER WAY220003735804

 390.17ELECTRICITY/RV PARK300000005003

 61.53ELECTRICITY/NE 11TH AVE300000010409

 208.50ELECTRICITY/INTSCTN OF MIDWAY & NE 8 AVE300000010458

 137.91ELECTRCITY/900 SE MIDWAY BLVD300000010516

Total :  30,112.59

16Page:

51



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

17

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158838 6/25/2014 0000960  REVENUE, WASHINGTON STATE DEPT OF 061214 MAY 2014/SALES/USE TAX  49,388.87

Total :  49,388.87

 158839 6/25/2014 0002508  RINEY PRODUCTION SERVICES 10-1257 TAPING SERVICES  2,317.42

Total :  2,317.42

 158840 6/25/2014 0004528  ROBERTS-EDLIN, LISA EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  55.25

Total :  55.25

 158841 6/25/2014 0000781  SAFEWAY 804020 GROCERIES  16.26

Total :  16.26

 158842 6/25/2014 0000801  SEA WESTERN, INC 175929 SPANNER  291.66

Total :  291.66

 158843 6/25/2014 0004415  SEATTLE PUMP 14-2352 NOZZLE/HOSE  4,789.50

Total :  4,789.50

 158844 6/25/2014 0000807  SEIM, CARL EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  1,157.40

Total :  1,157.40

 158845 6/25/2014 0001861  SELDAL, KENNETH EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  195.47

Total :  195.47

 158846 6/25/2014 0000809  SENIOR SERVICES OF ISLAND OH02-2014 FEB 2014/SENIOR SERVICES  1,500.00

 1,500.00MAY 2014/SENIOR SERVICESOH05-2014

Total :  3,000.00

 158847 6/25/2014 0007029  SERVATIUS, JOEL TRAVEL REIMB TRAVEL REIMB  458.00

Total :  458.00

 158848 6/25/2014 0003782  SHARP ELECTRONICS CORPORATION C805062-701 MAY 2014/MAINTENANCE CONTRACT  6.28

Total :  6.28

 158849 6/25/2014 0000816  SHELL FLEET PLUS 0000000065163545406 FUEL  207.42

Total :  207.42

 158850 6/25/2014 0001327  SHILO INN 10620193477 HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS/ROBBINS  220.78

17Page:

52



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

18

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158850 6/25/2014 (Continued)0001327  SHILO INN

 220.78HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS/ROBINSON10620193478

 220.78HOTEL ACCOMMODATIONS/VON HADEN10620193479

Total :  662.34

 158851 6/25/2014 0005444  SIERRA, GEORGINA D 062314 JUN 2014/PUBLIC DEFENSE  2,500.00

Total :  2,500.00

 158852 6/25/2014 0005003  SILVEIRA, MANUEL TRAVEL REIMB TRAVEL REIMB  324.56

 271.50TRAVEL REIMBTRAVEL REIMB2

Total :  596.06

 158853 6/25/2014 0000830  SIRENNET.COM 0171761-IN LIGHTBAR/STRAP KIT  5,485.61

Total :  5,485.61

 158854 6/25/2014 0000831  SIX ROBBLEES', INC 14-286939 KODIAK DISC PAD SET  54.75

 436.95BRAKE DRUM/LINED SHOE14-288013

Total :  491.70

 158855 6/25/2014 0000833  SKAGIT HYDRAULICS 130884 WIPES/O RINGS  205.22

 83.31VICKERS130960

Total :  288.53

 158856 6/25/2014 0000876  SKAGIT VALLEY COLLEGE 36015 REGISTRATION/BERGDOLL  54.00

Total :  54.00

 158857 6/25/2014 0000846  SOUND PUBLISHING 1052267 WATER SYSTEM PLAN  161.98

 180.67BUSINESS MEETING1053474

 74.76NOA MSNS WATER1058887

 1,313.06APR 2014/PUBLICATIONS-ACCT#80125600636404

 507.43MAY 2014/PUBLICATIONS-ACCT#80125600644113

Total :  2,237.90

 158858 6/25/2014 0005488  SPOO, ETHAN TRAVEL ADVANCE TRAVEL ADVANCE  76.75

 111.29TRAVEL REIMBTRAVEL REIMB

Total :  188.04

 158859 6/25/2014 0003883  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3231628625 BINDER/ENVELOPES/LABELS  150.11

18Page:

53



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

19

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158859 6/25/2014 (Continued)0003883  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE

 41.90SHOULDER REST/POSTERBOARD/TACKS/CHARGER3231628627

-5.95CREDIT3232105634

-124.99CREDIT3232105635

 107.16ENVELOPES3232608493

 122.49TONER3233582792

 122.49TONER3233582793

 122.49TONER3233582794

 227.16TONER3233582795

 267.34TONER3233582796

 70.44STICKIES/PAPER CLIPS/DVDS/FOLDERS/FILE B3233582798

 86.63TONER3233582799

 5.73KEY TAGS3233582802

Total :  1,193.00

 158860 6/25/2014 0003749  STUMP, PATRICK L 1 DRIVING SERVICES  96.00

Total :  96.00

 158861 6/25/2014 0000874  SURETY PEST CONTROL 10020095 PEST EXTERMINATION  59.79

 30.44PEST EXTERMINATION1015382

 43.48PEST EXTERMINATION1015384

 38.05PEST EXTERMINATION1015385

 43.48PEST EXTERMINATION1015387

 30.44PEST EXTERMINATION1015395

 106.53PEST EXTERMINATION1018109

Total :  352.21

 158862 6/25/2014 0007280  TRI COUNTY RECYCLING, INC 8 RECYCLING  2,613.70

Total :  2,613.70

 158863 6/25/2014 0004903  US BANK 4485590001840921 CREDIT CARD PURCHASES  8.79

Total :  8.79

 158864 6/25/2014 0006851  US MOWER 271248 BLADE NUT/PIN/BLADE  365.98

Total :  365.98

 158865 6/25/2014 0000926  USABLUEBOOK 362537 CHART PENS/SETTLING AGENT  379.29

19Page:

54



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

20

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total :  379.29 158865 6/25/2014 0000926 0000926  USABLUEBOOK

 158866 6/25/2014 0000934  UTILITIES UNDERGROUND LOCATION 4050174 MAY 2014/LOCATES  77.00

Total :  77.00

 158867 6/25/2014 0000937  VALLEY FREIGHTLINER, INC 2241670042 SW RCKR  48.99

Total :  48.99

 158868 6/25/2014 0003056  VANCE, GERI 1 TRAVEL REFUND  200.00

Total :  200.00

 158869 6/25/2014 0000932  VERIZON WIRELESS 9726606655 CURRENT COMM CHARGES  4,066.15

Total :  4,066.15

 158870 6/25/2014 0007509  VOITECKY, KAREN 1 TRAVEL REFUND  200.00

Total :  200.00

 158871 6/25/2014 0001044  WASHINGTON CRIMINAL JUSTICE 20113676 TRAINING  6,500.00

Total :  6,500.00

 158872 6/25/2014 0007331  WASHINGTON TRACTOR 476220 TURN SIGNA  82.76

Total :  82.76

 158873 6/25/2014 0000995  WEST, GARY EXP REIMB EXP REIMB  275.70

Total :  275.70

 158874 6/25/2014 0006267  WESTERN REFUSE & RECYCLING 135472 JOYSTICK  317.45

Total :  317.45

 158875 6/25/2014 0003067  WHIDBEY ANIMALS' IMPROVEMENT 1268 MAY 2014/ANIMAL CONTROL  8,333.37

Total :  8,333.37

 158876 6/25/2014 0001000  WHIDBEY AUTO PARTS, INC. 213958 HYDRAULIC OIL  35.78

 97.30FITTING/HOSE214107

 12.15PLUG214210

 19.02PAPER/NUTS214339

 30.16CONNECTOR/FITTINGS214557

 98.98HOSE/FITTING/CLAMP214958

20Page:

55



06/25/2014

Voucher List

City of Oak Harbor

21

12:07:59PM

Page:vchlist

Bank code : bank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

 158876 6/25/2014 (Continued)0001000  WHIDBEY AUTO PARTS, INC.

 123.52HOSE END/CLAMPS215222

Total :  416.91

 158877 6/25/2014 0001007  WHIDBEY CLEANERS 257870 EMBROIDERY  114.14

Total :  114.14

 158878 6/25/2014 0000675  WHIDBEY COMMUNITY PHYSICIANS 040314-82 PHYSICAL/BOER  225.00

 225.00PHYSICAL/LAWSON051214-220

 150.00PHYSICAL/ROBINSON052314-64

Total :  600.00

 158879 6/25/2014 0001017  WHIDBEY PRINTERS 46949 DOOR HANGERS  1,020.98

 239.14WINDOW ENVELOPES46958

Total :  1,260.12

 158880 6/25/2014 0007510  WHIDBEY TECH SOLUTIONS 50367 WI FI INSTALLATION  288.06

Total :  288.06

 158881 6/25/2014 0007503  WOODLIFF, STEPHANIE 061614 KEY DEPOSIT REFUND  5.00

Total :  5.00

 158882 6/25/2014 0002826  YOUTH'S SAFETY COMPANY 24115 BADGES  312.29

Total :  312.29

Bank total :  859,870.43 154 Vouchers for bank code : bank

 859,870.43Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report 154

21Page:

56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 1 of 7 

INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT 
TO ESTABLISH A HOME CONSORTIUM AND RECEIVE FUNDS  

UNDER THE NATIONAL AFFORDABLE HOUSING ACT  
FOR THE PROGRAM YEARS 2015 THROUGH 2017 

 
This Interlocal Cooperation Agreement (hereinafter Agreement) is entered into by and 
between Skagit County (hereinafter Lead Agency), and Anacortes, Blaine, Burlington, 
Concrete, Coupeville, Everson, Ferndale, Hamilton, Island County, La Conner, Langley, 
Lynden, Lyman, Mount Vernon, Nooksack, Oak Harbor, Sedro-Woolley, Sumas, 
Whatcom County (hereinafter Members) (Note that Agreement final version will include 
names of Members that adopt a Resolution agreeing to join) for the purpose of 
establishing a regional HOME Consortium to receive and administer federal funds under 
the HOME Investment Partnership Program. This Agreement will become effective upon 
adoption by the Members and approval by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD).  
 
RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the three-county region has a shortage of homes that lower-wage 
workers and other low-income people can afford, using thirty percent of gross household 
income for housing costs; and 

WHEREAS, cooperation among local governments supports existing local efforts 
aimed at reducing homelessness and increasing the supply of homes lower-wage workers 
and others can afford to lease or own; and  

WHEREAS, the federal government offers funding and technical assistance 
aimed at increasing the supply of decent, safe and affordable housing available to low-
income and very-low-income families, including the HOME Investment Partnerships 
Program (HOME Program) created in the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990 
(NAHA), as implemented by HUD through regulations at Title 24, Code of Federal 
Regulations, Part 92 (HOME regulations); and  

WHEREAS, HOME regulations allow a group of contiguous units of general 
local governments (UGLGs) to organize as Members that establish a HOME Consortium 
for the purposes of obtaining HOME grant funding from HUD that will assist in 
improving the supply of decent, safe and affordable homes for low-income people and 
will strengthen partnerships among all levels of government and the private sector; and 

WHEREAS, the Members have determined that obtaining HOME grant funding 
will increase their ability to assist with efforts to end homelessness and for the provision 
of affordable homes for residents with incomes at or below sixty percent of the area 
median income; and 

WHEREAS, the Members are not individually eligible to obtain an allocation of 
HOME grant funding from HUD; however, the Members can cooperate to establish a 
HOME Consortium that will be eligible to obtain an allocation of HOME grant funding 
from HUD; and  

90



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 2 of 7 

WHEREAS, the Members have determined that it will be mutually beneficial and 
in the public interest to enter into this Interlocal Cooperation Agreement to establish a 
HOME Consortium in order to become eligible for HOME grant funding; and 

WHEREAS, the Interlocal Cooperation Act in Chapter 39.34 of the Revised Code 
of Washington permits local governments to enter into agreements to cooperate for 
beneficial purposes and these purposes can include regional cooperation to establish a 
HOME Consortium; and  

WHEREAS, HOME regulations specify the topics and content that Members 
must include in an interlocal cooperation agreement that establishes a HOME 
Consortium, and the HOME regulations require that the HOME Consortium Members 
select one Member to act as Lead Agency for all Members in communications with HUD 
and as the HOME grant recipient on behalf of the Consortium; and 

WHEREAS, Skagit County has offered to serve as the Lead Agency on behalf of 
the Members that enter into an interlocal cooperation agreement for the purpose of 
implementing a regional HOME-funded program to enhance cooperation among local 
jurisdictions to increase the availability of resources available to local governments to 
address the housing-related problems of lower-income people and to implement local 
Plans to End Homelessness; and 

WHEREAS, the Lead Agency has offered to administer such federal funds for 
itself and on behalf of the Members; 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises 
contained in this Agreement, the Members mutually agree to the following terms and 
conditions. 

1. DEFINITIONS 

For the purpose of this Agreement, the terms defined in this section have the 
meanings given to them: 

A.  “Consolidated Plan” is a HUD required document that serves as a planning 
and budgeting document for the Consortium and as a HOME grant funding 
application. The Consortium will develop a Consolidated Plan by May 15, 
2015. 

B. “Consortium” means the Members and Lead Agency acting together pursuant 
to this Agreement.  

C. “HOME Regulations” means the rules, regulations and guidelines promulgated 
pursuant to the NAHA, including but not limited to 24 CFR Parts 91 and 92, as 
amended.  

D. “Lead Agency” means Skagit County, designated by the Members as the unit 
of general local government to act in a representative capacity for all Members 
for the purpose of entering into a HOME grant agreement with HUD.  

91



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 3 of 7 

E. “Member” means an unit of general local government that is a signatory to this 
Agreement and therefore becomes a Member of the Consortium.   

F. “Subrecipient” means a Member who carries out HOME-funded activities after 
entering into a separate written agreement with the Lead Agency. 

 

2. PURPOSE  

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a HOME Consortium that will be 
eligible for HOME grant funds to increase the Members’ ability to assist in the 
provision of housing affordable for low-income residents.  

3. AGREEMENT 

A. Term: The initial term (also known as “qualification period”) of this 
Agreement shall be for a period with an end date of June 30, 2018 that includes 
the federal fiscal years 2015, 2016 and 2017, with funding potentially 
becoming available after June 30, 2015. Members agree to participate for the 
term of this agreement and may choose to opt out of future agreements.  

B. Execution: This Agreement shall be executed by the appropriate officers of 
each Member and the Lead Agency pursuant to authority granted them by their 
respective governing bodies, and a copy of the authorizing resolutions and 
executed Agreement shall be filed promptly at the offices of the Lead Agency. 

C. Consolidated Plan: The Lead Agency is responsible for preparing and 
submitting the Consolidated Plan to HUD. The Members shall cooperate in the 
preparation of the Consolidated Plan by providing input during the preparation 
of the Consolidated Plan and by assisting the Lead Agency in holding any 
required public meetings during the preparation of the Consolidated Plan.  

D. Program Administration:  Skagit County, as Lead Agency, agrees to have 
decision-making authority regarding the Consolidated Plan and 
implementation, as well as oversight and authority on issues affecting the 
Consortium activities. The Lead Agency will be entitled to up to ten percent of 
the HOME Consortium grant allocation, as well as up to ten percent of 
program income, for eligible planning and administrative costs. The Lead 
Agency will provide staff support for a HOME Consortium Advisory 
Committee that will assist with preparation of the Consolidated Plan, project 
selection criteria, and selection of recommended projects for HOME funding 
agreements. 

E. Allocating HOME Program Funding: The annual allocation of HOME 
program funds will be based on the recommendation from the HOME 
Consortium Advisory Committee and adopted in the Consolidated Plan and its 
annual Action Plan. 

92



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 4 of 7 

F. HOME Consortium Advisory Committee: An Advisory Committee shall be 
created for the purpose of identifying the general activities and priorities to be 
undertaken by the Consortium with HOME grant funds. Each Member may 
appoint a representative to serve on the Advisory Committee. The Advisory 
Committee will also participate in the development of the Consolidated Plan, 
establish decision-making procedures for the Consortium, serve in an advisory 
capacity for the programs and projects funded with HOME expenditures, make 
recommendations to the Lead Agency’s governing body, and provide advice 
for the successful implementation of the Consolidated Plan and the HOME 
Consortium’s programs. 

G. Matching Funds: No Member will be required to accept HOME grant funds, 
and no matching funds will be required of a Member that does not enter into a 
separate written agreement for HOME-funded activities. Members shall be 
responsible for providing matching funds for any HOME pass-through grant 
funds allocated to and accepted for use by that Member under terms to be 
specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement. No matching funds will be 
required from a Member that does not enter into a HOME Subrecipient 
agreement.  

Matching funds shall be reported to the Lead Agency, in a format to be 
determined by the Lead Agency, by the end of each federal fiscal year of this 
agreement. 

H. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing: The Lead Agency and the Members 
agree to affirmatively further fair housing with all HOME Consortium funds 
under this Agreement in compliance with 24 CFR 92.350. Each Member that 
enters into a HOME Subrecipient agreement will be responsible for 
compliance with HUD regulations and, if applicable, for their own preparation 
and submission to HUD of an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing 
Choice. The Members agree that funding activities will be prohibited if a 
Member does not affirmatively further fair housing within its jurisdiction or 
impedes actions intended to comply with the Consortium's fair housing 
certification. The Members acknowledges noncompliance by a Member may 
provide cause for funding sanctions or remedial actions by HUD. 

I. Program Income: Program Income as defined at 24 CFR 92.2 generated by a 
Member will be held by each Member in a separate account specific to the 
HOME Program. Program Income will be used first before any additional 
HOME funds are drawn or requested for reimbursement, and appropriate 
documentation of the receipt and use of program income will be provided to 
the Lead Agency in a format to be determined by the Lead Agency and as 
required for reporting to HUD. 

J. Indemnification:  Each Member agrees to be responsible and assume liability 
for its own wrongful and/or negligent acts or omissions or those of their 
officials, officers, agents, or employees to the fullest extent required by law, 
and further agrees to save, indemnify, defend, and hold the other Members of 

93



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 5 of 7 

the Consortium harmless from such liability. It is further provided that no 
liability shall attach to Skagit County as Lead Agency by reason of entering 
into this agreement except as expressly provided herein. The Members of the 
Consortium agree to reasonably cooperate in the event litigation is brought 
against one or more of the Members pursuant to this Agreement by any third 
party. 

4. LEAD AGENCY RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Responsibilities: The Lead Agency will be the governmental entity required to 
execute all grant agreements for HOME funds received from HUD pursuant to 
the Consortium’s request for HOME funds. The Lead Agency will thereby 
become and will be held by HUD to have full responsibility for the execution 
of the HOME Program in compliance with HOME rules, including the 
requirements of the Consolidated Plan. The Lead Agency will be responsible 
for leading the development of the Consortium's Consolidated Plan with an 
annual Action Plan component and for required administrative functions such 
as reporting on the activities of the Consortium and serving as the liaison 
between HUD and Consortium Members, for meeting the requirements of 
other applicable laws, and for the performance of the HOME-funded activities 
including the HOME-funded projects and activities to be conducted by the 
Subrecipients.  

B. Pass-through Grant Funds: The Lead Agency shall monitor the performance 
of any Member that receives pass-through HOME funds and will hold a 
Member jurisdiction accountable, under terms to be specified in HOME 
Subrecipient agreement, for compliance with the requirements set forth in 
HUD regulations. 

C. Administrative Activities for the Consortium: The Lead Agency agrees to 
provide administrative functions for the Consortium, and specific 
administrative tasks include, but are not limited to, coordinating the public 
participation process, developing necessary forms and implementation 
agreements with Members that receive pass-through HOME funds, drafting 
program descriptions, notices of funding availability and requests for 
proposals, confirming that a Subrecipient is not debarred from federal funds, 
providing technical assistance to project sponsors, confirming compliance of 
funded projects as specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement, and preparing 
required reports. 

D. Administrative Activities for Members: The Lead Agency’s administrative 
obligations to the Members shall be limited to the performance of the 
administrative and program tasks necessary to make HOME funds available to 
the Members under terms to be specified in HOME Subrecipient agreements 
and to provide reporting to HUD on the various projects funded with HOME 
funds under provisions to be specified in HOME Subrecipient agreements.  

94



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 6 of 7 

E. Reporting Requirements: The Lead Agency will require Subrecipients with 
HOME-funded activities or projects to provide the Lead Agency with HOME 
Program activity reports including information about program income, if any, 
derived from the HOME -funded activities. 

F. Communication:  The Lead Agency will be responsible for communicating 
periodically, at least once per quarter, to each Member and other interested 
parties, providing a Consortium status report, an update on prior 
communications, and requests for feedback and input on pertinent topics. 
Additional communication protocol will be established during the development 
of the Consolidated Plan.  

 

5. MEMBERS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Action Plan/Consolidated Plan Submissions: The Members shall provide 
input that will assist the Lead Agency with the preparation of a Consolidated 
Plan.  

B. Reporting Requirements: If a Member receives any HOME funds under 
terms to be specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement, the Member shall 
prepare and submit to the Lead Agency for consolidation into a combined 
report the following reports, if applicable, for submission to HUD according to 
applicable deadlines: Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing, Citizen 
Participation Plan, Minority Business Enterprise/Women's Business Enterprise 
reports, federal cash transaction reports, and annual HOME Consolidated 
Action Plan Evaluation Report(s)(CAPER) as well as preparing and submitting 
any other reporting requirements that are required by HUD. 

C. Lead Agency and Member Cooperation: The Lead Agency shall cooperate 
and work with each Member that receives any HOME pass-through funds 
under terms to be specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement for activities to 
be conducted or performed within the Member’s jurisdiction during the 
Federal Program Years this Agreement is in effect.  

D. Disallowed Expenditures: Each Member that receives pass-through HOME 
funds under terms to be specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement shall 
assume full responsibility for repayment of HOME funds for all expenditures 
made by their jurisdictions that are disallowed by HUD. 

E. Eligible Expenditures: Each Member that receives pass-through HOME funds 
under terms to be specified in a HOME Subrecipient agreement shall assume 
overall responsibility for ensuring their projects related to the Consortium’s 
HOME Program are carried out in compliance with the requirements set forth 
in HUD regulations. 

F. Eligibility Review and Compliance Monitoring: Each member that receives 
pass-through HOME funds under terms to be specified in a HOME 

95



 

 Three-County HOME Consortium draft Interlocal Cooperation Agreement   Page 7 of 7 

Subrecipient agreement shall provide monitoring the compliance of projects 
funded with HOME funds to ensure that they comply with applicable Federal 
laws and regulations including property standards.  

 

6. SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

A. Amendments: All amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and 
signed by all Members except that the Lead Agency shall have authority to 
amend to the Agreement on behalf of all Members to add new Members to the 
Consortium.  

B. Severability: Invalidation of any one or more of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall in no way affect any of the other provisions thereof, which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

C. Financial Obligations of the Parties: Each party's financial obligations under 
this Agreement are contingent upon appropriation, budgeting, and availability 
of specific funds to discharge those obligations. Nothing in this Agreement 
constitutes a debt, a direct or indirect multiple fiscal year obligation, a pledge 
of the credit of either party, or a payment guarantee by either party to the other 
party. No Member incurs any financial obligation unless it later signs a HOME 
Subrecipient agreement. 

 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the undersigned Members have executed this Agreement; 

 

 

A separate signature page will be added for each Member after each Member’s 
legislative process adopts a Resolution authorizing a signature on interlocal agreement.  

 

Potential members include: Island County, Coupeville, Langley, Oak Harbor, Whatcom 
County, Blaine, Everson, Ferndale, Lynden, Nooksack, Sumas, Skagit County, Anacortes, 
Burlington, Concrete, Hamilton, Laconner, Lyman, Mount Vernon, and Sedro-Woolley  

 
 

96



97



98



99



100



101



LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
 

The parties hereto are the City of Oak Harbor, a municipal corporation of the 
State of Washington (“Landlord”) and Opportunity Council, a Washington non-
profit corporation (“Tenant”). 

 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, Opportunity Council is a Washington non-profit corporation providing 
services to low income and disadvantaged families in Island County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, one of the services provided by Opportunity Council is emergency housing 
to low income and disadvantaged families in Island County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City of Oak Harbor is a municipal corporation of the State of Washington, 
and operates as a code city; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City of Oak Harbor, under its authority under the Washington State 
Constitution to provide aid to the aged and infirm, through its organic powers, and under Chapter 
RCW 43.185C, “Housing Assistance,” has the authority to provide human services, including but 
not limited to such services as emergency housing including for the homeless, for victims of 
domestic violence, and for low income and disadvantaged families; and 
 
 WHEREAS, City of Oak Harbor owns the premises located at 1045 SE Ireland Street #A, 
Oak Harbor, Washington and 945 E Whidbey Avenue, Oak Harbor, Washington; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Opportunity Council has previously leased the two premises and wishes to 
lease the premises at both locations for the purposes of providing human services and emergency 
housing to low income and disadvantaged families (the “target population”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Oak Harbor has determined that improvements, estimated to cost $3,000 to 
$4,000, will be needed to make the premises located at 1045 SE Ireland Street #A habitable; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Opportunity Council desires to lease both properties and is willing to 
expend the funds necessary to make the premises located at 1045 SE Ireland Street #A habitable 
and thereafter to maintain the premises at both locations in good condition and repair; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Oak Harbor does not wish to be in the business of providing residential 
housing; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants 
hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows: 
 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
1 

102



COVENANTS 
 
 1. LEASE AND DESCRIPTION.  Upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set 
forth, the Landlord does hereby lease to the Tenant and the Tenant does hereby lease from 
landlord those certain premises situated in the City of Oak Harbor, County of Island, State of 
Washington, according to the map thereof filed with the Landlord’s Clerk, and being described 
in Exhibit A, being the properties located at 1045 SE Ireland and 945 E. Whidbey Avenue, Oak 
Harbor, Washington.  Hereinafter the above-described properties are called, collectively, the 
“premises.” 
 
 2. OCCUPANCY.  The Tenant shall not occupy or use any of the premises and shall 
not sublet any of the premises until a certificate of occupancy thereof shall have been issued by 
the Landlord’s building official. 
 
 3. NUMBER OF OCCUPANTS.  Tenant agrees that the demised premise located at 
945 E. Whidbey Avenue shall be occupied by no more than four (4) persons without prior, 
express and written consent of Landlord.  Tenant agrees that the demised premise located at 1045 
SE Ireland Street shall be occupied by no more than eight (8) persons without prior, express and 
written consent of Landlord. 
 
 4. IMPROVEMENTS/OCCUPANCY.  Landlord is informed that the premises 
located at 1045 SE Ireland Street #A requires certain improvements, including electrical, to be 
habitable.  Other repairs may be required at the other premises.  Tenant agrees to undertake and 
perform said repairs at its sole cost in order that said buildings at both premises are habitable.  
Tenant agrees that until said repairs are completed and approved by the City of Oak Harbor 
building official, and the premises at both locations comply with all requirements to be habitable 
as residential property, the properties shall not be occupied for human habitation. 
 
 5. CONDITION OF PREMISES.  The Landlord does not covenant that the premises 
are currently habitable and the Tenant accepts the premises “as is”, “where is” and with all faults.  
Landlord makes no representation or warranty that the roof and structural components of the 
premises are sound or that the premises are served by a smoke detector or carbon monoxide 
detector.  Because of the age of the premises, they may contain lead based paint, asbestos, and 
mold, mildew or other adverse conditions.  Tenant acknowledges that it will have to make all 
repairs structural and otherwise at its sole expense to address all conditions of the premises and 
to use the premises and make them tenantable. 
 
Tenant acknowledges that its tenancy under this lease is not a residential tenancy under Chapter 
59.18 RCW, but a master lease and commercial tenancy. 
 
 6. BUSINESS PURPOSE AND USE.  The premises are to be used for the purpose 
of providing emergency housing to low income and disadvantaged families only.  A description 
of the purposes and services provided by Tenant is attached as Exhibit B.  Throughout the term 
of this lease Tenant shall generally offer programs and provide services consistent with the 
intended program as described in Exhibit B.  Tenant shall comply with all provisions of the 
Washington Residential Landlord Tenant Act in its subletting of the premises to the target 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
2 

103



population. 
 
  a. The Tenant shall conduct and carry on only the business for which said 
premises are leased.  The Tenant shall at all times keep and use the premises in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Washington and ordinances of the City of Oak Harbor and in accordance 
with all directions, rules and regulations of the health officer, fire marshal, building official or 
other proper officer of any pertinent and authorized public authority, at the sole cost and expense 
of the Tenant. 
 
  b. The Tenant has exclusive use of the facility and agrees to permit access to 
and sublet the premises for purposes and uses that are consistent with the intended use of the 
premises as stated in Exhibit B.  The Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring that any use of the 
premises is consistent with the intended purposes and uses of the premises. 
 
  c. The Tenant shall submit an annual report to the Landlord regarding use of 
the premises to include such information as occupancy and vacancy rates and other such 
information that will assist Landlord in evaluating that the premises are being utilized according 
to the terms and conditions defined in this Lease Agreement. 
 
  d. Failure to adhere to the intended use or to meet any of the use 
requirements stated herein constitutes a default of this lease.  In such event, the landlord will 
notify the Tenant, in writing, of such and the Tenant shall correct same within thirty (30) days of 
the date of the notification.  Failure to correct such conditions will constitute grounds for 
termination of this lease. 
 
 7. TERM.  The term of this lease shall be for up to 60 months, and shall commence 
on _______________, 2014. 
 
 8. RENTAL FEE.  In consideration of and exchange for the Tenant’s rehabilitation 
and maintenance of the properties, and the services and contributions to be provided the target 
homeless population, there will be no rental fee. 
 
 9. UTILITIES.  The Tenant shall be responsible for all utilities, including, but not 
limited to, power, heat, gas, cable, sewer, storm water, television and telephone. 
 
 10. ACCESS.  The Tenant will allow the Landlord or the Landlord’s agents free 
access at all reasonable time and upon at least twenty-four (24) hours notice to the premises 
during normal business hours for the purpose of inspection.  Nothing herein shall be construed as 
in any way limiting the authority of the landlord’s building official under existing law. 
 
 11. CARE OF PREMISES. 
 
  a. Tenant shall at all times keep the premises neat, clean and in a sanitary 
condition, and shall at all times preserve said premises in good repair except for reasonable wear 
and tear and damage by fire or other unavoidable casualty. 
 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
3 

104



  b. All maintenance and operating costs for the premises, including fixtures, 
shall be borne by the Tenant, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Landlord.  This 
includes, but is not limited to, all structural, roof, heating, plumbing and other systems and 
fixtures.  Landlord will not be responsible for any replacement or repairs, to the property, the 
improvements, or any systems or fixtures in the improvements. 
 
  c. Tenant will commit or permit no waste, damage or injury to the premises.  
This includes, but is not limited to:  the replacement of any glass of all broken windows and 
doors of the building as may become cracked or broken; keeping all drainage pipes free and open 
and protecting water, heating, and other pipes so that they will not freeze or become clogged; and 
the repair of all leaks and all damages caused by leaks or by reason of the Tenant’s failure to 
protect and keep free, open and unfrozen any of the pipes and plumbing on said premises.  All 
such maintenance and repairs shall be at the sole expense of the Tenant.  Tenant shall maintain 
all smoke detectors and carbon monoxide detectors required by law for the premises. 
 
 12. ALTERATIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS. 
 
  a. With the exception of repairs necessary to make the premises located at 
1045 SE Ireland Street #A habitable, Tenant shall make no alterations or repairs to the buildings 
on the demised premises or construct any building or make other improvements on the demised 
premises without the prior, express and written consent of Landlord. 
 
  b. All alterations, changes, and improvements built, constructed, or placed on 
the demised premises by Tenant, with the exception of fixtures removable without damage to the 
premises and movable personal property, shall, unless otherwise provided by written agreement 
between Landlord and Tenant, be the property of Landlord and remain on the demised premises 
at the expiration nor earlier termination of this lease.  The City will designate, in writing, the 
person responsible for authorizing work under this section. 
 
 13. MAINTENANCE OF GROUNDS.  Tenant shall be responsible for maintaining 
the grounds and parking areas, and shall make every effort to keep the grounds and parking areas 
clean and free of debris. 
 
 14. ANIMALS.  Tenant shall allow no domestic or other animals on or about the 
leased premises, except those protected under Washington State RCW 49.60.222 (dog guides or 
service animals) without the prior, express, and written consent of Landlord. 
 
 15. STORAGE OF MATERIALS, SUPPLIES, ETC.  The Tenant covenants to not 
store or deposit materials, supplies or other objects on the exterior of the leased premises without 
the permission of the Landlord and then only by the erection of a sight-obscuring fence or hedge 
which is acceptable to Landlord. 
 
 16. HAZARDOUS WASTES. 
 
  a. The Tenant shall not permit dangerous wastes, hazardous wastes, or 
extremely hazardous wastes as defined by RCW 70.105.010, or any other substance that is 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
4 

105



designated as hazardous, dangerous, toxic, harmful, medical or infectious, and/or that is subject 
to regulation by an federal, state, or local law or regulation (collectively referred to as 
“hazardous substance”), except in full compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating 
to the specified use, to exist on the premises.  The Tenant shall, at that party’s sole expense, 
undertake to comply with all rules, regulations, and policies of the Washington State Department 
of Ecology and the United States Environmental Protection Agency.  The Tenant shall promptly 
notify Oak Harbor City Fire Department and any applicable regulatory authority of the existence 
of dangerous wastes, hazardous wastes, extremely hazardous wastes, or hazardous substances as 
required by state and/or federal regulations, shall promptly comply with all other regulatory 
requirements, and shall notify the other party of all such actions.  The Tenant shall comply with 
the provisions of any local Hazardous Waste Plan as now in existence or hereinafter enacted.  
The Tenant shall comply with any requirements for hazardous waste disposal as may be imposed 
by RCW 70.105D.030 and the State Department of Ecology. 
 
  b. The Tenant shall be responsible and liable to the City for any and all 
cleanup costs and any and all other charges, fees, and penalties imposed by any governmental 
authority with respect to Tenant’s or its subtenants’/occupants’ use, handling, disposal, 
transportation, generation and/or sale of hazardous substances, in or about the premises, common 
area or the building of which the premises are a part. 
 
  c. Tenant shall indemnity, defend and hold the City harmless from any and 
all of the costs, fees, penalties and charges assessed against or imposed upon the indemnified 
party (including attorney fees and costs) as a result of the indemnifying party’s use, handling, 
disposal, transportation, generation, and/or sale of hazardous substances, in or about the 
premises, common areas, or the building of which the premises are a part. 
 
  d. Violation of this Section 16 shall be grounds for immediate termination of 
the lease, provided that the violating party has failed to remedy the violation within thirty (30) 
days after written demand to do so. 
 
 17. MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING ON PREMISES.  The Tenant shall provide 
parking on or about the leased premises as is legally permitted by the City of Oak Harbor, and 
said parking shall be sufficient for all motor vehicles in connection with Tenant’s use of the 
premises. 
 
 18. SUBORDINATION OF LEASE.  This lease and Tenant’s leasehold interest 
under this lease are and shall be subject, subordinate, and inferior to any liens or encumbrances 
now or hereafter placed on the demised premises by Landlord, all advances made under any such 
liens or encumbrances, the interest payable on any such liens or encumbrances, and any and all 
renewals or extensions of such liens or encumbrances. 
 
 19. HOLDOVER BY TENANT. 
 
 Should Tenant remain in possession of the demised premises with the consent of 
Landlord after the natural expiration of this lease, a new tenancy from month-to-month shall be 
created between Landlord and Tenant which shall be subject to all the terms and conditions of 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
5 

106



this lease agreement but shall be terminable on thirty (30) days written notice served by either 
Landlord or Tenant on the other party. 
 
 20. SURRENDER OF PREMISES.  At the expiration of the lease term, Tenant shall 
quit and surrender the demised premises in as good state and condition, broom clean.  At any 
time during the lease term either party may exercise the right to terminate the agreement for any 
reason, so long as the party wishing to terminate serves the other party with a written notice of 
intent to terminate the lease at least ninety (90) days prior to the termination date. 
 
 21. VACATING THE PREMISES.  Tenant agrees that at the expiration or sooner 
termination of this lease the Tenant will quit and surrender said premises without notice and in a 
neat and clean condition and will deliver to the Landlord all keys to all buildings on the 
premises.  Upon termination of the lease, all improvements on the premises shall be the property 
of the Landlord. 
 
 22. INDEMNITY. 
 
  a. All personal property on said leased premises shall be at the risk of 
Tenant.  Landlord shall not be liable for any damage, either to person or property, sustained by 
Tenant or others, caused by any defects now in said premises or hereafter occurring therein, or 
due to the condition of any buildings or improvement existing or hereafter erected to any part or 
appurtenance thereof becoming out of repair, or caused by fire or by the bursting or leaking of 
water, gas, sewer, or steam pipes, or from any act or neglect of Tenant or other occupants of said 
buildings, or any other persons, or due to the happening of any accident from any cause in or 
about said buildings. 
 
  b. Tenant shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City, its officer, officials, 
employees and volunteers from and against any and all claims, suits, actions, or liabilities for injury or 
death of any person, or for loss or damage to property, which arises out of Tenant’s use of demised 
premises, or from the conduct of Tenant’s business, or from any activity, work or thing done, permitted, 
or suffered by Tenant in or about the Premises, except only such injury or damage as shall have been 
occasioned by the sole negligence of the City. 
 
 23. INSURANCE. 
 
  a. Insurance:  The Tenant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the 
Agreement, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from 
or in connection with the Tenant’s operation and use of the leased premises.   

 
  b. No Limitation:  Tenant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the agreement 
shall not be construed to limit the liability of the Tenant to the coverage provided by such insurance, or 
otherwise limit the City’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

 
  c. Minimum Scope of Insurance – Tenant shall obtain insurance of the types 
described below: 

 
   1. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on Insurance 
Services Office (ISO) occurrence form CG 00 01 and shall cover premises and contractual liability.  The 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
6 

107



City shall be named as an insured on Tenant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy using ISO 
Additional Insured-Managers or Lessors of Premises Form CG 20 11 or a substitute endorsement 
providing equivalent coverage. 
 
   2. Property insurance shall be written on an all risk basis. 
 
  d. Minimum Amounts of Insurance – Tenant shall maintain the following 
insurance limits: 
 
   1. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no 
less than $1,000,000 (one million) each occurrence, $2,000,000 (two million) general aggregate. 
 
   2. Property insurance shall be written covering the full value of Tenant’s 
property and improvements with no coinsurance provisions. 

 
  e. Other Insurance Provisions:  The Tenant’s Commercial General Liability 
insurance policy or policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance 
as respect the City.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the City 
shall be excess of the Tenant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.   

 
  f. Acceptability of Insurers:  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current 
A.M. Best rating of not less than A: VII. 

 
  g. Verification of Coverage:  Tenant shall furnish the City with original 
certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the 
additional insured endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Tenant.   

 
  h. Waiver of Subrogation:  Tenant and City hereby release and discharge each 
other from all claims, losses and liabilities arising from or caused by any hazard covered by property 
insurance on or in connection with the premises or said building.  This release shall apply only to the 
extent that such claim, loss or liability is covered by insurance.   

 
  i. City’s Property Insurance:  City shall purchase and maintain during the term of 
the lease all-risk property insurance covering the Building for their replacement value without 
coinsurance provisions.   

 
  j. Notice of Cancellation:  The Tenant shall provide the City with written notice of 
any policy cancellation, within two business days of their receipt of such notice. 

 
  k. Failure to Maintain Insurance:  Failure on the part of the Tenant to maintain 
the insurance as required shall constitute a material breach of the lease, upon which the City may, after 
giving five business days notice to the Tenant to correct the breach, terminate the Lease or, at its 
discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection therewith, with 
any sums so expended to be repaid to the City on demand. 

 
 24. FIRE INSURANCE.  The Tenant shall, at all times, carry at its own expense fire 
insurance, extended coverage (“all risk”) and vandalism and malicious mischief fire insurance on 
all buildings existing or hereafter constructed on the premises acceptable to the Landlord, which 
policy or policies shall name the Landlord as the insured, and to the extent of one hundred 
percent (100%) of value as mutually agreed upon by Tenant and Landlord prior to the execution 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
7 

108



of this lease and every five years thereafter.  The original policy, a duplicate true certified copy, 
or such other evidence of insurance as the Landlord shall in writing have agreed to accept, shall 
be on deposit with the Landlord’s Clerk at all times during the term hereof.  Each such policy 
shall provide that the policy may not be cancelled without the company first giving the Landlord 
at least thirty (30) days prior written notice.  No such policy shall contain a deductible clause 
greater than One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) per claim without the Landlord’s consent.  In the 
event of loss, the Tenant shall pay such deductible sum. 
 
 25. INSURANCE PROCEEDS IN EVENT OF LOSS. 
 
  a. Total Destruction:  If the premises are totally destroyed by fire or other 
insured casualty during the term of this lease, this lease shall terminate and the proceeds of 
insurance shall be remitted to Landlord. 
 
  b. Partial Destruction:  In case of partial destruction, the proceeds shall be 
used for repairing the damage. 
 
  c. Duties regardless of the extent of Destruction:  The Tenant shall give 
notice of loss immediately and of intention to repair for partial destruction within twenty (20) 
days of loss. 
 
 26. LIENS AND INSOLVENCY.  Tenant shall keep the leased premises and the 
property in which the leased premises are situated free from any liens arising out of any work 
performed, materials furnished or obligations incurred by Tenant, except for financing 
instruments obtained with the written consent of the Landlord.  If the Tenant becomes insolvent, 
voluntarily or involuntarily bankrupt, or if a receiver, assignee or other liquidating officer is 
appointed for the business of the Tenant, the Landlord may cancel this lease at Landlord’s 
option, provided at least ninety (90) days prior notice is given to Tenant. 
 
 27. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.  This lease may not be assigned or sublet 
except to the target population. 
 
 28. NOTICE.  All notices and consents hereunder shall be given in writing, delivered 
in person or mailed by certified mail postage prepaid, to the receiving party at its address below, 
or to such other address as the receiving party may notify the sender beforehand referring to this 
lease: 
 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
8 

109



 
 Opportunity Council 

Attn:     
     
     

 

   
 CITY OF OAK HABOR 

865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, WA  98277 

 

 
 29. GOVERNMENTAL FEES.  Except for those which may be approved by 
Resolution of the City Council of the City of Oak Harbor, all fees due under applicable law to 
the City, County or State on account of any inspection made on leased premises by any officer 
thereof shall be paid by Tenant. 
 
 30. SIGNS.  Subject only to any First Amendment Rights of Tenant or subtenants all 
signs and symbols placed in the windows or doors or elsewhere about the premises, or upon the 
exterior part of the building, shall be subject to the approval of the Landlord or Landlord’s 
agents.  In the event anyone shall place signs or symbols on the exterior of said buildings or in 
the windows or doors or elsewhere where they are visible from the street that are not satisfactory 
to the Landlord or landlord’s agents, the landlord or Landlord’s agents may immediately demand 
the removal of such signs or symbols, and the refusal of the Tenant to comply with such demand  
within a period of twenty-four (24) hours will entitle the landlord to access the premises to have 
the sign or symbol removed at the Tenant’s expense.  Any signs so placed on the premises shall 
be so placed upon the understanding and agreement that Tenant will remove same at the 
termination of the tenancy herein created and repair any damage or injury to the premises caused 
thereby, and if not so removed by Tenant, then Landlord may have the same removed at Tenant’s 
expense.  Tenant shall in respect to signs conform to all requests of the City of Oak Harbor Sign 
Code and Building Code, and pay applicable fees. 
 
 31. DEFAULT AND RE-ENTRY.  If any rents above reserved, or any part thereof, 
shall be and remain unpaid when the same shall become due, or if the Tenant shall violate or 
default in any of the covenants and agreements therein contained, then the Landlord may cancel 
this lease upon giving the written notice required by law or as specified in this lease agreement, 
and re-enter said premises.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Landlord 
shall provide Tenant with written notice of default and shall allow the Tenant a thirty (30) day 
period to cure (or, in case of impracticability, commence to cure) such default. 
 
 32. COSTS AND ATTORNEY’S FEES.  If by reason of any default on the part of 
either party, litigation is commenced to enforce any provision of this lease or to recover for 
breach of any provision of this lease, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the 
other party reasonable attorney’s fees in such amount as is fixed by the court, and all costs and 
expenses incurred by reason of the breach or default by the other under this lease. 
 
 33. NON-WAIVER OF BREACH.  The failure of either party to insist upon strict 
performance of any of the covenants and agreements of this lease, or to exercise any option 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
9 

110



herein conferred in any one or more instances, shall not be construed to be a waiver or 
relinquishment of any such strict performance or of the exercise of such option or any other 
covenants or agreements but the same shall be and remain in full force and effect. 
 
 34. REMOVAL OF PROPERTY.  In the event of default and failure to cure, or 
taking possession of the leased premises as aforesaid, the Landlord shall have the right, but not 
the obligation, to remove from the leased premises all personal property located therein or 
thereon, and may store the same in any place selected by Landlord, including, but not limited to, 
a public warehouse, at the expense and risk of the owners thereof, with the right to sell such 
stored property with notice to the Tenant, after it has been stored for a period of at least sixty 
(60) days, the proceeds of such sale to be applied first to the cost of such sale, second to the 
payment of the charges for storage, if any, and third to the payment of any other sums of money 
which may then be due from Tenant to Landlord under any of the terms hereof, and the balance, 
if any, to be paid to Tenant. 
 
 35. HEIRS AND SUCCESSORS.  Subject to the provisions hereof pertaining to 
assignment and subletting, the covenants and agreements of this lease shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and 
assigns of any and all of the parties hereto. 
 
 36. HOLD OVER.  If the Tenant shall, with written consent of Landlord, hold over 
after the expiration of the term of this lease, such tenancy shall be determined as provided by the 
laws of the State of Washington.  During such tenancy Tenant agrees to pay Landlord the same 
rate of rental as set forth herein, unless a different rate is agreed upon, and to be bound by all of 
the terms, covenants and conditions as herein specified, so far as applicable. 
 
 37. NONDISCRIMINATION. 
 
  a. The Tenant, for itself, its heirs, personal representatives, successors in 
interest and assigns, as a part of the consideration hereof, does hereby agree the Tenant shall 
maintain and operate such facilities and services in compliance with all other requirements 
imposed pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations.  No person on the grounds of race, 
color or national origin shall be excluded from the participation in, denied the benefits of, or be 
otherwise subjected to discrimination in the use of said facilities.  In the construction of any 
improvements in, over or under such land and the furnishing of services thereon, no person on 
the grounds of race, color or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the 
benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination.  The Tenant shall use the premises in 
compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations. 
 
  b. In the event of failure to correct a breach of any of the above 
nondiscrimination covenants within thirty (30) days, the Landlord shall have the right to 
terminate this lease and to re-enter and repossess said land and facilities thereon, and hold the 
same as if said lease had never been made or issued. 
 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
10 
111



 38. VENUE.  The venue of any suit which may be brought by either party under the 
terms of this lease or growing out of the tenancy under this lease shall be in Island County, 
Washington. 
 
 39. TIME OF THE ESSENCE.  It is specifically declared and agreed that time is of 
the essence of this lease agreement. 
 
 40. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This lease agreement shall constitute the entire 
agreement between the parties.  Any prior understanding or representation of any kind preceding 
the date of this lease agreement shall not be binding upon either party except to the extent 
incorporated in this lease agreement. 
 
 41. MODIFICATION OF AGREEMENT.  Any modification of this lease agreement 
or additional obligation assumed by either party in connection with this lease agreement shall be 
binding only if evidenced in a writing signed by each party or signed by an authorized 
representative of each party. 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this lease on the ________ 
day of __________________, 2014. 
 
 
CITY OF OAK HARBOR, Landlord 
 
 
 
By:       
 Larry Cort, City Administrator 

OPPORTUNITY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
By:       

       
 Printed Name, Authorized Agent 

 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
By:       
 Anna Thompson, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form:     Approved as to From: 
 
 
By:       By:       
 Grant K. Weed, City Attorney   
       OPPORTUNITY COUNCIL ATTORNEY 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
11 
112



STATE OF WASHINGTON ) 
    )  ss. 
COUNTY OF ISLAND ) 
 
 I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that __________________________ is 
the person who appeared before me, and said person acknowledged that he/she signed this 
instrument, on oath acknowledged that he was authorized to execute the instrument, and 
acknowledged it as the __________________ of OPPORTUNITY COUNCIL to be the free and 
voluntary act of such party for the uses and purposes mentioned in the instrument. 
 
 DATED this _______ day of _____________________, 2014. 
 
 
              
              
        (Legibly print name of notary) 
       NOTARY PUBLIC in and for the State of 
       Washington residing at     
       My commission expires:    
 
 
EXHIBIT A:  LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 
 
EXHIBIT B:  DESCRIPTON OF PURPOSES AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY TENANT 

/oh-14-017/lease..052814 
12 
113



114



115



Biography Form 
 

 
 

Recommended Board Appointment for:  Lodging Tax Advisory Committee  
 

Name:  Michelle Curry  Date:  6/13/14  
 

Address: 866 SE Bayshore Dr  
 

City, State, Zip: Oak Harbor, WA 98277  
        (Preferred Contact) 

Telephone Number (H)                    Email: michelle.curry@peoplesbank-wa.com  

                            (Cell)   360-941-9690        

Mailing Address (if different from above):    
 
 
 
 

Resident of Oak Harbor/Whidbey Island for: Total 15/5       years/months 

 
Occupation and Place of Employment (if retired, reference previous 

occupation): 
 
 
 Real Estate Loan Officer – Peoples Bank 
 
 
 
 

Local Group or Civic Affiliations:  Soroptimist, SICBA – Skagit/Island Builders 
Association, Whidbey Island Sea Hawkers Booster Club  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Special Interests: Bringing great events & awareness to Oak Harbor, encouraging 
local businesses, and helping local non-profits with fund raising events  

 

 

 

Other General Comments:  Moved here in 1981, left in 1996, returned 2011, 
parents lived here 1981 - 2009, Oak Harbor is home for me.                                   

Previous groups I have been a part of – Oak Harbor Music Festival, Downtown 
Merchants, United Way (Instant Wine Cellar), Boys & Girls Club of Coupeville 

(annual fundraising event) and more  

116



117



118



119



120



121



122



RESOLUTION NO.  14-23  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OAK HARBOR, 
WASHINGTON, ADOPTING THE ISLAND COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE SOLID 
WASTE AND MODERATE-RISK WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN. 
 

WHEREAS, RCW 70.95 assigns responsibility for solid waste management to local gov-
ernments, and each unit of local government is required to prepare and maintain in current condi-
tion a comprehensive solid waste management plan in accordance with RCW 70.95.080 and 
70.95.110; and 

 
WHEREAS, RCW 70.105 assigns primary responsibility for moderate-risk waste man-

agement to local governments, and each unit of local government is required to prepare a local 
moderate-risk waste management plan in accordance with RCW 70.105.220; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Island County Solid Waste Advisory Committee participated in the 

preparation of the plan in accordance with RCW 70.95.165(3) and recommended approval of the 
Draft Final Island County Comprehensive Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management 
Plan, dated September 2013; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Oak Harbor City Council reviewed the Draft Island County Comprehen-

sive Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan on June 25, 2014.  City staff re-
viewed the Draft Final Plan and recommends adoption by the City Council. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby resolved by the City Council of Oak Harbor, Washing-
ton, that the Island County Comprehensive Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management 
Plan, dated March 2014, be adopted pursuant to RCW 70.95 and RCW 70.105. 
 
 
PASSED and APPROVED this    day of   , 2014. 
 
       CITY OF OAK HARBOR 
        
    

____________________________ 
ATTEST:      Scott Dudley, Mayor 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Anna Thompson, City Clerk   
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_______________________________    
City Attorney 
Resolution No. 14-23 
Page 1 of 1 
 

123



Table 1-1 
Summary of Recommendations 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 
               
 
Program Element   Recommendations      Six-Year 

Cost Estimate 
               
 
Waste Reduction   Adult Education and Promotion     426 

Youth Education       120 
Financial Support for Reuse Organizations      45 

Recycling    Implement Additional Curbside Recycling       -- 
Promote Private Yard Waste Diversion       -- 
Investigate Local Markets for Glass        -- 
Investigate Local Markets for other Materials      -- 
Continue to Pursue Co-Generation Options for Wood Waste    -- 
Encourage Food Waste Composting        -- 

Collection    Promote Curbside Waste Collection Services      -- 
Investigate Alternative Waste Collection Methods      -- 

Transfer    Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box Station     25 
Increase Capacity at the Camano Transfer Station   100 
Increase Capacity at the Bayview Drop Box Station   100 
Continue to Explore and Develop Increased Efficiencies at  
 Camano Transfer Station        -- 
Consider a New Transfer Station for Camano Island and/or 
 Coupeville Site         -- 
Increase or Modify Rates to Ensure Self-Sustaining Programs    -- 

Treatment and Disposal  Purchase Additional Buffer Areas       NA 
Investigate Off-Ramp Strategies        -- 
Investigate Additional Methods for Densifying Waste    NA 

Moderate-Risk Waste  Public Education for Household Hazardous Waste     60 
Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators   74 

Other Special Waste   Investigate Diversion Options for Demolition Debris     -- 
Adopt Contingency Plan for Disaster Debris       -- 
Alternative Collection Programs for Special Wastes      -- 

Administration   Maintain Target Balance for Working Capital      -- 
Conduct Phase 2 of Benchmarking Study      40 

Regulations    Discourage Illegal Dumping and Littering      60 
Promote and Enforce Secure Load Requirements     42 
Add Administrative Penalties to County Code, Increase Fines    -- 

               
 

Total Estimated Six-Year Cost of Management Recommendations   $1,092 
               
 
NA = Not Available, the activity could have significant cost but a reliable estimate is not available at 
this time. 
 
  

124



The estimated costs shown in Table 1-1 are only for new or additional activities that are specifically 
addressed in this plan, and do not include the significant expenditures for the existing activities 
conducted by public agencies and private companies involved in Island County’s solid waste system.  In 
addition, recommendations such as implementing additional curbside recycling services may lead to 
significant additional costs for residents and others in the county. 
 
Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

 

125



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Island County  
Solid Waste and 
Moderate-Risk  

Waste Management Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

March 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Island County Public Works / Solid Waste Division Green Solutions 
Courthouse, PO Box 5000 South Prairie, Washington 
Coupeville, WA 98239-5000 360-897-9533

126



 

 

 
 

Island County  
Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk 

Waste Management Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2014 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Island County, the Cities of Oak Harbor and 
Langley, and the Town of Coupeville 

 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

Island County Public Works / Solid Waste Division 
Courthouse, PO Box 5000 

Coupeville, WA 98239-5000 
Phone: 360-679-7338 

 
and 

 
Green Solutions 

South Prairie, Washington 
360-897-9533 

rick@green-solutions.biz 

127



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  i 

Contents  
 
 1 Summary  ............................................................................................................ 1-1 
 
 2 Introduction  ....................................................................................................... 2-1 
 
 2.1 Purpose  .................................................................................................... 2-1 
 2.2  Planning Area .......................................................................................... 2-1 
 2.3  Planning Authority  .................................................................................. 2-1 
 2.4  Required Plan Elements  .......................................................................... 2-2 
 2.5  Planning Goals and Objectives  ............................................................... 2-3 
 2.6  Roles of Local Government in the Planning Process  .............................. 2-3 
 2.7  Public Participation in the Planning Process  .......................................... 2-3 
 2.8  Disposition of Previous Management Plan Recommendations  .............. 2-4 
 2.9  Summary of New Solid Waste Rules  ...................................................... 2-4 
 
 3  Background of Planning Area  ......................................................................... 3-1 
 
 3.1  Population  ............................................................................................... 3-1 
 3.2  Economy  ................................................................................................. 3-1 
 3.3  Land Use  ................................................................................................. 3-1 
 3.4  Transportation  ......................................................................................... 3-3 
 3.5  Environmental Characteristics  ................................................................ 3-3 
 3.6  Siting Land Disposal Facilities in the Planning Area  ............................. 3-5 
 
 4  Waste Generation .............................................................................................. 4-1 
 
 4.1  Municipal Solid Waste  ............................................................................ 4-1 
 4.2  Other Special Waste  ................................................................................ 4-3 
 4.3  Moderate-Risk Waste .............................................................................. 4-5 
 
 5  Waste Reduction  ............................................................................................... 5-1 
 
 5.1  Existing Program Elements  ..................................................................... 5-1 
 5.2  Planning Issues ........................................................................................ 5-2 
 5.3  Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies  ................................................. 5-4 
 5.4  Evaluation of Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies  ........................... 5-6 
 
 6  Recycling  ............................................................................................................ 6-1 
 
 6.1  Existing Recycling Program Elements  ................................................... 6-1 
 6.2  Designation of Recyclable Materials  ...................................................... 6-4 
 6.3  Planning Issues ........................................................................................ 6-7 
 6.4  Alternative Recycling Strategies  ........................................................... 6-11 
 6.5  Evaluation of Alternative Recycling Strategies  .................................... 6-13 

128



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  ii 

Contents (cont'd)  
 
 7  Waste Collection ................................................................................................ 7-1 
 
 7.1  Existing Program Elements  ..................................................................... 7-1 
 7.2  Planning Issues ........................................................................................ 7-2 
 7.3  Alternative Waste Collection Strategies  ................................................. 7-4 
 7.4  Evaluation of Alternative Waste Collection Strategies  .......................... 7-6 
 
 8  Transfer  ............................................................................................................. 8-1 
 
 8.1  Existing Program Elements  ..................................................................... 8-1 
 8.2  Planning Issues ........................................................................................ 8-3 
 8.3  Alternative Transfer Strategies  ............................................................... 8-5 
 8.4  Evaluation of Alternative Transfer Strategies  ......................................... 8-8 
 
 9  Transport and Disposal  .................................................................................... 9-1 
 
 9.1  Existing Program Elements  ..................................................................... 9-1 
 9.2  Planning Issues ........................................................................................ 9-2 
 9.3  Alternative Transport and Disposal Strategies  ....................................... 9-4 
 9.4  Evaluation of Transport and Disposal Alternatives  ................................ 9-6 
 
 10  Moderate-Risk Waste  ..................................................................................... 10-1 
 
 10.1  Hazardous Waste Regulation  ................................................................ 10-1 
 10.2  Existing Moderate-Risk Waste Management Practices  ........................ 10-3 
 10.3  Planning Issues ...................................................................................... 10-8 
 10.4  Alternative Moderate-Risk Waste Management Strategies  .................. 10-9 
 10.5  Evaluation of Alternative Moderate-Risk Waste Strategies  ............... 10-12 
 
 11  Other Solid Waste  ........................................................................................... 11-1 
 
 11.1  Existing Management Practices  ............................................................ 11-1 
 11.2  Planning Issues ...................................................................................... 11-5 
 11.3  Alternative Management Strategies for Other Wastes  .......................... 11-6 
 11.4  Evaluation of Alternative Strategies for Other Wastes  ....................... 11-10 
 
 12  Administration  ................................................................................................ 12-1 
 
 12.1  Existing Program Elements  ................................................................... 12-1 
 12.2  Planning Issues ...................................................................................... 12-4 
 12.3  Alternative Administration Strategies ................................................... 12-5 
 12.4  Evaluation of Alternative Administration Strategies  ............................ 12-6 

129



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  iii 

Contents (cont'd)  
 
 13  Regulation  ........................................................................................................ 13-1 
 
 13.1  Existing Program Elements  ................................................................... 13-1 
 13.2  Planning Issues ...................................................................................... 13-1 
 13.3  Alternative Regulatory Strategies  ......................................................... 13-5 
 13.4  Evaluation of Alternative Regulatory Strategies  .................................. 13-5 
 
 14  Recommended Management Strategies  ........................................................ 14-1 
 
 14.1  Waste Reduction  ................................................................................... 14-1 
 14.2  Recycling  .............................................................................................. 14-2 
 14.3  Waste Collection  ................................................................................... 14-2 
 14.4  Transfer  ................................................................................................. 14-3 
 14.5  Transport and Disposal  ......................................................................... 14-3 
 14.6  Moderate-Risk Waste ............................................................................ 14-4 
 14.7  Other Special Waste  .............................................................................. 14-5 
 14.8  Administration  ...................................................................................... 14-5 
 14.9  Regulation  ............................................................................................. 14-6 
 14.10  Six-Year Implementation Schedule  ...................................................... 14-6 
 14.11  Implementation Responsibilities  ........................................................... 14-8 
 14.12  Funding Strategy  ................................................................................... 14-8 
 14.13  Procurement Strategy  ............................................................................ 14-9 
 14.14  Twenty-Year Solid Waste Management Strategies  .............................. 14-9 
 14.15  Procedures for Amending the Plan  ..................................................... 14-11 
 
Appendix A, Environmental Checklist  ......................................................................... A-1 
Appendix B, Cost Assessment Questionnaire  ................................................................B-1 
Appendix C, Interlocal Agreements for Solid Waste Management Planning  ........... C-1 
Appendix D, Resolutions of Adoption  ........................................................................... D-1 
 

130



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  iv 

Tables  
 
 1-1 Summary of Recommendations  ....................................................................... 1-1 
 
 2-1  Summary of Previous Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan  
  Recommendations  ............................................................................................ 2-5 
 
 3-1  Population Levels in Island County  ................................................................. 3-1 
 3-2  Past and Projected Population for Island County  ............................................ 3-2 
 3-3  Employment Levels for Island County  ............................................................ 3-2 
 3-4  Regulatory Definitions for Land Disposal Facilities  ....................................... 3-5 
 
 4-1  Recent Municipal Solid Waste Generation in the Planning Area  .................... 4-2 
 4-2  Municipal Solid Waste Generation Projections  ............................................... 4-2 
 4-3  Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Projections  ................................................... 4-3 
 4-4  Composition of Municipal Solid Waste Disposed in Island County  ............... 4-4 
 4-5  Characteristics of Hazardous Wastes  ............................................................... 4-6 
 4-6  Hazardous Household Substances List  ............................................................ 4-7 
 4-7  Recent Moderate-Risk Waste Generation in the Planning Area  ...................... 4-8 
 4-8  Participation in Moderate-Risk Waste Program at the Four Solid Waste  
  Facilities  ........................................................................................................... 4-8 
 4-9  Moderate-Risk Waste Quantity Planning Projections  ..................................... 4-9 
 4-10  Composition of Moderate-Risk Waste Disposed in the Planning Area  
  in 2012  ............................................................................................................. 4-9  
 
 5-1  Summary Comparison of Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies  ................. 5-7 
 
 6-1  Drop-Off and Buy-Back Centers in Island County  .......................................... 6-1 
 6-2  Summary of Materials Accepted at Drop-Off and Buy-Back Centers in  
  Island County  ................................................................................................... 6-2 
 6-3  Summary of Materials Accepted by Curbside Recycling Programs in  
  Island County  ................................................................................................... 6-3 
 6-4 Market Prices for Bulk Secondary Materials in February 2013 at Skagit  
  Steel and Recycling .......................................................................................... 6-5 
 6-5  Rating of Recyclable Materials  ........................................................................ 6-6 
 6-6  Designated Recyclable Materials  ..................................................................... 6-7 
 6-7  Summary Comparison of Alternative Recycling Strategies  .......................... 6-14 
 
 7-1  Waste Collection Service Providers in Island County  ..................................... 7-1 
 7-2  Garbage Collection Fees for 2012  ................................................................... 7-2 
 7-3  Summary Rating of the Alternative Waste Collection Strategies  .................... 7-7 
 
 8-1  Current Island County Solid Waste and Septage Fees ..................................... 8-1 
 8-2  Municipal Solid Waste Quantities Received at Transfer and Drop Box  
  Stations in 2012 ................................................................................................ 8-3 

131



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  v 

Tables (cont'd)  
 
 8-3  Number of Arriving Vehicles and Unloading Positions at Island County  
  Transfer and Drop Box Stations  ...................................................................... 8-4 
 8-4  Municipal Solid Waste Storage Capacities at Island County Transfer and  
  Drop Box Stations  ............................................................................................ 8-4 
 8-5  Concept-Level Capital Cost Estimate for a New Camano Transfer Station  .... 8-8 
 8-6  Summary Comparison of Alternative Transfer Strategies  ............................. 8-10 
 
 9-1  Closed Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Facilities  .......................................... 9-1 
 
 10-1  Characteristics of MRW Generators in Island County  .................................. 10-6 
 10-2  Summary of Customer Participation in Moderate-Risk Waste Collection  
  Program  .......................................................................................................... 10-9 
 10-3  Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Moderate-Risk Waste  
  Alternative B-Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity  
  Generators  .................................................................................................... 10-10 
 10-4  Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Moderate-Risk  
  Waste Alternative D-Regulatory Emphasis  ................................................. 10-11 
 10-5  Summary Comparison of Alternative Moderate-Risk Waste Management  
  Strategies  ...................................................................................................... 10-13 
 
 11-1  Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Other Solid Waste 
  Alternative A-Diversion Options for Demolition and Other Wastes ............. 11-7 
 11-2  Characteristics of Alternative Disaster Debris Storage and Staging Sites  ..... 11-7 
 11-3  Management Recommendations for Disaster Debris  .................................... 11-9 
 
 12-1 Summary Comparison of Alternative Administration Strategies  .................. 12-6 
 
 13-1  Active Solid Waste Permits Issued by Island County Public Health .............. 13-2 
 13-2  Summary of Solid Waste Related Complaints  ............................................... 13-4 
 13-3  Summary Comparison of Alternative Regulatory Strategies  ......................... 13-7 
 
 14-1  Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Waste Reduction  
  Strategies  ........................................................................................................ 14-1 
 14-2  Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Transfer Strategies  ..... 14-3 
 14-3  Designated Disposal Facilities for Solid Waste Generated in the Planning  
  Area  ................................................................................................................ 14-4 
 14-4  Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Moderate-Risk Waste  
  Management Strategies  .................................................................................. 14-4 
 14-5  Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Regulatory  
  Strategies  ........................................................................................................ 14-6 
 14-6  Implementation Schedule for Recommended Strategies  ............................... 14-7 
 14-7  Implementation Responsibilities  .................................................................... 14-8 
 14-8  Recommended Funding Sources for Solid Waste Programs  ......................... 14-9 

132



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  vi 

Figures  
 
 6-1  Island County Areas of Urban Density  ............................................................ 6-9 
 
 8-1  Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Facilities  ...................................................... 8-2 
 
 11-1  Potential Staging Sites for Disaster Debris  .................................................... 11-8 
 
 12-1  Island County Solid Waste Program Organization  ........................................ 12-3 
 
 

133



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  vii 

Preface  
 
This document was developed with the guidance of the Island County Solid Waste Advisory 
Committee whose participation is gratefully acknowledged. Committee members and their 
affiliation are identified below.  
 
 

Island County Solid Waste Advisory Committee 

Member Affiliation 
Joantha Guthrie, Chairman Island County Solid Waste Division  
Stan Berryman City of Langley 
Greg Cane Town of Coupeville 
Scott Sebelsky Member-at-Large, Camano Island 
Rick Blank Member-at-Large, North Whidbey 
Kelly Emerson Island County Board of Commissioners 
Helena Hennighausen Island County Public Health 
Sarah Schmidt Member-at-Large, Central/South Whidbey 
Steve Bebee City of Oak Harbor 
Janet Hall Member-at-Large, Whidbey Island 
Kent Kovalenko Island Disposal, Inc. 
Carlton Paulmier Waste Management, Inc. 
Dave Campbell Island Recycling 
Diana Wadley WA Department of Ecology (ex-officio) 
 
 
Special thanks to the SWAC members who served on the subcommittee that prepared the initial 
revisions to the previous plan: Rick Blank and Janet Hall, and to previous Island County staff 
Jerry Mingo and Dave Bonvouloir. 
 
 

134



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Table of Contents  viii 

 

135



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Summary   1-1 

Section 1 
Summary 

 
This plan provides recommended strategies for managing solid waste generated in Island 
County, the Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley and the Town of Coupeville. Recommendations 
are provided for municipal solid waste, other special waste and moderate-risk waste.  
 
A summary of the recommended strategies is presented in Table 1-1. The recommendations are 
estimated to cost Island County $1.1 million over the next six years.  
 

Table 1-1 
Summary of Recommendations 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 
 
Program Element 

 
Recommendations 

Six-Year 
Cost Estimate 

Waste Reduction  Adult Education and Promotion  
Youth Education 
Financial Support for Reuse Organizations  

426 
120 
45 

Recycling Implement Additional Curbside Recycling 
Promote Private Yard Waste Diversion 
Investigate Local Markets for Glass 
Investigate Local Markets for other Materials 
Continue to Pursue Co-Generation Options for Wood Waste 
Encourage Food Waste Composting 

-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 
-- 

Collection Promote Curbside Waste Collection Services 
Investigate Alternative Waste Collection Methods 

-- 
-- 

Transfer Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box Station 
Increase Capacity at the Camano Transfer Station 
Increase Capacity at the Bayview Drop Box Station 
Continue to Explore and Develop Increased Efficiencies at Camano 

Transfer Station 
Consider a New Transfer Station for Camano Island and/or 

Coupeville Site 
Increase or Modify Rates to Ensure Self-Sustaining Programs 

25 
100 
100 

 
-- 
-- 
-- 

Treatment and Disposal Purchase Additional Buffer Areas  
Investigate Off-Ramp Strategies 
Investigate Additional Methods for Densifying Waste 

NA 
-- 

NA 
Moderate-Risk Waste Public Education for Household Hazardous Waste  

Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators 
60 
74 

Other Special Waste Investigate Diversion Options for Demolition Debris 
Adopt Contingency Plan for Disaster Debris  
Alternative Collection Programs for Special Wastes 

-- 
-- 
-- 

Administration Maintain Target Balance for Working Capital  
Conduct Phase 2 of Benchmarking Study 

-- 
40 

Regulations Discourage Illegal Dumping and Littering  
Promote and Enforce Secure Load Requirements 
Add Administrative Penalties to County Code, Increase Fines 

60 
42 
-- 

 Total Estimated Six-Year Cost of Management Recommendations $1,092 

NA = Not Available, the activity could have significant cost but a reliable estimate is not available at this time.  
 

136



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Summary   1-2 

 
The estimated costs shown in Table 1-1 are only for new or additional activities that are 
specifically addressed in this plan, and do not include the significant expenditures for the 
existing activities conducted by public agencies and private companies involved in Island 
County’s solid waste system. In addition, recommendations such as implementing additional 
curbside recycling services may lead to significant additional costs for residents and others in the 
county. 
 
 
 
 
 

137



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-1 

Section 2 
Introduction 

 
Solid waste is divided into categories based on regulatory requirements and handling methods. In 
this plan, solid waste in divided into three categories: municipal solid waste, special waste and 
moderate-risk waste. 
 
Municipal solid waste is the largest category of solid waste. It includes all garbage and 
recyclable materials that residents, businesses and institutions set out for collection or deliver to 
a waste receiving station. 
 
The special waste category includes discarded materials that are often managed separately from 
municipal solid waste. Septage, demolition debris, land clearing waste, biomedical waste, 
appliances, electronics waste, tires and inert waste are examples of special waste materials. 
 
Finally, moderate-risk wastes are hazardous wastes produced by households and businesses in 
small quantities. Examples of household hazardous waste include paints, solvents, pesticides, 
cleaners, adhesives, and used motor oil. Examples of businesses that generate moderate-risk 
waste include dry cleaners, auto repair shops, hospitals, dental service providers, printers and 
furniture repair shops. 
 
2.1 Purpose 
 
Washington State law assigns primary responsibility for managing solid waste and moderate-risk 
waste to local governments. Local governments are specifically required to maintain current 
solid waste management plans. The purpose of this plan is to provide guidance for solid waste 
and moderate-risk waste programs for the period 2014 through 2018, or longer if the plan 
continues to provide relevant guidance past 2018. 
 
2.2  Planning Area 
 
The planning area includes all incorporated and unincorporated areas of Whidbey and Camano 
Islands with the exception of Naval Air Station Whidbey Island, although the Naval Air Station 
may participate through a cooperative agreement. Unless noted otherwise, in this document 
“Island County” refers to all areas under the jurisdiction of Island County, the Cities of Oak 
Harbor and Langley, and the Town of Coupeville. 
 
2.3  Planning Authority 
 
This plan is intended to satisfy the participating jurisdictions’ responsibilities for maintaining a 
current solid waste management plan in accordance with Chapter 70.95 of the Revised Code of 
Washington (RCW), and to provide a local hazardous waste management plan in accordance 
with Chapter 70.105 RCW. 

138



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-2 

Cities and counties share the responsibility for developing and maintaining a local solid waste 
management plan. RCW 70.95.080 provides cities with three alternatives for satisfying their 
planning responsibilities:  
 
• Prepare and deliver to the county auditor a city solid waste management plan for integration 

into the county solid waste plan;  
• Enter into an agreement with the county to prepare a joint city-county plan; and 
• Authorize the county to prepare a plan for the city for inclusion in the county plan.  
 
The Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley and the Town of Coupeville have recently renewed their 
interlocal agreements with Island County regarding solid waste management. These agreements, 
which are now effective through 2019, authorize Island County to prepare a countywide solid 
waste management plan that includes the three municipalities. 
 
2.4  Required Plan Elements 
 
RCW 70.95.090 establishes requirements for local solid waste management plans. Local plans 
are required to include the following elements: 
 
• An inventory and description of all solid waste handling facilities including any deficiencies 

in meeting current needs; 
• The projected 20-year needs for solid waste handling facilities; 
• A program for the development of solid waste handling facilities that meets all laws and 

regulations, takes into account the comprehensive land use plans of participating 
jurisdictions, contains a six-year construction and capital acquisition program and a plan for 
financing both capital costs and operational expenditures; 

• A program for surveillance and control (to avoid or mitigate the negative impacts of 
improper waste handling);  

• An inventory and description of solid waste collection operations and needs within each 
respective jurisdiction, including state collection franchise holders and municipal operations; 

• A comprehensive waste reduction and recycling element; 
• An assessment of the plan's impact on the costs of solid waste collection; and 
• A review of potential areas that meet state criteria for land disposal facilities. 
 
RCW 70.105.220 establishes the required elements for local hazardous waste management plans, 
which include: 
 
• A plan or program to manage moderate-risk wastes including an assessment of the quantities, 

types, generators, and fate of moderate-risk waste in the jurisdiction; 
• A plan or program to provide for ongoing public involvement and education including the 

potential hazards to human health and the environment resulting from improper use and 
disposal of the waste; 

• An inventory of all existing generators of hazardous waste and facilities managing hazardous 
waste within the jurisdiction; 

• A description of the public involvement process used in developing the plan; and 
• A description of the eligible zones designation in accordance with RCW 70.105.225. 

139



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-3 

2.5  Planning Goals and Objectives 
 
The goal of the planning process is to develop and maintain a solid waste management system 
that protects public health and the environment in a cost-effective manner. The specific 
objectives of this solid and moderate-risk waste management plan are to: 
 
• Ensure convenient and reliable services for managing solid waste materials;  
• Promote the use of innovative and economical waste handling methods; 
• Encourage public-private partnerships for waste reduction and recycling programs; 
• Emphasize waste reduction as a fundamental management strategy; 
• Encourage the recovery of marketable resources from solid waste; 
• Assist the State maintain its goal of a 50 percent recycling rate; 
• Assist the State with its goal of an 80 percent used motor oil reuse and re-refining rate; 
• Ensure compliance with state and local solid and moderate-risk waste regulations; 
• Assist those who sell and use products containing hazardous ingredients to minimize risks to 

public health and the environment;  
• Provide customers information and education to promote recommended waste management 

practices; and 
• Support the State’s Beyond Waste goals, especially for the five key initiatives: 

- increased diversion of organic materials, 
- increased use of green building methods, 
- improved management of small-volume hazardous wastes, 
- improved management of industrial wastes, and  
- measuring progress. 

 
2.6  Roles of Local Government in the Planning Process 
 
The Island County Public Works Department had the lead responsibility for amending this plan. 
The Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley and the Town of Coupeville participated in its 
development through membership on the Island County Solid Waste Advisory Committee. The 
municipalities were also responsible for conducting public hearings and adopted the revised plan 
after it had gone through a public review process.  
 
2.7  Public Participation in the Planning Process 
 
Public participation in the planning process centered on the Island County Solid Waste Advisory 
Committee (SWAC). Members of the committee are identified in the Preface. The SWAC met 
on February 15, 2013 to discuss the process for updating the plan. A subcommittee made up of 
four members met several times in early 2013 to review and discuss draft sections of the plan. 
The full SWAC met again on August 23, 2013 to review the revised plan, after which the plan 
was distributed for review by Ecology and others. Ecology’s comments were received on 
December 24, and additional revisions were made to the plan in response to those comments. 
The SWAC met on March 14, 2014 to discuss the additional revisions, and this final plan was 
prepared based on the SWAC’s input. Prior notices for all SWAC meetings were published in the 
Whidbey Examiner, Whidbey News Times, the South Whidbey Record and the Stanwood-
Camano News. 

140



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-4 

The Board of Island County Commissioners appoints SWAC members. Members are selected to 
represent a balance of interests including citizens, public interest groups, business, the waste 
management industry and local elected public officials. The SWAC assists in the development of 
programs and policies concerning solid waste handling and disposal. The SWAC meets as 
needed to review and comment on proposed rules, policies and ordinances prior to their 
adoption.  
 
The legislative bodies of Island County and the participating municipalities were responsible for 
conducting public hearings adopting the draft final plan. Resolutions of adoption executed by the 
participating jurisdictions are included in Appendix D.  
 
2.8  Disposition of Previous Management Plan Recommendations 
 
This plan updates the 2008 Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management 
Plan. The recommendations from the previous plan are shown in Table 2-1, and the current 
status of each recommendation is characterized as ongoing or completed (or both). The 2008 
Plan superseded the previous solid and moderate-risk waste plan (December 1999). 
 
2.9  Summary of New Solid Waste Rules  
 
Several new rules have been adopted since the previous solid and moderate-risk waste plan was 
developed. Several of the more important new rules and regulations are described below (not in 
order of priority). 
 
2.9.1  Solid Waste Handling Standards 
 
Chapter 173-350 of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC), which became effective on 
February 10, 2003, has been amended several times since it was first adopted. The most recent 
amendment was adopted March 25, 2013. This amendment addresses management of organic 
wastes at compost facilities, vermicomposters, anaerobic digesters and other conversion 
technologies.   
 
2.9.2  State Beyond Waste plan 
 
After several years of development, the Washington Department of Ecology released the 
combined statewide solid and hazardous waste management plan in November 2004. Commonly 
referred to as the “Beyond Waste plan,” this plan adopts a vision that society can transition to a 
point where waste is viewed as inefficient and most wastes have been eliminated. The Beyond 
Waste plan was updated in 2009 to further refine the goals and recommendations of the 2004 
plan. The 2009 update also addressed additional solid and hazardous waste issues. 
 
2.9.3 Separate Collection of Electronic Waste (“E-Waste”) 
 
The E-Cycle Washington program went into operation on January 1, 2009. This program 
provides a free opportunity to recycle televisions, computers (monitors, base units and laptops), 
and “e-readers.” Island County participates in this program and is reimbursed by it for the cost of   

141



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-5 

 
Table 2-1 

Summary of Previous Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan Recommendations  
  Status as of July 2013 
  Ongoing Completed 

Waste Reduction    

 
Adult Education and Promotion  
Youth Education 
Financial Support for Reuse Organizations  

x 
x 
x 

 
 
 

Recycling    

 

Investigate Curbside Recycling 
Promote Private Yard Waste Diversion 
Investigate Single-Stream Recycling for Whidbey Island 
Investigate Local Markets for Glass 
Investigate Local Markets for other Materials 
Continue to Pursue Co-Generation Options for Wood Waste 
Create Off-Site Recycling Area at Camano Transfer Station 
Investigate Food Waste Composting 

x 
x 
 
 
 

x 
x 
 

 
 

x 
x 
x 
 
 

x 

Collection    

 Promotion of Curbside Waste Collection Services 
Investigate Alternative Waste Collection Methods 

x 
x 

 
 

Transfer   

 

Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box Station 
Upgrade Compactor and Storage Capacity at the Island County Solid Waste 

Complex and Camano Transfer Station 
Increase Capacity at the Bayview Drop Box Station 
Continue to Explore and Develop Increased Efficiencies at Camano  
Start Planning for a New Transfer Station for Camano Island 
Increase or Modify Rates to Ensure Self-Sustaining Programs 

 
 
 

x 
 

x 
x 

x 
 

x 
 

x 
 
 

Treatment and Disposal    

 
Purchase Additional Buffer Areas  
Investigate Development of Additional Monitoring Wells 
Investigate Additional Methods for Densifying Wastes 

x 
 

x 

 
x 
 

Moderate-Risk Waste   

 Public Education for Household Hazardous Waste  
Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators 

x 
x 

 
 

Other Special Waste    

 
Investigate Diversion Options for Demolition Debris 
Adopt Contingency Plan for Disaster Debris  
Alternative Collection Programs for Special Wastes 

 
 

x 

x 
x 
 

Administration    

 Maintain Target Balance for Working Capital  
Solid Waste Operational Assessment and Benchmarking Study 

x 
 

 
x 

Regulation    

 
Discourage Illegal Dumping and Littering  
Promote and Enforce Secure Load Requirements 
Add Administrative Penalties to County Code, Increase Fines 

x 
x 
 

 
 

x 
 
Note:  the above recommendations are from the 2008 Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste 

Management Plan. 

142



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Introduction   2-6 

collecting these materials. Future activities may include expanding the program to accept 
additional types of waste electronics. 
 
2.9.4 Revenue-Sharing Agreements 
 
State law (RCW 81.77.185) allows waste collection companies to retain up to 50 percent of the 
market revenues they receive for recyclables collected in the certificated areas. This provision 
was adopted to encourage investments in recycling and to provide motivation for increased 
recycling, whereas previously all market revenues were required to be used to offset expenses in 
the calculation of permissible rates and so certificated haulers had less incentive to maximize 
recycling. To implement this system, a proposal must be developed by the collection company 
and county, then submitted to the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) 
for approval. The county must certify that the proposal is consistent with their solid waste 
management plan. The proposal must demonstrate how the retained revenues will be used to 
increase recycling. The UTC has recently begun requiring more detailed budgets and reporting of 
results for this program. 
 
 
 
 

143



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-1 

Section 3 
Background of Planning Area  

 
This section presents a summary of the population, economy, land use, transportation, and 
environmental characteristics of Island County. It also discusses the “fatal flaws” associated with 
siting land disposal facilities in the planning jurisdiction. Fatal flaws are conditions that may 
affect, or in some cases prevent, the siting of solid waste facilities. 
 
3.1  Population  
 
The population of Island County has almost doubled over the past 30 years, growing from 
44,000 residents in 1980 to 84,478 people in 2010. Historical population data for the cities and 
areas in Island County is shown in Table 3-1. The figures for 2000 and 2010 are from the U.S. 
Census, and figures for 2012 are an estimate based on recent population growth. Table 3-2 shows 
historical and projected population estimates for the county as a whole. The figures shown in 
Table 3-2 for 2015 and beyond are from the Office of Financial Management and are based on 
the “medium series” projections because those figures are most consistent with the projections 
used by the Island County Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 

Table 3-1 
Population Levels in Island County 

City or Area 2000 2010 2012 
Coupeville  1,723 1,831 1,880 
Langley 959 1,035 1,055 
Oak Harbor 19,795 22,075 22,200 
Camano Island 13,339 15,650 15,811 
Other Unincorporated 35,742 37,915 38,404 
Total 71,558 78,506 79,350 

Sources: Data is from the OFM, including the April 1, 2012 Population Estimates for Cities, Towns and 
Counties and the Estimates of Total Population for Selected Islands by County Parts. Data shown for 
“Other Unincorporated” is the difference (remainder) of the total population minus the other areas.   

 
 
3.2  Economy  
 
A major driving force for Island County’s economy continues to be the Naval Air Station 
Whidbey Island (NASWI). The Naval base employs about 8,000 people directly and also creates 
many more associated jobs. Employment figures for 2010 and projected figures for 2020 are 
shown in Table 3-3. These figures are from the Island County Comprehensive Plan.  
 
3.3  Land Use  
 
The Island County Comprehensive Plan identifies the optimal use of land in the unincorporated 
areas of the County. The goal of that plan is to group future growth and development within  

144



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-2 

 
Table 3-2 

Past and Projected Population for Island County 

Year Population 
1960 19,368 
1970 27,011 
1980 44,048 
1990 60,195 
2000 71,558 
2005 76,000 
2010 78,506 
2015 80,337 
2020 82,735 
2025 85,073 
2030 87,621 

Source: Washington State Office of Financial Management. 
 
 
 

Table 3-3 
Employment Levels for Island County  

  Number of Employees 
 Industry Group 2010 2020 
 Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting  193 151 
 Construction 982 1,061 
 Manufacturing 1,425 663 
 Transportation, Communication and Public Utilities 699 179 
 Wholesale and Retail Trade 5,039 6,414 
 Finance, Insurance and Real Estate  955 1,151 
 Service 5,426 6,985 
 Government    
      Federal Civilian 1,405 1,527 
      State and Local 4,163 4,960 
 Other 162 215 
 Military 8,000 8,000 
 Totals 28,449 33,345 

Source: Island County Comprehensive Plan (1998, as amended 2011). 
 
 
 
areas that are currently developed so as to preserve open space and other rural characteristics. 
According to the OFM, the cities of Oak Harbor, Coupeville and Langley comprise 9.06 square 
miles, or about 4.4 percent of the total land area. Most of the county is zoned residential (62 
percent).  
 
Land use policy is implemented through the zoning code (Chapter 17.03 of the Island County 
Code). The zoning code establishes six land use classifications: rural residential, residential, 
urban business center, agricultural, forest management, and non-residential. In addition to the 
land use classifications, overlay designations are used to protect sensitive features and areas such 

145



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-3 

as wetlands, steep and unstable slopes, fish and wildlife habitat, airport and aircraft safety, scenic 
corridors, water resources, critical drainage areas, and historic resources.  
 
3.4  Transportation  
 
Access to Whidbey Island is via State Highway 20 over Deception Pass from Skagit County, by 
ferry from Mukilteo in Snohomish County to Clinton on south Whidbey Island, and by ferry 
from Port Townsend to Keystone Harbor on central Whidbey Island. State Highways 20 and 525 
are the major north-south surface transportation routes on Whidbey Island.  
 
Access to Camano Island is provided by State Highway 532 from Stanwood in Snohomish 
County. There is no direct transportation route between Whidbey and Camano Islands.  
 
Neither Whidbey nor Camano Islands are currently served by rail or barge transportation. The 
state highway and marine ferry system provide the only modes of public surface transportation 
for the planning area.  
 
3.5  Environmental Characteristics  
 
Whidbey and Camano Islands together have a land area of 206 square miles, with a few 
additional square miles contributed by the small islands that are included within Island County’s 
boundaries (Ben Ure, Deception, Smith, Minor and Baby Islands). Whidbey Island is 40 miles 
long and from 1 to 10 miles wide. Camano Island is about 15 miles long and from 1 to 8 miles 
wide. Altogether, the two main islands have 200 miles of marine shoreline.  
 
3.5.1  Climate  
 
Island County has a temperate climate with cool, dry summers and mild, moist winters. The 
mean annual temperature is 50 degrees F. The coolest month, January, averages 38 degrees F and 
the warmest month, August, averages 61 degrees F. Precipitation is influenced by the rain 
shadow effect of the Olympic mountain range, and ranges from about 18 to 42 inches per year.  
 
3.5.2  Geology  
 
Island County lies within the Puget Sound lowland between the Cascade Range on the east and 
the Olympic Mountains on the west. The islands are generally composed of unconsolidated 
Pleistocene glacial and interglacial deposits that overlie Tertiary and older bedrock. The large 
difference in physical characteristics of the glacial deposits is due to differences in the mode of 
deposition. Advancing glaciers typically deposited a compact mixture of clay, silt, sand, gravel, 
and boulders as till. Retreating glaciers typically deposited course-grained sands and gravels.  
 
3.5.3  Soils  
 
The soils of Island County have developed under the influence of a moist marine climate. Most 
soils have developed under forest vegetation. Soil materials consist of glacial drift that varies 
considerably in texture, permeability and consistency. As a result, soil profiles are extremely 
variable throughout the County.  

146



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-4 

3.5.4  Topography  
 
The relief of Island County is characterized by gently rolling hills except along certain shoreline 
areas where steep bluffs have been created by glacial rebound and wave action. A majority of the 
land area lies between 100 and 400 feet above sea level. Above 200 feet in elevation, the land 
rolls through upland hills and plains. Gentle ridges run along the elongated reaches of the 
islands. Fertile valleys, terraces and prairies, rising to about 100 feet above sea level, traverse 
several portions of Whidbey Island.  
 
3.5.5  Surface Water  
 
The gentle relief and relatively low rainfall conditions produce surface drainage systems that are 
not well developed. Individual drainage basins are small and generally flow only intermittently. 
Relatively impervious soil materials create local drainage impoundments forming small lakes, 
wetlands and lagoons. Island County has 37 lakes and ponds covering 971 acres and 415 acres of 
associated marsh and wetlands. Marine waters influence several of the lakes. Flooding occurs in 
the low-lying coastal areas.  
 
3.5.6  Ground Water  
 
Ground water provides the only source of potable water for all of Whidbey and Camano Islands 
except for the City of Oak Harbor and Naval Air Station Whidbey Island. The City of Oak 
Harbor and NASWI bring in potable water by pipeline. In 1982, the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency designated both Whidbey and Camano Islands as sole-source aquifers under 
the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act (Public Law 93-523).  
 
3.5.7  Marine Water  
 
Most tidally active waters lie off the shoreline of western Whidbey Island. These waters are 
directly influenced by the Pacific Ocean, the Straits of Juan de Fuca and Admiralty Inlet. Marine 
waters surrounding the eastern side of Whidbey Island are sheltered and channeled through 
Saratoga Passage and Deception Pass. Port Susan waters are nearly completely enclosed by 
Camano Island and the mainland.  
 
The physical terrain associated with surface landforms and sea bottoms primarily affects mixing 
within these waters. Active tidal waters fluctuating within the deep-water troughs of the Straits 
of Juan de Fuca and Puget Sound pass over a shallow shelf within Admiralty Inlet. Water 
currents are rapid at this location.  
 
The narrow channels of Deception Pass on the north and the opening between Whidbey and 
Camano Island to the south limit movement of water through Saratoga Passage and Skagit Bay. 
Water flow tends to be rapid at these openings, while circulation and water exchange within the 
inlet are relatively slow. Small bays within the inlet are further sheltered from these tidal 
currents. The mixing and exchange of waters within these coves occur primarily by wind action. 
Fresh water runoff from the Skagit River also flows into these areas and acts to dilute the surface 
salinity. Many of these areas are estuarial in nature and are extremely productive of various life 
forms.  

147



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-5 

The eastern shore of Camano Island abuts the estuarial water of Port Susan. The mouth of the 
Stillaguamish River empties into the northern, shallow reaches of the inlet. The southern portions 
of Port Susan are comparatively deep. The inlet, however, is nearly completely enclosed by 
landforms and two shallow sea bottom shelves which extend off the tip of Camano Island. 
Marine waters in this area mix only when tides are extreme.  
 
Marine debris presents a continuing problem along all shorelines of Island County. Prevailing 
winds from the south and west direct the marine debris, including litter, into the coastal areas. It 
is generally the policy, with certain exceptions, of Island County to waive disposal fees for 
groups that collect litter.  
 
3.6  Siting Land Disposal Facilities in the Planning Area  
 
Land disposal facilities refer to landfills, land application sites, piles, and surface impoundments. 
The regulatory definitions for land disposal facilities are shown in Table 3-4.  
 
Chapter 70.95 RCW requires that land disposal facilities be located in areas that are consistent 
with standards established by the Department of Ecology. Under that legislation, Ecology has 
developed siting standards for geology, ground water, soil, flooding, surface water, slope, cover 
material, capacity, climatic factors, land use and toxic air emissions. One of the standards for 
ground water prohibits the siting of MSW or limited purpose landfills over federally designated 
sole source aquifers. Both Whidbey and Camano Island have been designated sole source 
aquifers under the Federal Safe Drinking Water Act (Public Law 93-523). Hence, no new or 
expanded MSW or limited purpose landfills may be sited in Island County.  
 
 

Table 3-4 
Regulatory Definitions for Land Disposal Facilities 

Disposal Facility Definition  

Municipal Solid Waste  
Landfill Unit 

A discrete area of land or an excavation that receives household waste, and 
that is not a land application site, surface impoundment, injection well, or 
pile. A MSWLF unit also may receive other types of RCRA subtitle D 
wastes, such as commercial solid waste, nonhazardous sludge, conditionally-
exempt small quantity generator waste, and industrial solid waste. Such a 
landfill may be publicly or privately owned. A MSWLF unit may be a new 
MSWLF unit, an existing MSWLF unit, or a lateral expansion. 

Limited Purpose Landfill 

A landfill which is not regulated or permitted by other state or federal 
environmental regulations that receives solid wastes limited by type or 
source. Limited purpose landfills include, but are not limited to, landfills that 
receive segregated industrial solid waste, construction, demolition and land 
clearing debris, wood waste, ash (other than special incinerator ash) and 
dredged material.   

Inert Waste Landfill A landfill that receives only inert wastes.  

148



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Background of Planning Area   3-6 

 
Table 3-4, continued 
Regulatory Definitions for Land Disposal Facilities 

Land Application Site 
A contiguous area of land under the same ownership or operational control 
on which solid wastes are beneficially utilized for their agronomic or soil 
amending capability.  

Pile Any non-containerized accumulation of solid waste that is used for treatment 
or storage. 

Surface Impoundment 

A facility or part of a facility which is a natural topographic depression, 
man-made excavation, or diked area formed primarily of earthen materials 
(although it may be lined with man-made materials), and which is designed 
to hold an accumulation of liquids or sludges. The term includes holding, 
storage, settling, and aeration pits, ponds, or lagoons, but does not include 
injection wells. 

Sources: Chapters 173-350-100 and 173-351-100 Washington Administrative Code.  
 
 

149



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-1 

Section 4 
Waste Generation  

 
This section presents waste quantity and composition estimates for solid waste generated in 
Island County. Solid waste is divided into three categories: municipal solid waste, other special 
waste and moderate-risk waste. These waste categories are discussed in the sections below.  
 
4.1  Municipal Solid Waste  
 
Municipal solid waste (MSW) includes rubbish, food waste, trash and all other post-consumer, 
non-hazardous solid waste generated in private households, offices and commercial business 
establishments. It also includes institutional and industrial waste that is disposed together with 
residential and commercial waste. For the purposes of Ecology’s annual recycling survey, 
construction and demolition debris (C&D) is not included in the definition of MSW, but it is 
included here because it is largely managed along with other solid wastes. 
 
4.1.1  Municipal Solid Waste Generation  
 
Waste generation rate refers to the quantity of solid waste materials produced within a given 
period of time. Solid waste generation includes materials that are both recycled and disposed. 
Since 1999, Ecology has also collected data on the amount of “diverted” materials, which are 
materials that are diverted from disposal to a beneficial use. Examples of diverted materials 
include recovered asphalt and concrete and wood waste burned for energy (source-separated 
materials burned for energy are not defined as recycling).   
 
Table 4-1 shows the amounts of materials from Island County that have been recycled, diverted, 
or disposed over the past ten years. As can be seen in the table, there have been substantial 
variations in the amounts of each type of material over the years. The most significant of these 
changes has been in the amounts disposed. Like almost every community in the nation, Island 
County has seen a large decrease in the amount disposed over the past five years due to the 
recession. Whereas most communities have seen disposed amounts begin to recover, however, 
Island County seems to be continuing to decrease. 
 
The data in Table 4-1 also shows the variations that have occurred in the amounts recycled and 
diverted. The amount of recycled materials jumped up in 2004 due to a larger amount of textiles 
recycled (about 3,500 tons), as well as more ferrous metals, mixed paper and food waste. The 
smaller increase in recycling in 2008 is due to more ferrous metals being recycled (about 2,500 
tons more than in 2006) and also more glass, wood, mixed paper and newspaper. The amount of 
diverted materials appears to have jumped up to a new level as of a few years ago. The large 
increase in diverted materials from 2006 to 2008 is primarily due to asphalt/concrete recycling 
(about 4,400 more tons in 2008 than in 2006) and other construction debris (1,500 tons). These 
increases could be the result of increased recycling of these materials, but could also be due to 
better reporting of existing practices. 

150



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-2 

 
Table 4-1 

Recent Municipal Solid Waste Generation in the Planning Area 

Year Population 

Amount 
Recycled, 
tons/year 

Amount 
Diverted, 
tons/year 

Waste 
Disposed, 
tons/year 

Waste 
Generated, 
tons/year 

Recycling/ 
Diversion 
Rate, % 

Waste Gener-
ation Rate, 

lbs/pers/day 
2000 71,558 18,862 1,712 33,379 53,953 38.1% 4.13 
2002 73,151 19,909 1,649 44,744 66,302 32.5% 4.97 
2004 74,549 29,846 2,515 48,159 80,520 40.2% 5.92 
2006  77,189 19,501 4,016 55,840 79,357 29.6% 5.63 
2008 78,544 24,355 9,188 47,191 80,734 41.5% 5.63 
2010 78,506 19,860 10,703 45,990 76,553 39.9% 5.34 
2011 78,800 20,352 9,531 43,691 73,578 40.6% 5.12 
Percent of Total, 2011 27.7% 13.0% 59.4%    

Source; Ecology’s annual recycling survey and annual disposal reports. The amount disposed includes C&D and a 
small amount of waste disposed outside of the County system, but does not include inert waste, asbestos, 
contaminated soil or other special wastes. 
 
 
The amounts of recycled and diverted materials shown in Table 4-1 are based on the annual 
recycling survey conducted by Ecology. For that survey, Ecology collects data from processing 
facilities, collection companies, and public operations, using the data from these various sources 
to cross-check for unreported volumes, and allocates the tonnages of each material to each 
county in the state. Despite their best efforts, however, a portion of the tonnages cannot be 
allocated to a specific county. For 2011, the tonnages of recycled and diverted materials that 
could not be allocated to a specific county were 7.8% of the statewide total. If these tonnages are 
allocated to counties based on population (as is recommended by Ecology staff), an additional 
7,726 tons could be allocated to Island County. This would increase Island County’s recycling 
and diversion rate from 40.6% to 46.3%. 
 
4.1.2  Municipal Solid Waste Planning Projections  
 
The projection of future municipal solid waste generation shown in Table 4-2 is based on the 
2011 per capita generation and diversion rates shown in Table 4-1 and the population projections 
shown in Table 3-2.  
 
 

Table 4-2 
Municipal Solid Waste Generation Projections (tons/day) 

 Current (2011) 2020 2030 
Population 76,000 82,735 87,621 
Waste Generated 202 212 224 
Amount Recycled 56 59 62 
Amount Diverted 26 28 29 
Waste Disposed 120 (a) 126 133 

 a) A small percentage of this amount, about 3%, does not go through the County’s transfer stations. 

151



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-3 

Municipal solid waste generation varies with time. Waste generation typically peaks in the 
summer months and is at a minimum in the winter months. In 2012, the peak day occurred on 
Monday, October 13 (309 tons) and the largest amount received for any 7-day period occurred 
for the week beginning August 19 (1,223 tons). Projected municipal solid waste disposal rates 
for the annual average day, the peak week and the peak day are compared in Table 4-3. 
 
 

Table 4-3 
Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Projections (a) 

 Year 
 Current (2012) 2020 2030 

Annual Average, tons per day  114 120 127 
Peak Week, tons per week  1,223 1,275 1,350 
Peak Day, tons per day  309 322 341 

 a) These figures only include the amounts that are transferred through the County’s facilities. 
 
 
4.1.3 Municipal Solid Waste Composition  
 
For planning purposes, composition data developed for Washington State can be used together 
with the waste disposal rates shown in Table 4-2 to provide estimates for the amount of materials 
disposed in Island County. The composition projection is presented in Table 4-4.  
 
4.2  Other Special Waste  
 
Certain types of solid waste that are routinely generated in households and businesses are 
managed separately from municipal solid waste. These waste materials include construction and 
demolition waste, land clearing debris, appliances, tires, auto bodies, biomedical waste, asbestos, 
e-waste and others. Septage and biosolids are also managed separately, but these are addressed 
by other plans. It should be noted, however, that about 70 percent of the households in Island 
County have septic systems. 
 
There are no direct measurements of the quantities of many of the special wastes generated in 
Island County. Although Island County maintains records of materials delivered to its receiving 
facilities, much of this waste is managed outside the County system.  
 
The following waste streams are discussed in greater detail in Section 11. 
 
4.2.1 Construction, Demolition and Land Clearing Debris  
 
Construction, demolition, and land clearing debris include materials that are bulky and resistant 
to rapid biochemical degradation. They are typically difficult to compact and have the potential 
to be managed outside of the municipal solid waste system, although construction and demolition 
waste is estimated to contribute 19.7 percent of the MSW tonnages. Generation of these 
materials is variable with respect to time. General economic conditions, construction activities 
and major storms all affect the rate at which these wastes are generated.  

152



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-4 

 
Table 4-4 

Composition of Municipal Solid Waste Disposed in Island County 

Category Material 
Percentage of 

Waste Disposed

Projected Quantity of Waste Disposed in 
Island County, tons per year 

2011 2020 2030 
Paper Newspaper  

Cardboard 
Other Recyclable Paper  
Compostable Paper 
Remainder/Composite  
Total Paper  

1.0 
2.5 
5.3 
6.4 

  1.9 
17.3 

 
7,560 

 
7,940 

 
8,410 

Plastic PET Bottles 
HDPE Bottles 
Other Plastic Pkg.  
Film and Bags 
Other Products  
Remainder/Composite 
Total Plastics  

0.6 
0.6 
2.6 
5.6 
1.4 

  0.7 
11.6 

 
5,070 

 
5,320 

 
5,640 

Glass Clear Glass Containers  
Green Glass Containers  
Brown Glass Containers  
Stoneware, Ceramics, Glassware 
Remainder/Composite 
Total Glass  

0.9 
0.3 
0.3 
0.1 
0.5 
2.1  

 
920 

 
960 

 
1,020 

Metals Aluminum Cans  
Tin Cans  
Mixed Metal & Other  
Other Non-Ferrous Metals  
Other Ferrous Metals  
Total Ferrous Metals  

0.3 
0.6 
1.3 
0.2 
1.8 
4.2  

 
1,840 

 
1,930 

 
2,040 

Organics Food  
Yard Wastes  
Manures 
Other Organics  
Total Organics  

19.5 
5.2 
4.8 

  0.5 
30.0  

 
13,110 

 
13,770 

 
14,580 

Consumer 
Products 

Textiles 
Furniture, Mattresses 
All Other 
Total Consumer Products 

6.4 
3.2 

  1.5 
11.1 4,850 5,090 5,390 

Other Wood  
Construction  
Hazardous/Special Wastes 
Residues  
Total Other  

10.4 
9.3 
2.7 

  1.2 
23.7 

 
10,360 

 
10,880 

 
11,520 

Totals  100.0 43,690 45,885 48,595 

Source:  2009 Washington Statewide Waste Characterization Study, Ecology 2010. Percentage figures are for the 
Northwest region, which includes Island, San Juan, Skagit and Whatcom Counties. Figures may not add up 
due to rounding. 

153



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-5 

4.2.2 Appliances  
 
The latest data from the Department of Ecology’s 2009 Waste Characterization Study indicates 
that virtually no appliances are disposed with the municipal solid waste stream. Instead, most 
discarded appliances are recycled. In 2012, 856 appliances (51.4 tons) were separately collected 
at County handling facilities and hauled away for recycling.  
 
4.2.3 Tires  
 
The Department of Ecology estimates that 0.3 percent of the municipal solid waste disposed 
statewide is used tires and other rubber products. Based on that data and the annual recycling 
survey, it appears that at least 75 percent of the used tires generated in the state are recapped, 
recycled or incinerated with energy recovery. In 2012, approximately 4,400 tires (55 tons) were 
delivered to County waste handling facilities and 394 tires were collected through special 
collection events, in addition to the amounts handled by tire retailers and installers. Tire retailers 
and installers generally recycle or dispose of tires through their companies. 
 
4.2.4 Biomedical Waste  
 
Biomedical waste includes a broad group of waste materials generated by medical and dental 
service providers, veterinary clinics, funeral homes and other related facilities. Biomedical waste 
includes the following waste materials:  
 
• Cultures and stock of infectious agents and associated biological agents;  
• Laboratory waste which has come into contact with cultures and stocks of infectious agents 

or blood specimens;  
• Contaminated sharps such as needles, syringes, lancets and cover slips; 
• Pathological wastes such as human tissue and anatomical parts; 
• Human blood and blood products; 
• Isolation wastes such as anthrax, smallpox and rabies; 
• Surgical waste including soiled dressings and gloves; 
• Animal carcasses exposed to pathogens; and  
• Other waste identified by the local health officer as biomedical waste.  
 
4.2.5 Asbestos  
 
Asbestos is an insulating material that is considered a hazardous air pollutant. Any waste that 
contains more than one percent asbestos by weight is classified as asbestos waste. Asbestos 
waste is no longer accepted at County facilities (as of February 2004), and people with this waste 
are referred to the Northwest Clean Air Agency.   
 
4.3 Moderate-Risk Waste  
 
Moderate-risk waste refers to waste materials that have the characteristics of a hazardous waste 
(see Table 4-5) but are not regulated by the state or federal governments. Moderate-risk waste is 
exempt from state and federal regulation because it is classified as a household hazardous  

154



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-6 

 
Table 4-5 

Characteristics of Hazardous Wastes  

Waste Category Characteristics 
Ignitable A liquid that has a flashpoint of less than 140 degrees F.  

A non-liquid capable of causing fire through friction, absorption of 
moisture, or spontaneous chemical change.  

An ignitable compressed gas or oxidizing agent.  
Corrosive A liquid with a pH of 2 or less, or 12.5 and above.  

A liquid that corrodes steel (SAE 1200) at a rate greater than 0.25 inch 
per year at 130 degrees F.  

Reactive An unstable substance that undergoes violent change without detonating, 
reacts violently with water, and/or forms explosive or toxic gases.  

A substance capable of detonation when subjected to strong force or heat.  
Toxic Substances that pose potential risks to human health as determined by 

standard testing procedures.  
Listed Waste Any substance listed by the Department of Ecology as being extremely 

hazardous or dangerous waste.  
 
 
substance (household hazardous waste) or is generated by businesses in quantities below the 
threshold for regulation (small quantity generator waste). 
 
The Hazardous Household Substances List developed by the Department of Ecology is shown in 
Table 4-6. All of these products become household hazardous wastes when they are discarded. 
Categorization of chemicals may be changed during the present planning period to reflect the 
international Global Harmonization System. At the time of this writing, the U.S. Department of 
Labor had recently adopted the international system. 
 
Many businesses and institutions produce small quantity generator wastes. Small quantity 
generators produce hazardous waste at rates less than 220 pounds per month or per batch (or 2.2 
pounds per month or per batch of extremely hazardous waste) and accumulate less than 2,200 
pounds of dangerous waste on-site (or 22 pounds of extremely hazardous waste). Small quantity 
generators are conditionally exempt from state and federal regulation provided they are properly 
managing and disposing of their wastes. Small quantity generator options are listed in WAC 173-
303-070(8)(b)(iii). 
 
Other toxic wastes such as drug-contaminated demolition debris from illegal facilities may 
become a problem in the future. 
 
4.3.1 Moderate-Risk Waste Generation  
 
Island County waste receiving facilities collect moderate-risk wastes (MRW) generated in the 
planning area. Over the past five years, the number of individuals disposing moderate-risk waste 
at County facilities decreased while the quantity of waste disposed was increasing until 2012 (see 
Table 4-7). In May 2012, County facilities ceased accepting latex paint, which had previously 
accounted for 28% of the incoming materials. Customers with latex paint are now directed to 
reuse opportunities (if they have usable quantities of paint) or to solid waste disposal (since latex  

155



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-7 

 

Table 4-6 
Hazardous Household Substances List 

  Primary Hazards 
 Substance or Class of Substance  Flammable Toxic Corrosive Reactive 
 Group 1: Repair and Remodeling      
 Adhesives, Glues Cements  • •   
 Roof Coatings, Sealants   •   
 Caulkings and Sealants   •   
 Epoxy Resins  • •  • 
 Solvent Based Paints  • •   
 Solvents and Thinners  • • • • 
 Paint Removers and Strippers   • •  
 Group 2: Cleaning Agents      
 Oven Cleaners   • •  
 Degreasers and Spot Removers  • • •  
 Toilet, Drain and Septic Cleaners   • •  
 Polishes, Waxes and Strippers  • • •  
 Deck, Patio, and Chimney Cleaners  • • •  
 Solvent Cleaning Fluid  • • • • 
 Group 3: Pesticides      
 Insecticides  • •   
 Fungicides   •   
 Rodenticides   •   
 Molluscides   •   
 Wood Preservatives   •   
 Moss Retardants   • •  
 Herbicides   •   
 Fertilizers   • • • 
 Group 4: Auto, Boat, and Equipment Maintenance      
 Batteries   • • • 
 Fluorescent Bulbs and CFLs *  •   
 Waxes and Cleaners  • • •  
 Paints, Solvents, and Cleaners  • • • • 
 Additives  • • • • 
 Gasoline  • • • • 
 Flushes  • • • • 
 Auto Repair Materials  • •   
 Motor Oil   •   
 Diesel Oil  • •   
 Antifreeze   •   
 Group 5: Hobby and Recreation      
 Paints, Thinners, and Solvents  • • • • 
 Chemicals (including Photo and Pool)  • • • • 
 Glues and Cements  • • •  
 Inks and Dyes  • •   
 Glazes   •   
 Chemistry Sets  • • • • 
 Pressurized Bottled Gas  • •  • 
 White Gas  • •  • 
 Charcoal Lighter Fluid  • •   
 Batteries   • • • 
 Group 6: Miscellaneous      
 Ammunition  • • • • 
 Asbestos   •   
 Fireworks  • • • • 

* Added by SWAC on March 14, 2014. 

156



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-8 

 
Table 4-7 

Recent Moderate-Risk Waste Generation in the Planning Area 

Year Population 

Number of Customers 
(visits) at 

County Facilities 
Amount of Waste Handled 

(pounds) 

2001 71,558 3,371 345,686 
2005 76,000 2,663 493,027 
2008 78,544 3,410 445,014 
2009 78,737 2,785 395,079 
2010 78,506 2,749 435,539 
2011 78,676 2,578 496,647 
2012 79,177 2,058 298,346 

 
 
paint isn’t actually a hazardous waste). There has also been a decline in MRW quantities across 
the state in recent years, which is thought to be the result of the poor economy as well as a 
reduction in the number of household stockpiles, and these factors could be contributing to the 
decline in 2012 in Island County as well. 
 
Participation at the different Island County solid waste facilities has varied over the past five 
years. Participation figures for the four solid waste facilities (excluding motor oil) are shown in 
Table 4-8.  
 
 

Table 4-8 
Participation in Moderate-Risk Waste Program at the Four Solid Waste Facilities 

 Number of MRW Customers at Island County Facilities 
Area 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

North Whidbey 308 307 275 270 235 
Central  1,750 1,352 1,192 1,127 720 
Bayview 557 497 479 409 547 
Camano  795 629 803 772 556 

 
 
4.3.2 Moderate-Risk Waste Generation Projections  
 
In 2010, a report prepared for the Department of Ecology (the 2009 Washington Statewide Waste 
Characterization Study) estimated that 0.04 percent of the municipal solid waste stream in the 
northwest corner of Washington State (which includes Island County and three other counties) 
was hazardous waste. This figure, however, is significantly lower than results from other studies. 
For instance, a study conducted for Thurston County in the same time period found 0.15% 
hazardous waste in their waste stream.  
 
Table 4-9 provides a projection of the amounts of MRW for the planning period based on 2012 
quantities. The amount recycled/managed is based on the records of Island County (298,346 
pounds of MRW) and population data from the OFM (79,350 residents). The disposed amount is  

157



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-9 

 
Table 4-9 

Moderate-Risk Waste Quantity Planning Projections 
(tons/day) 

 Year 
 2012 2020 2030 

Recycled/Managed  0.41 0.43 0.45 
Disposed  0.05 0.05 0.05 
Generated  0.46 0.47 0.50 
 
 
based on Ecology’s estimate of 0.04 percent of the waste stream and the County’s waste disposal 
amount in 2012 (41,603 tons). Projections for 2020 and 2030 are based on the 2012 per capita 
rates and population projections (see Table 3-2). The amount generated is simply the sum of the 
amount recycled and disposed. 
 
4.3.3 Moderate-Risk Waste Composition  
 
Almost one-half of the moderate-risk waste collected in 2012 was used motor oil and old fuel. 
The composition of moderate-risk waste delivered to Island County collection facilities in 2012 
is shown in Table 4-10.  
 
 

Table 4-10 
Composition of Moderate-Risk Waste Disposed in the Planning Area in 2012 

(in percent) 

Waste Material Percent of Waste Disposed 
Used Oil and Fuels 45.8 
Oil Paint-Related 14.3 
Non-Hazardous Liquids 11.4 
Alkaline Batteries, Landfilled 5.8 
Fluorescent Lamps 5.4 
Antifreeze 4.3 
Pesticides 2.8 
Aerosols 1.6 
Acids and Alkalines 1.2 
Rechargeable Batteries 0.7 
Other, Miscellaneous 1.2 
Material Exchange   5.6 
Total 100 

 
 

158



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Generation  4-10 

 
 
 
 

159



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-1 

Section 5 
Waste Reduction  

 
Waste reduction refers to any action that avoids the generation of waste or reduces the toxicity of 
waste before it reaches the waste stream. Other terms used to describe waste reduction include 
source reduction, waste prevention, waste minimization, and pollution prevention. Washington 
State law designates waste reduction as the highest priority waste management strategy. Means 
to affect waste reduction include:  
 
• Reduce materials used in product manufacturing;  
• Increase the useful life of a product through durability and reparability;  
• Decrease the toxicity of products;  
• Reuse a product; and 
• Reduce consumer use of materials. 
 
5.1 Existing Program Elements  
 
Existing waste reduction elements of the solid waste program include diverting reusable items 
from disposal, education, unit-based garbage fees, backyard composting, and disposal subsidies 
for reuse organizations. These program elements are discussed below.  
 
5.1.1 Re-sellable Items and Hard-to-Recycle Materials 
 
In addition to a number of thrift stores and consignment shops throughout Island County, the 
County’s contract recycler also maintains re-sell operations at both the Solid Waste Complex 
Recycle Center and at the Island Recycling Center near Freeland. An additional re-sell operation 
at the Solid Waste Complex was established in June of 2013 to divert from the waste stream 
usable or hard to recycle materials. The County had issued a Request for Proposals to local non-
profit organizations and entered into a contract that provides access to a building in trade for 
specified waste reduction services, including: 
 
• Placement of a part time employee or volunteer working at the tipping areas to direct 

cardboard, steel and traditional recyclables to the County’s contract recycler;  
• Recovery and sale of usable discarded or donated items in the supplied building; and  
• Providing a disposal alternative for dimensional lumber, paints and hard-to-recycle materials 

such as electronic wastes that are not covered in the E-Cycle Washington system. 
 
5.1.2 Adult Education Programs  
 
The Solid Waste Division currently sponsors the WSU Waste Wise program. Administered by 
WSU Extension Island County, this program provides training in waste management for 
community volunteers. In exchange for the training, the participants agree to volunteer 15-25 
hours for public service projects, recycling at special events and education. The volunteers have 
assisted with a wide variety of special projects involving composting, sustainable living 
practices, smart shopping, and waste generation surveys.  

160



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-2 

5.1.3 Student Education Programs 
 
Education activities for students include classroom-based programs. For kindergarten through 
sixth grade students, site tours are also provided. For high school and college-level students, 
support is provided on an as-requested basis for students conducting research or writing reports. 
 
5.1.4 Unit-Based Garbage Fees  
 
All solid waste collection service providers in Island County have established unit-based fees for 
solid waste collection. All collection service providers also offer a minican level of service that is 
intended to promote waste reduction and recycling.  
 
5.1.5 Backyard Composting  
 
The Solid Waste Division, the WSU Waste Wise program and WSU Extension Island County 
offer technical assistance to consumers initiating backyard composting projects. Services include 
three compost demonstration sites and response to individual requests for information.  
 
5.1.6 Disposal Subsidies for Reuse Organizations  
 
The Solid Waste Division provides a 50 percent disposal discount for non-profit organizations 
that collect and resell used household products and clothing. The discount is intended to 
compensate for unusable items donated to the organizations.  
 
5.2 Planning Issues  
 
Waste reduction is the highest priority waste management strategy because it conserves 
resources, reduces waste management costs, minimizes pollution and promotes conservation. 
Waste reduction requires changes in production methods and consumption patterns and is 
influenced by national and international economies, factors that are typically beyond the control 
of local government. Measuring waste reduction is also difficult because waste generation 
fluctuates with many variables including economic conditions, seasonal changes and local 
weather. Measurements for waste reduction are more relevant when they reflect specific products 
or operations. Waste reduction strategies for consumers, businesses and government are 
discussed in the sections below.  
 
5.2.1 Consumer Waste Reduction Activities  
 
Consumer waste reduction activities are usually focused in three areas: yard and garden wastes, 
individual purchasing decisions, and promotion of product reuse.  
 
Grasscycling  
 
Grasscycling promotes a strategy where consumers leave grass clippings on the lawn rather than 
collecting them. The clippings provide nutrients and reduce the need for fertilizer. Grasscycling 
reduces the need for watering the lawn and may help suppress disease in turf grass.  
 

161



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-3 

Backyard Composting  
 
Backyard composting promotes a strategy to compost yard, garden and food waste materials on-
site rather than sending these materials to a central composting or disposal facility. Often 
participants are provided with “do-it-yourself” instructions or a subsidized composting container 
and instructions to promote the strategy.  
 
Vermicomposting 
 
Vermicomposting enables residents to turn food wastes into a nutrient-rich soil amendment 
through the use of worms. This is sometimes referred to as “worm boxing.” 
 
Waste Minimization  
 
Waste minimization refers to waste reduction strategies that consumers may use for individual 
purchasing decisions. Specific waste minimization strategies include:  
 
• Buying in bulk;  
• Buying concentrates;  
• Purchasing reusable products;  
• Buying secondhand items;  
• Avoiding over packaged items;  
• Avoiding products containing hazardous ingredients;  
• Borrowing or renting when possible;  
• Purchasing durable and repairable products; and  
• Using reusable shopping bags.  
 
Promotion of Product Reuse  
 
Use of second-hand products may be promoted by organizing swap meets, on-line reuse forums, 
or assisting organizations that sell used consumer products such as thrift shops. Sometimes 
durable containers for shopping or shipping are provided to encourage waste reduction.  
 
5.2.2 Business Waste Reduction Activities  
 
Manufacturers may use a number of internal strategies for waste reduction. Manufacturing 
processes may be redesigned or reconfigured to reduce waste. Products may be redesigned to 
increase durability, to facilitate reuse and repair, or may be reconfigured into smaller or more 
concentrated forms.  
 
Business waste reduction programs are typically custom designed for each specific operation. 
However, a common approach for developing commercial programs includes the following 
components:  
 
• Support and policy directives from management;  
• A waste reduction team or coordinator;  

162



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-4 

• An accounting of materials purchased and waste produced;  
• A reduction plan targeting specific materials or practices;  
• Employee education; and  
• Feedback and evaluation.  
 
5.2.3 Institutional Waste Reduction Activities  
 
At the institutional level, schools and governments may achieve waste reduction through waste 
audits of their operations and through procurement policies that make waste reduction a 
purchasing priority.  
 
A waste audit is an assessment of how materials flow through an institution. It is an accounting 
of the quantity of materials purchased, used, recycled and disposed. Waste audits help identify 
the points at which changes in purchasing, consumption, or use can reduce or eliminate material. 
A waste audit typically includes the following elements:  
 
• Description of current waste disposal characteristics;  
• Identification of materials to target for waste reduction;  
• Development of cost estimates and operating recommendations;  
• Implementation of recommendations; and  
• Monitoring of progress.  
 
Waste disposal practices can be characterized through an examination of the quantity and 
composition of waste materials. Materials can be targeted based on quantity, the availability of 
alternative materials and the potential for reuse. Costs include avoided costs (savings) and 
implementation costs (both capital and operational). Avoided costs include materials purchase 
costs, disposal costs, and replacement costs.  
 
Schools and government agencies may also preferentially purchase products that are durable, 
reusable and repairable, buy in bulk, and avoid the purchase of single-use disposable products. 
Institutions can also consider toxicity, packaging, resource use and disposal requirements when 
purchasing products. Finally, institutions may implement waste reduction activities associated 
with consumer and business programs such as on-site composting of yard and garden waste and 
changing office procedures to reduce paper consumption.  
 
5.3 Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies  
 
Six alternative waste reduction strategies are discussed below. The alternatives are not mutually 
exclusive.  
 
5.3.1 Waste Reduction Alternative A-Regulation  
 
Alternative A emphasizes rules to promote waste reduction. For example, yard and garden waste 
could be banned from disposal with municipal solid waste. The ban would require residents to 
compost on-site, subscribe to a yard waste collection service, or deliver their yard waste to a 
facility accepting it. Another waste reduction regulation could require businesses meeting certain 

163



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-5 

waste generation criteria to conduct waste reduction audits and submit waste reduction plans to a 
solid waste management authority. Under this alternative, the planning jurisdiction may also 
request state action to ban excessive packaging or products that generate unacceptable waste 
materials. Alternative A costs include those associated with notifying and reminding residents of 
the waste bans, labor to enforce the bans, and labor to review and respond to 100 business waste 
management plans submitted annually. Total annual costs are estimated at $100,000.  
 
5.3.2 Waste Reduction Alternative B-Economic Incentives and Disincentives  
 
Alternative B could adjust waste collection and disposal fees to emphasize waste reduction over 
recycling. The waste collection fee structure could be modified to charge separately for recycling 
services rather than include those costs in waste disposal fees. The total revenue collected may 
remain the same and the fees assessed for collection of recyclables could be less than the fees for 
waste disposal. The fee structure would be intended to send the message that waste reduction 
avoids waste management costs. Alternative B costs include capital improvements and additional 
labor at County receiving stations to collect separate payments for recyclable materials. No 
additional expenditures would be necessary for current collection service subscribers. Also under 
Alternative B, a new waste collection service level, the microcan, would be established. The 
microcan container would be 10-12 gallons in size and a new rate reflecting lower waste 
transport and disposal costs. Capital costs are estimated at $60,000 and annual operation and 
maintenance costs are estimated at $100,000.  
 
5.3.3 Waste Reduction Alternative C-Adult Education and Promotion  
 
Alternative C would continue educational outreach programs for adults. The adult education 
programs would focus around a trained community-oriented volunteer group such as the WSU 
Waste Wise program. Citizen volunteers would be trained to promote waste reduction and other 
recommended waste management strategies in residential and commercial situations. Formal 
arrangements for residents and businesses to request assistance from the volunteers would be 
established and promoted. The use of specific tools, such as the 2Good2Toss website, would be 
publicized. Costs associated with the adult education program are estimated at $71,000 per year 
and would continue through the planning period.  
 
5.3.4 Waste Reduction Alternative D-Youth Education  
 
Alternative D would conduct a youth education program annually. The youth education program 
would be directed at local school classrooms. Waste reduction strategies would be presented 
together with other local waste management information at both public and private schools. 
Tours would be combined with in-classroom visits after the tour to reinforce the messages and 
provide additional information. Costs associated with the youth education program are estimated 
at $20,000 per year.  
 
5.3.5 Waste Reduction Alternative E-Financial Support  
 
Alternative E would provide some direct financial aid to support waste reduction activities. Non-
profit organizations collecting used household products could continue to be assisted with 
discounted disposal fees for donated items that are not reusable. In addition, a web page 

164



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-6 

consisting of a listing of organizations that promote waste reduction activities would be 
maintained. The web page would include thrift shops, repair businesses, tool rental businesses 
and other organizations. Costs associated with Alternative D include $7,500 per year for 
discounted disposal fees.  
 
5.3.6 Waste Reduction Alternative F-Grants  
 
Alternative F would provide grants to organizations, institutions or municipalities for various 
waste reduction programs. This alternative would allow partnerships with others that have 
similar interests, thus creating more cost-effective approaches, and would allow capitalizing on 
the energy or resources of other organizations. The cost of this option could vary widely 
depending on the amounts of the grants and activities targeted, but the first year or two could 
begin with a trial amount of $5,000 to $10,000.  
 
5.4 Evaluation of Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies  
 
The alternative waste reduction strategies were compared with respect to four evaluation criteria: 
consistency with the planning objectives, waste reduction potential, customer preferences and 
costs. The evaluation is discussed below.  
 
5.4.1 Consistency with the Planning Objectives  
 
All of the alternative strategies support the planning objective of emphasizing waste reduction as 
a fundamental waste management strategy. Alternative A-Regulation may not be consistent with 
the objective of ensuring convenient services for solid waste materials, but it would be consistent 
with the objective of increasing waste reduction. Customers may prefer yard waste recycling or 
even disposal rather than backyard composting and grasscycling. Alternatives C and D-Adult 
and Youth Education support the planning objective to provide customers with information and 
education to promote recommended waste management practices.  
 
5.4.2 Waste Reduction Potential  
 
Alternative A-Regulation would provide the most immediate waste reduction results because 
participation would be mandatory. All other alternatives promote waste reduction by 
encouraging changes in behavior or facilitating the recovery of used products. Behavioral 
changes require consumers to adopt and maintain an ethic of individual responsibility. Some 
consumers will respond to the conservation message while others may have difficulties 
understanding or relating to it.  
 
5.4.3 Customer Preferences  
 
Consumers typically prefer choice rather than mandates and lower costs rather than higher costs. 
Some customers may prefer the economic incentives of assessing separate charges for recycling 
and disposal although it would likely decrease recycling. Waste reduction education and 
promotion programs typically enjoy strong customer support. Direct financial support sometimes 
raises issues of fairness if an organization is perceived to receive benefits not available to similar 
organizations.  

165



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-7 

5.4.4 Costs  
 
Alternative E has the lowest cost and so would be the most desirable option under a cost 
criterion. Alternative B is the most expensive option and could be highly unpopular with Island 
County residents. 
 
5.4.5 Rating of Alternatives  
 
The alternative waste reduction strategies are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in 
Table 5-1. Alternative C-Adult Education and Promotion, Alternative D-Youth Education, and 
Alternative E-Financial Support are ranked highest in the evaluation. These three alternatives are 
recommended to be pursued (see Section 14.1). 
 
 

Table 5-1 
Summary Comparison of Alternative Waste Reduction Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 

Consistency 
with Planning 

Objectives 

Waste 
Reduction 
Potential 

Customer 
Preferences Costs 

A Regulation L M L M  
B Economic Incentives and Disincentives M L L M 
C Adult Education and Promotion H M M M 
D Youth Education  H M M L 
E Financial Support M L M M 
F Grants M M M M 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be weighed 
against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 

166



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Waste Reduction   5-8 

 
 
 

167



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-1 

Section 6 
Recycling  

 
This section identifies current recycling opportunities, summarizes the types and quantities of 
materials recycled, and prioritizes recyclable materials for collection in County programs. It also 
discusses relevant planning issues and develops and evaluates nine alternative strategies to 
modify the current recycling program.  
 
6.1 Existing Recycling Program Elements  
 
Existing collection services for recyclable materials include drop-off stations, residential 
curbside collection for residents of Oak Harbor, Coupeville and Camano Island, and commercial 
collection operations. These services are discussed below.  
 
6.1.1 Drop-Off Stations  
 
There are eight multi-material drop-off collection stations for recyclable materials in Island 
County. An additional recycle center is located on Naval Air Station Whidbey Island that is 
accessible by naval personnel. Seven of the civilian stations are located on Whidbey Island and 
one is located on Camano Island. The name, location, telephone number and hours of operation 
for each facility are shown in Table 6-1.  
 
 

Table 6-1 
Drop-Off and Buy-Back Centers in Island County 

Facility Address Telephone Hours 
North Whidbey Drop Box  3151 Oak Harbor Road 360-675-6161 9:30 - 5:00 Tues, Sat, and Sunday  
Oak Harbor Recycle Center 2050 NE 16th Ave 360-675-9193 10:00 - 5:00 Mon-Fri, 10:00 - 2:00 Sat  
Christians Auto Recycling 615 Christian Road 360-675-8442 8:00 - 5:00 Mon-Sat  
Mailliard Landing Nursery 3060 N Oak Harbor Road 360-679-8544 8:30 - 5:00 Mon-Sat 
Island County Solid Waste 

Complex 20018 SR 20 360-679-7386 9:30 - 5:00 every day 

Island Recycling  20014 SR 525 360-331-1727 9:00 - 5:00 Tues-Sun  
Bayview Drop Box Station  14566 SR 525 360-321-4505 9:30 - 5:00 Mon, Wed, Sat, Sun  
Camano Transfer Station 75 E Camano Hill Road 360-387-9696 9:30 - 5:00 every day 

 
 
The drop-off stations accept a variety of secondary materials. The materials collected at each 
station are summarized in Table 6-2. In addition to the multi-material drop-off collection 
stations, there are several single material stations for newspapers, corrugated cardboard, and 
aluminum cans. There are three drop-off stations for glass in Oak Harbor. The Town of 
Coupeville maintains one location to drop off glass containers. The City of Langley operates a 
drop-off yard debris collection station at its wastewater treatment plant. Mailliard Landing 
Nursery accepts yard waste. Yard waste is accepted at the Island County Solid Waste Complex 
and is ground into a mulch product that is available to the public either at the Solid Waste 
Complex free of charge or via the contract grinding company at a retail price. Yard waste is also 

168



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-2 

 

Table 6-2 
Summary of Materials Accepted at Drop-Off and Buy-Back Centers in Island County 

 Transfer and Drop Box Stations Oak 
Harbor 

Recycling 

Christians 
Auto Recy. Island 

Recycling Coupeville N. Whidbey Bayview Camano 

Paper        
Newspaper • • • • •  •
Corrugated Cardboard • • • • •  •
Mixed Waste Paper (a) • • • • •  •

Plastic        
Bottles / Jugs • • • •  •
Tubs • • • •  •

Glass        
Clear • • • •  •
Green • • • •  •
Brown • • • •  •

Ferrous Metals        
Steel Cans  • • • •  •
Appliances, no cfc’s Fee Fee • Fee
Appliances, w/cfc’s Fee Fee  
Auto Bodies  • •
Wire Ferrous Fee Fee • •
Other Ferrous Fee Fee Fee Fee • •

Non-Ferrous Metals        
Aluminum Cans • • • • • • •
Aluminum Foil • • •  •
Aluminum Scrap • • (b) • (b) • • • •
Stainless Steel • • (b) • (b) • • •
Copper • • (b) • (b) • • • •
Brass • • (b) • (b) • • • •
Lead • • (b) • (b) • • • •
Wire, Insulated • • (b) • (b) • • • •

Other        
Electronics (c) • • •  •
Yard and Garden Fee Fee  
Tires Fee Fee Fee Fee

(a) Mixed paper includes office paper, magazines, telephone books, catalogs and more. 
(b) Small quantities only. 
(c) E-Cycle Washington participant (for televisions, monitors, computer towers, laptops and electronic readers). 
 
 
accepted at the Camano Transfer Station, which is hauled to a nearby composting facility in 
Stanwood. Wood waste of usable dimensions is accepted at the BaRC Re-tail used building 
materials facility at the Solid Waste Complex in Coupeville. 
 
6.1.2 Curbside Collection Programs  
 
Curbside recycle service is offered in the City of Oak Harbor, Town of Coupeville, Naval Air 
Station Whidbey Island base housing, and on Camano Island. The materials currently collected 
by these programs are summarized in Table 6-3. 
 
The City of Oak Harbor provides weekly curbside collection of secondary materials for all 
single-family through fourplex dwelling units located within its jurisdiction. The City provides 

169



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-3 

 
Table 6-3 

Summary of Materials Accepted by Curbside Recycling Programs in Island County 

 Oak Harbor  
Coupeville and Naval 

Air Station Camano Island 
Paper    

Newspaper • • • 
Corrugated Cardboard • • • 
Mixed Waste Paper • • • 
Shredded Paper (bagged) •  
Frozen Food Boxes • • 
Other Paper Food Containers • 

Plastic    
Bottles / Jugs • • • 
Tubs / Buckets • • 
Plant Pots • • • 
Plastic Cups • 

Glass Bottles   • 
Metals    

Aluminum Cans • • • 
Steel Cans  • • • 
Scrap Metal • (a)  • 

Other Motor oil and car batteries (a)   

(a) Placed next to cart. 
 
 
service to multifamily dwellings that use rollcarts (but not those that have dumpsters) as well as 
businesses on a voluntary basis. The City of Oak Harbor also provides collection service for yard 
waste. The yard waste collection service is provided weekly from March 1 through November 30 
and monthly from December 1 to February 28. Residents can purchase 30-gallon paper bags for 
$3.50 at two local stores and at city hall for prepaid service, or can sign up to receive a 95-gallon 
cart. The bags or cart are set out on the curb for collection and transported to Mailliards Landing 
Nursery. Recyclable materials collected by the City of Oak Harbor are placed in open-top trailers 
and transferred to the Island Disposal facility near the Coupeville Transfer Station, where some 
paper grades are separated and baled for marketing, while other commingled materials are 
transferred to Tacoma Recycling for processing and marketing. Island Disposal also collects (for 
a fee) corrugated cardboard and high-grade paper directly from individual businesses.  
 
The Town of Coupeville contracts for every-other-week collection of recyclable materials with 
Island Disposal. The collection commingles plastic bottles, jugs, plant pots, tubs and buckets, 
cardboard, mixed paper, aluminum cans and steel cans. Service is provided to all single-family 
residents and to multifamily buildings upon request if cart placement and storage can be 
arranged. Glass containers may be dropped off at the Town of Coupeville Public Works Shop. 
 
Military families residing in Naval Air Station Whidbey Island’s base housing are provided with 
curbside recycling by Island Disposal, and the list of materials collected is the same as in the 
Town of Coupeville. 
 
Camano Island residents may subscribe with Waste Management for the “All-in-One” every-
other-week collection of mixed paper, cardboard, paper food containers, plastic bottles, jugs 

170



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-4 

tubs, glass bottles and jars, aluminum, steel cans, and clean scrap metal. Collected materials are 
hauled to the Cascade Recycling Center in Woodinville, Washington. The company reports that 
33 percent of its residential customers on Camano Island subscribe to curbside recycling service. 
 
6.1.3 Public Education and Promotion  
 
The County’s education and promotion of recycling is provided by the WSU Waste Wise 
program. The WSU Waste Wise program educates citizen volunteers and prepares them to 
provide assistance to residents and businesses. The volunteer participants are given training in 
waste management systems, waste reduction and recycling, community waste management 
issues and public speaking. The participants agree to volunteer for community activities that 
further the goals of the WSU Waste Wise program. Recent or ongoing recycling-related 
educational activities include:  
 
• Assistance and education of residents and businesses about recycling and reuse opportunities; 
• Maintaining 3 compost demonstration sites on Whidbey Island and one on Camano Island; 
• Distributing waste management information at community events; 
• Speaking to schools, businesses and community groups;  
• Assisting school-related recycling projects;  
• Assisting the State Parks with recycling and waste reduction; and 
• Providing public education regarding waste-related issues. 
 
The school education program is periodically revised to include in-classroom instruction upon 
request. 
 
6.2 Designation of Recyclable Materials  
 
This section prioritizes secondary materials for recovery from the municipal solid waste stream 
through County-sponsored collection programs.  
 
6.2.1 Evaluation Criteria  
 
Secondary materials are prioritized for County-sponsored recycling programs using four criteria: 
the potential for further waste stream reduction, materials handling requirements, market price 
and consumer preferences. The evaluation criteria are discussed below.  
 
Potential for Waste Stream Reduction  
 
Targeting waste materials that are disposed in the largest quantities has the greatest potential to 
increase the rate of recycling. Under this criterion, materials that are reported to comprise more 
than three percent (by weight) of the municipal solid waste stream (see Table 4-4) are assigned a 
high rating. Those materials that are reported to represent between one and three percent are 
assigned a medium rating and those materials that represent less than one percent of the waste 
stream are assigned a low rating.  
 

171



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-5 

Materials Handling Requirements  
 
Collecting and preparing secondary materials for market requires equipment, facilities and labor. 
The costs of collection, processing and marketing are typically balanced with material sales 
revenues and avoided disposal costs. Under this criterion, those materials that are simple to 
collect and process are rated high. Those materials that require special collection procedures or 
extensive processing requirements are rated low. A medium rating is assigned to those materials 
that include characteristics of both the high and low rated materials.  
 
Market Price  
 
Markets for secondary materials are necessary for the continuing success of a recycling program. 
Material sales revenues are used to offset the costs of collecting, processing and marketing the 
materials. Market prices in March 2013 for volume (bulk) customers at Skagit Steel and 
Recycling in Burlington, Washington are summarized in Table 6-4. Under this criterion, those 
materials that have market prices greater than $0 per ton are assigned a high rating. Those 
materials that have a market price from $0 to $(35) per ton are assigned a medium rating and 
those materials with a market price less than $(35) are assigned a low rating.  
 
 

Table 6-4 
Market Prices for Bulk Secondary Materials in February 2013 at Skagit Steel and Recycling 

Category Material Volume Purchase Price, $/ton 
Paper Newspaper  

Corrugated Cardboard  
Mixed Waste Paper 

50 
91 
27 

Plastic PET Containers (#1) 
HDPE Containers, Natural (#2) 
LDPE Plastic Film, Clear 

140 
240 
300 

Glass Clear Glass Containers  
Brown Glass Containers  
Green Glass Containers 

(60)* 
(60) 
(60) 

Ferrous Metals Bulk Appliances 
Mixed Scrap 

158 
195 

Non-Ferrous Metals Aluminum Cans 
Clean Aluminum 
Other Non-Ferrous Metals 

1,000 
900 

Varies 

* ( ) = figure in parenthesis indicates that a fee is charged.  
 
 
Customer Preferences  
 
Service-oriented enterprises must consider the desires of customers when establishing minimum 
levels of service. Satisfying customer preferences promotes participation. Under this criterion, 
the level of customer preference is based on the projected number of people wishing to recycle 
each material and their anticipated level of interest.  
 

172



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-6 

6.2.2 Evaluation of Materials  
 
Potentially recyclable materials are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in Table 6-5.  
 
 

Table 6-5 
Rating of Recyclable Materials 

Category Material 
Diversion 
Potential 

Handling 
Requirements

Market  
Price 

Customer 
Preferences 

Paper Newspaper  M M H H 
 Corrugated Cardboard  H M H H 
 Mixed Waste Paper  H M H H 
Plastic Containers  M M H H 
 Film H L H M 
Glass Clear Glass Containers  M H L M 
 Green Glass Containers  L H L M 
 Brown Glass Containers  L H L M 
Ferrous Metals Steel Cans  M M M H 
 Appliances L L H H 
 Mixed/Other Ferrous Metals  H H H H 
Non-Ferrous  Aluminum Cans  L M H H 
Metals Non-Ferrous Metals L H H H 
Organics Yard Waste  H L M H 
 Food Waste H H L M 
Construction Wood Waste  H H L H 
Debris Gypsum Drywall M M L L 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether each material is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria.  

 
 
6.2.3 Designation of Recyclable Materials  
 
Based on the ratings in Table 6-5, the materials have been divided into three groups: high-
priority, medium-priority and low-priority. A summary of the materials assigned to each 
category is presented in Table 6-6. This list should be used by County staff and others when 
evaluating existing and proposed recycling services, with greater emphasis and importance 
placed on those materials designated as high priority.   
 
The list in Table 6-6 is the “designated recyclable materials” required by state planning 
guidelines, and this list should be used for guidance as to the materials that should be recycled in 
the future when possible. This list is based on existing conditions (collection programs and 
markets), and future markets and technologies may warrant changes in this list. The following 
conditions are grounds for additions or deletions to the list of designated materials: 
 
• The market price for an existing material becomes so low that it is no longer feasible to 

collect, process and/or ship it to markets; 
• Local markets and/or brokers expand their list of acceptable items based on new uses for 

materials or technologies that increase demand; 
• New local or regional processing or demand for a particular material develops; 

173



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-7 

• No market can be found for an existing recyclable material, causing the material to be 
stockpiled with no apparent solution in the near future; 

• The potential for increased or decreased amounts of diversion; and 
• Other conditions not anticipated at this time. 
 
 

Table 6-6 
Designated Recyclable Materials 

High-Priority Materials  Newspaper  
Corrugated Cardboard  
Ferrous Metals  
Aluminum Cans 
Other Non-Ferrous Metals  
Yard Debris 

Medium-Priority Materials  Mixed Waste Paper  
Plastic Containers  
Plastic Film  
Clear Glass * 
Green Glass * 
Brown Glass * 
Steel Cans  
Appliances  
Food Waste 
Wood Waste 

Low-Priority Materials  Gypsum Drywall 

* Glass can be a problematic material for recycling due to the cost and its ability to cross-contaminate other 
materials. It should be recognized that alternatives may be needed for this material in the future, such as 
temporary or permanent deposition in an inert landfill, use as road base material, or use in other 
applications that may not be defined as recycling.  

 
 
The Solid Waste Advisory Committee (SWAC) will review the list of designated recyclable 
materials on an as-needed basis and changes in the list can be made by the Island County Solid 
Waste Manager without going through a formal amendment process. Any changes in the list 
proposed by others should be submitted to the SWAC for their discussion. Minor changes should 
be able to be addressed in about 60 to 75 days at most, depending on the schedule of SWAC 
meetings at the time of the proposed change. Should the SWAC conclude that the proposed 
change is a “major change” (what constitutes a “major change” is expected to be self-evident at 
the time, although criteria such as the length of the discussion and/or inability to achieve 
consensus could be used as indicators of what is a “major change”), then an amendment to the 
plan will be necessary.   
 
6.3 Planning Issues  
 
Management planning issues related to recycling are discussed below.  
 
6.3.1 State Recycling Standards  
 
Chapter 70.95 RCW requires solid waste planning jurisdictions to develop programs for the 

174



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-8 

collection of source-separated secondary materials from residences in urban and rural areas (see 
discussion in next subsection). In urban areas, the minimum recommended collection program 
includes curbside collection of source separated recyclable materials from single and multifamily 
residences. The City of Oak Harbor’s curbside collection program provides collection of source-
separated materials from single-family through fourplex dwellings. In rural areas, the minimum 
recommended program includes drop-off and/or buy-back collection services at all solid waste 
transfer, processing or disposal sites or at other convenient locations. Recycling opportunities for 
source-separated materials are offered at all solid waste receiving facilities. The curbside 
recycling service provided to residents in the Town of Coupeville and on Camano Island exceeds 
this recommendation. 
 
Chapter 70.95 RCW requires monitoring programs for collection of source-separated waste from 
nonresidential sources when there is sufficient density to economically sustain a commercial 
collection program. Island County achieves this by working cooperatively with Ecology and 
utilizing the data they collect through the annual recycling survey. 
 
Finally, a program to promote the concept of recycling is required. The planning jurisdiction 
promotes recycling by distributing waste management information at community events; 
providing speakers for schools, businesses and community groups; and assisting with recycling 
projects in schools, businesses and agencies. Information is distributed using telephone 
directories, newspapers, and web pages. 
 
In summary, the existing urban and rural collection programs, nonresidential monitoring 
program, yard waste collection program, and education and promotion program meet or exceed 
the recycling service requirements in Chapter 70.95 RCW.  
 
6.3.2  Urban and Rural Designations  
 
Areas within the jurisdiction of the City of Oak Harbor are designated urban for recycling 
purposes. Areas annexed by the City of Oak Harbor become urban upon annexation, although 
services may be affected by the delay in transferring these areas from the certificated hauler to 
the city’s collection services. All other areas within the planning jurisdiction are currently 
provided with a rural level of service. Any future changes in the urban and rural classifications, 
as established in the Island County Comprehensive Plan, should also be adopted for solid waste 
purposes, but the level of recycling service provided must also take into account other factors. 
 
The areas currently designated as urban by the Island County Comprehensive Plan are shown in 
Figure 6-1. This map is provided for illustrative purposes only, and in the future the Island 
County Comprehensive Plan should be examined for any updates or revisions to these areas.  
 
6.3.3  Recycling Service Providers  
 
Private contractors provide recycling services at the drop box stations. Contract terms are 
typically five years and include a clause for one three-year extension. 
 
6.3.4  Planning Survey  
 
Planning surveys may be carried out in the planning period to gauge public opinion. For   

175



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-9 

Figure 6-1 
Island County Areas of Urban Density 

 

 
Source:  Website for the Island County Planning and Community Development Department, effective as of 2011. 

176



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-10 

significant issues, formal scientific surveys based on accepted survey practices will be 
emphasized. For lesser issues, an informal customer poll may be considered. 
 
6.3.5 Markets for Yard Waste  
 
State legislation (RCW 70.95.090 (7)(b)(iii)) requires programs to collect yard waste where there 
are adequate markets or capacity for composted yard waste within the service area to consume 
the majority of the materials collected. The law implies that when cost-effective, source-
separated yard waste should be processed into a compost product for beneficial use. Currently, 
curbside yard waste collection is available in the City of Oak Harbor and on Camano Island. 
Segregated yard waste is accepted at the Coupeville and Camano Transfer Stations, at the City of 
Langley wastewater treatment plant, and by two private companies (Mailliards Landing Nursery 
and Lenz Enterprise, which is in Stanwood but near Camano Island).  
 
Yard waste program cost components include collection, transportation, processing, product 
storage, and product marketing and sales. The avoided costs for waste disposal also provide 
economic benefits for yard waste programs. Avoided disposal costs include collection, transfer, 
and transport and disposal costs for waste materials. There are three primary potential sources of 
revenue for yard waste programs: collection rates, tipping fees for yard waste disposal and sales 
revenues for the compost product.  
 
Adequate markets are available when the tipping fees, product sales revenue, and avoided 
disposal costs exceed the yard waste program costs by an amount that an investor determines is a 
reasonable rate of return. The return reflects both financing costs and the risk profile of the 
specific operation. There are no known problems with current markets for reasonably-priced 
compost and related materials. Future market demand for compost is anticipated to be adequate, 
depending on the price of it relative to other soil amendments.  
 
6.3.6  Recycling as a Waste Management Tool  
 
Recycling means turning old products into new products. Recycling includes collecting 
unwanted products, processing them into new materials, manufacturing new products and using 
the new products. All four steps are necessary for recycling to occur.  
 
Recycling has been the primary focus of municipal solid waste programs over the past few 
decades. Recycling has been promoted as a cost-effective alternative to waste disposal and as a 
means of resource conservation, pollution prevention, and reduced carbon emissions.  
 
Unfortunately, recycling also has some drawbacks. Recycling can be more expensive than waste 
disposal. Recycling also has environmental costs. Collection, processing, transportation and 
remanufacture of recyclable materials all require the use of nonrenewable energy resources. All 
these activities generate pollution. Moreover, recycling is not an endless loop. There is always 
some loss of materials. The costs and benefits of recycling must be balanced with those of waste 
disposal to make recycling a useful waste management tool.  
 

177



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-11 

6.3.7 Duplication of Processing and Storage Facilities  
 
Processing and storage facilities for recyclable materials are adequate on Whidbey Island. Three 
private firms (Oak Harbor Recycling, Island Recycling, and Island Disposal) and a federal 
agency (Naval Air Station Whidbey Island) operate multi-material processing and storage 
facilities. These facilities are expensive to construct and operate. Consolidation and/or 
specialization of these facilities could reduce the costs of recycling for ratepayers in the future.  
 
6.3.8 Recycling Program Costs  
 
Recycling activities cost the Island County Solid Waste Division $668,902 in 2012. There are no 
direct user charges for recycling. Recycling costs are recovered through a surcharge on 
municipal solid waste deliveries. In 2012, each vehicle using the transfer stations or drop box 
facilities to dispose of waste or yard debris was assessed a $4.49 surcharge to fund recycling 
services. This is expected to increase in the future due to increased transportation costs and other 
factors. The County may choose to redistribute recycle activity costs from a vehicle surcharge to 
solid waste tons as well as re-align costs among customers that have curbside recycling 
programs. 
 
6.4 Alternative Recycling Strategies  
 
The seven alternative strategies discussed below consider modifications to the current County 
waste recycling program.  
 
6.4.1 Recycling Alternative A-Implement and Promote Curbside Recycling  
 
Alternative A would implement curbside recycling services in the remainder of the county and 
then promote that service. Alternative A could include options for increasing recycling through 
various innovative approaches such as alternating weeks for garbage and recycling collection 
(see also Alternative C in Section 7.3.3), allowing customers to subscribe to collection services 
provided by state-certificated or other companies, or other approaches that prove feasible or 
negotiable.  
 
When curbside recycling service is provided by the state-certificated waste collection companies, 
an implementation (service level) ordinance will be required. The ordinance will require a 
resolution by the Board of County Commissioners to establish collection of recyclable materials 
as a necessary service. That ordinance will need to specify which materials are to be collected 
(likely the typical curbside recyclables but excluding glass); how materials are to be collected 
(such as mixed, or single-stream); what collection frequency should be used (likely every-other-
week to minimize costs); and establish other requirements.  
 
The curbside recycling service would also include new tariffs (approved by the Washington 
Utilities and Transportation Commission, or UTC) and containers, and a “revenue share” 
component to allow the hauler to defray the cost of acquiring new equipment and to provide 
incentives to broaden participation and to expand the type, kind and volume of recyclable 
materials collected under the program. Upon adoption, the County ordinance would be 
forwarded to the UTC, which is the state agency that regulates the certificated (franchised) 

178



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-12 

garbage collection companies. The UTC would then direct Island Disposal, Inc. and/or Waste 
Management, as appropriate, to initiate collection of recyclable materials as a part of routine 
waste collection services. The UTC would continue to evaluate and approve rates for the services 
in the future.  
 
It is estimated that the cost of collection services would increase by about $10 to $13 per month 
per residence to support every-other-week collection of recyclable materials, unless the 
alternating weekly schedule or other cost-saving measures were used. For the 5,000 residential 
customers in unincorporated Island County, the cost for this alternative could be up to $600,000 
per year if the cost were $11 per household per month and the mandatory pay/voluntary 
participation approach is used. 
 
6.4.2 Recycling Alternative B-Promote Private Composting 
 
Alternative B would increase collection of yard waste by encouraging private companies to 
develop a collection and/or processing system for it. Island County could work with private 
companies to divert yard waste from disposal programs to a collection or processing facility, and 
to make sure those companies are properly permitted.  
 
6.4.3 Recycling Alternative C-Investigate Local Markets for Glass 
 
Alternative C encourages investigations into local markets and/or processing options for glass. 
Shipping glass off-island is not a cost-effective practice, due to the heavy weight and low market 
value for glass. A variety of local applications could be possible, including mixtures with asphalt 
or concrete to make roads, crushed glass as road and foundation base material, decorative and 
artistic applications, trench-marking, filtration, and various other uses. Cooperative efforts with 
other public departments or private companies, grant funds for glass crushers, and other 
approaches could be pursued.   
 
6.4.4 Recycling Alternative D-Promote Local Markets for other Recyclable 

Materials 
 
In addition to investigating options for glass markets (see Alternative C, above), this alternative 
addresses the investigation of local markets for other materials. Many materials, most notably 
plastics, typically require large-scale efforts and significant capital investments and so would not 
be conducive to local markets, but some materials and applications could be addressed through 
smaller-scale efforts. 
 
6.4.5 Recycling Alternative E-Continue to pursue Co-Generation Options for 

Wood Waste 
 
The collection of wood at the Island County Solid Waste Complex was terminated in 2011 due to 
the closure of the Everett, Washington co-generation plant. Alternative E is proposed as a 
method to explore other options for wood from Island County.  
 

179



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-13 

6.4.6 Recycling Alternative F-Create an Off-Site Recycling Area for the Camano 
Transfer Station 

 
Alternative F would help to address delays and congestion that may develop at the Camano 
Transfer Station by diverting recycling traffic to a separate area. Originally addressed in a Traffic 
Circulation Report by Skillings-Connolly, Inc., this report assumed that the implementation of 
single-stream recycling would allow the use of two 105-yard trailers for collecting recyclable 
materials instead of the several smaller containers. In addition to expanding recycling capacity, a 
separate facility would maximize the use of the available capacity. 
 
Costs for the four alternatives examined by the Skillings-Connolly report ranged from $20,620 to 
$117,115. The least-expensive option would require the use of stairs to reach the recycling 
containers because the containers would not be placed below grade, which is an obvious problem 
for safety reasons and may discourage recycling. The facility would need to be properly screened 
and attended to avoid visual impacts, litter problems and for access control. 
 
6.4.7 Recycling Alternative G-Encourage Food Waste Composting 
 
This alternative encourages the investigation of food waste composting from residential and 
commercial sources. Commercial sources are a priority because it easier to collect a larger 
amount and a cleaner stream from commercial sources than from residential sources. The cost of 
this option cannot easily be estimated at this time because this idea needs to be refined more and 
possibly tested through a pilot project. Residential food waste composting outside of curbside 
collection could be encouraged with emerging home-scaled units. 
 
6.5 Evaluation of Alternative Recycling Strategies  
 
The alternative recycling strategies are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in the 
sections below.  
 
6.5.1  Consistency with Planning Objectives  
 
Two planning objectives relate directly to waste recycling: encouraging the recovery of 
marketable resources from solid waste and assisting the state to maintain its goal of a 50 percent 
recycling rate. Alternative E is inconsistent with both recycling-related objectives because it 
potentially reduces the total quantity of wood recycled, however replacing the carbon footprint of 
other fuels may make this alternative supportable. The other alternatives seek to increase the 
quantity of materials recycled, or support recycling in various ways. The other alternatives 
(exclusive of E) are rated high if they clearly support additional recycling, or medium if their 
feasibility or impact is uncertain.  
 
6.5.2  Customer Preferences  
 
Customers prefer choice rather than mandates and consistency rather than change. Alternatives 
A, B, E, F and G provide more convenience for recycling or composting customers.  

180



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recycling   6-14 

6.5.3  Costs  
 
Alternative A may increase the cost of collection services. Alternative F requires significant 
capital investment. Alternative G may also require significant investments to implement 
effectively. Other alternatives are more neutral in terms of cost impacts. 
 
6.5.4  Rating of Alternatives  
 
The alternative recycling strategies are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in Table 
6-7. Six of the alternatives (all but Alternative F) are highly rated overall and recommended to be 
pursued (see Section 14.2). 
 
 

Table 6-7 
Summary Comparison of Alternative Recycling Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 

Consistency with 
Planning 

Objectives 
Customer 

Preferences Costs 
A Implement Curbside Recycling H H H 
B Promote Private Yard Waste Diversion M H L 
C Investigate Local Markets for Glass M M L 

D Investigate Local Markets for other 
Materials M M L 

E Continue to Pursue Co-Generation Options 
for Wood Waste L H L 

F Create Off-Site Recycling Area at Camano 
Transfer Station M H H 

G Encourage Food Waste Composting H H H 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) 
for each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be 
weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 
 

181



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-1 

Section 7 
Waste Collection  

 
This section discusses existing collection services for municipal solid waste, identifies relevant 
planning issues, and develops and evaluates three alternative collection strategies.  
 
7.1  Existing Program Elements  
 
There are three solid waste collection service providers in Island County. The City of Oak 
Harbor provides collection services for residents and businesses located within its jurisdiction. 
Island Disposal, Inc. holds a certificate issued by the Washington State Utilities and 
Transportation Commission (UTC) to collect waste generated on Whidbey Island. Waste 
Management of Skagit County holds a certificate issued by the UTC to collect waste generated 
on Camano Island. The collection service providers, their mailing addresses and the current 
population density for each service area are shown in Table 7-1.  
 
 

Table 7-1 
Waste Collection Service Providers in Island County 

   Estimated Population Density of Service Area  
Collection Service 

Provider  Address 
2012 Population 
in Service Area1

Land Area, 
square miles 

Density 
(people/square mile)

City of Oak Harbor 865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, W A 98277 22,200 9.7 2 2,289 

Island Disposal, Inc. P.O. Box 990 
Coupeville, W A 98239 41,339 159.0 260 

Waste Management P.O. Box 546 
Burlington, W A 98233 15,811 39.8 397 

Notes:   1.  See Table 3-1. Figures for Island Disposal are based on the difference between the county total (208.5 
square miles) minus the figures for other areas. All figures are estimates for the year 2012. 

 2.  From the Office of Financial Management. 
  
 
Many residents and businesses haul their own waste (“self-haul”) to the waste receiving 
facilities. Island County accepts waste from self-haul customers at the facilities located at North 
Whidbey, Coupeville, Bayview, and on Camano Island. Slightly more than half of the waste 
generated within the planning area is collected through the curbside programs and the rest is self-
hauled. A sampling of current rates charged for collection and disposal services is shown in 
Table 7-2.  
 
A fourth collection service operates on Naval Air Station Whidbey Island. A private company 
under contract to the federal government collects waste throughout the air base, brings it to a 
transfer station that they also operate, and from there it is shipped out through a waste export 
system separate from the waste export system used by the rest of the county. 

182



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-2 

 
Table 7-2 

Garbage Collection Fees for 2012 (a) 
(Dollars/Month for Weekly Collection)  

 
City of Oak 

Harbor 
Island 

Disposal, Inc. 
Waste 

Management 
Residential  

Weekly Collection     

Minican (20 gallons) 14.53 13.75 15.50 
One Can (35 gallons) 19.90 17.35 18.10 
Two Cans (or 65-gallon cart) 33.36 25.12 27.30 
Three Cans (or 95-gallon 
cart) 44.37 36.29 36.50 

Extra Can n/a  3.77 4.30 
    

Biweekly Collection (b) 
One Can n/a 13.38 11.70 

    
Monthly Collection  

One Can n/a 7.20 5.60 

    
Recycling free n/a 9.40 

    
Nonresidential 

1 cubic yard 102.70 98.83 91.33 

1.5 cubic yards   140.21  
2 cubic yards 175.21 182.87 142.42 
3 cubic yards 246.25  193.39 
4 cubic yards 314.24  244.92 
6 cubic yards 419.55  338.04 

(a) These fees are expected to increase in 2013 and beyond. 
(b) Biweekly means every-other-week.  

 
 
7.2 Planning Issues  
 
This section discusses management issues associated with collection of municipal solid waste.  
 
7.2.1 Service Provisions for Waste Collection  
 
In municipalities, there are three alternatives possible for collecting solid waste: municipal 
collection, regulated collection and contract collection. Under the municipal collection service 
provision, waste collection is provided directly by employees of the municipality. The City of 
Oak Harbor uses this approach. Under the regulated service provision, a municipality 
relinquishes its right to collect solid waste to the private collection company holding a certificate 
issued by the UTC for service in that area. The regulated firm charges fees for services that are 
approved by the UTC. The City of Langley has selected the regulated collection provision. 
Under the contract service provision, the municipality pays a private contractor an amount 
determined by a competitive procurement process. The Town of Coupeville has selected the 
contract service provision.  

183



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-3 

Areas outside municipal boundaries have no choice with respect to collection service providers. 
The UTC grants exclusive rights to specific haulers to collect waste in unincorporated areas and 
approves the fees charged for the services.  
 
7.2.2 Service Requirements  
 
Waste collection service may be provided on a voluntary (subscription) or mandatory 
(compulsory) basis. Municipalities may designate the nature of the service requirements within 
their boundaries. Typically, the municipal and contract forms of municipal collection are 
mandatory while regulated collection is voluntary.  
 
In unincorporated areas, waste collection may also be voluntary or mandatory. In either case, the 
UTC-designated collection company provides the service. Counties are permitted to establish 
mandatory collection service when they establish a solid waste collection district under Chapter 
36.58A RCW. The legislative body of a county may establish a collection district after 
conducting a public hearing and finding that mandatory collection is in the public interest and 
necessary for the preservation of public health. Collection services are then provided by the 
UTC-certificated collection company. Service fees are also approved by the UTC.  
 
7.2.3 Collection Frequency  
 
In western Washington, solid waste collection service for residential customers is typically 
provided weekly although biweekly and even monthly collection is available. Collection 
schedules for nonresidential waste generators are based on the waste generating characteristics of 
the individual customer.  
 
7.2.4 Collection Location  
 
The most common point of collection for residential waste is on public streets. This location 
requires residents to set out their waste containers on the scheduled collection day. Both 
certificated haulers will, however, collect waste on private roads if the road meets minimum 
standards and the resident or the residential association signs a “hold harmless” agreement. 
 
Waste collection for nonresidential generators varies with the waste generating characteristics of 
the business or institution. The collection site is typically located where accessible to the 
collection equipment.  
 
7.2.5 Quantity Limitations  
 
Limits are placed on the quantity of waste materials that are accepted for curbside collection. 
Waste quantities must not exceed the manual or mechanical lifting capabilities of the personnel 
and equipment used to collect the waste. In addition, certain materials may be excluded from 
collection because they pose a potential danger to collection crews or processing equipment or 
because there is a policy to manage certain materials separately from municipal solid waste.  
 

184



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-4 

7.2.6 Container Requirements  
 
Waste materials for curbside collection are typically stored in metal or plastic containers ranging 
in size from about 20 to 32 gallons, although 64- and 96-gallon containers are common in 
automated collection systems. Containers for nonresidential waste are typically one to three 
cubic yards in size depending on the waste materials and collection equipment. Larger 
nonresidential storage containers may be connected to a stationary compactor to increase the 
density of the waste materials.  
 
7.2.7 Rate Setting  
 
Rate design considerations are markedly different under the municipal and contract provisions 
and the regulated collection provision. The municipal and contract provisions provide a 
municipality with wide discretion to implement local policy through garbage rates. Rate 
structures such as linear rates, where the cost for two cans per week for residential customers is 
double the cost of one can, can be used to encourage waste reduction and recycling. When a 
regulated collection company provides the collection service, a cost-of-service methodology is 
used and the UTC must approve the rates submitted by the regulated companies. For rates based 
on a cost-of-service approach, only the true marginal increase can be charged for additional cans. 
Island County has the authority to set disposal rates at all waste receiving facilities in the county.  
 
7.2.8 Billing  
 
Under the municipal and contract service provisions, the municipality typically invoices 
customers. The contractor may be assigned this responsibility under the contract service 
provision in some situations. Under the regulated collection service provision, the waste 
collection company typically bills the customer. Municipal enforcement authority is necessary 
when the municipality has established mandatory collection by the state-regulated collection 
company. Cash or check is the required form of payment at County waste receiving facilities 
although some larger generators are periodically invoiced. Debit or credit cards may be accepted 
in the future at the County facilities if this can be done at an acceptable cost, without causing 
delays and if approved by the Board of Island County Commissioners. 
 
7.2.9 Complaints and Performance Monitoring  
 
Service complaints and performance monitoring are the responsibility of the municipality under 
municipal service provisions and the waste collection company under the regulated service 
provisions. Under the contract service provision, either the municipality or the contractor may 
have the lead responsibility for responding to customer complaints. Island County is responsible 
for complaints and performance monitoring at its waste receiving facilities. Island County Public 
Health has regulatory oversight for most other solid waste matters. 
 
7.3 Alternative Waste Collection Strategies  
 
Three alternative collection strategies are discussed below for the unincorporated areas of the 
planning jurisdiction: mandatory collection service, promotion of voluntary curbside collection 
services, and alternating service schedules for waste collection and curbside recycling.  

185



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-5 

7.3.1 Collection Alternative A-Mandatory Collection Services in Unincorporated 
Areas  

 
Alternative A considers the establishment of compulsory solid waste collection in the 
unincorporated areas of Whidbey and Camano Islands. Collection services would be provided 
under the regulated service provision. The UTC-designated collection company would provide 
the services at UTC-approved rates. Alternative A would reduce collection costs for existing 
collection service subscribers by reducing the travel distance and time between individual 
collection stops and spreading fixed costs over more customers. The level of service provided at 
the solid waste receiving facilities could be reduced to reflect fewer customers. About one-half 
of the households in unincorporated areas would begin paying monthly charges for collection 
services.  
 
7.3.2 Collection Alternative B-Promotion of Voluntary Curbside Collection 

Services  
 
Alternative B consists of promoting voluntary subscription service for routine garbage collection. 
The promotional efforts would focus on the cost savings associated with curbside collection. For 
example, delivering one can per week to a solid waste receiving facility costs three times as 
much as one can weekly curbside collection service in the unincorporated areas of the county.  
 
7.3.3 Collection Alternative C-Alternative Collection Services for Garbage and 

Recycling 
 
Alternative C consists of changing waste collection services, primarily to incorporate curbside 
recycling services (see Alternative A in Section 6.4.1). These changes may also include 
examining the feasibility of every-other-week garbage collection for single-family residential 
customers, with curbside recycling offered in the alternating weeks, or the garbage collection 
schedule may remain weekly. The alternating schedule for garbage and recycling has worked 
well for Olympia, Port Townsend and others. Using this approach, curbside recycling could be 
added at a minimum of additional cost, and at the same time participation in the recycling 
program would be encouraged. Another approach that could also be considered for this 
alternative is the idea of using a split vehicle to collect garbage and recyclables each week but in 
a different compartment of the same truck. The latter has been increasingly rejected due to 
efficiency considerations using automated recycle collection vehicles. 
 
To accomplish this alternative, Island County may need to adopt an implementation (service 
level) ordinance requiring Island Disposal and Waste Management to offer curbside recycling, 
and requiring haulers to provide alternative services for single-family homes or to use other 
approaches as deemed desirable and feasible. For the certificated haulers, a revision in their 
tariffs would be required and the UTC would assist in setting the rates at an appropriate level. 
The implementation ordinance would need to describe the collection system, what commodities 
should be collected for recycling and the manner in which they should be collected, reporting 
requirements, and other important details. 
 

186



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-6 

7.4 Evaluation of Alternative Waste Collection Strategies  
 
The collection alternatives are compared with respect to three evaluation criteria below. The 
criteria include consistency with the planning objectives, customer preferences and costs.  
 
7.4.1 Consistency with Planning Objectives  
 
The planning goal and one planning objective relate to the collection alternatives. The planning 
goal focuses on developing and maintaining a solid waste management system that protects 
public health and the environment in a cost-effective manner. The relevant planning objective is 
to ensure the availability of convenient and reliable services for managing solid waste.  
 
Mandatory collection services ensure that waste materials are disposed on an ongoing basis. Piles 
of refuse are less likely to accumulate at homes and businesses because waste is collected 
regularly. Queuing lines for waste disposal at the solid waste facilities would also be reduced. 
Voluntary subscription for collection services would have similar benefits but at a reduced level.  
 
Alternative collection services would presumably increase the availability and convenience of 
recycling services, although the exact form that these services would take is hard to predict at 
this time.  
 
7.4.2 Customer Preferences  
 
Customers typically favor voluntary rather than mandatory collection service because they prefer 
choice.  
 
7.4.3 Costs  
 
Increased subscription to collection services has the potential to reduce the unit costs of waste 
collection and disposal. With additional customers, the collection stops become closer together 
and the fixed costs can be spread over a larger customer base.  
 
Under the mandatory service, self-haul customers would be required to begin paying for the 
curbside collection service. Their individual costs may increase or decrease depending on their 
previous use of the waste receiving facilities. Cost savings may accrue to the solid waste system 
from reducing the number of self-haul customers from the receiving stations.  
 
Alternative collection methods might increase costs over the current cost for weekly garbage 
collection, although the exact impact is hard to predict until the services and approach are more 
fully defined. 
 
7.4.4 Rating of Alternatives  
 
The three alternatives are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in Table 7-3. 
Alternatives B and C are recommended to be pursued further (see Section 14.3). 
 

187



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-7 

Table 7-3 
Summary Rating of the Alternative Waste Collection Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 
Consistency with 

Planning Objectives
Customer 

Preferences Costs 

A Mandatory Garbage Collection Service in 
Unincorporated Areas  H L H 

B Promotion of Curbside Garbage 
Collection Services M H L 

C Alternative Garbage Collection H M M 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) 
for each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always 
be weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 
 
 
 

188



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Collection   7-8 

 
 
 

189



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-1 

Section 8 
Transfer  

 
This section examines municipal solid waste transfer activities in the planning area.  
 
8.1 Existing Program Elements  
 
There are two solid waste transfer stations and two drop box stations permitted as disposal sites 
for municipal solid waste in Island County. The two transfer stations are the Island County Solid 
Waste Complex (near Coupeville) and the Camano Transfer Station. The two drop box stations 
are located near Oak Harbor and Bayview. A map showing the location of the transfer and drop 
box stations is presented in Figure 8-1, and the current fees charged at these facilities are shown 
in Table 8-1.  
 
 

Table 8-1 
Current Island County Solid Waste and Septage Fees (2012)* 

Waste Type Price/Unit 
Solid waste, municipal or franchise hauler $109/ton, plus $7.24base fee 
Solid waste, self-hauled $115.00/ton, plus $7.24 base fee and 3.6% utility tax 
Construction/demolition waste $136.00/ton, plus $7.24 base fee and 3.6% utility tax 
Oversized, hard-to-handle materials $170.00/ton, plus $7.24 base fee and 3.6% utility tax 
Yard and garden debris $80.00/ton, plus $7.24 base fee and 3.6% utility tax 
Minimum charge (up to 40 pounds) $11.00 
Septage (Coupeville only) $0.155 per gallon 
Appliances $21.50 each 
Tires (auto and light truck) $7.50 each 
Other recyclables and household haz. waste No charge 

* Rates will rise in the future due to increased transportation costs and other factors.  
 
 
8.1.1 Island County Solid Waste Complex  
 
The Island County Solid Waste Complex is located at 20018 State Route 20, approximately two 
miles southeast of Coupeville. The station is open seven days a week from 9:30 a.m. until 5:00 
p.m. The station consists of a scale house and two 70-feet weigh scales, 1,200 feet of on-site 
access roads, a 7,800 square feet tipping floor enclosed in a metal building, a mechanical 
compactor with trailer loading capabilities, an emergency truck loading bay, a trailer storage area 
and employee facilities. There are 20 unloading positions where self-haul waste generators may 
deposit waste materials into up to five 105-yard open-top trailers away from the transfer station 
building.  
 
8.1.2 Camano Transfer Station  
 
The Camano Transfer Station is located at 75 East Camano Hill Road. The station is open seven 
days per week from 9:30 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. The station consists of a scale house and two weigh  

190



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-2 

 

191



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-3 

scales, 56,000 square feet of paved surfaces, 13 waste unloading positions, fencing, landscaping 
and employee facilities. Wastes are unloaded into four 105-yard trailers. A backhoe is used to 
compact waste material after it has been placed into the containers. 
 
8.1.3 North Whidbey Drop Box Station  
 
The North Whidbey Drop Box Station is located at 3155 North Oak Harbor Road. The station is 
open from 9:30 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. on Tuesdays, Saturdays and Sundays. The station consists of 
over 6,000 square feet of paved surfaces, four compacting 30-yard drop boxes, six 20-yard 
recycling boxes, fencing, landscaping and employee facilities.  
 
8.1.4 Bayview Drop Box Station  
 
The Bayview Drop Box Station is located at 14566 State Route 525 in Bayview. The station is 
open from 9:30 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. Monday, Wednesday, Saturday and Sunday. Municipal solid 
waste facilities at the station include 24,000 square feet of paved surface area, four compacting 
drop boxes (two 20-yard boxes and two 30-yard boxes), two 40-yard recycling boxes, four 20-
yard recycling boxes, fencing, landscaping and employee facilities.  
 
8.1.5 NAS Whidbey Island  
 
The Naval Air Station Whidbey Island (NASWI) has its own transfer station, with the waste 
hauled away by Republic Services. Island County and NASWI have an agreement to provide 
access to the household hazardous waste program by naval personnel living on base in return for 
a calculated fractional cost of the program. 
 
8.2 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues relating to waste quantities, number of arriving vehicles and unloading positions, 
waste storage and facility standards are discussed below.  
 
8.2.1 Waste Quantities  
 
Transfer stations accept municipal solid waste from commercial collection service providers and 
self-haul customers. Drop box stations accept municipal solid waste from self-haul customers 
only. The quantity of municipal solid waste accepted at the transfer and drop box stations in 
2012 and the six-year waste quantity growth rates are summarized in Table 8-2. Figures reflect a 
sharp drop in MSW received during the intervening recession years. 
 
 

Table 8-2 
Municipal Solid Waste Quantities Received at Transfer and Drop Box Stations in 2012 

 Transfer Stations Drop Box Stations 
Municipal Solid Waste Coupeville Camano North Whidbey Bayview 

Annual 2012 Quantity, tons  32,671 7,712 290  930 
Decrease since 2005, percent  -17 -22 -26 -31 

192



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-4 

8.2.2 Arriving Vehicles and Unloading Positions  
 
Because of seasonal fluctuations in the waste stream, weather, work schedules and other factors, 
the arrival times of incoming vehicles are not uniform with respect to time. The waiting time for 
an incoming vehicle to unload is a function of the number of arriving vehicles, the rate at which 
the vehicles can unload and the number of unloading positions. The number of arriving vehicles 
at the stations in 2012 and the number of unloading positions is shown in Table 8-3.  
 
 

Table 8-3 
Number of Arriving Vehicles and Unloading Positions at Island County Transfer and Drop Box Stations

 Transfer Stations Drop Box Stations 
Municipal Solid Waste Coupeville Camano North Whidbey Bayview 

Number of Vehicles in 2012 56,665 33,121 4,872 14,564 
Percent Change from 2005 -26% -27% -28% -26% 
Unloading Positions  22 13 4 4 
 
 
8.2.3 Storage  
 
Waste transport containers, and the tipping floor at the Island County Solid Waste Complex, are 
used to store municipal solid waste at the transfer and drop box stations. On-site storage capacity 
must accommodate occasional mechanical malfunctions and periodic large loads of waste 
materials. The municipal solid waste storage capacity for each station is presented in Table 8-4.  
 
Since operations commenced at the Island County Solid Waste Complex in 1992, equipment 
malfunctions and transfer interruptions have halted operations a number of times, once for 84 
hours. In these instances, health and safety practices were followed and problems did not arise. 
 
 

Table 8-4 
Municipal Solid Waste Storage Capacities at Island County Transfer and Drop Box Stations 

 Transfer Stations Drop Box Stations 
Municipal Solid Waste Coupeville Camano Oak Harbor Bayview 

Storage Capacity, tons  260(a) 90 30 32 

(a)  If necessary, an additional 200 tons could be stored in a 7,000 square feet storage yard adjacent to the 
transfer building. 

 
 
8.2.4 Transfer and Drop Box Facility Standards  
 
Solid waste transfer stations are subject to the facility standards included in Section 173-350-310 
of the Washington Administrative Code. Transfer stations must:  
 
• Control public access and prevent unauthorized traffic and illegal dumping of waste;  

193



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-5 

• Be sturdy and constructed of easily cleanable materials;  
• Provide effective means to control rodents, insects, birds and other vectors;  
• Provide effective means to control litter;  
• Provide protection for the tipping floor from wind, rain or snow;  
• Comply with local zoning and building codes, and other applicable local, state and federal 

laws and regulations;  
• Provide pollution control measures to protect surface and ground waters from storm events 

and wash down wastewater;  
• Provide all-weather roads in vehicular areas;  
• Provide pollution control measures to protect air quality;  
• Prohibit scavenging;  
• Provide an on-site attendant during operating hours;  
• Post entrance sign(s) identifying the facility, its operating hours and a list of unacceptable 

materials; and  
• Have the ability to summon fire, police and emergency service personnel.  
 
Drop box facilities are subject to the facility standards in Section 173-350-310 of the Washington 
Administrative Code. Drop box facilities must:  
 
• Be constructed of durable watertight materials with a lid or screen on top that prevents loss of 

materials during transport and access by rats and other vermin, and control litter;  
• Be serviced as often as necessary to ensure adequate dumping capacity at all times (storage 

outside the box is prohibited); and  
• Have a sign posted at the entrance identifying the facility, its operating hours and 

unacceptable materials.  
 
A solid waste permit from Island County Public Health is required to operate a transfer or drop 
box station in the planning jurisdiction. All transfer and drop box stations currently meet the state 
facility standards and permit requirements.  
 
8.3 Alternative Transfer Strategies  
 
Seven alternative municipal solid waste transfer strategies are discussed in the sections below.  
 
8.3.1 Transfer Alternative A-Increase the Capacity of the North Whidbey Drop 

Box Station  
 
The number of tons and vehicles using the North Whidbey Drop Box Station decreased by 26 
and 28 percent, respectively, in the past seven years due to the recession and so one of the four 
compactor slots has been removed from use. About the same time, a used power unit from the 
Bayview station was moved to the North Whidbey site and mothballed. Future increased 
capacity needs at the North Whidbey site can be met by mating a new and upsized 30 cubic yard 
box to the mothballed power unit at a cost of approximately $25,000.  
 

194



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-6 

8.3.2 Transfer Alternative B-Upgrade Compactor at the Island County Solid 
Waste Complex and Increase the Storage Capacity at the Island County 
Solid Waste Complex and Camano Transfer Station  

 
Failure of the waste compactor and/or interruption of the transfer system have interfered with 
operations for several days in the past twelve years. Although the transfer facility can 
accommodate storage of the current peak day flow rate, it may not be able accommodate the 
peak day by the year 2017. Operating experience indicates that up to 3.5 days storage may be 
necessary. 
 
Transfer Alternative B would develop additional storage capacity adjacent to the two transfer 
stations and upgrade the Amfab compactor at the Island County Solid Waste Complex. The 
additional storage capacity would provide the ability to hold three to fours days’ worth of waste, 
depending on the number of available open-top trailers. Upgrading the compactor would provide 
more capacity and reliability. A concept-level capital cost estimate for Transfer Alternative B is 
$1.2 million, mostly for the cost of a new compactor. Another option may be to re-design the 
compactor slot for direct loading and compaction with a stationary or mobile crane at an 
estimated cost of $750,000.  
 
8.3.3 Transfer Alternative C-Consolidate Bayview Drop Box Station and Island 

Recycling  
 
The Bayview Drop Box Station and Island Recycling are located on County-owned property in 
south Whidbey Island. The Bayview Drop Box Station is operated by County employees and 
accepts municipal solid waste, recyclable materials and moderate-risk waste. Island Recycling is 
a private contractor operating at a County-owned site and accepts recyclable materials and 
sellable used materials. Both facilities are located on Highway 525 about six miles apart. Under 
Transfer Alternative C, these two facilities would be consolidated into a single waste receiving 
facility. Future capital improvements such as weigh scales and capacity improvements could 
then be focused at a single location capable of serving customers of both facilities. While this 
approach may increase overall efficiencies in the future, there would also be additional costs for 
capital improvements plus relocation and closure expenses that would need to be identified more 
clearly at a later date.  
 
8.3.4 Transfer Alternative D-Increase Unloading and Storage Capacities at 

Bayview  
 
Waste delivered to the Bayview Drop Box Station has decreased by 31 percent over the past 
seven years. In 2012, the facility served 14,564 customers delivering 930 tons of municipal solid 
waste (this figure does not include recycling-only customers). Waste quantities are expected to 
level out and then slowly increase. 
 
If needed in the future, increasing the capacity of the Bayview Drop Box Station can be done by 
installing a retaining wall on the southern edge of the property to accommodate one or two 105 
cubic yard trailers. These modifications can be accomplished for approximately $100,000. 
Additional staff and a backhoe would also be required to compact the 105 cubic yard boxes, and 
modifications to the long-haul contract would have to be made to determine the most efficient 

195



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-7 

means of swapping out the loaded trailers and the cost for doing so.  
 
8.3.5 Transfer Alternative E-Continue to Explore Maximizing Efficiencies at 

Camano  
 
Waste quantities at the Camano Transfer Station have decreased 22 percent since 2005. If 
additional capacity is needed, Transfer Alternative E would add one or two more trailer loading 
positions at the northeast corner of the existing site to accommodate increased waste amounts. 
Alternative E would also complete development at the existing site, including the 2009 upgrades 
of double scaling and revised traffic flow made possible by the relocations of Camano Hill 
Drive/East Camano Drive intersections and cul-de-sac. Waste volumes at this location are 
expected to level out and slowly increase over the next five years, so these improvements are not 
expected to be necessary in the near term. 
 
8.3.6 Transfer Alternative F-Consider New Transfer Stations at either Camano 

and/or Coupeville Site 
 
Transfer Alternative F considers the development of new transfer stations at the same or different 
locations on Camano Island or in Coupeville (the Island County Solid Waste Complex). A new 
transfer station might be necessary for Camano Island if waste volumes at that station increase to 
approximately 20,000 tons per year. A new facility for the Island County Solid Waste Complex 
may be necessary if waste volumes increase there to amounts that exceed the capacity of that 
station. In either case, the new facilities would permanently replace the existing transfer stations.  
 
At a minimum, a new facility would include weigh scales, a gatehouse, on-site roads, a transfer 
building, trailer storage area, environmental control systems, fencing and landscaping. Arriving 
vehicles would be weighed at the gatehouse and directed to the transfer building. An attendant 
would direct vehicles to one of the unloading position where waste materials would be 
discharged onto a tipping floor. The waste materials would be moved into a compactor with a 
stationary crane or other equipment.  
 
A concept-level capital cost estimate for a new transfer station for Camano Island is shown in 
Table 8-5. Capital costs are estimated at $1,945,000. Annualized capital costs are estimated at 
$172,500 or $22.37 per ton based on 2012 waste quantities (or $8.63 per ton if the transfer 
station was receiving 20,000 tons per year).  
 
8.3.7 Transfer Alternative G-Increase or Modify Rates 
 
A rate study conducted in the fall of 2009 for the period of 2010-2012 concluded that the 
disposal rates at the transfer stations and drop boxes needed to be increased to more accurately 
reflect the true costs of services provided by these facilities. An update conducted in 2012 led to 
no change in the rates, but the results of future rate studies may lead to changes in the disposal 
rates. Other factors and events, such as increased transportation and associated costs, may 
contribute to future changes in the rates. These changes will not occur without a resolution 
adopted by the Island County Board of County Commissioners, with the opportunity for public 
comment that accompanies such resolutions. A new rate study may be conducted in 2014, with 
rate changes possibly adopted after that. 

196



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-8 

 
Table 8-5 

Concept-Level Capital Cost Estimate for a New Camano Transfer Station 

Item Quantity 
Unit of 

Measure 
Unit 

Cost, $ Amount, $ 
Useful Life, 

years 

Annual 
Cost @ 
4%, $ 

Land 10 acre 12,000 120,000 20 8,830 
       
Direct Capital Costs        
Site Development  1 lump sum 300,000 300,000  20 22,100  
Scales and Gatehouse 2 lump sum 108,000 200,000 15 18,000 
Transfer Building 2,500 square feet 96 300,000 20 22,100 
Yard Donkey 1 each 30,000 30,000  7 5,000  
Loader 1 each 180,000 250,000  7 41,700  
Subtotal Direct Capital Costs     1,080,000    
Overhead and Profit  20 percent  216,000  20  15,900  
Total Direct Capital Costs     1,296,000    
       
Indirect Capital Costs        
Engineering and Design  7 percent  72,000  20  5,300  
Legal, License Costs  5 percent  51,000  20  3,800  
Sales Tax  8 percent    82,000  20 6,000  
Total Indirect Capital Costs     205,000    
       
Subtotal Capital Cost     1,621,000    
Contingency Allowance  20 percent   324,000  20     23,900  
Total Capital Costs     1,945,000   172,500  
 
 
8.4 Evaluation of Alternative Transfer Strategies  
 
The transfer alternatives are compared with respect to three evaluation criteria below. The 
criteria include consistency with the planning objectives, customer preferences and costs.  
 
8.4.1 Consistency with Planning Objectives  
 
Upgrading the North Whidbey Drop Box Station (Alternative A) would increase the level of 
service provided for north Whidbey Island residents. This would be consistent with the planning 
objective of providing convenient and reliable services.  
 
Increasing the waste storage capacity at the Island County Solid Waste Complex (Alternative B) 
supports the planning goal of maintaining a solid waste management system that protects public 
health and the environment in a cost-effective manner. Storing waste in trailers rather than in a 
storage yard better protects water quality and avoids problems with wind-blown debris.  
 
Consolidating the Bayview Drop Box Station and Island Recycling (Alternative C) would reduce 
the level of service provided for south Whidbey Island residents. Consolidating the operations 
may allow an increase in service levels at a single facility, but this idea needs further study.  
 

197



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-9 

Increasing the unloading and storage capacities at Bayview (Alternative D) would increase the 
level of service at that site.  
 
Additional waste containers at the Camano Transfer Station (Alternative E) would further 
increase the unloading and storage capacities of the facility.  
 
A new transfer station on Camano Island or in Coupeville (Alternative F) could increase 
materials handling efficiencies. All waste materials would be loaded into transfer trailers and 
delivered directly to an intermodal facility in Everett or Seattle. A transfer building for the 
Camano Island station would also protect the unloading operations from problems associated 
with wind and rain.  
 
Increasing or modifying the disposal rates (Alternative G) could have a negative impact on the 
goal of providing convenient access to disposal services, but if rates need to be increased to 
cover costs then this may be unavoidable. Increased disposal rates may also have the effect of 
increasing recycling. 
 
8.4.2 Customer Preferences  
 
Upgrading the North Whidbey Drop Box Station (Alternative A) would provide greater 
convenience for north Whidbey Island residents and businesses.  
 
Increasing storage capacity at the Island County Solid Waste Complex (Alternative B) would 
provide a redundant transfer capability. Waste materials could bypass the compactor when it 
malfunctions allowing the other waste handling operations to continue functioning in a routine 
manner.  
 
A consolidated Bayview Drop Box Station and Island Recycling facility (Alternative C) would 
require many customers to drive six miles further for drop-off waste disposal services. Customer 
service may or may not be improved for customers only disposing of waste or only recycling by 
consolidating future facility improvements at a single location.  
 
Increasing the unloading and storage capacity at Bayview (Alternative D) would provide 
increased customer service at that facility.  
 
Additional trailer loading position(s) at the Camano Transfer Station (Alternative E) would 
increase the waste unloading and storage capacity and, during peak times, reduce the waiting 
time to unload.  
 
A new transfer facility for Camano Island or in Coupeville (Alternative F) could improve 
operating efficiencies. A larger site would increase the length of on-site roads to avoid off-site 
queuing. All waste materials would be loaded into transfer trailers for direct delivery to the 
intermodal facility. The unloading operations would also be protected from wind and rain.  
 
Any rate increases in the future (Alternative G), for either the general public or for municipal and 
private haulers, would be contrary to customer preferences. 
 

198



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transfer   8-10 

8.4.3 Costs  
 
Upgrading the North Whidbey Drop Box Station (Alternative A) would cost approximately 
$25,000.  
 
Increasing the unloading and storage capacities at the Island County Solid Waste Complex 
(Alternative B) would cost an estimated $750,000 to $1.2 million.  
 
Consolidating Bayview Drop Box Station and Island Recycling (Alternative C) would require a 
significant capital investment, but future improvements could be focused on a single facility.  
 
Installing larger containers at Bayview (Alternative D) would cost an estimated $100,000, plus 
increased staffing and equipment costs.  
 
Capital costs for the additional trailer loading positions at the Camano Transfer Station 
(Alternative E) are estimated at $120,000 to $200,000.  
 
The new transfer facility on Camano Island (Alternative F) would result in capital expenditures 
totaling $1,945,000. A new transfer station in Coupeville would likely cost more than that, 
although a conceptual design and cost estimate has not yet been developed for that new facility. 
 
Increasing or modifying rates (Alternative G) would be cost-neutral on the assumption that rates 
would reflect and cover the true costs of providing services. 
 
8.4.4 Rating of Alternatives  
 
The alternative waste transfer strategies are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in 
Table 8-8. Six of the alternatives (A, B, D, E, F, and G) are recommended to be pursued (see 
Section 14.4). For Alternative B, only the increase in storage capacity for the Camano Transfer 
Station, and not the improvements at the Island County Solid Waste Complex, is being 
recommended at this time. 
 
 

Table 8-6 
Summary Comparison of Alternative Transfer Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 
Consistency with 

Planning Objectives 
Customer 

Preferences Costs 
A Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box Station M M M 
B Increase Storage Capacity at Camano Transfer Station M M M 
C Consolidate Bayview Drop Box and Island Recycling L L H 
D Increase Capacity at Bayview M H M 
E Continue to Explore Increased Efficiency at Camano  H H M 
F Consider New Station for Camano Island and/or Coupeville H H H 
G Increase or Modify Rates L L M 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be 
weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

199



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-1 

Section 9 
Transport and Disposal  

 
This section presents information relating to current transport and disposal operations and closed 
municipal solid waste landfills in the planning area. Alternative transport and disposal 
management strategies are also discussed.  
 
9.1 Existing Program Elements  
 
Existing disposal program elements are discussed in the following sections.  
 
9.1.1 Transport and Disposal Operations  
 
Island County has executed a contract with Republic Services to provide transport and disposal 
services for non-recyclable waste generated in Island County. Under the agreement, waste from 
Island County is trucked to either Burlington, Washington or to Everett, Washington and 
transported by rail to the Roosevelt Regional Landfill. The contract became effective in 2007 and 
was initially effective from 2007 through 2012, and then extended until 2015. Two additional 
extensions may be exercised. 
 
9.1.2 Closed Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Sites  
 
There are seven closed solid waste disposal facilities in the planning jurisdiction. The general 
location of the each site and the current ownership are identified in Table 9-1.  
 
 

Table 9-1 
Closed Municipal Solid Waste Disposal Facilities 

Landfill Facility Ownership Location 
Camano Island  
Coupeville  
Cultus Bay  
Freeland  
Hastie Lake  
Langley  
Oak Harbor 

Island County 
Island County 
Island County 
Island County 
Island County 

City of Langley 
City of Oak Harbor 

West of Triangle Cove 
2 Miles SE of Coupeville 

South End of Whidbey Island 
2 Miles NW of Freeland 

5 Miles SW of Oak Harbor 
1 Mile SW of Langley 

Oak Harbor 
 
 
9.1.3 Post-Closure Care of the Coupeville Landfill  
 
The Coupeville Landfill, closed in 1992, is subject to the post-closure monitoring requirements 
specified in Chapter 174-304 of the Washington Administrative Code. Specifically, the planning 
jurisdiction is responsible for:  
 
• Maintaining the cover system and making repairs to correct the effects of settlement and 

erosion;  

200



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-2 

• Maintaining the vegetative cover;  
• Preventing storm water from damaging the cover system;  
• Monitoring ground water quality and gas characteristics; and  
• Maintaining the landfill gas management system.  
 
Post-closure care of the Coupeville Landfill is required until the site has stabilized. Routine post-
closure activities are funded through current operating revenues. A restrictive post-closure fund 
currently in the amount of $2,800,000 represents annual post-closure costs for a 20-year period. 
As the 20-year period has now passed, off-ramping is currently being studied. Routine activities 
are guided by a post-closure plan that was developed and approved in 2003 and updated in 2008. 
 
9.2 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues related to waste disposal capacity and ground water quality at the former 
Coupeville Landfill are discussed below.  
 
9.2.1 Disposal Capacity  
 
State solid waste planning guidelines require planning jurisdictions to consider waste disposal 
needs for a 20-year period. Island County has a waste transport and disposal contract through the 
year 2015. With at least three regional landfills expected to operate for the next 50 to 100 years 
(see Section 9.3), future disposal needs can continue to be met by the waste export system. 
 
Because Whidbey and Camano Islands have been designated sole source aquifers under the 
federal Clean Water Act, no new municipal solid waste landfill may be sited within the planning 
jurisdiction.  
 
9.2.2 Ground Water Quality at the Coupeville Landfill  
 
Two aquifers have been identified in the vicinity of the Coupeville Landfill: an upper unconfined 
aquifer and a lower confined or partly confined aquifer. The two aquifers are referred to as the 
shallow and deep aquifers. The shallow aquifer appears to be discontinuous; ground water has 
only been observed in the shallow aquifer on the west portion of the site.  
 
There are 27 ground water monitoring wells developed to sample both the shallow and deep 
aquifers, including two upgradient wells across and southerly of SR20. In addition, four water 
supply wells in the vicinity of the landfill provide access to the deep aquifer. All monitoring 
wells are sampled quarterly for 13 indicators of landfill leachate. In addition, quarterly samples 
have been obtained for 15 metals and 40 volatile organic compounds since 1998. Statistical 
analysis conducted in 2006 may lead to a change the testing frequency. In 2013, four additional 
monitoring wells were installed east of the closed landfill to better analyze a vinyl chloride 
detection.  
 
The influence of the waste disposal activities on ground water quality at the Island County Solid 
Waste Complex is apparent in the general chemistry and ground water levels of volatile organic 
compounds, inorganics, and other parameters. The monitoring wells immediately adjacent to the 
disposal areas indicate impacts to the ground water.  

201



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-3 

Migration of contaminants appears to be attenuated as evidenced by the reduced concentrations 
and lack of increasing trends in target parameters at “second tier” monitoring wells located 400 
to 750 feet downgradient of the disposal areas. Generally, contaminants do not appear to have 
migrated to the second tier of monitoring wells located 600 feet northeast with the exceptions of 
elevated sulfate in one well, and elevated calcium in four others. Analytical results from the deep 
well located 400 feet north of the disposal areas indicates that some waste constituents 
(chlorodifluoromethane, dichlorodifluoromethane, diethyl ether, tetrahydrofuran, and vinyl 
chloride) have migrated that far, although the concentrations are notably less than those observed 
at the “source area.” Dichlorodifluoromethane was also detected in two ground water monitoring 
wells (500 feet and 300 feet west of the disposal areas). An increasing trend in detection of vinyl 
chloride easterly and northeasterly of well E2D (near the scale house) will be closely monitored 
by two existing and four new monitoring wells. Data clearly show the water quality differences 
between monitoring wells within or immediately adjacent to the disposal area and the remaining 
second tier wells and thus demonstrate the influence of the disposal areas on the ground water 
chemistry at the site. The wells within or immediately adjacent to the disposal area have elevated 
concentrations of a number of parameters.  
 
Given identified flow direction and rates, it may be concluded that the existing monitoring 
network is reasonably likely to detect contaminants if they are released from the landfill. No 
adjustments to the monitoring network are recommended at this time, with the exception of the 
four additional wells noted above.  
 
Ground water contaminants will continue to be evaluated to identify trends. This evaluation may 
lead to the conclusion that additional investigation is needed of potential localized source areas 
that may need to be controlled (through steps such as additional landfill gas extraction in this 
area, which could potentially be achieved through adjustment of the existing system). Corrective 
measures recently completed include capping the construction waste area and correcting 
drainage to reduce infiltration through the waste, and enhancement of the landfill gas extraction 
system.  
 
Ground water monitoring at an appropriate level to ensure accurate assessment of ground water 
quality will be continued. The Solid Waste Division will pursue long-term monitoring 
optimization (LTMO) using EPA software and other statistical tools to develop a revised 
monitoring strategy that maximizes efficiency while maintaining site and regulatory objectives. 
Additional upgrades to the system will be developed as necessary.  
 
9.2.3 Ground Water Quality at the Freeland Site  
 
Two additional groundwater monitoring wells were added to the existing three wells used for 
monitoring groundwater quality at the Freeland site in early 2006; a shallow (replacement) well 
and a deep monitoring well. The County engaged in Ecology’s Voluntary Cleanup Plan (VCP) in 
February of 2005 and, following an Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in mid 2005, engaged 
HWA Associates to assess and carry out a cleanup of the relatively minor contamination 
identified. From 2008-2012 a number of engineered upgrades were made to the site to address 
run-off contamination issues with approval by Ecology’s water quality section. In 2010, at the 
recommendation of Ecology (since no public health risk existed and that the County did not 
intend to sell the property), the County withdrew from the VCP and continued to address surface 

202



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-4 

water contamination issues mostly from the steel operation. Island Recycling is responsible for 
submitting quarterly water quality tests. Improvements installed to address surface water issues 
include three engineered, fabric covered buildings (two installed), an engineered 10-unit 
bioswale (installed) and three additional bioswales at surface water concentration points (which 
are underway at the time this update was being written).     
 
9.2.4 Landfill Gas Monitoring 
 
The results of a study conducted in 2005 show that landfill gas (methane and carbon dioxide) is 
still present in the soils surrounding three disposal areas. Landfill gas production likely reached 
its peak between one and three years after waste disposal ceased (1978 for the City of Coupeville 
Landfill, 1991 for the County’s solid waste landfill, and 2001 for the County’s construction 
waste landfill). As expected, data shows the highest landfill gas concentrations and depressed 
oxygen concentrations usually occur in the gas probes closest to the landfill. Gas production is 
expected to continue declining due to the nature of waste decomposition processes. Current soil 
gas movement is much less than during the active filling period and generally ceases within ten 
years after waste disposal ends. The slow movement of gas appears to allow the methane to 
oxidize before reaching gas probe sample locations. This is due to the age of waste, very low gas 
production, and the method of gas movement as well as the surrounding geologic formation 
(sandy/gravelly soils).  
 
The Coupeville Landfill site is in a transitional period in gas control system operations and gas 
probe monitoring. In May 2005, in-refuse vertical extraction wells were activated and the air 
injection system was de-activated. As noted previously, a total of six monitoring wells, including 
four new, will be monitored and, if necessary, can be used to actively treat vinyl chloride 
northeasterly of the closed landfill. Conducting routine monitoring, monitoring under optimum 
barometric conditions (to observe maximum gas concentrations), and tracking additional 
monitoring results provides insight into extreme conditions that could be experienced at the site. 
At this time, no additional action other than continued monitoring is recommended. As the 
closed landfill matures, studies may recommend decreasing the number of testing events and/or 
analytes within specific wells.  
 
9.3 Alternative Transport and Disposal Strategies  
 
Three alternative regional waste disposal facilities serving Pacific Northwest communities are 
identified below. Three other alternatives, which address various operational issues, are also 
discussed below.  
 
9.3.1 Transport and Disposal Alternative A-Waste Management  
 
Waste Management, Inc. operates the Columbia Ridge Landfill and Recycling Center near 
Arlington, Oregon in Gilliam County. The Columbia Ridge Landfill is located about 140 miles 
east of Portland, Oregon. It has an estimated disposal capacity of 260 millions tons (or 115 years 
of capacity at the prior disposal rate of 2.28 million tons per year). The Union Pacific Railroad 
provides rail transport service from Seattle to Arlington where the waste is transported by truck 
to the landfill.  
 

203



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-5 

9.3.2 Transport and Disposal Alternative B-Republic Services 
 
Republic Services operates a landfill north of Roosevelt in Klickitat County, Washington. The 
landfill has the permitted capacity to accept an additional 162 million tons of waste, which is an 
additional 75 years of capacity (as of 2012). Burlington Northern Railroad provides transport 
services from loading facilities in Everett and in Skagit County to Roosevelt, Washington.  
 
9.3.3 Transport and Disposal Alternative C-Waste Connections 
 
The Finley Buttes Landfill is owned and operated by Waste Connections, Inc. The Finley Buttes 
Landfill is located approximately ten miles south of Boardman, Oregon in Morrow County. 
Tidewater Barge Lines transports municipal solid waste by barge from Vancouver, Washington 
180 miles upriver to a port facility owned by Tidewater Barge Lines at the Port of Morrow. 
Waste materials are unloaded there and then trucked 12 miles to the landfill. The landfill has an 
estimated remaining waste disposal capacity of 40 million tons, or over 100 years or operation at 
the current disposal rate.  
 
9.3.4 Transport and Disposal Alternative D-Purchase Additional Buffer Area at 

the Coupeville Landfill  
 
The available ground water data in the vicinity of the former Coupeville Landfill indicates that 
ground water flows east in the shallow aquifer and east-northeast in the deep aquifer. The edge 
of the fill area is the point where potential ground water contaminants must not exceed maximum 
levels.  
 
Alternative D contemplates the purchase of up to ten acres of property located directly east-
northeast and perhaps south of the former landfill to provide additional buffer area and prevent 
encroachment by future development. The estimated cost of acquiring the property and a small 
building on the property is $200,000. The Solid Waste Division should also consider the 
purchase of land around other solid waste facilities for buffer purposes as that land becomes 
available or necessary.   
 
9.3.5 Transport and Disposal Alternative E-Continue to Investigate ‘Off-Ramp’ 

Strategies for Post Closure Monitoring  
 
Transfer and Disposal Alternative E consists of the investigation of off-ramp strategies including 
a reduction in monitoring schedules and reduction in analytes in all or in specific wells. Should 
analytes fail to decline over time as expected, it may become necessary to develop additional 
ground water monitoring wells at the closed Coupeville Landfill and at other sites as those wells 
may become necessary to monitor water quality. Well development costs are estimated at 
$45,000 per well, although this cost would be affected by location, depth of drilling, and other 
factors.  
 

204



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Transport and Disposal   9-6 

9.3.6 Transport and Disposal Alternative F- Investigate Additional Methods for 
Densifying Wastes 

 
The density of the waste being transported out of the county has become a critical economic 
factor due to increasing transportation costs. As transportation costs continue to increase, 
additional efforts to densify the wastes may become cost-effective. The Solid Waste Division 
could identify, and implement where cost-effective, methods to increase the density of waste and 
thus maximize the efficiency of the transportation system. The expense for this alternative could 
vary substantially depending on the methods used, from as low as $20,000 for smaller pieces of 
equipment up to $200,000 or more for larger pieces of equipment or site improvements. 
 
9.4 Evaluation of Transport and Disposal Alternatives  
 
The availability of the alternative solid waste transport and disposal service providers encourages 
competition based on price. Assuming all three facilities continue to operate within their permit 
requirements, the cost of transport and disposal services will continue to be the primary 
consideration in procuring services.  
 
Procurement planning for municipal solid waste transport and disposal services may commence 
in 2015. At that time, options for waste disposal services past 2015 could include negotiating an 
extension to the current contract, soliciting new waste export bids, or entering into a regional 
agreement to participate in a disposal system serving several counties. 
 
These three alternatives are recommended to be pursued: 
 
• Alternative D-purchase of additional buffer areas provides time to further characterize 

ground water flow and quality in the vicinity of a facility.   
• Alternative E-investigate and implement any ‘off-ramp’ post-closure task reductions 

allowable according to conditions noted in groundwater and gas monitoring.  
• Alternative F-investigate additional methods of densifying the waste leading to increased 

efficiencies and greater rate stability in the future. 
 
 

205



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-1 

Section 10 
Moderate-Risk Waste  

 
This section describes the regulatory framework for managing hazardous waste in the planning 
area. It also describes existing management practices for moderate-risk waste, and develops and 
evaluates five alternative management strategies for moderate-risk waste.  
 
10.1 Hazardous Waste Regulation  
 
An overview of the federal, state and local regulatory framework for managing hazardous waste 
is presented below. Federal and state regulations focus primarily on non-household hazardous 
waste generated at rates exceeding 220 pounds per month. Local regulations focus on moderate-
risk waste (MRW), which is hazardous waste generated by businesses at rates below 220 pounds 
per month and waste generated by households.  
 
10.1.1 Federal Regulations  
 
The primary federal laws relating to hazardous waste are the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act (RCRA) and the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Act (CERCLA). Other federal legislation such as the Universal Waste Rule and the 
Mercury-Containing and Rechargeable Battery Management Act establish rules for specific 
types of hazardous waste.  
 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. s/s 6901 et seq.)  
 
The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) establishes responsibility and authority 
for managing hazardous waste. Subtitle C of the law establishes requirements for generators, 
transporters, and operators of hazardous waste treatment, storage and disposal facilities. 
Hazardous wastes must be tracked from the time they are generated until the time they are 
disposed using a manifest system. Subtitle D of RCRA establishes minimum requirements for 
construction and operation of solid waste disposal facilities. It seeks to ensure that landfills 
receiving household hazardous waste and small quantity generator waste meet minimum design 
and construction standards. The Washington State Department of Ecology has been delegated the 
authority to enforce the provisions of RCRA.  
 
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act  
(42 U.S.C. s/s 9601 et seq.)  
 
CERCLA, also known as the Superfund act, provides the Environmental Protection Agency with 
the authority to clean up disposal sites contaminated with hazardous waste. The legislation 
enables the agency to identify responsible parties and assess liability for cleaning up individual 
sites. The Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act established requirements related to 
emergency response planning and community notification of chemical releases.  

206



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-2 

Enhancing Hazardous Materials Transportation Security (HM-232)  
 
HM-232, which went into effect March 25, 2003, amended transportation rules to require that 
persons who transport, or offer for transportation, certain types of hazardous materials develop 
and implement a security plan. This rule also requires that employees be provided with security 
awareness training. This rule applies to Island County’s MRW facility due to the types and 
quantities of wastes collected and shipped. The intent of the security plan is to prevent theft of 
flammable or explosive materials that could be used in acts of terrorism.   
 
10.1.2 State Regulations  
 
Hazardous Waste Management Act (Chapter 70.105 RCW)  
 
The Hazardous Waste Management Act establishes requirements for state and local hazardous 
waste management plans, rules for hazardous waste generation and handling, criteria for siting 
hazardous waste management facilities, and local zoning designations that permit hazardous 
waste management facilities. The Hazardous Waste Management Act also establishes waste 
management priorities for hazardous wastes. In order of decreasing priority, the management 
priorities are waste reduction; recycling; physical, chemical and biological treatment; 
incineration; solidification/stabilization; and landfilling.  
 
Rules implementing the Hazardous Waste Management Act are codified in the Dangerous Waste 
Regulations (Chapter 173-303 WAC). This regulation defines dangerous waste materials and 
establishes minimum handling requirements. State rules specifically exclude household 
hazardous waste and small quantity generator wastes from the dangerous waste regulation. The 
Dangerous Waste Regulations have been amended several times over the years, most recently in 
2009. The 2009 amendments incorporated federal requirements into the state’s rules and updated 
state-specific requirements, including technical corrections and other improvements. One 
example is the addition of two database resources for toxicity book designation that addresses 
aquatic toxicity that in not listed NIOSH RTECS database.  
 
Model Toxics Control Act (Chapter 173-340 WAC)  
 
The Model Toxics Control Act assigns responsibilities and provides a funding source for 
cleaning up hazardous waste disposal sites in Washington. The act establishes state and local 
toxics control accounts as funding sources for hazardous waste related activities. The state 
account funds Ecology’s solid and hazardous waste management planning activities, 
enforcement and technical assistance, remedial actions, public education and emergency 
response training. The local account provides grants to local governments for solid and 
hazardous waste programs including remedial actions.  
 
Used Oil Recycling Act (Chapter 70.95I RCW)  
 
The Used Oil Recycling Act requires local hazardous waste management plans to include plans 
for collecting used motor oil, enforcing sign and container ordinances, and conducting public 
education. Local governments are also required to submit annual reports identifying used motor 
oil collection sites and the quantity of used motor oil collected from households.  

207



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-3 

Solid Waste Management Act (Chapter 70.95 RCW)  
 
The Solid Waste Management Act prohibits the disposal of automobile batteries and requires 
retail vendors to accept used batteries for recycling.  
 
Solid Waste Handling Standards (Ch. 173-350 WAC)  
 
The 2003 Solid Waste Handling Standards provide guidance on the design and operation of 
MRW facilities.  
 
Mercury Education and Reduction Act (Chapter 70.95M RCW)  
 
The Mercury Education and Reduction Act of 2006 made it illegal to sell most items that contain 
mercury in Washington State, including thermometers, manometers, toys, games and jewelry.  
 
Mercury-Containing Lights – Proper Disposal (Chapter 70.275 RCW) 
 
As of January 1, 2013, all users must recycle mercury-containing lights. The program that was 
intended to provide a statewide collection system for the lights has been postponed, however, 
due to funding problems. 
  
10.1.3 Local Regulations (Chapters 13.02A and 8.08B ICC)  
 
Chapter 13.02A of the Island County Code prohibits the disposal of hazardous waste in Island 
County and provides penalties for noncompliance.  
 
Moderate-risk waste is further regulated under the Solid Waste Regulation-Chapter 8.08B of the 
Island County Code. Moderate-risk waste must be disposed at a local moderate-risk waste 
handling facility or at a waste management facility approved by the Department of Ecology. The 
regulation states that moderate-risk waste shall not be disposed in a sewer system or an on-site 
sewer system, poured onto the ground or into a storm drain, disposed with municipal solid waste, 
buried or otherwise discarded. In addition, product labels must not be removed and the product 
must be stored in its original container. Finally, the product container must not be refilled unless 
the product label specifically recommends refilling.  
 
10.2 Existing Moderate-Risk Waste Management Practices  
 
Current management practices for moderate-risk waste generated within the planning area are 
summarized below.  
 
10.2.1 Collection  
 
Curbside collection service for used motor oil and lead-acid batteries is provided by the City of 
Oak Harbor as part of its residential recycling program.  
 
O’Reilly Auto Parts, 31370 SR 20 in Oak Harbor, provides drop-off collection service for used 
motor oil and filters. Hours of operation are 7:30 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Monday through Saturday  

208



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-4 

and from 8:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on Sundays. Wal-Mart and other businesses also collect used oil. 
 
Drop-off collection services are provided for household hazardous waste at the North Whidbey, 
Coupeville, Bayview and Camano solid waste facilities. The North Whidbey, Bayview and 
Camano facilities are satellite collection facilities supported by the primary moderate-risk waste 
collection and processing facility at the Island County Solid Waste Complex. Household 
hazardous waste may be delivered to any of the facilities during normal operating hours, but 
large loads and SQG wastes must be delivered to the Coupeville facility. These facilities have 
waste oil collection tanks for oil accepted through the SQG program as well as for use by do-it-
yourself (DIY) customers from homes and watercraft. Oil from SQG customers is tested for 
PCB’s before being added to the tank and the oil is tested by the County’s contractor (ORRCO) 
before being removed from the collection tanks. Signage on the tanks alerts DIY customers to 
the importance of not adding gasoline, antifreeze, cooking oil and other contaminants. Education 
about waste oil and other aspects of the MRW program is accomplished through the County’s 
website and brochures. 
 
Drop-off collection services for Small Quantity Generator waste are available at the Island 
County Solid Waste Complex. Advance notification of delivery and a scheduled appointment is 
requested to verify the generator status of the business or institution producing the waste.  
 
10.2.2 Exchange  
 
The moderate-risk waste collection and processing facility at the Island County Solid Waste 
Complex includes a materials exchange. Individuals having a use for specific products disposed 
through the collection system may request the product for their personal use. Exchange products 
typically include paint and paint-related products, cleaners, polishes and waxes. Toxics, 
corrosives and similar materials are not included in the exchange program. The Complex also 
hosts a contracted materials re-use center that opened in June 2013 and that includes latex paint 
and other household products. Efforts are underway to add post-consumer oil-based paints and 
cleaners to the facility’s list of sellable products.  
 
10.2.3 Processing  
 
With the exception of used motor oil and lead-acid batteries, all moderate-risk wastes collected 
within the planning area are transported to the moderate-risk waste handling facility at the Island 
County Solid Waste Complex. The waste materials are sorted according to their hazard 
classification and packed into U.S. Department of Transportation approved containers ranging 
from five gallons to one cubic meter. Fuels, oil and antifreeze are collected in 55 to 500 gallon 
tanks and transferred into bulk carrier trailers for transportation to the appropriate processing or 
disposal facilities. Other materials are packed into drums or pallet boxes in their original 
containers. The drums are stored at the facility until truckload quantities are available for 
transport.  
 
10.2.4 Transport and Disposal  
 
Moderate-risk waste collected at the drop-off facilities is managed as a hazardous waste. The 
waste materials are transported to a licensed hazardous waste treatment, storage and/or disposal  

209



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-5 

facility. Hazardous waste treatment and disposal services are currently provided under a State of 
Washington service contract by Clean Harbors. MRW that cannot be recycled is destroyed 
through high-temperature destructive incineration by the contractor. 
 
10.2.5 Household Hazardous Waste Education  
 
Household hazardous waste management information is periodically included in the solid waste-
related classroom presentations and smart shopping campaigns regularly conducted in various 
public locations. The current moderate-risk waste education program includes dissemination of 
printed information through local newspapers, brochures, a website (www.recyclewhidbey.net,) 
information booths, presentations at public events and oral responses to telephone inquiries. The 
WSU Waste Wise Program assists with the information and education program.  
 
10.2.6 Small Quantity Generator Education and Technical Assistance  
 
Outreach and education for Small Quantity Generators (SQGs) is an ongoing activity. Technical 
and disposal assistance is provided on an as-requested basis. An SQG Coordinator may be 
periodically hired to provide additional outreach and to publicize the availability of disposal 
services.   
 
Compliance issues are handled by Island County Public Health, who responds to complaints and 
other problems as these are identified. Public Health receives grant funds specifically for this 
purpose. 
 
10.2.7 Cooperative Agreement with NAS Whidbey Island  
 
Island County and NASWI have an agreement that allows military personnel and their 
dependents residing in government quarters at NASWI to deliver household hazardous waste to 
County collection stations. In 2005, NASWI’s private contractor (Forest City, Inc., a subsidiary 
of Pacific Northwest Communities) assumed financial responsibility for this program. The 
agreement is ongoing (see Appendix C).  
 
10.2.8 Inventory of Generators and Facilities 
 
RCW 70.115.220(1)(a) requires MRW plans to contain an assessment of the quantities, types, 
generators and fate of MRW in each jurisdiction. The following information addresses potential 
MRW generators, dangerous waste generators (i.e., large-quantity generators), contaminated 
sites, transporters and processing facilities, and locations where hazardous waste facilities are 
allowed to be sited (“zone designations”).  
 
Potential MRW Generators and Participation in MRW Collections 
 
Not all of the data necessary to conduct a complete assessment of the current rate of participation 
in MRW programs is currently available, but the data that is available is summarized in Table 
10-1. At first glance, the data in Table 10-1 may appear to indicate that only a low number of 
MRW generators (4.9% of the residential households and 3.5% of the businesses and 
institutions) bring their wastes to the MRW Facility. That conclusion would actually be  

210



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-6 

incorrect, however, due to several factors: 
 
• Not every household and business is an MRW generator, or at least not in every year. For 

residential sources especially, products may be stored for several years before the resident 
does a “clean-up” or determines that the material is no longer useful and is thus an MRW.  

• An unknown number of households and businesses use other product stewardship, take-back 
or drop-off sites for the more common wastes (electronics, oil, batteries, antifreeze, mercury 
lighting and devices, and other automotive wastes).  

• An unknown number of SQGs and large-quantity generators use the services of private 
collection companies for their hazardous wastes instead of the MRW Facility. 

 
 

Table 10-1 
Characteristics of MRW Generators in Island County 

 Residential 
Generators 

Businesses and 
Institutions Comments 

Number of Households or 
Businesses 40,6851 1,9282 Not all residents and businesses are generators 

of MRW. 
Number of Customers using 
the MRW Facility in 2012 1,991 67 These figures are not adjusted for multiple trips 

to the MRW Facility by the same customer. 

Number of Participants for 
Other Programs Unknown Unknown 

An unknown number of households and 
businesses are recycling electronics, oil, 
batteries, mercury lighting, and other MRW 
materials through various product stewardship, 
take-back and drop-off programs, and an 
unknown number of businesses are disposing 
of wastes through private collection services. 

Notes:  1.  The number of households is a 2013 figure that includes one-unit dwellings (31,591), two and more units 
(4,481), and mobile homes/special units (4,613) (source: Washington State Office of Financial Management).  

 2.  The number of businesses is an annual average for 2012 from the Bureau of Labor Statistics web page 
(www.bls.gov). 

 
 
Dangerous Waste Generators   
 
Ecology’s records show that the following numbers of businesses and institutions in Island 
County are registered as hazardous waste generators as of June 2013: 
 
• 3 large-quantity generators 

• 3 medium-quantity generators 

• 9 small-quantity generators1 

• 4 non-generating sites and transporters with active EPA or state identification numbers, but 
who did not generate waste in the most recent year. 

                                                 
1  This figure includes only those small-quantity generators that have chosen to get an EPA identification 

number (which is not required for SQGs), and the actual number of SQGs (or CESQGs) is higher. 

211



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-7 

In addition, there are another 250 businesses in Island County that are considered possible 
generators of hazardous wastes, including painters, car repair shops, hospitals, dentists, 
veterinarians, furniture refinishers, and various construction companies. Many of these 
companies are likely SQGs that are handling their wastes properly and hence not subject to 
reporting requirements.  
 
Remedial Action Sites 
 
Ecology’s list of confirmed and suspected contaminated sites in Island County can be found at 
www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/tcp/cleanup.html. The sites can be summarized in five categories 
(data on the number of sites shown below is current as of January 2014): 
 
1. Brownfield Sites – 1 site. Brownfield sites are abandoned or under-utilized properties where 
potential liability due to environmental contamination and clean-up costs complicate 
redevelopment.  
 
2. Environmental Covenants Register – 3 sites. This registry is a list of sites that have 
residual contamination after the clean-up has been completed. These sites have environmental 
covenants or deed restrictions limiting the types of uses on the property.  
 
3. Leaking Underground Storage Tanks – 50 records. This report contains information on 
Underground Storage Tank facilities that require clean-up and their clean-up history. 
 
4. State Clean-Up Sites: 

a)  Clean-Up Site Details – 132 sites. 

b)  Confirmed and Suspected Contaminated Sites Report – 49 sites. This report contains 
information about sites that are undergoing clean-up and sites that are awaiting further 
investigation and/or clean-up. 

c)  No Further Action Sites – 55 sites. This data set contains information about sites previously 
on the Confirmed and Suspected Contaminated Site list (above) that have received a No 
Further Action decision. These sites may have deed restrictions or environmental covenants. 

 
5. Regulated Underground Storage Tanks – 41 records for active facilities and 97 records for 
inactive facilities. Washington State regulates storage tanks on different properties, including gas 
stations, industries, commercial properties, and governmental entities. 
 
Hazardous Waste Services (Transporters and Facilities) 
 
The only facility known to be managing hazardous wastes in Island County is the County’s 
facility at the Island County Solid Waste Complex. There are numerous companies that are 
registered in Washington as hazardous waste transporters and that could potentially provide 
services in Island County.    
 

212



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-8 

Zone Designations 
 
As part of the development of the original MRW plans, local jurisdictions were required by State 
law (RCW 70.105.225) to designate zones within their borders where hazardous waste facilities 
would be permitted to operate and to notify Ecology of those designations. In Island County, 
Ecology’s records indicate that Coupeville designated commercial and industrial park districts 
for this zone and that Oak Harbor requires accessory use and conditional permits for this activity. 
 
10.3 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues related to the moderate-risk waste program are discussed below.  
 
10.3.1 Required Elements for Moderate-Risk Waste Management Programs  
 
Washington State lists several elements that are required in local hazardous waste plans (RCW 
70.105.220). Specific components required include:  
 
• A program to manage moderate-risk wastes from households and businesses; 
• An ongoing public education program; 
• An inventory of existing hazardous waste generators and facilities to manage hazardous 

waste (based on data provided by the Department of Ecology); 
• A description of the public involvement process used in developing the plan;  
• A used oil recycling element (per RCW 70.95I); 
• A description of the eligible zones designated in accordance with RCW 70.105.225; and 
• Other elements deemed appropriate by local government. 
 
These components are updated in this plan to the extent necessary and appropriate. 
 
10.3.2 Measuring the Success of Moderate-Risk Waste Programs  
 
The number of household and of small quantity generator participants and the quantity of 
moderate-risk waste materials collected are two typical measures of the success of a moderate-
risk waste program. Program success could also be measured by the number of individuals 
making conscious decisions to purchase products that do not contain hazardous materials or the 
number of individuals who purchase only as much of a product containing hazardous ingredients 
to satisfy their immediate need. These actions avoid the cost of handling residues and surplus 
materials as hazardous wastes, and avoid the potential health and environmental risks associated 
with such products, but unfortunately these actions are more difficult or even impossible to 
measure.  
 
10.3.3 Household Hazardous Waste Collection Program  
 
Household hazardous waste collection has become an integral part of the solid waste collection 
facilities in the planning area. Between one and five percent of the arrivals at the drop box and 
transfer stations participate in the program (see the last row of Table 10-2). Participation 
characteristics for the moderate-risk waste collection program are summarized in Table 10-2.  
 

213



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-9 

 
Table 10-2 

Summary of Customer Participation in Moderate-Risk Waste Collection Program, 2012 

  Collection Facility 
 Alternative North Whidbey Coupeville Bayview Camano 
Number of Moderate-Risk Waste Program 
Participants 235 720* 547 556 

Amount of Moderate-Risk Waste, pounds 33,200 109,200 77,320 78,600 
Percent of Total Arriving Vehicles  4.8 1.2* 3.8 1.7 

*  Not all customers at the Coupeville site are included in this count because some are allowed to bypass the 
scalehouse. 

  
 
10.3.4 Washington State Hazardous Waste Management Plan and Solid Waste 

Management Plan 
 
Reducing small-volume hazardous materials and waste is one of the five key initiatives in the 
Beyond Waste plan. The goal of that initiative is to “accelerate progress toward eliminating the 
risks associated with products containing hazardous substances.” The initiative specifically 
targets hazardous wastes from households and small quantities from businesses. The Beyond 
Waste plan makes ten recommendations to achieve its goal: 
 

1.  Prioritize wastes to pursue. 
2.  Reduce threats from mercury. 
3.  Reduce threats from polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs). 
4.  Develop an electronics product stewardship infrastructure. 
5.  Ensure proper use of pesticides, including effective alternatives. 
6.  Reduce and manage all architectural paint wastes. 
7.  Lead by example in state government. 
8.  Ensure MRW and hazardous substances are managed according to hazards, toxicity and 

risk. 
9.  Fully implement local hazardous waste plans. 

10.  Ensure facilities handling MRW are in compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations. 

 
10.3.5 PCB Contamination in Waste Oil 
 
A number of incidents have recently occurred across the state where PCB contamination has 
been found in waste oil dropped off at public collection sites. A small amount of this 
contamination can result in a large amount of waste oil that needs to be treated as a hazardous 
waste (at a significant expense). These incidences emphasize the need for ongoing education and 
monitoring of waste oil collection programs. County staff are also investigating additional “best 
management practices” that will avoid contamination problems.  

 
10.4 Alternative Moderate Risk Waste Management Strategies  
 
Six alternative management strategies for moderate-risk waste are discussed below.  

214



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-10 

10.4.1 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative A-Public Education for Household 
Hazardous Waste  

 
Household hazardous waste education programs focus on identifying household products that 
contain hazardous ingredients, encouraging safer alternatives and explaining how to dispose 
unwanted products that contain hazardous substances. Rather than continue an independent 
education program for moderate-risk waste, Alternative A attempts to incorporate the message 
into existing programs that benefit from the household hazardous waste program. Ongoing 
programs that have common objectives include local storm water programs, local ground water 
programs, municipal wastewater treatment programs, and on-site sewage system programs. By 
coordinating the message with other resource protection and waste management programs, the 
message will be repeated and attention will be focused on the multiple benefits of the higher-
priority management practices. The estimated annual cost of the household hazardous waste 
education program is over $10,000.  
 
10.4.2 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative B-Education and Technical Assistance 

for Small Quantity Generators  
 
Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative B would continue the outreach activities for the small quantity 
generators. This outreach program periodically attempts to identify new local small quantity 
waste generators, confirm that they understand their management responsibilities for moderate-
risk waste, and promote the higher-priority management strategies. In addition, assistance would 
be provided for the routine collection and management of small quantity waste material through 
both commercial collection services and the Coupeville drop-off facility. A concept-level annual 
operating cost estimate for Alternative B is presented in Table 10-3. Annual costs are estimated 
at $36,800.  
 
 

Table 10-3 
Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Moderate-Risk 

Waste Alternative B-Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators 

  Quantity Unit Unit Cost, $ Amount, $ 
Labor  1,040  hours 24  25,000  
Vehicle  5,000  miles 0.56  2,800  
Office Expense  20  percent  5,000  
Printing  1  lump sum 4,000    4,000  

Total     36,800  

 
 
10.4.3 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative C-Retail Return for Paint Products  
 
The quantity of solvent-based paint and related products is second only to used motor oil in the 
household hazardous waste stream. These materials represent 30 percent of the household 
hazardous waste stream if used motor oil is excluded.  
 
Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative C would attempt to shift the responsibility for managing paint 
waste from Island County to retailers who sell paint products. A selected retailer or retailers 

215



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-11 

would be encouraged to accept leftover quantities of solvent-based paint products from their 
customers. The retailer(s) could become household hazardous waste collection facilities for paint 
and paint-related products. In addition to increasing the number of collection facilities, the 
retailers could directly affect waste paint generation by promoting water-based paints and selling 
only the amount of solvent-based product needed for a specific project. Management costs for 
these waste materials would be shifted from the solid waste program to the retail industry.  
 
10.4.4 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative D-Regulation  
 
When the moderate-risk waste management program was first established, a decision was made 
to emphasize education and technical assistance rather than regulatory compliance. Moderate-
Risk Waste Alternative D would add a regulatory component to the moderate-risk waste 
program.  
 
The regulatory component would include a variety of surveillance and control activities. 
Minimum handling requirements would be established for the generation, storage, and disposal 
of small quantity generator waste. A compliance-monitoring program providing on-site 
inspection of small quantity generators every three years would be established. Records 
identifying the disposal locations for moderate-risk waste would be maintained by waste 
generators. Finally, civil penalties for violating the minimum handling requirements would be 
authorized. A concept-level operating cost estimate for Alternative D is presented in Table 10-4. 
Annual operating costs are estimated at $32,800.  
 
 

Table 10-4 
Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Moderate-Risk 

Waste Alternative D-Regulatory Emphasis 

  Quantity Unit Unit Cost, $ Amount, $ 
Labor  1,040  Hours 24  25,000  
Vehicle  6,000  Miles .56  2,800  
Office Expense  20  Percent    5,000  
Total     32,800  

 
 
10.4.5 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative E-Establish User Fees for Household 

Hazardous Waste Services  
 
Household hazardous waste services cost the Solid Waste Division $222,000 in 2012. There are 
no direct charges for household hazardous waste services. Instead, household hazardous waste 
costs are recovered through a surcharge on solid waste tipping fees. In 2012, household 
hazardous waste expenditures amounted to $2.75 per ton of municipal solid waste, or an average 
of $106 per hazardous waste participant. Small quantity generators are charged for disposal costs 
and supplies used to package the wastes. 
 
Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative E would establish a nominal user fee for household hazardous 
waste services of $10 for each participant. The fee would acknowledge that there are costs 
associated with managing hazardous waste and perhaps encourage waste reduction.  

216



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-12 

10.4.6 Moderate-Risk Waste Alternative F-Support for Producer Responsibility 
Programs 

 
Island County could support producer responsibility initiatives similar to the passed electronics 
and mercury-containing lighting laws that are considered by Washington State Legislators or the 
US Congress with letters of support. There would be negligible cost for the support of proposed 
producer responsibility laws. 
 
10.5 Evaluation of Alternative Moderate Risk Waste Strategies  
 
The alternative moderate-risk waste management strategies are compared with respect to three 
evaluation criteria below. The criteria include consistency with the planning objectives, 
consistency with the priority waste management practices and costs.  
 
10.5.1 Consistency with Planning Objectives  
 
All of the moderate-risk waste management alternatives are consistent with the planning 
objectives. Both Alternative A-Public Education for Household Hazardous Waste and 
Alternative B-Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators include waste 
reduction as a fundamental waste management strategy. Alternative C-Retail Return or Paint 
Products and Alternative F-Producer Responsibility Programs are consistent with the objectives 
to encourage public-private partnerships for waste reduction and recycling needs and to 
encourage those who sell and use products containing hazardous ingredients to accept 
responsibility for minimizing risks to public health and the environment. Alternative D-
Regulation is consistent with the planning objective to ensure compliance with state and local 
solid waste and moderate-risk waste handling regulations. Finally, Alternative E-User Fees for 
Household Hazardous Waste Services is also consistent with the planning objective to encourage 
those who sell and use products containing hazardous ingredients to accept responsibility for 
minimizing risks to public health and the environment.  
 
10.5.2 Consistency with Priority Management Practices  
 
The highest priority waste management strategy is waste reduction or avoiding the production of 
moderate-risk waste. The education-related alternatives, Alternatives A and B, both focus on 
waste reduction. Alternative C-Retail Return or Paint Products may also promote waste 
reduction by encouraging retail operations to sell only the quantity of product need for a 
particular project. Alternative D-Regulation focuses on handling waste materials rather than 
preventing their production. Alternative E-User Fees for Household Hazardous Waste Services 
could be a deterrent to participation in the household hazardous waste program and may increase 
improper disposal of moderate-risk waste. Alternative F-Producer Responsibility Programs could 
create feedback to manufacturers to produce more manageable or less hazardous products. 
 
10.5.3 Costs  
 
Alternative A-Public Education for Household Hazardous Waste is estimated to cost $10,000 
annually. Alternative B-Education and Technical Assistance for Small Quantity Generators is 
estimated to cost $36,000 per year but doesn’t need to be conducted every year. Alternative C-

217



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-13 

Retail Return for Paint Products and Alternative F-Producer Responsibility Programs could shift 
some costs associated with the collection and disposal of paint and paint-related products from 
the public sector to the retail stores or manufacturers. Alternative D-Regulation would cost an 
estimated $32,000 annually. Finally, Alternative E-User Fees for Household Hazardous Waste 
Services would shift 20 percent of the program costs from tipping fees to direct user fees.  
 
10.5.4 Rating of Alternatives  
 
The alternative moderate-risk waste management strategies are compared with respect to the 
evaluation criteria in Table 10-5. Alternatives A and B are recommended to be pursued further 
(see Section 14.6). 
 
 

Table 10-5 
Summary Comparison of Alternative Moderate-Risk Waste Management Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 
Consistency with 

Planning Objectives

Consistency with 
Management 

Priorities Costs 

A Public Education for 
Household Hazardous Waste H H M 

B 
Education and Technical 
Assistance for Small Quantity 
Generators 

H H M 

C Retail Return for Paint 
Products H M M 

D Regulation H M M 

E 
Establish User Fees for 
Household Hazardous Waste 
Services 

H L M 

F Support for Producer 
Responsibility Initiatives H H L 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be 
weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 

218



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Moderate-Risk Waste   10-14 

 
 
 

219



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-1 

Section 11 
Other Solid Waste  

 
This section discusses management practices for other solid materials including inert and 
demolition waste, land clearing debris, appliances, tires, auto bodies, biomedical waste, asbestos, 
agricultural wastes, petroleum contaminated soils, pharmaceuticals, and e-wastes.  
 
11.1 Existing Management Practices  
 
Existing management practices for the other solid waste materials are discussed below.  
 
11.1.1 Demolition Waste  
 
Loads of demolition waste are accepted for disposal as solid waste, but at a higher rate, at the 
Island County Solid Waste Complex and at the Camano Transfer Station. The Island County 
Solid Waste Division is responsible for operation and maintenance of these transfer facilities.  
 
11.1.2 Inert Waste  
 
Inert wastes are those wastes that meet the criteria for inert wastes, including cured concrete, 
asphalt, brick, masonry, ceramics, glass, stainless steel and aluminum. Inert waste disposal 
facilities are subject to less stringent requirements than municipal solid waste disposal facilities 
under the provisions of Chapter 173-350-410 of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC). 
Facility standards for inert waste landfills require owners and operators to:  
 
• Maintain daily records of the weights or volume of materials accepted;  
• Control dust and manage surface water run-on and run-off;  
• Implement a program to detect and prevent non-inert waste disposal; 
• At closure, level the wastes and fill all voids;  
• Obtain a solid waste operating permit from the local health jurisdiction and record the 

disposal activity with the County auditor (unless the total capacity of the site is less than 250 
cubic yards); 

• Provide an annual report; and  
• Prevent unauthorized access.  
 
In Island County, inert wastes are generally handled as part of the solid waste stream, and are 
only rarely separately collected or managed at this time.   
 
11.1.3 Land Clearing Debris  
 
Land clearing debris is sometimes burned where it is harvested although on-site grinding and 
spreading is becoming more common. Some service providers limit the dimensions of waste 
materials and/or assess minimum charges for mobilization of equipment. Alternatively, land-
clearing debris may be transported to a regional wood waste composting or disposal facility. 
Management of land clearing debris is the responsibility of the waste generator. Land clearing 

220



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-2 

debris is not accepted at Island County solid waste facilities. 
 
11.1.4 Appliances  
 
Appliances are recycled for ferrous scrap metal. Non-refrigerating appliances are accepted at 
Christian’s Auto Recycling and Island Recycling free of charge. Both refrigerating and non-
refrigerating appliances are accepted for a fee at the County’s Coupeville and Camano transfer 
stations. Refrigerants are recovered before scrap processing.  
 
11.1.5 Tires  
 
Tires are collected at the Island County Solid Waste Complex, the Camano Transfer Station, and 
Island Recycling from residential sources only. Private companies that accept tires include 
Christian’s Auto Recycling and some retail tire stores as their storage container space allows. 
The tires are transported out of Island County for recycling or disposal. Of the County-owned 
facilities, a maximum of 800 tires may be stockpiled at the Freeland facility, and are not 
stockpiled at other County sites.  
 
11.1.6 Auto Bodies  
 
Auto bodies are another source of ferrous scrap metal. Christian’s Auto and Metal Recycling, 
Oak Harbor Auto Wrecking and Island Recycling provide collection and processing services for 
auto bodies. After fluids are removed, the auto bodies are crushed and transported out of Island 
County for recycling.  
 
11.1.7 Biomedical Waste  
 
State law (RCW 70.95K) defines biomedical wastes to include: 
 

Animal waste: animal carcasses, body parts and bedding of animals that are known to be 
infected with, or have been inoculated with, pathogenic microorganisms infectious to 
humans. 
 
Biosafety level 4 disease waste: biosafety level 4 disease waste is waste contaminated with 
blood, excretions, exudates, or secretions from humans or animals who are isolated to protect 
others from highly communicable infectious diseases that are identified as pathogenic 
organisms assigned to biosafety level 4 by the centers for disease control, national institute of 
health, biosafety in microbiological and biomedical laboratories, current edition. 
 
Cultures and stocks: wastes infectious to humans and includes specimen cultures, cultures 
and stocks of etiologic agents, wastes from production of biologicals and serums, discarded 
live and attenuated vaccines, and laboratory waste that has come into contact with cultures 
and stocks of etiologic agents or blood specimens. Such waste includes but is not limited to 
culture dishes, blood specimen tubes, and devices used to transfer, inoculate, and mix 
cultures. 
 

221



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-3 

Human blood and blood products: discarded waste human blood and blood components, 
and materials containing free flowing blood and blood products. 
 
Pathological waste: human source biopsy materials, tissues, and anatomical parts that 
emanate from surgery, obstetrical procedures and autopsy. Does not include teeth, human 
corpses, remains and anatomical parts that are intended for internment or cremation. 
 
Sharps: all hypodermic needles, syringes and IV tubing with needles attached, scalpel 
blades, and lancets that have been removed from the original sterile package. 

 
Clinics and agencies that generate biomedical waste are required to prepare and maintain a 
biomedical waste management plan. They are also required to meet minimum standards for 
storage and treatment of biomedical waste. The minimum handling standards are established in 
Section 8.08B.330 of the Island County Code and summarized below.  
 
Every biomedical waste generator and biomedical waste storage and treatment facility operator is 
required to prepare a written plan for biomedical waste management. The plan must identify the 
types and quantities of biomedical waste and handling procedures for segregation, containment, 
transport, treatment, monitoring and disposal. The management plan must also include staff 
training procedures and contingency planning and identify specific individuals responsible for 
biomedical waste handling. The plan must be approved by the chief executive of the facility and 
must be available for inspection at the request of the local health officer.  
 
Biomedical waste must be segregated from other waste materials. Biomedical waste, other than 
sharps, must be enclosed in a red plastic bag and placed in a labeled, biomedical waste storage 
container. Sharps must be placed in a leak proof, puncture resistant, labeled container secured 
with a lid. Biomedical waste may be stored up to eight days at temperatures exceeding 32 
degrees F and up to 30 days at temperatures below 32 degrees F.  
 
Biomedical waste must be treated by an approved method prior to disposal. Approved treatment 
methods include steam sterilization, incineration and others as approved by the local health 
officer.  
 
The Washington State Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) regulates transporters of 
biomedical wastes. The UTC has issued a statewide franchise to Stericycle to transport 
biomedical wastes. Their regulations also allow regular solid waste haulers to refuse to haul 
wastes that they observe to contain infectious wastes as defined by the UTC.  
 
Individual residents who generate hypodermic needles are not regulated as are clinics and 
agencies. Residents may collect used hypodermic needles in either a labeled sharps containers 
made for that purpose or in a polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plastic beverage container. 
Warning labels for PET bottles that contain hypodermic needles are available at County solid 
waste facilities or from Island County Public Health. To dispose of a container, residents can 
tape the cap or lid shut and deliver it to the Solid Waste Complex in Coupeville or to the Camano 
Transfer Station. The containers are placed in open-top trash trailers that are no more than half 
full. Trash handling from that point on is automated and precludes accidental needle sticks by 
downstream manual handling.  

222



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-4 

11.1.8 Asbestos  
 
Asbestos waste is not accepted at the County solid waste facilities. Questions about asbestos are 
referred to the Northwest Clean Air Agency. The Northwest Clean Air Agency (NWCAA) 
provides information, including a list of permitted disposal facilities, for proper removal and 
disposal methods on their web page (www.nwcleanair.org) and through other means. 
Homeowners and contractors are required to file a “notice of intent” with NWCAA for asbestos 
removal projects. 
 
11.1.9 Agricultural Waste  
 
Agricultural waste generators typically manage waste on-site for beneficial purposes. The 
Whidbey Island Conservation District, WSU Extension Island County, and the County Public 
Health and Planning Departments provide technical assistance to prevent and abate nuisance 
conditions. The County solid waste facilities accept and dispose of noxious weeds at no charge. 
The Department of Agriculture collects hazardous agricultural chemicals periodically. 
 
11.1.10 Petroleum Contaminated Soils  
 
Petroleum contaminated soils are soils containing fuel oil, gasoline or other volatile 
hydrocarbons in concentrations below dangerous waste levels but greater than cleanup levels 
established by the Department of Ecology. Petroleum contaminated soils may be disposed in an 
approved landfill or treated by a variety of processes that remove or destroy the contamination. 
Treatment processes include aeration, bioremediation, thermal stripping and incineration. Small 
amounts can be disposed as solid waste. 
 
Island County maintains a small treatment site for petroleum contaminated soils from county 
facilities only.  
 
11.1.11 Pharmaceutical Wastes  
 
There is a growing body of evidence of problems with the current practices of disposing of 
surplus and outdated medicines and other pharmaceuticals. These chemicals are showing up as 
contaminants in ground and surface waters. Several are only partially or not at all broken down 
in wastewater treatment plants, hence people are currently being encouraged to dispose of these 
at periodic collection events conducted by local law enforcement agencies and sponsored by the 
federal Drug Enforcement Agency or in solid waste and not flush them into the wastewater 
system.   
 
11.1.12 Electronic Wastes (E-Waste)  
 
The rules requiring manufacturers and retailers of electronic goods to offer a program to take 
back specified obsolete equipment became effective January 1, 2009. Island County and its 
contract recycler each participate in the E-Cycle Washington program and collect the covered 
electronics at the Island Recycling, Solid Waste Complex, North Whidbey and Camano 
facilities.  
 

223



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-5 

11.2 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues relating to demolition waste, inert wastes, land clearing debris, biomedical waste, 
petroleum contaminated soils, and disaster debris are discussed below.  
 
11.2.1 Demolition Waste  
 
Demolition waste is defined as solid waste resulting from the razing of buildings, roads and other 
man-made structures. In the past, these wastes were sometimes allowed to be managed at a lower 
level of regulation and control, but the Solid Waste Handling Standards adopted by Ecology (Ch. 
173-350 WAC) has changed this.   
 
Demolition waste has come under increased scrutiny recently due to the hazardous or toxic 
materials that are sometimes present in this waste stream. These wastes potentially include wood 
treated with arsenic or pentachlorophenol, paints that contain lead and other toxins, asbestos in 
various forms, batteries and thermostats that contain mercury, and many other materials. 
Property owners and contractors are responsible for identifying and properly disposing of any 
hazardous materials present in buildings or other structures that will be demolished. 
 
The wood waste portion of demolition and construction wastes, however, can be diverted to a 
beneficial use (energy recovery) or diverted to re-use. Re-sale of useable wood has begun in June 
of 2013, and Island County will continue to seek cost effective waste-to-energy options for the 
majority of wood waste that is unfit for resale. 
 
11.2.2 Inert Wastes  
 
There are no issues concerning inert wastes in Island County at this time, although in the future 
there may be a need or desire to develop an inert waste landfill in Island County. Any proposals 
for inert landfills that are intended to handle potentially-recyclable materials (such as concrete 
and asphalt) should be weighed carefully against the benefits of recycling those materials. On the 
other hand, an inert waste landfill could also potentially be used as a temporary repository for a 
recyclable material such as glass. If recycling markets for glass (or other inert wastes) are closed 
in the future, an inert waste landfill could be used as an interim step and then later the glass could 
potentially be removed and recycled if markets improve sufficiently to make that approach cost-
effective. 
 
11.2.3 Ban on Open Burning of Land Clearing Debris  
 
Open burning of land clearing debris is permitted by the Island County Department of 
Community Development outside designated urban growth areas. Open burning is prohibited 
under current air pollution regulations within the City of Oak Harbor urban growth area and in 
the city limits and urban growth areas of the City of Langley and Town of Coupeville.  
 
11.2.4 Biomedical Wastes 
 
Some sources of biomedical wastes, including dentists, veterinarians, farmers and ranchers, and 
residents, may not always dispose of biomedical wastes properly. There is not a clear estimate of 

224



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-6 

the number of syringes and other biomedical wastes that may be improperly disposed locally, but 
haulers in other areas often report seeing syringes sticking out of garbage bags. Island County 
Solid Waste and Public Health departments offer guidance to inquiring clinics and residents. 
 
11.2.5 Petroleum Contaminated Soils  
 
Petroleum contaminated soils (PCS) may be treated by several processes, many of which include 
aeration. Aeration of the soils during treatment exhausts volatile organic compounds including 
potential toxic air pollutants such as benzene into the atmosphere. Emissions of volatile organic 
compounds are regulated under Section 300 of the Northwest Clean Air Agency regulations. 
Emissions greater than two tons per year of volatile organics require completion of a “Notice of 
Construction and Application for Approval” and agency review as a new source of air pollution. 
Toxic air pollutants such as benzene are regulated under Chapter 173-460 WAC. Air pollution 
control requirements are based on emission quantities of specific toxic constituents. Piles and 
most other treatment processes for PCS must be permitted by Public Health. 
 
11.2.6 Disaster Debris  
 
Natural disasters including windstorms, landslides, floods, earthquakes, tsunamis and fires can 
generate large quantities of waste materials. Other disasters such as oil spills, boat groundings, 
and airplane crashes also generate waste requiring special handling. Managing waste materials in 
a timely fashion is critical for disaster recovery operations.  
 
Disaster debris generation in the planning area presents unique problems because local disposal 
facilities are limited. The municipal solid waste management system cannot be expected to 
handle large quantities of disaster debris. Interim storage and staging areas are needed to 
facilitate recovery operations.  
 
11.3 Alternative Management Strategies for Other Wastes 
 
Contingent management strategies for demolition waste, disaster debris and special wastes are 
discussed below.  
 
11.3.1 Other Solid Waste Alternative A-Investigate Diversion Options for 

Demolition and Other Wastes  
 
Because some types of demolition wastes have the potential to damage waste compacting 
equipment, it is necessary to handle it separately from municipal solid waste and hence at a 
higher cost to the customer. In addition, this waste often consists of materials that potentially 
could be recycled or diverted to a beneficial use, and would be relatively easy to segregate for 
this purpose. This alternative would explore diversion programs (segregated collection and/or 
new markets or processing methods). On a case-by-case basis, alternatives for handling other 
portions of the waste stream should also be considered. A part-time staffperson could be hired 
temporarily or periodically, to conduct these activities. A concept-level operating cost estimate 
for Alternative A is presented in Table 11-1. Annual operating costs are estimated at $33,360. 
 
 

225



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-7 

Table 11-1 
Concept-Level Annual Operating Cost Estimate for Other Solid 

Waste Alternative A-Diversion Options for Demolition and Other Wastes 

  Quantity Unit Unit Cost, $ Amount, $ 
Labor  1,040  hours 24  25,000  
Vehicle  6,000  miles 0.56  3,360  
Office Expense  20  percent    5,000  
Total     33,360  

 
 
11.3.2 Other Solid Waste Alternative B-Adopt Contingent Management Strategy 

for Disaster Debris  
 
Windstorms and landslides may leave behind waste consisting of destroyed vegetation, damaged 
buildings and personal property. Floods create mud, sediment, sandbags and materials from 
damaged and dismantled houses. Earthquakes generate damaged building materials, personal 
property and sediment from landslides. Fires generate damaged building materials and charred 
waste. Oil spills generate petroleum contaminated absorbent materials and dead animals. Boat 
groundings create fuel spills and wastes that can include batteries, refrigerants and other 
materials depending on the contents of the boat. Finally, airplane accidents produce materials 
that must be secured for analysis by incident investigators before being disposed.  
 
Property owned by Island County was inventoried and evaluated for use as temporary storage 
and staging areas for disaster debris. The location of the alternative sites is shown in Figure 11-l. 
Characteristics of each alternative site are summarized in Table 11-2.  
 
 

Table 11-2 
Characteristics of Alternative Disaster Debris Storage and Staging Sites 

Name 

Total 
Area, 
Acres 

Cleared 
Area,  
Acres Current Use Zoning 

Dodge 20 7 Slash and Excavation Depository Rural Residential 
Bogue 17 7 Excavation Depository Forest Management 
Faber 4 3 Excavation Depository Rural Residential 
Hastie Lake 15 5 Excavation Depository Rural Residential 
Henni 39 4 Gravel Excavation  Forest Mgmt, Rural Res. 
Coupeville 20 4 Solid Waste Management Facility Rural Residential 
Patmore 44 12 Excavation Depository Rural Residential 
Lagoon Point 22 2 Gravel Excavation/Screening Forest Management 
Freeland 17 3 Recycle Center, Wood Chip Storage Rural Residential 
Hastings 51 3 Gravel Excavation, Evacuation, Depository Rural, Rural Residential 
Cultus Bay 37 5 Gravel Excavation, Evacuation, Depository Forest Management 
Rocky Point 26 2 Gravel Excavation Rural Residential 
Camano 15 3 Closed Waste Landfill Rural Residential 

 
 
 

226



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-8 

 

 

227



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-9 

To the extent possible, the various types of disaster debris should remain separated for 
management and disaster cleanup accounting purposes. Separation allows emergency managers 
to focus first on waste materials that pose an immediate threat to public health and the 
environment such as hazardous waste, and it provides waste managers the ability to use multiple 
management strategies such as reuse and recycling. It also provides a clearly identifiable volume 
of purposes of emergency cleanup funding. Management recommendations for the various types 
of disaster debris are summarized in Table 11-3. No secure sites for storing crash debris for 
accident investigations were identified. Emergency services managers will need to rely on local 
(Naval Air Station Whidbey Island) or neighboring jurisdictions for secure storage of these 
materials.  
 
 

Table 11-3 
Management Recommendations for Disaster Debris 

 

R
eu

se
 

R
ec

yc
lin

g 

D
is

po
sa

l a
s 

In
er

t W
as

te
 

N
ew

 o
r 

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 

Si
te

 

D
is

po
sa

l i
n 

M
un

ic
ip

al
 

So
lid

 W
as

te
 

B
ur

ni
ng

 

C
on

ta
in

er
 

St
or

ag
e-

R
eg

io
na

l 
D

is
po

sa
l 

Sp
ec

ia
l 

D
is

po
sa

l 

Destroyed Vegetation   •  Ο  Ο   
Damaged Building Materials  Ο Ο Ο •    
Personal Property     •    
Mud, Sediments, Sand Bags •  Ο Ο     
Charred Materials    Ο •    
Petroleum Contaminated Material    Ο  Ο •  
Dead Animals    Ο •    
Moderate-Risk Waste        •
    •  Primary  Ο  Secondary 
 
 
11.3.3 Other Solid Waste Alternative C-Alternative Collection Programs for 

Special Wastes  
 
Collection programs may be required or desired in the future for materials that cannot be fully 
anticipated at this time, although examples could include pharmaceuticals, mercury-containing 
lights and other items. It may also be determined that additional efforts need to be undertaken for 
existing waste streams, such as biomedical or other wastes. As these needs arise or are identified, 
options should be evaluated and feasible cost-effective solutions implemented as necessary. 
Possible steps that could be taken include: 
 

Increase education: additional education for generators who are the sources of the waste 
stream could be conducted to promote safe handling and disposal practices.  
 
Collection programs: collection programs could be developed or expanded to include 
additional materials or sources.  
 
Conduct a waste generator survey: the Solid Waste Division or Public Health could 
conduct waste generator surveys to gather more information about types and amounts of 

228



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Other Solid Waste   11-10 

wastes, barriers to proper handling and disposal practices, and other factors. A survey may be 
a necessary first step to developing new programs.  
 
Increase enforcement: increased enforcement activities and larger penalties could be 
implemented.  
 
Other steps: other steps not anticipated at this time but appropriate to the waste could also be 
considered. 

 
11.4 Evaluation of Alternative Strategies for Other Wastes 
 
All three of these alternatives are recommended to be pursued (see Section 14.7), as the need 
arises: 
 
• Additional diversion options for disaster debris will be evaluated as new opportunities arise. 
• The contingent disaster debris storage and staging sites will become available upon 

declaration of a local emergency by the Board of Island County Commissioners.  
• Alternative collection programs for special wastes will be developed and evaluated as 

program needs arise. 
 
 

229



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-1 

Section 12 
Administration  

 
This section describes the current administrative elements of the solid waste program, discusses 
related planning issues, and develops and evaluates two alternative administrative strategies.  
 
12.1 Existing Program Elements  
 
The administrative structure, organization and financing for the solid waste program are 
discussed below.  
 
12.1.1 Administrative Structure  
 
Washington State  
 
Chapter 70.95 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) assigns primary responsibility for 
solid waste management to local government. The legislation establishes statewide priorities for 
managing solid waste and authorizes the Department of Ecology to promulgate regulations for 
solid waste handling. The primary state solid waste regulations are included in Chapter 173-350 
of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) as the Solid Waste Handling Standards.  
 
Washington State provides financial assistance through the coordinated prevention grant (CPG) 
program. The program provides grants for eligible projects and programs that conform to 
recommendations included in local solid and hazardous waste management plans. Funding is 
also provided to local health jurisdictions for solid waste surveillance and control programs. 
These grants are authorized by RCW 70.105D.070, the Toxics Control Act, and the funds for 
these grants and for several state responsibilities are derived primarily from fees “on the 
privilege of possession of hazardous substances in this state” (RCW 82.21.030). 
 
The Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) regulates private garbage 
collection companies. The UTC oversees waste collection certificates (franchises) and approves 
rates for both garbage and recycling collection services in unincorporated jurisdictions.  
 
Island County  
 
Counties may establish or acquire solid waste disposal sites and enforce rules and regulations for 
their use. Counties have the authority to designate which disposal facilities may be used by 
individuals, municipalities and commercial haulers and to determine the types of waste accepted 
at each disposal site. Waste generated within Island County must be disposed at County-
designated facilities unless an alternative disposal site is authorized by the solid waste 
management plan or specifically approved by County ordinance or interlocal agreement.  
 
Any municipality disposing solid waste at a County facility must execute an interlocal agreement 
with the County designating the County as the operating authority for the solid waste disposal 
system. Island County has authority to prepare the solid waste management plan for 

230



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-2 

unincorporated areas and for the three municipalities that have designated the County as the solid 
waste operating authority through an interlocal agreement. Chapter 13.02A of the Island County 
Code establishes solid waste management as a County public works operation. 
 
Island County Board of Health  
 
The Board of Health has adopted standards for solid waste storage, collection, transportation, 
treatment, utilization, processing and disposal. Island County Public Health administers a 
permitting process for solid waste handling facilities. All handling facilities must develop and 
follow an operating plan approved by Public Health. Permitted facilities are inspected regularly 
for conformance with solid waste regulations. Public Health collects annual permit fees for solid 
waste facilities and receives a portion of the tipping fee charged at County solid waste facilities.  
 
Municipalities  
 
Three municipalities currently participate in the solid waste program through interlocal 
agreements: the Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley, and the Town of Coupeville. The three 
municipalities have designated Island County as the operating authority for the solid waste 
disposal system. Island County also maintains an interlocal agreement with Naval Air Station 
Whidbey Island. 
 
Island County Solid Waste Advisory Committee  
 
The Solid Waste Advisory Committee (SWAC) provides Island County with advice on solid 
waste management issues. The committee participates in the development of the solid waste 
management plan, assists in the development of policies and programs for solid waste 
management, and may comment on proposed resolutions and ordinances prior to their adoption. 
Agendas are kept of all committee meetings. Committee recommendations are provided to the 
Board of Island County Commissioners.  
 
12.1.2 Solid Waste Division Organization  
 
The Island County Solid Waste Division is a division of the County’s Public Works Department. 
The Solid Waste Division includes elements for accounting, hazardous waste and recycling 
operations, solid waste handling operations and receiving facility operations as shown in Figure 
12-1. The Solid Waste Division manager reports to the assistant public works director. Waste 
reduction and other education outreach is provided by the Washington State University 
Extension Service by agreement. 
 
12.1.3 Solid Waste Program Financing  
 
The Solid Waste Division follows generally accepted accounting principles for enterprise funds. 
All solid waste fees, investment earnings and grant reimbursements are deposited into the solid 
waste fund. All solid waste program expenditures are paid from this fund. Island County policy 
requires that solid waste program revenues be used to fund program expenditures. Current 
disposal rates charged at the solid waste receiving facilities are shown in a previous chapter (see 
Table 8-1). Disposal rates are uniform throughout the planning jurisdiction. 

231



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-3 

 
Figure 12-1 

Island County Solid Waste Program Organization 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Island 

County Commissioners 

Public Works 

Director 

Assistant Public  

Works Director 

Solid Waste 

Manager 

Accounting 

Solid Waste 

Handling Operations 

Hazardous Waste and 

Recycling Operations 

Receiving 

Facility Operations 

232



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-4 

12.2 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues relating to the solid waste fund’s working capital balance and minimum service 
fees at the receiving stations are discussed below.  
 
12.2.1 Working Capital Balance  
 
The Solid Waste Division maintains working capital for capital expenditures, post-closure 
maintenance of the former landfills, and contingencies. Working capital has been used to fund 
major capital improvement projects including closure of the Coupeville Landfill, construction of 
the Island County Solid Waste Complex, upgrades of other solid waste facilities, and 
environmental systems. Maintenance of the working capital balance has enabled the Solid Waste 
Division to avoid debt and debt service payments. Since 2000, the target working capital balance 
has been approximately $2,500,000, including about $1,400,000 for capital expenditures and 
contingencies and $100,000 for post-closure maintenance of the former Coupeville Landfill. The 
actual working capital balance at the end of 2012 was approximately $2,800,000. A contingency 
fund of $1,500,000 was recommended in a 2009 benchmarking study by SCS Engineers. 
 
Capital expenditures include land purchases, facility improvements and purchases of operating 
equipment. Capital expenditures are typically identified in the solid waste management plan or 
the annual operating budget.  
 
Landfill post-closure maintenance costs are primarily related to the former Coupeville Landfill. 
Post-closure maintenance costs include routine maintenance of the cover system and 
environmental control systems together with sampling, analysis and reporting as required by 
state regulations. In 2012, post-closure maintenance expenditures were over $100,000, not 
including the $1.2 million upgrade that was completed in 2006, with $2,800,000 placed in a 
restricted post-closure reserve account. Post-closure maintenance will technically continue 
through the year 2033, but in actuality post-closure maintenance may never completely 
disappear.  
 
Solid waste program contingencies are unanticipated projects and activities that are not identified 
in the solid waste management plan. An example of a contingency is a change in regulatory 
requirements for an operating facility. Perhaps the largest potential contingency for the solid 
waste program would be remedial action at one of the five closed landfill sites for which the 
county is responsible. Remedial action at potentially contaminated sites includes preliminary 
investigations, feasibility studies, and cleanup activities such as treatment, disposal and 
monitoring.  
 
The Solid Waste Division periodically evaluates insurance protection for environmental liability 
to partially offset self-insurance costs. To date, the quoted premiums have significantly exceeded 
the value of coverage due to the exclusions involved. 
 
12.2.2 Minimum Service Fee 
 
The minimum fee for solid waste disposal at a County receiving facility increased to $11.00 
beginning in early 2010, which includes the 3.6 percent state utility tax, for a single can or 

233



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-5 

bundle of waste materials not exceeding 40 pounds. Additional cans or bundles are $3.50.  
 
The average weight of waste materials received per customer is just over 100 pounds. In 2012, 
the average weights were 119 pounds and 128 pounds, respectively, at the North Whidbey and 
Bayview drop box facilities (see Tables 8-2 and 8-3). The average weight represents three or four 
cans or bundles of waste materials.  
 
12.3 Alternative Administration Strategies  
 
Two administrative management strategies are discussed below.  
 
12.3.1 Administrative Alternative A-Maintain Target Balance for Working Capital  
 
Administrative Alternative A would maintain or increase the target balance for working capital. 
The target balance should be the sum of three elements:  
 
• The present value of projected 6-year capital improvements;  
• The present value of a portion of the post-closure maintenance costs at the Coupeville 

Landfill through 2023 with consideration given to off-ramping at that time; and  
• An unanticipated event and environmental degradation contingency fund or pollution liability 

insurance coverage of $1,500,000 in accordance with the benchmarking study.  
 
The target balance could be evaluated every three years in conjunction with a solid waste rate 
study and potentially revised at that time. The working capital balance would be invested 
prudently. All investment income derived from the working capital balance would accrue to the 
solid waste fund unless otherwise determined by the Board of Island County Commissioners.  
 
12.3.2 Administrative Alternative B-Solid Waste System Operational Assessment 

and Benchmarking Study, Phase II 
 
Administrative Alternative B would continue to address the growth, shrinkage and other changes 
that may occur in the County and the incorporated cities and town, where mutually beneficial 
economies may be gained by alternative collection, hauling, or transportation strategies. In the 
near future, cooperative arrangements for these basic services as well as special material 
handling/processing (glass, for example) may be developed. 
 
The County carried out a Solid Waste System Operational Assessment and Benchmarking Study 
in 2008 to identify and develop system wide upgrades for a 6 to 20 year time frame. The study 
involved the Cities of Oak Harbor, Coupeville and Langley, NASWI, certificated (franchised) 
haulers, and other stakeholders. System components such as additional transfer stations and 
expanded or new processing facilities were discussed together with possible financing 
recommendations. A degree of redundancy is essential in the future with recognition that all 
Island County residents will continue to share in the cost of closed facility maintenance, 
moderate-risk waste management, environmental responsibilities, education outreach, and shared 
cost for seven-day per week system access. 
 
The County is considering a Phase II of this study to address changing system requirements, 

234



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Administration   12-6 

financial issues, rules and regulations, and other significant developments directly affecting the 
Island County Solid Waste System. Phase II of the study would build on the first and would 
make specific recommendations for the issues noted. The cost for this alternative is $40,000. 
 
12.4 Evaluation of Alternative Administration Strategies  
 
The alternative administrative strategies are compared with respect to two evaluation criteria 
below: cost control and long-term rate stability.  
 
12.4.1 Cost Control  
 
Administrative Alternative A retains and/or increases working capital for capital improvements, 
post-closure care of the Coupeville Landfill and environmental contingencies. Funding these 
activities with working capital rather than operating revenues has no effect on their costs. 
Administrative Alternative B promotes cost control measures by examining options for more 
cost-effective methods of solid waste handling.  
 
12.4.2 Long-Term Rate Stability  
 
Solid waste services are essential for protection of public health and the environment. Services 
must be reasonably available for all waste generators and each waste generator must contribute 
to the cost of providing the services. Administrative Alternative A dedicates a portion of excess 
working capital to future maintenance and capital expenditures. Funding post-closure care with 
working capital promotes rate stability by discounting future operating costs. Administrative 
Alternative B promotes long-term rate stability by improving services in a cost-effective manner. 
 
12.4.3 Rating of Alternatives  
 
The alternative administrative strategies are compared with respect to the evaluation criteria in 
Table 12-1. Based on the evaluation of these alternatives, both alternatives are recommended to 
be pursued (see Section 14.8). 
 
  

Table 12-1 
Summary Comparison of Alternative Administration Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 
Cost 

Control 
Long-Term Rate 

Stability 

A Maintain/Increase Target Balance for Working 
Capital, Phase II M H 

B Solid Waste System Operational Assessment and 
Benchmarking Study, Phase II H H 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be 
weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 

235



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-1 

Section 13 
Regulation  

 
This section discusses the surveillance and control program for solid waste handling activities in 
the planning area and evaluates alternative regulatory strategies.  
 
13.1 Existing Program Elements  
 
Solid waste handling practices within the planning area are controlled under regulations 
administered by Island County Public Health. Public Health enforces the Island County Solid 
Waste Regulations (Chapter 8.08B of the Island County Code), the Washington State Solid 
Waste Handling Standards (WAC 173-350) and other state solid waste laws and regulations.  
 
13.1.1 Solid Waste Permits  
 
Public Health exercises its authority for regulating solid waste handling facilities and collection 
service providers through a permitting system. A list of solid waste handling facility permits 
valid in January 2012 is shown in Table 13-1.  
 
13.1.2 Air Quality Permits  
 
The Northwest Clean Air Agency regulates mobile and stationary sources of air pollutants in 
Island County. The authority issues an annual permit for gas emissions at the Coupeville 
Landfill.  
 
The Fire Marshall is responsible for enforcing regulations prohibiting the backyard burning of 
municipal solid waste and other outdoor burning problems.  
 
13.1.3 Complaints  
 
Public Health staff respond to complaints involving violations of solid waste regulations, 
including improper storage and illegal dumping. A summary of the number and nature of 
complaints investigated in 2004, 2010 and 2012 is shown in Table 13-2.  
 
13.2 Planning Issues  
 
Planning issues associated with illegal dumping and enforcement are discussed below.  
 
13.2.1 Illegal Dumping  
 
Litter and illegal dumping of waste materials has a negative influence on communities and 
presents real threats to public health and the environment. Tolerating litter and illegal dumping 
signals community acceptance while timely cleanup of illegal disposal sites tends to discourage 
additional waste storage and disposal problems. 

236



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-2 

 
Table 13-1 

Active Solid Waste Permits Issued by Island County Public Health 
(January 2012) 

 

 
Composting 

Facility 

Material 
Recovery 
Facility 

Transfer 
Station 

Storage or 
Treatment 

Piles  

Waste Tire 
Storage 
Facility 

Moderate-
Risk Waste 

Facility 

Land 
Application 

Facility 

Surface 
Impound-
ment or 

Tank 

Collection 
and 

Transport 
Vehicles 

Christian’s Towing, Recycling & Storage 
615 Christian Road 
Oak Harbor 

  
• 

   
• 

 
Limited 

   
 

City of Oak Harbor  
100 SE City Beach Street  
Oak Harbor 

  Permit 
Exempt 

 
• 

     
• 

Concrete Nor’west 
3199 N Oak Harbor Rd 
Oak Harbor 

   •      

F-1 Sand and Gravel 
194 Pit Road 
Oak Harbor 

    
• 

     

Gilbertson Sand and Gravel 
1202 S. Lawson Road 
Camano Island 

    
• 

     

Island County Bayiew Drop Box Station 
5790 S. Kramer Road 
Langley 

  
• 

 
• 

  
 

 
• 

   

Island County Camano Transfer Station  
75 E. Camano Hill Road 
Camano Island 

  
• 

 
• 

  
 

 
• 

   

Island County North Whidbey Drop Box 
Station 3151 Oak Harbor Road 
Oak Harbor 

  
• 

 
• 

  
 

 
• 

   

Island County MRW Facility 
20018 SR 20 
Coupeville 

      
• 

   

Island County Recycle Park – Coupeville 
20018 SR 20 
Coupeville 

  
• 

    
• 

   

237



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-3 

 
Table 13-1, continued 
Active Solid Waste Permits Issued by Island County Public Health (January 2012) 

 

 
Composting 

Facility 

Material 
Recovery 
Facility 

Transfer 
Station 

Storage or 
Treatment 

Piles  

Waste Tire 
Storage 
Facility 

Moderate-
Risk Waste 

Facility 

Land 
Application 

Facility 

Surface 
Impound-
ment or 

Tank 

Collection 
and 

Transport 
Vehicles 

Island County Solid Waste Complex 
20018 SR 20 
Coupeville 

  
• 

 
• 

 
• 

    
• 

 

Island Disposal, Inc.  
19832 SR 20  
Coupeville 

  
• 

 
• 

      
• 

Island Recycling 
20014 SR 525 
Freeland 

  
• 

 
• 

 
• 

  
• 

   

Krieg Construction, Inc. 
70 W. Sleeper Road 
Oak Harbor 

    
• 

     

Mailliard’s Landing Nursery, Inc. 
3060 N. Oak Harbor Road 
Oak Harbor 

•  
• 

  
• 

     

Midvale Solid Waste and Recycling 
11645 SR 525, Langley 

   
•      

Navy Whidbey Recycle 
3485 N. Langley Blvd, Bldg 2555 
Oak Harbor 

 Permit 
Exempt 

 
• 

   
Limited - 
Exempt 

   

Oak Harbor Auto Wrecking  
1201 NE 16th Avenue 
Oak Harbor 

  
• 

   
• 

 
Limited 

•   

Oak Harbor Recycling Center  
2050 NE 16th Avenue 
Oak Harbor 

  
• 

    
Limited 

   

Remple Brothers Concrete, Inc 
27364 SR 525, Coupeville 

   
•      

We Dig It Gravel 
204 E. Frostad Road, Oak Harbor 

   
•      

Whidbey’s Topsoils 
5690 Cameron Road, Freeland 

   
•      

 

238



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-4 

 
Table 13-2 

Summary of Solid Waste Related Complaints 

Complaint 2004 2010 2012 
Improper Storage  41 32 62 
Litter 1 5 3 
Illegal Dumping 28 22 13 
Total 70 59 78 

 
 
Litter and illegal dumping in Island County are being addressed in several ways. One method is 
the grants that the County receives from Ecology’s Community Litter Clean-Up Program, which 
is used to clean up litter on public property with emphasis on public beaches. Grant guidelines 
limit cleanup activities to right-of-way areas not covered under adopt-a-road programs. 
 
13.2.2 Enforcing Solid Waste Regulations  
 
Enforcement procedures for solid waste violations are time-consuming and often troublesome. 
Environmental Health Specialists follow the procedures identified below, although depending on 
the severity and/or frequency of a violation, certain administrative steps may be skipped if 
necessary to protect public health: 
 
• Investigation and confirmation of a violation;  
• A request for compliance and return inspection;  
• A notice of violation and return inspection (an optional administrative appeal would be 

available to the violator);  
• A notice and order for compliance (an optional appeal to the Hearing Examiner would be 

available to the violator);  
• A remedy that includes abatement, civil penalties and other legal enforcement actions; and  
• Recovery of abatement costs and civil penalties. 
 
Current Island County Code procedures require individuals accused of violating solid waste 
handling regulations to appear in District Court before an abatement order or civil penalties may 
be assessed. A civil penalty does not result in cost recovery for the abatement costs incurred by 
Island County Public Health. 
 
13.2.3 Enforcing the Secure Loads Regulation 
 
Several tragic incidents have led to increased concern and enforcement of requirements for loads 
to be secured properly while being transported. State law (RCW 46.61.655) addresses 
requirements and penalties for unsecured and uncovered loads. The penalty for an accident 
caused by unsecured load can be as high as $5,000 plus jail time if an item falls off of a vehicle 
and causes bodily injury to another person. Loads that are not secured properly also create litter 
and it has been estimated that as much as 25 percent of the roadside litter is the result of 
improperly secured loads. To address these issues, Island County adopted a local ordinance 
enacting RCW 46.61.655, and County solid waste facilities now add a fee for customers who 
arrive with unsecured loads.  

239



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-5 

13.3 Alternative Regulatory Strategies  
 
Three alternative regulatory strategies are discussed below.  
 
13.3.1 Regulatory Alternative A-Discourage Litter and Illegal Dumping  
 
Regulatory Alternative A discourages littering and illegal dumping through an integrated 
package of methods. A campaign will be continued to increase public awareness of illegal 
dumping problems and encourage proper handling of waste materials. Problems associated with 
littering and illegal dumping will continue to be addressed by solid waste related presentations to 
school groups and community and service organizations. Additional efforts would be made to 
increase participation in existing programs such as the WSU Beach Watchers, WSU Waste Wise, 
Washington Adopt-a-Highway, Island County Adopt-a-Road, and the annual litter pickup 
program. Events would continue to be publicized to encourage a sense of responsibility toward 
preventing further illegal dumping as well as recognize the volunteers. Participants at organized 
cleanup events could continue to be provided with gloves, collection bags and other necessary 
materials, and the disposal fees for the collected waste would continue to be waived. Local 
businesses could be solicited to sponsor ongoing cleanup activities for a specific area such as a 
park. Owners of property used for illegal dumping would be encouraged to erect barriers on their 
property such as fences, berms or ditches to control access and post warning signs. Annual costs 
for Regulatory Alternative A are estimated at $10,000 in addition to funds already expended on 
existing programs.  
 
13.3.2 Regulatory Alternative B-Increase Public Awareness and Enforcement for 

Unsecured Loads  
 
Regulatory Alternative B would continue ongoing efforts to promote public awareness of the 
problems caused by improperly secured loads. Public education efforts for this alternative could 
be modeled after efforts used for illegal dumping (see Alternative A) or could even be combined 
with those activities. Annual costs for Regulatory Alternative B are estimated at $7,000 in 
addition to funds already expended on existing efforts. 
 
13.3.3 Regulatory Alternative C-Administrative Penalties and increased Fines 
 
Regulatory Alternative C would revise the current Island County Code, Solid Waste Handling 
Regulations (ICC 8.08), by: (1) adding an administrative penalty to be issued by the Health 
Officer for solid waste violations; and (2) increasing the amount of fines for solid waste 
violations. This would establish a significant deterrent for illegal dumping and other solid waste 
violations as well as create cost recovery for abatement.   
 
13.4 Evaluation of Alternative Regulatory Strategies  
 
The alternative regulatory strategies are compared with respect to three evaluation criteria: 
cleanup response time, long-term enhancement of the community, and costs.  
 

240



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-6 

13.4.1 Cleanup Response Time  
 
Illegal dumping activities are most effectively controlled when they are remedied in a timely 
fashion before wind, animals or storm water scatter the materials over a larger area. Prompt 
cleanup also discourages others from behaving in a similar manner. Under this criteria, the 
strategies that respond to illegal dumping in the timeliest manner are rated highest.  
 
Regulatory Alternatives B and C would provide the timeliest response in the sense that these 
help to prevent litter in the first place. Regulatory Alternative A would require the most time to 
respond because it relies on volunteers to accomplish cleanup activities, although part of the 
activities included in this alternative also help to prevent litter. 
 
13.4.2 Long-Term Enhancement of the Community  
 
Communities that are maintained free from litter and illegal dumping are more desirable places 
to live. Under this criterion, those strategies that provide communities with the best long-term 
potential to maintain a clean environment will be rated higher.  
 
All of the regulatory alternatives provide the potential for long-term enhancement of local 
communities. Alternatives A and C discourage dumping by promoting community pride and 
volunteerism or by providing a deterrent for illegal dumping. The volunteer efforts can be used 
as a positive example of community problem solving. Regulatory Alternatives A, B and C all 
directly confront violators and are effective in achieving cleanup.  
 
13.4.3 Costs  
 
The planning jurisdiction wants effective solid waste management services to be provided at the 
lowest possible price. The alternative strategies with the lowest costs will be rated highest.  
 
None of the regulatory alternatives would require significant additional expenditures, but 
Regulatory Alternative C may generate General Fund revenue through fines that are levied 
against violators. Regulatory Alternative A relies on donated and sponsored labor. It may also 
reduce ongoing cleanup costs by encouraging others to assist with community cleanup activities. 
Regulatory Alternative B could raise funds for prevention and enforcement activities through 
fees for unsecured loads.  
 
13.4.4 Ratings of Alternative Regulatory Strategies   
 
A summary of the ratings for the alternative regulatory strategies is shown in Table 13-3. Based 
on the evaluation of these alternatives, all three alternatives are recommended to be pursued (see 
Section 14.9). 
 

241



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-7 

 
Table 13-3 

Summary Comparison of Alternative Regulatory Strategies 

  Rating 

 Alternative 
Cleanup  

Response Time 
Enhancement of the 

Community Costs 

A Discourage Litter and Illegal 
Dumping M H M 

B Reduce Unsecured Loads H M M 

C Administrative Penalties and 
Fines H M L 

Note: Abbreviations are used above to show whether an alternative is rated high (H), medium (M), or low (L) for 
each criteria. A high rating is generally not good for the cost factor (although costs should always be 
weighed against the amount of impact anticipated), but high ratings are good for the other criteria. 

 
 

242



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Regulation   13-8 

 
 

243



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-1 

Section 14 
Recommended Management Strategies  

 
 
This section identifies the recommended management strategies and presents a plan to 
implement the recommendations. The recommendations are intended to guide decision-making 
activities for the Solid Waste Division and their partners for the next six years or longer. A 
period of six years is examined below because state law requires that a minimum of six years of 
construction and capital acquisition costs be examined by solid waste management plans (RCW 
70.95.090), but the following programs could continue to be implemented for a longer period if 
appropriate. The recommendations are not intended to commit the planning jurisdiction to a 
single course of action. Implementation of individual program elements will be accomplished 
through annual budgets.  
 
14.1 Waste Reduction  
 
The recommended waste reduction alternatives are (note that alternatives that are not shown here 
and in the following sections are not being recommended for implementation):  
 
C – Adult education and promotion of waste reduction techniques 
D – Youth education programs 
E – Financial support through reduced tipping fees and publicizing services for non-profit 

organizations that are involved in reuse 
 
A concept-level cost estimate for the recommended waste reduction strategy is presented in 
Table 14-1. Total costs are estimated at $591,000 for the six-year planning period.  
 
 

Table 14-1 
Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Waste Reduction Strategies 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 

Project or Activity 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 
Adult Education and Promotion 71 71 71 71 71 71 426 
Youth Education Program 20 20 20 20 20 20 120 
Financial Support 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 45 
Totals 98.5 98.5 98.5 98.5 98.5 98.5 591 
 
 
Financial support will continue to be available for non-profit organizations that collect used 
household products for reuse. A tipping fee reduction will support the costs of disposing donated 
items that are no longer useable. A 50 percent discount for waste disposed by nonprofit reuse 
organizations will be provided through the six-year planning period.  
 
The youth education program focuses on classroom presentations at schools in Island County. 
The presentations will describe the local solid waste management program and explain how to 

244



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-2 

generate less waste, how to avoid products containing hazardous ingredients and how to recycle 
waste materials that have value as secondary materials. The youth education program will be 
conducted every year. The program will include tours of solid waste facilities for 4th and 5th 
grade students, plus follow-up visits and presentations to their classrooms. If fuel costs or other 
factors limit field trips in the future, then financial support, in-class presentations and/or other 
alternatives will be considered. 
 
The existing adult education outreach program will continue to provide training in waste 
management for community volunteers. In exchange for the training, the volunteers will provide 
15 to 45 hours of public service involving research and educational activities that promote the 
recommended waste management priorities. The expense for this program also includes 
materials such as resource guides (to be published once or twice per year as needed), brochures, 
website and social networking (Facebook). The adult education program will continue through 
the six-year planning period.  
 
14.2 Recycling  
 
Several alternatives are being recommended for recycling, including: 
 
A – Implement curbside recycling and then promote 
B – Promote private yard waste diversion 
C – Investigate local markets for glass 
D – Investigate local markets for other materials 
E – Continue to pursue co-generation options for wood waste 
G – Encourage food waste composting 
 
All but Alternative A can be addressed by allocating existing staff time to the effort, at 
essentially no additional cost, although staff efforts could lead to program changes that would 
have positive or negative financial impacts for a variety of organizations or businesses.  
 
Recycling activities will continue to focus on program economics and operational efficiency. 
Other recommended activities include improved handling and transfer capabilities, materials 
prioritization, contract re-negotiation, and consolidation of processing operations as appropriate.  
 
14.3 Waste Collection  
 
Two alternatives are being recommended for waste collection, including: 
 
B – Promote voluntary curbside waste collection services 
C – Investigate alternative garbage and recycling services 
 
Continuing to promote curbside waste collection services is recommended to reduce the rate of 
growth in customers at County solid waste receiving facilities and increase the recycling rate by 
increasing convenience. Reducing the rate of growth for self-haul customers may delay the need 
for capital improvements. The effort will continue to emphasize the cost savings of curbside 
collection services over drop-off disposal fees. Alternative collection methods for garbage and 
recyclables could also delay the need for capital improvements by increasing recycling and thus 

245



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-3 

reducing the amounts of waste disposed.  
 
Both of these alternatives can be addressed by allocating existing staff time to the effort, at 
essentially no additional cost, although staff efforts could lead to program changes that would 
have positive or negative financial impacts for waste collection businesses. 
 
14.4 Transfer  
 
Several alternatives are being recommended for the transfer system, including: 
 
A – Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box Station 
B – Increase transfer and recycling capacity at the Camano Transfer Station 
D – Increase capacity at the Bayview Drop Box Station 
E – Continue to explore and develop increased efficiencies at the Camano Transfer Station 
F – Consider a new transfer station for Camano Island and/or Coupeville 
G – Increase or modify rates to ensure self-sustaining programs 
 
Only the first three alternatives listed above have direct costs that can be identified at this time, 
and concept-level cost estimates for these alternatives are shown in Table 14-2. Total costs for 
these alternatives are estimated at $225,000 for the six-year period.  
 
 

Table 14-2 
Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Transfer Strategies 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 

Project or Activity 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 
Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop 

Box Station     25   25 

Increase Transfer & Recycling 
Capacity at the Camano 
Transfer Station 

  100    100 

Increase Capacity at Bayview  100     100 
Totals 0 100 100 25 0 0 225 
 
 
14.5 Transport and Disposal  
 
Four solid waste facilities are designated for municipal solid waste and two solid waste facilities 
are designated for demolition waste. The designated disposal facilities are listed in Table 14-3.  
 
Three alternatives are being recommended for transport and disposal, including: 
 
D – Purchase additional buffer areas 
E – Investigate and implement “off-ramp” post-closure strategies 
F – Investigate additional methods for densifying wastes 
 
 

246



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-4 

Table 14-3 
Designated Disposal Facilities for Solid Waste Generated in the Planning Area 

Waste Type Designated Disposal Facility 
Municipal Solid Waste 
 
 
 

North Whidbey Drop Box Station  
Island County Solid Waste Complex  
Bayview Drop Box Station  
Camano Transfer Station  

Demolition Waste Island County Solid Waste Complex 
Camano Transfer Station 

 
 
The purchase of additional buffer areas around solid waste facilities, as land becomes available 
or necessary, would be prudent. Implementing off-ramp strategies to reduce the amount of post-
closure activities required in the future will reduce annual expenses. The density of the waste 
being transported out of the county remains a critical economic factor due to increasing 
transportation costs. The Solid Waste Division should identify, and implement where cost-
effective, methods to increase the density of waste and thus maximize the efficiency of the 
transportation system. The expense for all three of these alternatives cannot be determined until 
further details are defined, such as the availability and cost of land to be purchased and type of 
machinery being considered for densification. 
 
14.6 Moderate-Risk Waste  
 
Two management strategies are recommended for moderate-risk waste:  
 
A – Public education for household hazardous waste 
B – Education and technical assistance for Small Quantity Generators 
 
A concept-level cost estimate for the moderate-risk waste management strategy is presented in 
Table 14-4. Total six-year costs are estimated at $134,000.  
 
The public education activities for household hazardous waste will continue to identify 
household products that contain hazardous ingredients, promote safer alternatives, and explain 
how to dispose of unwanted products that contain hazardous substances. These messages will be 
incorporated into educational materials describing the local storm water, ground water and 
wastewater treatment programs.  
 
 

Table 14-4 
Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Moderate-Risk Waste Management Strategies 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 

Project or Activity 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 
Public Education for Household 

Hazardous Waste 10 10 10 10 10 10 60 

Education, Technical Assistance 
for Small Quantity Generators 

  
37 

 
37 

    
74 

Totals 10 47 47 10 10 10 134 

247



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-5 

The Small Quantity Generator education and technical assistance campaign will continue to 
focus on waste generators and promote understanding of waste management responsibilities and 
awareness of the recommended management practices. The campaign will continue for two 
years, and may be repeated in the future depending on the results of the next campaign. 
 
14.7 Other Special Waste  
 
Three management strategies for other special wastes are recommended:  
 
A – Investigate diversion options for demolition wastes 
B – Adopt contingency plans for disaster debris 
C – Alternative collection programs for special wastes 
 
Current management practices available for non-wood demolition debris include disposal as a 
solid waste at the Coupeville and Camano Transfer Stations. Usable building materials can be 
diverted to the retail operation at the Solid Waste Complex (the Whidbey Animals’ Improvement 
Foundation BaRC Retail).  
 
Potential locations for staging and storage sites for disaster debris are identified in this plan. A 
total of 13 sites, 11 on Whidbey Island and two on Camano Island (see Figure 11-1) have been 
identified as potential staging and storage sites. Recommended management strategies for 
different types of disaster debris are also identified in this plan. Suggested management practices 
for disaster debris are shown in Table 11-3. This information should be updated as necessary. 
 
This plan also recognizes that additional programs may be needed in the future to address other 
special wastes such as pharmaceuticals, e-waste, agricultural plastics, drug manufacture 
contaminated material, mercury-bearing lights and other problem wastes. In the interim, prior to 
development/adoption of formalized programs, the Island County Public Works/Solid Waste 
Division will coordinate with appropriate regulatory agencies and certificated (franchised) 
haulers, and will deal with such wastes on a case-by-case basis with respect to handling, 
transport and final disposition in designated, approved facilities. 
 
14.8 Administration  
 
Two administrative management strategies are recommended:  
 
A – Maintain target balance for working capital at $2,500,000 
B – Conduct a solid waste operational assessment and benchmarking study 
 
Maintaining the target balance for working capital is recommended. The working capital balance 
should be reviewed and potentially revised every three years in conjunction with a solid waste 
rate study. The target balance should include the present value of anticipated six-year capital 
improvements, the present value of projected post-closure maintenance costs for the Coupeville 
Landfill (that portion not covered by operating revenues), and a contingency amount for potential 
environmental degradation or other unanticipated events at County waste processing and 
disposal facilities. The contingency amount for environmental degradation may be adjusted with 
a pollution liability insurance policy.  

248



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-6 

The solid waste operational assessment and benchmarking study will cost about $40,000 and 
should be conducted in 2014-2015. 
 
14.9 Regulation  
 
Three regulatory strategies are recommended for the six-year planning period:  
 
A – Discourage litter, illegal dumping 
B – Increase public awareness and enforcement of secure load requirements 
C – Add administrative penalties and increase fines 
 
The regulatory strategies are discussed below. Concept-level cost estimates for the first two 
recommended regulatory strategies are presented in Table 14-5. The total six-year cost is 
estimated at $102,000.  
 
Efforts to prevent littering and illegal dumping will be included in all solid waste presentations to 
school groups and community and service organizations. Volunteer organizations that provide 
cleanup services such as the WSU Beach Watchers, WSU Waste Wise, Adopt-a-Highway, 
Adopt-a-Road and annual litter pickup programs will be supported. Support may include gloves, 
collection bags, disposal fees and public recognition of service.  
 
The effort to increase awareness and enforcement of the secure load requirements is an ongoing 
activity that should be continued. 
 
Administrative penalties and increased fines for solid waste violations will be added to the 
county code soon and then will be an ongoing activity using existing staff. 
 
 

Table 14-5 
Concept-Level Cost Estimate for the Recommended Regulatory Strategies 

(2013 dollars in thousands) 

Project or Activity 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total 
Discourage Litter, Illegal 

Dumping 10 10 10 10 10 10 60 

Increase Awareness and 
Enforcement of Secure Load 
Requirements 

 
7 

 
7 

 
7 

 
7 

 
7 

 
7 

 
42 

Totals 17 17 17 17 17 17 102 
 
 
14.10 Six-Year Implementation Schedule  
 
All recommended management strategies are scheduled for implementation within the six-year 
planning period. The proposed implementation schedule is presented in Table 14-6.  

249



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-7 

 

Table 14-6 
Implementation Schedule for Recommended Strategies 

Recommended Project or Activity 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Waste Reduction        

Adult Education and Promotion       
Youth Education       
Financial Support       

Recycling       
Implement Curbside Recycling       
Promote Private Yard Waste Diversion        
Investigate Local Markets for Glass       
Investigate Local Markets for Other Materials       
Continue to Pursue Co-Generation for Wood       
Encourage Food Waste Composting       

Collection       
Promote Waste Collection Services        
Investigate Collection Alternatives       

Transfer       
Upgrade the North Whidbey Drop Box        
Increase Capacity at Camano Transfer Station       
Increase Capacity at Bayview       
Continue to Explore and Develop Increased 

Efficiencies at Camano 
      

Consider a New Transfer Station for Camano 
Island and/or Coupeville 

      

Increase or Modify Rates       
Transport and Disposal       

Purchase Buffer Land As needed and feasible 
Investigate Off-Ramp Strategies       
Investigate Methods for Densifying Waste       

Moderate-Risk Waste       
Public Education       
Business Assistance       

Other Special Waste       
Investigate Options for Demolition Wastes       
Adopt Contingency Plans for Disaster Debris       
Alternative Programs for Special Wastes       

Administration       
Maintain Working Capital Balance •   •   
Benchmarking Study       

Regulation        
Discourage Litter and Illegal Dumping       
Secure Load Enforcement       
Administrative Penalties and Increased Fines       

 
 = indicates duration of activity.         • =indicates a single event   

 

250



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-8 

14.11 Implementation Responsibilities  
 
The Island County Public Works and Public Health Departments, the municipalities of Oak 
Harbor, Coupeville and Langley, the Washington State Utilities and Transportation Commission 
and the Department of Ecology share responsibilities for implementing the recommendations. 
Implementation responsibilities for the recommended activities are summarized in Table 14-7.  
 
 

Table 14-7 
Implementation Responsibilities 

Management Function M
un

ic
ip

al
iti

es
 

C
ou

nt
y 

Pu
bl

ic
 

W
or

ks
 D

ep
t. 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

  

U
til

iti
es

 a
nd

 
T

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 

D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f 
E

co
lo

gy
 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

C
om

pa
ni

es
 

Reduction   •     
Recycling  • •  • • •
Collection  • •  •  •
Transfer   •     
Transport and Disposal   •     
MRW  • •     
Other Special Waste   •   •  
Administration  • •     
Regulation   • •  •  

 
 
The Island County Solid Waste Advisory Committee will review implementation of new policies 
and programs and comment on proposed resolutions and ordinances prior to their adoption. 
 
14.12 Funding Strategy  
 
The recommended programs will be funded through garbage rates, tipping fees, other user fees, 
state grants and working capital. A summary of the funding sources for the recommended 
programs is shown in Table 14-8.  
 
Garbage rates will be used to fund the solid waste collection, curbside recycling and commercial 
recycling programs. Tipping fees will be used for the recommended waste reduction, transfer, 
transport and disposal, household hazardous waste, administration and regulation. Special user 
fees will fund small quantity generator and other special waste programs. The state coordinated 
prevention grant funding will be used for the household hazardous waste and regulatory 
programs. Working capital and the investment income from working capital will be used for 
funding capital improvements for the waste receiving facilities, post-closure care of the 
Coupeville Landfill, and environmental remediation contingencies. Other available grant funding 
for pollution prevention programs will be used for waste reduction, residential recycling and 
moderate-risk waste management programs.  

251



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-9 

 
Table 14-8 

Recommended Funding Sources for Solid Waste Programs 

Project or Activity G
ar

ba
ge

 
R

at
es

 

T
ip

pi
ng

  
Fe

e 

Sp
ec

ia
l  

U
se

r 
Fe

e 

C
oo

rd
in

at
ed

 
Pr

ev
en

tio
n 

G
ra

nt
 

W
or

ki
ng

 
C

ap
ita

l 

O
th

er
 

Fu
nd

in
g 

as
 

A
va

ila
bl

e 

Reduction   •    • 
Recycling  • •  •  • 
Collection  • •     
Transfer   •   • • 
Transport and Disposal   •     
MRW  • • • •  • 
Other Special Waste    •   • 
Administration   •     
Regulation   •  •   

 
 
14.13 Procurement Strategy  
 
Island County has primary responsibility for managing solid waste within the planning 
jurisdiction. To effectively discharge its responsibility, the County is assigned primary authority 
to develop and operate the necessary handling facilities and management programs. Procurement 
responsibilities for municipal solid waste facilities and related services belong exclusively to 
Island County.  
 
At its discretion, Island County may develop facilities and provide services as public works 
operations or it may procure facilities and services from public or private service providers. 
Local public procurement policies and procedures will apply to all procurement processes.  
 
14.14 Twenty-Year Solid Waste Management Strategies  
 
Long-term issues facing the planning jurisdiction in the future include potential transfer station 
improvements, further regionalization of waste management services, expanding organics 
composting, recycling building materials, and e-waste.  
 
14.14.1 Transfer Station Improvements  
 
The North Whidbey, Bayview and Camano solid waste facilities were developed in the 1960s to 
replace rural landfill facilities. As population increased and management strategies evolved to 
include recycling and moderate-risk waste handling, use of the receiving facilities has increased 
significantly and improvements have been made and will continue to be made. As growth 
continues, it will be necessary to actively pursue improved access, additional services, better 
vehicle queuing techniques, and additional unloading and storage capacity. Factors to be 
considered in evaluating improvements should include the need for convenient public access and 

252



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-10 

greater efficiencies to be gained by expanding or modifying facilities, while weighing those 
factors against costs and other impacts. Larger concerns, such as the reduction of transportation 
distances and hence the reduction of fuel consumption and air emissions, will also be important 
factors to consider in the future.  
 
14.14.2 Regional Management Options  
 
Regionalization of waste management services has been a dominant industry trend over the past 
several years. Economies of scale have reduced the costs of waste transport and disposal. The 
planning jurisdiction will continue to investigate regional waste management opportunities that 
are consistent with local waste management objectives and that protect the financial integrity of 
the solid waste program.  
 
For Island County and the three cities and towns, combining their efforts and programs into a 
cohesive regional program provides economies of scale and other distinct benefits to all. One of 
the three cities or towns may decide in the future, however, that they wish to conduct their own 
solid waste system and in that case it should be understood that: 
 
• The municipality remains fiscally responsible for their share of past debts, such as the 

ongoing post-closure costs for the Coupeville Landfill; 
• The municipality will need to develop their own solid waste management plan, and will need 

to follow typical guidelines for preparing such a plan; and 
• The municipality would need to provide the appropriate solid waste services to their residents 

and businesses, including curbside or drop-off recycling, MRW collection and other services 
equivalent to the remainder of the county, or enter into an agreement with the County to pay 
a pro-rated share of the expenses for the County to provide those services. 

 
14.14.3 Expanded Organics Composting Facilities  
 
Diversion of organics from the municipal solid waste stream has the potential to significantly 
reduce the quantity of waste disposed. If food waste can be added to the materials being 
composted locally, up to 20 percent more of the waste stream could be diverted from disposal 
facilities. The economics of composting food waste and other organics favor local processing 
facilities and local use of the compost product. The marketing and sales requirements for 
compost favor private rather than public operations. Innovative incentives may be necessary to 
encourage the commitment of private capital to local yard waste processing operations.  
 
14.14.4 Construction, Demolition and Land Clearing Waste Recycling  
 
Construction, demolition and land clearing waste have received considerable attention in the past 
few years. Private sector service providers have taken the lead in developing recycling and 
disposal alternatives for these hard-to-handle materials. The developing private sector initiatives 
need to be monitored so that information regarding alternative management strategies can be 
provided to waste generators.  
 

253



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-11 

14.14.5 Management of Electronic Equipment (E-Waste)  
 
The collection and recycling of electronic wastes that are not covered under the E-Cycle 
Washington program that began in 2009 represent an opportunity to divert more solid waste. 
Non-covered electronic products that are substantially metal, such as toasters, microwaves, other 
small appliances, DVD players, and some stereo equipment, can be recycled as scrap metal.   
 
Other non-covered electronics that are primarily plastic such as keyboards, mice, printers and 
clock radios are accepted by processors in Seattle free of charge, and could be collected by 
handlers in Island County for a fee that covers supplies, transportation and handling costs. 
Efforts are underway to include collection of non-covered electronics at the BaRC Re-tail center 
that opened at the Solid Waste Complex near Coupeville in 2013. 
 
14.15 Procedures for Amending the Plan  
 
The Solid Waste Management-Reduction and Recycling Act (RCW 70.95) requires local 
governments to maintain their solid waste plans in current condition. Plans must be reviewed and 
revised, if necessary, every five years. Assuming a timely adoption process for this plan, with the 
process completed in early 2014, this plan should be reviewed and, if necessary, revised in 2019.  
 
Individuals or organizations wishing to propose plan amendments before the scheduled review 
must petition the Island County Solid Waste Manager in writing. The petition should describe 
the proposed amendment, its specific objectives and explain why immediate action is needed 
prior to the next scheduled review. The Solid Waste Manager will investigate the basis for the 
petition and prepare a recommendation for the Director of the Department of Public Works.  
 
If the Director of the Department of Public Works decides that the petition warrants further 
consideration, the petition will be referred to the Solid Waste Advisory Committee for review 
and recommendation. The Solid Waste Manager will draft the proposed amendment together 
with the Solid Waste Advisory Committee. This process will also be used if County staff decide 
to amend the plan. The proposed amendment must be submitted to the legislative bodies of all 
participating jurisdictions and the Department of Ecology for review and comment. As an 
amendment, an updated UTC Cost Assessment Questionnaire or SEPA Checklist will likely not 
be required, but the appropriate agencies (either the UTC or the Planning Department) should be 
allowed to confirm that at the time. The comments received will be reviewed with the SWAC to 
solicit their input before submitting the plan for local adoption. Adoption of the proposed 
amendment will require the concurrence of all affected jurisdictions, with a final review and 
approval by Ecology after that.  
 
The Director of the Department of Public Works may develop reasonable rules for submitting 
and processing proposed plan amendments, and may establish reasonable fees to investigate and 
process petitions. All administrative rulings of the Director may be appealed to the Board of 
Island County Commissioners.  
 
Minor changes that may occur in the solid waste management system, whether due to internal 
decisions or external factors, can be adopted without the need to go through a formal amendment 
process. If a question should exist as to whether or not a change is “minor,” then it should be 

254



Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Recommended Management Strategies  14-12 

discussed by the SWAC and a decision made based on the consensus of that committee. 
 
Implicit in the development and adoption of this plan is the understanding that emergency 
actions may need to be taken by the County in the future for various reasons, and that these 
actions can be undertaken without needing to amend this plan beforehand. In this case, Island 
County staff will endeavor to inform the SWAC and other key stakeholders as soon as feasibly 
possible, but not necessarily before new actions are implemented. If the emergency results in 
permanent and significant changes to the Island County solid waste system, an amendment to 
this plan will be prepared. If, however, the emergency actions are only undertaken on a 
temporary or short-term basis, an amendment will not be considered necessary. Any questions  
about what actions may be considered “temporary” or “significant” should be brought to the 
SWAC for their advice.  
 
 

255



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-1 

 

Appendix A  
Environmental Checklist  

 
PURPOSE OF CHECKLIST:  
 
The State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), chapter 43.21C RCW, requires all governmental 
agencies to consider the environmental impacts of a proposal before making decisions. An 
environmental impact statement (EIS) must be prepared for all proposals with probable 
significant adverse impacts on the quality of the environment. The purpose of this checklist is to 
provide information to help you and the agency identify impacts from your proposal (and to 
reduce or avoid impacts from the proposal, if it can be done) and to help the agency decide 
whether an EIS is required.  
 
INSTRUCTIONS FOR APPLICANTS:  
 
This environmental checklist asks you to describe some basic information about your proposal. 
Governmental agencies use this checklist to determine whether the environmental impacts of 
your proposal are significant, requiring preparation of an EIS. Answer the questions briefly, with 
the most precise information known, or give the best description you can.  
 
You must answer each question accurately and carefully, to the best of your knowledge. In most 
cases, you should be able to answer the questions from your own observations or project plans 
without the need to hire experts. If you really do not know the answer, or if a question does not 
apply to your proposal, write "do not know" or "does not apply". Complete answers to the 
questions now may avoid unnecessary delays later.  
 
Some questions ask about governmental regulations, such as zoning, shoreline, and landmark 
designations. Answer these questions if you can. If you have problems, the governmental 
agencies can assist you.  
 
The checklist questions apply to all parts of your proposal, even if you plan to do them over a 
period of time or on different parcels of land. Attach any additional information that will help 
describe your proposal or its environmental effects. The agency to which you submit this 
checklist may ask you to explain your answers or provide additional information reasonably 
related to determining if there may be significant adverse impact.  
 
USE OF CHECKLIST FOR NON-PROJECT PROPOSALS:  
 
Complete this checklist for non-project proposals, even though questions may be answered "does 
not apply". IN ADDITION, complete the SUPPLEMENTAL SHEET FOR NON-PROJECT 
ACTIONS (part D). For non-project actions, the references in the checklist to the words 
"project", "applicant," and "property or site" should be read as "proposal", "proposer", and 
"affected geographic area," respectively.  

256



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-2 

 
TO BE COMPLETED BY APPLICANT - EVALUATION FOR AGENCY USE ONLY  
 
A.  BACKGROUND  
 

1.  Name of proposed project, if applicable:  
 

Island County Solid Waste Management Plan  
 
2.  Name of applicant:  
 

Island County Public Works Department Solid Waste Program  
 
3.  Address and phone number of applicant and contact person:  
 

Dave Bonvouloir, Solid Waste Manager, Island County Public Works 
Department, P.O. Box 5000, Coupeville, Washington 98239-5000; (360) 6797340  

 
4.  Date checklist prepared:  
 

December 1, 1999  
 
5.  Agency requesting checklist:  
 

Island County Planning Department  
 
6.  Proposed timing or schedule (including phasing, if applicable):  
 

The management recommendations will be implemented over a 6-year period 
beginning in 2000. A summary of the implementation schedule is presented in 
Table 14-8 of the document.  

 
7.  Do you have any plans for future additions, expansion, or further activity 

related to or connected with this proposal? If yes, explain.  
 

No  
 

8.  List any environmental information you know about that has been prepared, 
or will be prepared, directly related to this proposal.  

 
A State Environmental Policy Act review will be conducted for each project or 
activity that requires a building or solid waste permit.  

  

257



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-3 

9. Do you know whether applications are pending for governmental approvals 
of other proposals directly affecting the property covered by your proposal? 
If yes, explain.  

 
No  

 
10. List any government approvals or permits that win be needed for your 

proposal, if known.  
 
The management plan must be adopted by the participating jurisdictions: the 
Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley, the Town of Coupeville and Island County, In 
addition, the Washington State Department of Ecology and the Washington State 
Utilities and Transportation Commission must approve the plan.  

 
11.  Give brief, complete description of your proposal, including the proposed 

uses and the size of the project and site. There are several questions later in 
the checklist that ask you to describe certain aspects of your proposal. You 
do not need to repeat those answers on this page.  
 
Solid waste management recommendations for municipal solid waste, moderate-
risk waste and other special waste are developed for the functional elements of a 
solid waste management system. Recommended actions include management 
policies, facility improvements, education and promotion, assignment of 
implementation responsibilities, and a funding strategy.  

 
12.  Location of the proposal. Give sufficient information for a person to 

understand the precise location of your proposed project, including a street 
address, if any, and section, township, and range, if known. If a proposal 
would occur over a range of area, provide the range or boundaries of the 
site(s). Provide a legal description, site plan, vicinity map, and topographic 
map, if reasonably available. While you should submit any plans required by 
the agency, you are not required to duplicate maps or detailed plans 
submitted with any permit applications related to this checklist.  
 
Island County, Washington excluding Naval Air Station Whidbey Island  

 
B.  ENVIRONMENTAL ELEMENTS  
 

1.  Earth  
 

a.  General description of the site (underline one): Flat, rolling, hilly, steep 
slopes, mountain, other.  

 
Does not apply  

 

258



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-4 

b.  What is the steepest slope on the site (approximate percent slope)?  
 
Does not apply  

 
c.  What general types of soils are found on the site (for example, day, 

sand, gravel, peat, muck)? If you know the classification of 
agricultural soils, specify them and note any prime farmland.  
 
Does not apply  

 
d.  Are there surface indications or history of unstable soils in the 

immediate vicinity? If so, describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
e.  Describe the purpose, type, and approximate quantities of any filling 

or grading proposed. Indicate source of fill.  
 
Does not apply  

 
f.  Could erosion occur as a result of clearing, construction, or use? If so, 

generally describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
g.  About what percent of the site will be covered with impervious 

surfaces after project construction (for example, asphalt or 
buildings)?  
 
Does not apply  

 
h. Proposed measures to reduce or control erosion, or other impacts to 

the earth, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

2.  Air  
 
a.  What types of emissions to the air would result from the proposal (i.e., 

dust, automobile, odors, industrial wood smoke) during construction 
and when the project is completed? If any, generally describe and give 
approximate quantities if known.  
 
Does not apply  
  

259



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-5 

b.  Are there any off-site sources of emissions or odor that may affect 
your proposal? If so, generally describe.  

 
Does not apply  

 
c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control emissions or other impacts to 

air, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

3.  Water  
 

a.  Surface:  
 
1)  Is there any surface water body on or in the immediate vicinity 

of the site (including year-round and seasonal streams, 
saltwater, lakes, ponds, wetlands)? If yes, describe type and 
provide names. If appropriate, state what stream or river it 
flows into.  

 
Does not apply  

 
2)  Will the project require any work over, in, or adjacent to 

(within 200 feet) the described waters? If yes, please describe 
and attach available plans.  

 
Does not apply  

 
3)  Estimate the amount of fill and dredge material that would be 

placed in or removed from surface water or wetlands and 
indicate the area of the site that would be affected. Indicate the 
source of fill material.  

 
Does not apply  

 
4)  Will the proposal require surface water withdrawals or 

diversions? Give general description, purpose, and 
approximate quantities if known.  

 
Does not apply  

 

260



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-6 

5)  Does the proposal lie within a 100-year floodplain? If so, note 
location on the site plan.  

 
Does not apply  

 
6)  Does the proposal involve any discharges of waste materials to 

surface waters? If so, describe the type of waste and 
anticipated volume of discharge.  
 
Does not apply  
 

b.  Ground:  
 
1)  Will ground water be withdrawn, or will water be discharged 

to ground water? Give general description, purpose, and 
approximate quantities if known.  
 
Does not apply  
 

2)  Describe waste material that will be discharged into the 
ground from septic tanks or other sources, if any (for example: 
Domestic sewage; industrial, containing the following 
chemicals ... ; agricultural; etc.). Describe the general size of 
the system, the number of such systems, the number of houses 
to be served (if applicable), or the number of animals or 
humans the system(s) are expected to serve.  
 
Does not apply  
 

c.  Water Runoff (including storm water):  
 

1) Describe the source of runoff (including storm water) and 
method of collection and disposal, if any (include quantities, if 
known). Where will this water flow? Will this water flow into 
other waters? If so, describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
2)  Could waste materials enter ground or surface waters? If so, 

generally describe.  
 
Does not apply  

  

261



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-7 

d. Proposed measures to reduce or control surface, ground, and runoff 
water impacts, if any:  

 
Does not apply  

 
4. Plants  

 
a.  Check or circle types of vegetation found on the site:  
 

___ deciduous tree: alder, maple, aspen, other  
___ evergreen tree: fir, cedar, pine, other  
___ shrubs  
___ grass  
___ pasture  
___ crop or gram  
___ wet soil plants: cattail, buttercup, bullrush, skunk cabbage, other  
___ water plants: water lily, eelgrass, milfoil, other  
___ other types of vegetation  

 
b. What kind and amount of vegetation will be removed or altered?  
 

Does not apply  
 
c. List threatened or endangered species known to be on or near the site.  
 

Does not apply  
 

d. Proposed landscaping, use of native plants, or other measures to 
preserve or enhance vegetation on the site, if any:  

 
Does not apply  

 
5.  Animals  

 
a.  Underline any birds and animals which have been observed on or 

near the site or are known to be on or near the site:  
 

birds: hawk, heron, eagle, songbirds, other: ………………………  
mammals: deer, bear, elk, beaver, other: ………………………. 
fish: bass, salmon, trout, herring, shellfish, other: …………….. 

  

262



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-8 

b.  List any threatened or endangered species known to be on or near the 
site.  

 
Does not apply  
 

c.  Is the site part of a migration route? If so, explain.  
 
Does not apply  
 

d.  Proposed measures to preserve or enhance wildlife, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

6.  Energy and Natural Resources  
 
a.  What kinds of energy (electric, natural gas, oil, wood stove, solar) will 

be used to meet the completed project's energy needs? Describe 
whether it will be used for heating, manufacturing, etc.  
 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Would your project affect the potential use of solar energy by 

adjacent properties? If so, generally describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
c.  What kinds of energy conservation features are included in the plans 

of this proposal? List other proposed measures to reduce or control 
energy impacts, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

7.  Environmental Health  
 
a.  Are there any environmental health hazards, including exposure to 

toxic chemicals, risk of fire and explosion, spill, or hazardous waste, 
that could occur as a result of this proposal? If so, describe.  
 
Does not apply  
 
1)  Describe special emergency services that might be required.  
 

Does not apply  
  

263



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-9 

2)  Proposed measures to reduce or control environmental health 
hazards, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

b.  Noise  
 
1)  What types' of noise exist in the area which may affect your 

project (for example: traffic, equipment, operation, other)?  
 
Does not apply  

 
2)  What types and levels of noise would be created by or 

associated with the project on a short-term or a long-term 
basis (for example: traffic, construction, operation, other)? 
Indicate what hours noise would come from the site.  
 
Does not apply  
 

3)  Proposed measure to reduce or control noise impacts, if any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

8.  Land and Shoreline Use  
 

a.  What is the current use of the site and adjacent properties?  
 

Does not apply  
 

b.  Has the site been used for agriculture? If so, describe.  
 

Does not apply  
 

c.  Describe any structures on the site.  
 

Does not apply  
 

d.  Will any structures be demolished? If so, what?  
 

Does not apply  
 

e.  What is the current zoning classification of the site?  
 

Does not apply  
  

264



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-10 

f.  What is the current comprehensive plan designation of the site?  
 

Does not apply  
 

g.  If applicable, what is the current shoreline master program 
designation of the site?  

 
Does not apply  

 
h.  Has any part of the site been classified as an "environmentally 

sensitive" area? If so, specify.  
 

Does not apply  
 

i.  Approximately how many people would reside or work in the 
completed project?  

 
Does not apply  

 
j.  Approximately how many people would the completed project 

displace?  
 

Does not apply  
 
k.  Proposed measure to avoid or reduce displacement impacts, if any:  
 

Does not apply  
 

l.  Proposed measures to ensure the proposal is compatible with existing 
and projected land uses and plans, if any:  

 
Does not apply  

 
9.  Housing  
 

a.  Approximately how many units would be provided, if any? Indicate 
whether high, middle, or low-income housing.  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Approximately how many units, if any, would be eliminated?  

Indicate whether high, middle, or low-income housing.  
 

Does not apply  
  

265



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-11 

c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control housing impacts, if any:  
 

Does not apply  
 

10.  Aesthetics  
 

a.  What is the tallest height of any proposed structure(s), not including 
antennas; what' is the principal exterior building material(s) 
proposed?  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  What views in the immediate vicinity would be altered or obstructed?  
 

Does not apply  
 
c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control aesthetic impacts, if any:  
 

Does not apply  
 

11.  Light and Glare  
 

a.  What type of light or glare will the proposal produce? What time of 
day would it mainly occur?  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Could light or glare from the finished project be a safety hazard or 

interfere with views?  
 

Does not apply  
 

c.  What existing off-site sources of light or glare may affect your 
proposal?  

 
Does not apply  

 
d.  Proposed measures to reduce or control light and glare impacts, if 

any:  
 

Does not apply  
  

266



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-12 

12. Recreation  
 

a.  What designated and informal recreational opportunities are in the 
immediate vicinity?  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Would the proposed project displace any existing recreational uses? If 

so, describe.  
 

Does not apply  
 

c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control impacts on recreation, 
including recreation opportunities to be provided by the project or 
applicant, if any:  

 
Does not apply  

 
13.  Historic and Cultural Preservation  

 
a.  Are there any places or objects listed on, or proposed for, national, 

state, or local preservation registers known to be on or next to the 
site? If so, generally describe.  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Generally describe any landmarks or evidence of historic, 

archaeological, scientific, or cultural importance known to be on or 
next to the site.  

 
Does not apply  

 
c.  Proposed measures to reduce or control impacts, if any:  

 
Does not apply  

 
14.  Transportation  

 
a.  Identify public streets and highways serving the site, and describe 

proposed access to the existing street system. Show on site plans, if 
any.  

 
Does not apply  

  

267



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-13 

b.  Is site currently served by public transit? If not, what is the 
approximate distance to the nearest transit stop?  
 
Does not apply  

 
c.  How many parking spaces would the completed project have? How 

many would the project eliminate?  
 
Does not apply  

 
d.  Will the proposal require any new roads or streets, or improvements 

to existing roads or streets, not including driveways? If so, generally 
describe (indicate whether public or private).  
 
Does not apply  

 
e.  Will the project use (or occur in the immediate vicinity of) water, rail, 

or air transportation? If so, generally describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
f.  How many vehicular trips per day would be generated by the 

completed project? If known, indicate when peak volumes would 
occur.  
 
Does not apply  

 
g.  Proposed measures to reduce or control transportation impacts, if 

any:  
 
Does not apply  
 

15.  Public Services  
 
a.  Would the project result in an increased need for public services (for 

example: fire protection, police protection, health care, schools, 
other)? If so, generally describe.  
 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Proposed measures to reduce or control direct impacts on public 

services, if any.  
 
Does not apply  

  

268



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-14 

16.  Utilities  
 

a.  Underline utilities currently available at the site: electricity, natural gas, 
water, refuse service, telephone, sanitary sewer, septic system, other.  

 
Does not apply  

 
b.  Describe the utilities that are proposed for the project, the utility providing 

the service, and the general construction activities on the site or in the 
immediate vicinity which might be needed.  

 
Does not apply  

 
C.  SIGNATURE  
 
The above answers are true and complete to the best of my knowledge. understand that the 
lead agency is relying on them to make its decision.  
 
 
Signature: ___________________________________________ 
 
 
Date Submitted: _____________________________________ 
  
D.  SUPPLEMENTAL SHEET FOR NON-PROJECT ACTIONS  
 
Because these questions are very general, it may be helpful to read them in conjunction with the 
list of the elements of the environment.  
 
When answering these questions, be aware of the extent the proposal, or the types of activities 
likely to result from the proposal, would affect the item at a greater intensity or at a faster rate 
than if the proposal were not implemented. Respond briefly and in general terms.  
 
1.  How would the proposal be likely to increase discharge to water; emissions to air; 

production, storage or release of toxic or hazardous substances; or production of 
noise?  

 
The proposed solid waste receiving facility improvements at the Coupeville, Bayview 
and Camano facilities include paving. Additional impervious surfaces will increase the 
rate and quantity of stormwater runoff from these sites.  
 
Increased participation in the drop-off moderate-risk waste collection program will 
increase automobile air emissions as participants drive to and from the  

 

269



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-15 

receiving facilities. Increased participation also increases the potential for accidents that 
could involve the release of toxic and hazardous substances.  
 
Increased subscription to waste collection services may increase noise emissions from 
waste collection vehicles.  
 
Proposed measures to avoid or reduce such increases are:  
 
Stormwater detention will be included in the site development plans for the receiving 
facility improvements.  
 
Solid waste generators will be encouraged to subscribe to commercial waste collection 
services to reduce the number of arriving vehicles at the waste receiving facilities.  

 
2.  How would the proposal be likely to affect plants, animals, fish, or marine life?  
 

The waste management recommendations are intended to protect and enhance 
environmental resources.  
 
Proposed measures to protect or conserve plants, animals, fish, or marine life are:  
 
Drop-off collection services for moderate-risk waste provides a safe means of disposing 
household hazardous waste and small quantity generator waste.  

 
3.  How would the proposal be likely to deplete energy or natural resources?  
 

Transporting and waste materials for recycling and disposal requires petroleum fuels. 
Electrical energy will be needed to process waste materials.  
 
The recommended recycling strategies are intended to conserve materials and avoid land 
disposal of waste materials.  
 
Proposed measures to protect or conserve energy and natural resources are:  
  
Waste reduction is the highest-priority waste management strategy.  

 
4.  How would the proposal be likely to use or affect environmentally sensitive areas or 

areas designated (or eligible or under study) for governmental protection; such as 
parks, wilderness, wild and scenic rivers, threatened or endangered species habitat, 
historic or cultural sites, wetlands, floodplains, or prime farmlands?  

  
The waste receiving facilities at Coupeville are located within the Central Whidbey 
Island Historical Preservation District.  
 

270



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-16 

Proposed measures to protect such resources or to avoid or reduce impacts are:  
 
The Central Whidbey Island Historical Preservation District will review construction 
plans for improvements at the Coupeville facility.  

 
5.  How would the proposal be likely to affect land and shoreline use, including 

whether it would allow or encourage land or shoreline uses incompatible with 
existing plans?  

 
Does not apply  
 
Proposed measures to avoid or reduce shoreline and land use impacts are:  
 
Does not apply  

 
6.  How would the proposal be likely to increase demands on transportation or public 

services and utilities?  
 

Drop-off collection services for recyclable materials, solid waste and moderate-risk waste 
will generate vehicular trips to the waste receiving facilities. Queuing problems affecting 
traffic flow on adjacent roadways may occur during periods of high demand.  
 
Proposed measures to reduce or respond to such demand(s) are:  
 
The feasibility of turning lanes on Highway 20 at the Coupeville receiving facility will be 
investigated.  

 
7.  Identify, if possible, whether the proposal may conflict with local, state, or federal 

laws or requirements for the protection of the environment.  
 

The proposal is consistent with all known local, state and federal laws and requirements 
for environmental protection.  

  
 

271



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-17 

 

272



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix A:  SEPA Checklist  A-18 

 

273



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-1 

 

Appendix B  
Cost Assessment Questionnaire  

 
Please provide the information requested below:  
 
PLAN PREPARED FOR THE COUNTY OF: Island       
 
PLAN PREPARED FOR THE CITY OF:          
 
PREPARED BY: Rick Hlavka, Green Solutions        
 
CONTACT TELEPHONE: _(360) 897-9533    DATE: February 5, 2007  

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Please provide these definitions as used in the Solid Waste Management Plan and the Cost 
Assessment Questionnaire.  
 
Throughout this document:  
YR.l shall refer to 2007  
YR.3 shall refer to 2009  
YR.6 shall refer to 2012  
 
Year refers to (circle one)  Calendar (Jan 01 - Dec 31)  
  

274



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-2 

1.  DEMOGRAPHICS:  To assess the generation, recycling and disposal rates of an area, it 
is necessary to have population data. This information is available from many sources 
(e.g., the State Data Book, County Business Patterns, or the State Office of Finance and 
Management).  

 
1.1  Population  

 
1.1.1  What is the total population of your County/City?  

 
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
77,860 79,720 83,400 

 
1.1.2 For counties, what is the population of the area under your jurisdiction? 

(Exclude cities choosing to develop their own solid waste management 
system.)  

 
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
77,860 79,720 83,400 

 
1.2  References and Assumptions  

 
See Table 3-2. 

 
 
2. WASTE STREAM GENERATION: The following questions ask for total tons 

recycled and total tons disposed. Total tons disposed are those tons disposed of at a 
landfill, incinerator, transfer station or any other form of disposal you may be using. If 
other please identify.  

 
2.1  Tonnage Recycled  

 
2.1.1 Please provide the total tonnage recycled in the base year, and projections for 

years three and six.  
 

Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
10,455 11,900 14,400 

 
2.2  Tonnage Disposed  

 
2.2.1 Please provide the total tonnage disposed in the base year, and projections for 

years three and six.  
 

Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
59,670 69,100 87,100 

 

275



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-3 

2.3  References and Assumptions  
 

See Table 4-1. 
 
 

3  SYSTEM COMPONENT COSTS: This section asks questions specifically related to 
the types of programs currently in use and those recommended to be started. For each 
component (i.e., waste reduction, landfill, composting, etc.) please describe the 
anticipated costs of the program(s), the assumptions used in estimating the costs and the 
funding mechanisms to be used to pay for it. The heart of deriving a rate impact is to 
know what programs will be passed through to the collection rates, as opposed to being 
paid for through grants, bonds, taxes and the like.  

 
3.1  Waste Reduction Programs  

 
3.1.1 Please list the solid waste programs which have been implemented and those 

programs which are proposed. If these programs are defined in the SWM plan 
please provide the page number. (Attach additional sheets as necessary.)  

 
Implemented Proposed 

See pages 5-1 and 5-2 Financial Support for Reuse 
Organizations 

 Youth Education Program 
 Adult Education Program 

 
3.1.2 What are the costs, capital costs and operating costs for waste reduction programs 

implemented and proposed?  
 

Implemented   
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 

   
Proposed    

Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
85,000 85,000 85,000 

 
3.1.3  Please describe the funding mechanism(s) that will pay the cost of the programs 

in 3.1.2.  
 

Implemented   
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 

   
Proposed    

Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
Tipping Fee Tipping Fee Tipping Fee 

 

276



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-4 

3.2  Recycling Programs  
 

3.2.1 Please list the proposed or implemented recycling program (s) and, their costs, 
and proposed funding mechanism or provide the page number in the draft plan on 
which it is discussed. (Attach additional sheets as necessary.)  

 
Implemented  

Program Cost Funding 
Drop-Off Stations  483,400 Tipping Fee 
Curbside Collection - 
City of Oak Harbor 190,800 Municipal Garbage Rates

   
Proposed    

Program Cost Funding 

Curbside Recycling 753,000 per year Service Fees and 
Materials Sales 

Camano Facility 
Improvements 100,000 Tipping Fee 

   
 
3.3  Solid Waste Collection Programs  
 

3.3.1  Regulated Solid Waste Collection Programs  
 

Fill in the table below for each UTC regulated solid waste collection entity in your 
jurisdiction. (Make additional copies of this section as necessary to record all such 
entities in your jurisdiction.)  

 
UTC Regulated Hauler Name Island Disposal, Inc. 

G-Permit #154     

 Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
Residential and Commercial     

# of Customers  9,930 10,160 10,630 
Tonnage Collected  16,900 17,300 18,100 

 

UTC Regulated Hauler Name  Waste Management of Skagit 
County  

G-Permit #237     

 Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
Residential and Commercial     

# of Customers  3,363 3,443 3,600 
Tonnage Collected  744 762 797 

277



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-5 

3.3.2  Other (non-regulated) Solid Waste Collection Programs Fill in the table below for 
other solid waste collection entities in your jurisdiction. (Make additional copies 
of this section as necessary to record all such entities in your jurisdiction.)  

 
Hauler Name  City of Oak Harbor 

 Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
# of Customers  3,994 4,080 4,280 
Tonnage Collected  8,500 8,700 9,100 

 
3.4  Energy Recovery & Incineration (ER&I Programs)  

 
NA, no such facilities  

 
3.5  Land Disposal Program  

 
NA, no such facilities 

 
3.6  Administration Program  
 

3.6.1  What is the budgeted cost for administering the solid waste and recycling 
programs and what are the major funding sources.  

 
Budgeted Cost  

Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
303,905 316,200 335,500 

Funding Source   
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 

Tipping Fee Tipping Fee Tipping Fee 
 
 

3.6.2  Which cost components are included in these estimates?  
 

Management-related services provided by County departments including Public 
Works, Auditor, Treasurer’s Office, Central Services, Maintenance, Human 
Resources, Prosecuting Attorney, General Service and Board of County 
Commissioners.  

 
3.6.3  Please describe the funding mechanism(s) that will recover the cost of each 

component.  
 

Tipping Fees  

278



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-6 

3.7  Other Programs  
 

For each program in effect or planned which does not readily fall into one of the 
previously described categories please answer the following questions.  
 
3.7.1  Describe the program, or provide a page number reference to the plan.  

 
Moderate-Risk Waste  

 
3.7.2 Owner/Operator:  Island County       

 
3.7.3  Is UTC Regulation Involved? If so, please explain the extent of involvement in 

section 3.8.  
 

No  
 

3.7.4  Please estimate the anticipated costs for this program, including capital and 
operating expenses.  

 
Year 1 Year 3 Year 6 
188,500 196,100 208,100 

 
3.7.5  Please describe the funding mechanism(s) that will recover the cost of this 

component.  
 

Tipping Fees  
Coordinated Prevention Grant  

 
3.8  References and Assumptions  
 

Costs shown in sections 3.6.1 and 3.7.4 are 2007 and 2005 figures, respectively, escalated 
at 2% per year. Actual budgets for these activities have not been adopted at this time.  

 
 
4. FUNDING MECHANISMS: This section relates specifically to the funding mechanisms 

currently in use and the ones that will be implemented to incorporate the recommended 
programs in the draft plan. Because the way a program is funded directly relates to the 
costs a resident or commercial customer will have to pay, this section is crucial to the 
cost assessment process.  

 
4.1 Funding Mechanisms (Summary by Facility) 

 
The following tables provide information on funding sources for programs and activities. 

 

279



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-7 

 
Table 4.1.1    Facility Inventory 

Facility Name Type of 
Facility 

Tip Fee Transfer Cost Transfer 
Station 

Location 

Final Disposal 
Location 

Total Tons 
Disposed 

(2005) 

Total Revenue Generated  
(Tip Fee x Tons) 

Island County Solid Waste 
Complex 

Transfer 
Station 

See Table 
8.1 NA Near 

Coupeville 
Roosevelt Regional 

Landfill See Table 8.2 2,047,300 

Camano Transfer Station Transfer 
Station 

See Table 
8.1 NA Camano Island Roosevelt Regional 

Landfill See Table 8.2 806,677 

Oak Harbor Drop Box 
Station Drop Box See Table 

8.1 NA Near Oak 
Harbor 

Roosevelt Regional 
Landfill See Table 8.2 67,737 

Bayview Drop Box Station Drop Box See Table 
8.1 NA Near Bayview Roosevelt Regional 

Landfill See Table 8.2 222,451 

 
 
 

Table 4.1.2    Tip Fee Components 
Tip Fee by Facility Surcharge City Tax State and 

County Tax
Trans. and 

Disposal Cost 
Operational Cost Admn. Cost Closure Costs 

Island County Solid Waste 
Complex NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Camano Transfer Station NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 
Oak Harbor Drop Box 
Station NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

Bayview Drop Box Station NA NA NA NA NA NA NA 

All Facilities 0 0 3.5% See operational 
cost 84.6% 6.5% 5.4% 

 

280



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-8 

 
Table 4.1.3    Funding Mechanism 

Name of Program  Bond 
Name 

Total Bond 
Debt 

Bond 
Rate 

Bond Due 
Date 

Grant Name Grant Amount Tip Fee Taxes Other Surcharge 

Waste Reduction       100%    
Recycling     CPG NA     
Moderate-Risk Waste     CPG NA     

 
 
 

Table 4.1.4    Tip Fee Forecast 

Tip Fee per Ton  Year One Year Two Year Three Year Four Year Five Year Six 

Island County Solid Waste 
Complex $111.53 $111.53 $111.53 $116.00 $116.00 $116.00 

Camano Transfer Station $111.53 $111.53 $111.53 $116.00 $116.00 $116.00 
Oak Harbor Drop Box 
Station $111.53 $111.53 $111.53 $116.00 $116.00 $116.00 

Bayview Drop Box Station $111.53 $111.53 $111.53 $116.00 $116.00 $116.00 
 

Note:  The tip fee shown in the above table is for mixed solid waste delivered by municipal and franchise haulers only (see Table 8.1 for 
fees currently charged for other types of customers and other types of wastes).  Fees for Years One through Three have been 
established by county ordinance.  Fees for Years Four through Six have not been determined yet, and will likely be determined 
through a rate study anticipated to be conducted in 2009.  For present planning purposes, the projected fees shown in Table 4.1.4 
for Years Four through Six assume a 4% increase over the previous rate-setting period. 

281



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-9 

4.2  Funding Mechanism Summary: In these matrices below, please summarize the way 
programs will be funded in the key years. For each component, provide the expected 
percentage of the total cost met by each funding mechanism. (e.g. Waste. reduction may 
rely on tip fees, grants, and collection rates for funding). You would provide the 
estimated responsibility in the table as follows: Tip Fees = 10%, Grants = 50% and 
Collection Rates = 40%. The mechanisms must total to 100%.) If components can be 
classified as "other", please note the programs and their appropriate mechanisms. Provide 
attachments as necessary.  

 
4.2.1 Year One  

 
Funding Mechanism (in percent) 

Component  Tip Fee Grant Bond Collection 
Tax  

Rates, Service 
Fees Other Total 

Waste Reduction  100      100 
Recycling  100      100 
Collection      100  100 
ER&I  100       
Transfer  100      100 
Land Disposal  100      100 
Administration  100      100 
Other         

Moderate-Risk 
Waste 50 50     100 

Regulation  100      100 
 
 

4.2.2  Year Three  
 

Funding Mechanism (in percent) 

Component  Tip Fee Grant Bond Collection 
Tax  

Rates, Service 
Fees Other Total 

Waste Reduction  100      100 
Recycling  42    58  100 
Collection      100  100 
ER&I  100       
Transfer  100      100 
Land Disposal  100      100 
Administration  100      100 
Other         

Moderate-Risk 
Waste 50 50     100 

Regulation  100      100 
 

282



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix B:  Cost Assessment Questionnaire  B-10 

 
4.2.3  Year Six  

 
Funding Mechanism (in percent) 

Component  Tip Fee Grant Bond Collection 
Tax  

Rates, Service 
Fees Other Total 

Waste Reduction  100      100 
Recycling  42    58  100 
Collection      100  100 
ER&I  100       
Transfer  100      100 
Land Disposal  100      100 
Administration  100      100 
Other         

Moderate-Risk 
Waste 50 50     100 

Regulation  100      100 
 
 
4.3  References and Assumptions  
 

See Section 14.  
 
4.4  Surplus Funds 
 
 NA 

283



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix C:  Interlocal Agreements  C-1 

Appendix C  
Interlocal Agreements for Solid Waste  

Management Planning 
 
Interlocal agreements between Island County and the Cities of Oak Harbor and Langley, the 
Town of Coupeville and Naval Air Station Whidbey Island are presented in this appendix. 

284



 

285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

305



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix D:  Resolutions of Adoption  D-1 

 

Appendix D  
Resolutions of Adoption 

 
Resolutions adopting the Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management 
Plan will be shown in this appendix.  
 

306



Island County Solid and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan 

Appendix D:  Resolutions of Adoption  D-2 

 
PENDING 
 
 

307



308



   

OHPD 
OAK HARBOR POLICE DEPARTMENT 

A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
e

p
o

rt
 2

0
1

3
 

309



 

Oak Harbor Police 
Department 

860 S.E. Barrington Drive 

Oak Harbor, WA  98277 

 

Phone:  360.279.4600 

Fax:  360.279.4609 

www.OakHarbor.org 

310



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Introduction 
            Message From The Chief --------- 4 
            “Coming Attractions” ------------- 5 
             
1. About the OHPD 

Mission Statement & Values ------ 6 
Facts in Brief ----------------------- 7 
Organizational Chart -------------- 8 
Police Budget ---------------------- 9 
Community Advisory Board ------ 10 
Training --------------------------- 12 
Personnel Updates---------------- 13 
 

2. Administration Division  
Personnel  ------------------------ 14 
 

3. Community Services 
Community Service Team -------- 15 
Community Service Officer ------ 16 
School Resource Officer ---------- 20 
Traffic Safety Officer ------------- 24 
Animal Control Officer ------------ 26 
  A.C. Holding Facility ------------ 26 
Animal Control Budget ----------- 27 
Chaplain  -------------------------- 28 
 

4. Investigation Division 
Information & Statistics ---------- 30 
Detectives ------------------------ 31 
Drug Enforcement Officer -------- 34 

 
5. Jail Division 

Information & Statistics ---------- 36 
 

6. Records Division 
Information & Statistics ---------- 38 

 
 
7. Patrol Division 

Information ----------------------- 41 
A Squad  ------------------------ 42 
B & C Squads --------------------- 44 
D Squad  ------------------------ 48 
Calls for Service ------------------ 50 
 

8. Special Units 
High Risk Entry Team (HRET) --- 52 
Hostage / Crisis Negotiation ----- 56 

 
9. Auxiliary Units 

Citizen Volunteers ---------------- 57 
Reserve Officer Unit ------------- 58 
Explorer Post --------------------- 60 

 
10. Traffic Activity 

Information & Statistics --------- 62 
DUI Arrests ----------------------- 62 
Citations      ---------------------- 63 
Traffic Stops ---------------------- 63 
Activity Dispositions ------------- 63 
Tickets By Location -------------- 64 
Reportable Collisions ------------- 65 
Accident Enforcement ------------ 65 
Collisions  ------------------------ 66 
Accidents By Location ------------ 67 
 

11. Statistics 
Arrests  ---------------------------- 68 
Part 1 Crimes --------------------- 71 
Other Crimes --------------------- 71 
Arrest Classifications ------------- 71 
Offenses Reported --------------- 72 
Property Loss Statement -------- 74 
Vehicle Loss Statement ---------- 75 
 

12. Photos 
Photos  ---------------------------- 76 

O  H  P  D  

2013 A  R  

311



4 

M  F  T  C  
  The Oak Harbor Police Department and the Oak Harbor Community are everything I have hoped it 

would be. Since taking the reins as Chief in 2012 I have tried to implement a more community oriented 

approach to what we are doing. I have worked with the department to get back to the basics, doing police 

work. With that in mind, I have asked that every member of the department remember our mission 

statement and our core values and to work towards these every day in everything we do. 
 

  Oak Harbor is a great City with a lot to offer. And it is the job of the police department to ensure 

that while you are enjoying those ameni es you are safe.  But we can’t do that alone and we need to work 

with our community.  
 

  The men and women of the Oak Harbor Police Department take these statements seriously, partly 

because most of them are community members and they feel a sense of obliga on to their neighbors and 

friends. This is not a job they take for granted.  
 

  The efforts of these fine men and women are reflected in this report. It is the result of many long 

hours away from home, some mes at the expense of kids’ games, family func ons and holidays. But it is 

their commitment to you, the community that has led to a safer Oak Harbor; a safe place to live, play and 

enjoy a high quality of life. 
 

  As you read through this publica on you will see a comprehensive view of what the Oak Harbor 

Police Department did in 2013. 
 

  Hopefully, your review of this annual report will give you some insight into the day to day 

opera ons of the Oak Harbor Police Department. 

 

Respec ully, 

 

 

 

 

 

Edgar J. Green 

Chief of Police 

Chief Green presen ng a liquor compliance 
check award to Saar’s Marketplace. 

O  H  P  D  

312



5 

C  A  
  The Oak Harbor Police Department was short staffed for a large por on of  me in 2013 and will 

con nue to be so in 2014. This was not as a result of people wan ng to leave because they are upset or 

disenchanted with the department; the departures have come as a result of re rements. The employees 

have generally enjoyed working for the City and most have stayed for twenty years or more.   
 

  I men on this, because this sec on of the annual report is normally reserved for me telling you 

what to expect in the year to come. What “new and exci ng thing” we are planning. For us, “new and 

exci ng” this year will be the hiring of new police officers; giving young people a chance at this career that 

many of us have enjoyed for a long  me.  
 

  By the end of 2014 I will have hired two civilian staff members and six uniformed sworn staff 

members for the police department since I was hired as your chief in 2012.   
 

  So our “Coming A rac ons” (upcoming year) is being focused on ge ng these newly hired people 

trained to provide the best possible service we can to our community.  
 

  Rest assured we will con nue with our Neighborhood Watch programs, our Volunteer programs, 

School Resource Officer, etc. But some of these programs may not get all of the a en on we would like to 

dedicate to them while we work towards ge ng our staffing levels back to what they need to be. But once 

we are back to full staff, we will be able to return our focus to all of the aspects of the department that 

benefit the community. 
 

  Hiring a civilian staff person for a police department is a one to three month process. For a 

uniformed sworn officer it can be six months to eighteen months. This is because we want to select the 

D  T  C    S  

right person for the job, one who embraces our mo o and core 

values. And once they are selected they must get through Federal, 

State and local background checks. Once this is complete we begin 

training.  

  So I wish I could spend the  me wri ng this tou ng about 

“what new thing” we are going to do, but I can’t. I can tell you that 

we are working diligently to restore our staffing levels and I will 

assure you that they will be the best possible candidates for the jobs, 

because the City of Oak Harbor deserves the best! 

Mayor Sco  Dudley, City Opera ons Manager Rich Tyhuis   
and Chief Ed Green at the installa on of the first  

Neighborhood Watch sign in July. 

313



6 

1   ~    A   T  O  H  

                        P  D  

O  H  P  D  M  S    V  

 

M  S  

D    C  S    S  

 

C  V  

To Involve the Community in All Policing Ac vi es Which Directly Affect the Quality of Life 

To Preserve and Advance the Principles of Democracy 

To Maintain Crime Preven on as Our Primary Goal 

To Manage Our Resources Carefully and Effec vely 

To Involve the Employees in Ma ers That Affect Job Sa sfac on and Effec veness 

To Maintain the Highest Levels of Integrity and Professionalism in All Aspects of Our Opera ons 

“The Oak Harbor Police Department embodies everything 

I think a police department should be. The officers who 

work this department are some of the finest people I 

have ever met, and I am honored to be working with 

them. The Oak Harbor Police Department is ‘your police 

department’, and I would encourage any one of you to 

stop in and say ‘hi’ if you have the opportunity.”  

~Chief Ed Green 

314



7 

F  I  B  

Oak Harbor 
City Limits 
9.42 Square 
  Miles 

City 
Popula on 
Est. 22,118 
As of April 

2012 

Miles of 
Streets 
68.74 

Local 
Businesses 

1,513 

Public Schools 
Nine 

Students 
Enrolled 
5,190 

NAS Whidbey 
6,800 Military Personnel 
1,200 Civilian Employees 

1,200 Contractors Island County 
Popula on 
78,506 

 

Yearly Visitors 
to Decep on 
Pass State Park 

(2013) 
2,000,000 

Skagit Valley 
College 
1,100 

Students 
75 Staff 

315



8 

O  

C  

O  H    

P    

D  

316



9 

2013 P  B  

E  

O  B  

 Budgeted  Spent  Balance  % 

2012  $5,033,682  $4,878,557.62  $155,079.12  96.92% 

2013  $4,960,768  $4,976,840.48  ‐$16,072.48  100.32% 

L  E  

317



10 

  The Police Community Advisory Board (CAB) was established  in 1991 by the Mayor and City 

Council, with the goal of establishing a close rela onship between the Police Department and the 

community. All of the Board members are chosen as  “stakeholders” from the community, including one 

High School student, re red ci zens, educators, military representa ves, business owners or managers, 

and several City residents. 

  Our goal last year was to increase the visibility of  CAB throughout our community. This was 

accomplished in many ways. The first step was to design and distribute a handout so that the community 

would know who they are, what they do, and how to get in touch with them. Another accomplishment 

was developing and publishing both on the web and as a handout, a Community Survey. Over 100 

responses were collected and gave the Commi ee insight into what the Ci zens of Oak Harbor  are 

looking for from their police department as well as other sugges ons. These dedicated members also 

par cipated in graffi  removal projects across the city working with our ci zen volunteers, reserve 

officers, military personnel, city staff and many others.  Na onal Night Out has provided a pla orm to 

interact one on one with many ci zens. It provides a great opportunity for outreach to ci zens of all ages. 

  In 2014 the CAB is looking to evaluate the effec veness of the Community survey and adjust it as 

needed to collec on addi onal informa on; begin a door knocking campaign with both residents and 

businesses to discuss police services; and visit different organiza ons to talk about police services. 

  The Oak Harbor Police Department CAB meets on the 2nd Tuesday of every month, at 4:15 p.m., 

at the Oak Harbor Police Department.  Mee ngs are open to the public and ci zens are welcome and    

encouraged to a end. Please join us! 

Enhance police / community rela ons. 

Promote public awareness of the City’s police services and programs. 

Serve as the liaison between the police department and the community. 

T  C  A  B  

C  A  B  ~ CAB 

Ed Johnson  Gene Barner  Jeff Campbell  Nora Daniel 

318



11 

 Contact any of the Board members by 
phone or eMail. We want to hear 
from you. Please give us your 
comments and concerns. 

 
Phone Line: 

360.675.1572 

eMail: 
CAB@OakHarbor.org 

2013  

Board  Members  
 

Chair: Ed Johnson  (09/2016) 

Gene Barner (04/2015) 

Jeffrey Campbell (03/2017) 

Nora Daniel (03/2016) 

Terry Lacey (04/2014) 

Lucas Yonkman (03/2015) 

Robert Young (04/2015) 

Member Posi on ~ Vacant 

Student Posi on ~ Vacant 

Terry Lacey  Lucas Yonkman  Robert Young 

This could 

be you! 

Vacancy 

C  A  B  ~ CAB 

G  R  

N  N  O  

319



12 

  In January 2006, the Washington State Criminal Jus ce Training Commission required that every 

peace officer cer fied under RCW 43.101.095 must complete a minimum of twenty‐four hours of in‐

service training annually.  Since 2006, the Oak Harbor Police Department failed to meet those standards 

in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2010 and 2011.  In 2012 and 2013, the Oak Harbor Police Department took a more 

aggressive approach toward making sure that officers met the minimum of twenty‐four hours of training, 

which enable the department to successfully meet those requirements two years in a row. 
 

  In 2013, the Oak Harbor Police Department a ended a total of 3,888 hours of training conducted 

by the Washington State Criminal Jus ce Training Commission, the Washington State Patrol, the Federal 

Bureau of Inves ga on, private training consultants and local in‐service training.  This training amounted 

to an average of 86.4 hours for each of the Department’s 45 staff and reserves. 

S  S  P  (4) 

2013Training Hours  77 

Avg. Hours per Employee  19 

A  P  (3) 

2013 Training Hours  194 

Avg. Hours per Employee  65 

P  D  O  (19) 

2013 Training Hours  1,840 

Avg. Hours per Officer  97 

I  D   
O  (5) 

2013 Training Hours  561 

Avg. Hours per Officer  112 

C   O  (7) 

2013 Training Hours  163 

Avg. Hours per Officer  23 

T  

R  O  (6) 

2013 Training Hours  956 

Avg. Hours per Officer  159 

Joint training with the Fire Department. 
Firearms training at the shoo ng range. 

A  C  (1) 

2013 Training Hours  97 

320



13 

P  U  

Martha Folsom  

A er 33+ years of service, 

Martha re red on August 

31, 2013. She is enjoying  

herself spending  me with 

her family including, her  

husband Tim, 3 children, 4 

grandchildren, 3 horses and 

2 dogs.  

Robert Mirabal 

Officer Mirabal served three 

years with the OHPD. He had 

an opportunity to return to 

the Island County Sheriff’s 

department so we s ll see 

him from  me to  me. He 

has also con nued in his role 

as volunteer firefighter for 

Oak Harbor. 

Larry Ferguson 

Sergeant Ferguson re red 

a er serving 15+ years. He 

and his wife Pam have 

moved to Florida to be    

closer to family. 

 
 

2013  
Department  
Milestones  

 
January 

Renee Hammer 
10 Year Service 

 
March 

Larry Ferguson 
15 Year Service 

 
August 

Ron Esparza 
10 Year Service 

 

Tony Slowik 
10 Year Service 

 
November 

Dennis Dickinson 
15 Year Service 

 

Mel Lolmaugh 
15 Year Service 

321



14 

2   ~    A  D  

C  E  G    

Chief Green was born  in Los Angeles, CA, and went to work at the Los 

Angeles Police Department  in 1986. He worked there un l 1993, when 

he moved  to Washington State and  se led  in Port Townsend with his 

wife Chris e and  their  two daughters. He worked  for  the City of Port 

Townsend  Police Department  from  1993  to  2012;  as  a  bicycle  patrol 

officer, a  regular patrol officer, and a  training officer.  In 2001, he was 

promoted to Sergeant, and in 2006, to Administra ve Sergeant (second 

in command). On October 29, 2012, Chief Green was hired by the City of 

Oak Harbor as the Police Chief.  Chief Green holds a BA in Social Science 

from Washington State University.  

C  T  S   

Captain Sterkel was in the Navy when he moved to Whidbey Island in 

1972.  He began with the OHPD soon a er as a Reserve Officer and was 

hired on full‐ me in 1975., and was promoted to detec ve in 1979. Nine 

years later he was promoted to Sergeant and was placed in charge of 

drug inves ga ons. He was appointed Lieutenant in 2007 And then  

Captain in 2012. Tim and his wife live  on Whidbey Island and spend 

their free  me trail riding with their horses. 

A  A  M  M   

Meg was born and raised in northern New Jersey. She moved to Port 

Townsend in 1999. She holds a BA in Psychology from the College of Mt. 

St. Vincent in  Riverdale, New York. She has many years of experience as 

an Administra ve Assistant for companies large and small ranging from 

Warner Bros. Records in Manha an to MarinerBank, a local community 

bank in Port Townsend. Meg was hired in October to fill the vacancy 

when Martha Folsom re red a er  over 30 years with the City of Oak 

Harbor. Meg was recently married and she and her husband Preston live 

in Oak Harbor.  

322



15 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C  S  T   

The Community Service Team (CST)  is compromised of five full‐ me posi ons, the Division is serviced by 

the Community Service Sergeant and consists of a Community Service Officer,  School Resource Officer, 

Traffic Safety Officer and an Animal Control Officer. The CST is responsible to promo ng and marke ng 

the Oak Harbor Police Department. It is also a func on of the Unit to form strong partnerships with  

ci zens, businesses and various groups, in order to work together to deter, prevent and reduce criminal 

ac vity. 

C   S   S  

Sgt. Mike Bailey; CST 

C  S  S   

M  B  

Mike Bailey is a police officer of supervisory rank, whose primary  

du es are the direct supervision of the Community Service Officer, 

Traffic Safety Officer, School Resource Officer and Animal Control 

Officer.  The Community Service Sergeant also oversees and supervises 

the department’s Ci zen Volunteers, Reserve Officer program, FTO 

program along with ac ng as the Department’s Training Coordinator 

and Grant Writer. The responsibility of the Community Service  

Sergeant is to maintain consistent a en on and commitment to the 

Police Department’s Vision and Mission toward providing quality  

service to the ci zens of Oak Harbor. 

Sergeant Bailey and others at  

Na onal Night Out in August. 

G  A  

In 2013 the Oak Harbor Police Department was 

awarded $19, 649.54 in grant funds for various 

projects/equipment.  These grant funds were 

used to purchase new Radar Systems, Portable 

Breath Testers and Ballis c Vests for Officers.  

Grant funds were also used to conduct special 

proac ve projects, such as DUI emphasis and 

Undercover Alcohol Sales to Minors. 

323



16 

Community Service  

Officer Jennifer Yzaguirre: 

Officer Yzaguirre is a commissioned uniformed police officer who per‐

forms a variety of police‐related public service du es.  The Community 

Service Officer provides crime preven on and public educa on to ci zens 

and businesses within the City of Oak Harbor through various mee ngs 

and directed patrol efforts. 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C   S  O   ( C S O )  

Jennifer Yzaguirre; CSO 

P  S  P  

Officer Yzaguirre also presented to 

several groups about workplace safety, 

violence, trespassing, homeless and 

loiters, home and personal safety. 

 Oak Harbor Library 

 OH Chamber of Commerce 

 Oak Harbor Rotary Club 

 DSHS / CPS 

 CADA 

 St Augus ne’s Catholic Church 

 Chris an Science Society Church 

Officer Yzaguirre also started monthly merchant 

mee ngs with all Oak Harbor retail stores, where they 

share photos and discuss the  and fraud suspects.  

I  T  P  

Officer Yzaguirre partnered with Navy Federal bank 

manager, Dawn Shumate and presented on fraud 

preven on for senior ci zens.  

R  T  P  

B  R  P  

Oak Harbor has 11 banks. Officer Yzaguirre organized a 

mee ng with all Oak Harbor bank mangers. This will 

con nue quarterly as they share about the latest fraud, 

scams, robbery preven on, etc. 

Officer Yzaguirre,  
 

  Keep up the good work as the Community Service 

Officer; we have had no issues with vandalism or the 

homeless /alcoholic campers for many months now.  It 

took a few years, but the diligence on everyone's part has 

made a huge difference.  

  Thank you again for all of your and the other 

officer’s efforts in making our community cleaner and 

safer. 
 

~ Excerpt from a Thank You le er  

from a local business owner . 
Neighborhood Watch Mee ng 

324



17 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C   S  O   ( C S O )  

In 2013 Officer Yzaguirre established and 

formed 13 neighborhood watch groups. She 

also has held quarterly Neighborhood Watch 

captains mee ng.  

What is a Neighborhood Watch? 

A neighborhood watch program is a group of 

people living in the same area who want to 

make their neighborhood safer by working 

together and in conjunc on with local law 

enforcement to reduce crime and improve their 

quality of life. Neighborhood Watch (NW) 

groups have mee ngs to plan how they will 

accomplish their specific goals and has NW 

Captains with assigned responsibili es. 

N  W  

How Do I Establish A Neighborhood Watch 

Program In My Neighborhood? 

Neighborhood Watch’s Three Components: 

1.  Create and distribute a Member List 

2.  Complete Opera on Iden fica on 

3.  Hold Quarterly Mee ngs 

~ Have Fun With Your Neighbors ~ 

C  S  E  V  

Officer Yzaguirre developed several 

videos on educa ng the public for 

channel 10 and the front lobby of the 

Oak Harbor Police Department:  

 Traffic Safety with Officer Loyd 

Carter 

 Animal Control with Officer Terry 

Sampson 

 School Safety with Officer Dennis 

Dickinson,  

 Fireworks: Deputy Fire Chief Mike 

Buxton 

 Halloween Safe Trick or Treat with 

Ci zen Volunteers, 

 OHHS Senior Project: Traffic Video 

Officer Yzaguirre and others at one of many 
Graffi  Removal events around the City. 

325



18 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C   S  O   ( C S O )  

C  I  

Officer Yzaguirre also a ends various community business mee ngs in order to provide those businesses 

with a Law Enforcement perspec ve on dealing with problems, such as loitering, panhandling, 

skateboarding and other problems they encounter.  Officer Yzaguirre provides businesses with a direct 

point of contact at the Oak Harbor Police Department and works with them on being more proac ve 

toward resolving their concerns / problems. 

 OH Chamber of Commerce: Conducted Presenta ons at various business luncheons. 

 Downtown Merchants: Addressed shopli ing, loitering and skateboard problems. 

 Oak Harbor Youth Commission: The OHYC is a diverse group of community volunteers appointed by 

Oak Harbor's Mayor and City Council to iden fy and assess the needs of young people in our 

community, and to advocate and work collabora vely on their behalf. 

 Community Treatment Team: Island County Human Services meets monthly to discuss those who 

suffer from mental health issues and treatment plans on Whidbey Island. 

 Safe Kids: Funded the purchase of a 24/7 prescrip on drop off bin for Whidbey island residents that 

have old or new prescrip on pills to dispose of. 

F  P  

Community Alert Posted 11‐2013 

OHPD has seen an increase in iden fy the  cases 

recently, most as a result of mail being stolen 

from unsecured mail boxes. We recommend  

ci zens  consider either purchasing a locked mail 

box or ren ng a Post Office Box. We are also 

seeing an increase in  packages being stolen from 

homes when no one is there at the  me of 

delivery. We recommend that you  have packages 

delivered to loca ons where someone is available 

to receive the package. Another op on, with the 

permission  from your employer, would be  to 

have packages delivered to your place of work. 

Find us on Facebook® 
Oak Harbor PD 

326



19 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C   S  O   ( C S O )  

C  P   

Safe Kids 

Officer Yzaguirre also joined Safe Kids board for Skagit‐Island 

County. Safe Kids is a global organiza on dedicated to 

preven ng injuries in children. Safe Kids is a program which 

combines educa on, awareness, environmental changes and 

Department Of Social & Health Services 

The Department  of Social and Health Services (DSHS) 

Conducts monthly checks on EBT cards that are being used by 

Home Depot Safety Fair 

Par cipates and organizes the Oak Harbor Police Department’s 

involvement in the annual Safety Fair. 

Na onal Night Out 

Officer Yzaguirre, along with United Way coordinated Na onal 

Night Out in 2013 and had over 1,500 people a end. 

Coordinated Entry of Island County 

Officer Yzaguirre is also a part of planning and formula ng the 

housing resource center for Island County, this will be a 

combined program of all services for housing the homeless, 

Law Enforcement Partnership To  

Reduce Underage Drinking Project 

Oak Harbor Youth Commission along with Island Human 

Services and the Oak Harbor Police Department received a 

grant to help conduct alcohol compliance checks. Officer 

Yzaguirre partnered with WA Liquor Control and conducted 10 

checks on various businesses in OH. Officer Yzaguirre and 

Police Chief, Ed Green provided cer ficates to those businesses 

that passed and refused sales of alcohols to minors. 

327



20 

3   ~   C   S   T  

S   R  O   ( S RO )  

Dennis Dickinson; SRO 

The  2012 ‐2013  school  year    

was  the  first   fu l l  year   for   the    

SRO  program  which  was   launched  

in  March  of  2012.  

 

  The program has made great strides 

since its incep on in early 2012. It took team 

work between the district and the police  

department to make it possible for patrol 

units, detec ves and administra on staff to 

have the ability to gain entry into the Oak 

Harbor School District buildings during an 

emergency.  
 

  The program has gained momentum 

with regards to training. The OHFD and OHPD 

have taken a pro‐ac ve approach when it 

comes to safety within the OHSD. The  

OHFD and OHPD have partnered together in 

combining resources to effec vely minimize 

the  me it takes to get to those who need 

help and/or medical care. The training has 

allowed OHFD personnel to be embedded 

with OHPD personnel during a crisis such as 

an ac ve shooter scenario. 
 

  Each school in the district has taken 

great steps to ensure they are ready for any 

emergency that comes their way. A lock 

down drill is just one of the ways the schools 

keep everyone safe. 

The  School  Resource  Officer    

wears  many  hats  when  

interac ng  with  students ,    

staff and  parents .  

 
 

  It is common for students, staff and  

parents to contact the resource officer about a 

variety of topics throughout the school day. The 

topics can include family, school, work, home and 

peer issues. 
 

  The resource officer can be a teacher or 

counselor at one moment and turn around to  

mediate an issue between students or between a 

student and their parents. The interac on with 

the students on a daily basis has created a mutual 

trust and respect that can be seen. The posi on 

has afforded students, staff and parents the 

chance to interact with law enforcement in other 

ways rather than within the judicial system. 

328



21 

3   ~   C   S   T  

S   R  O   ( S RO )  

The  Oak  Harbor  Pol ice  Department  
School  Resource  Officer   (SRO)  program  
i s  a  partnersh ip  between   the  
department  and   the  Oak  Harbor  
School  Distr ict  with   the  goal  of  
establ i sh ing  a  safe  environment   for  
the   learn ing  process  and  el imina ng  
barr iers  between  youth  and  pol ice .  
The  SRO  works  c lose ly  with  OHSD  
administra ve  staff and  has  become  
part  of   the   team  solv ing  a  var iety  of  
problems  and   i ssues   that  evolve  
around   the  distr ict  when   i t  comes   to  
students ,  staff and  parents .  

 
The OHSD is comprised of 9 schools K‐12 with 
an es mated popula on of 5,500 students. The 
main popula on of students is within the OHHS 
at around 1,600 students followed by OHMS 
and NWMS with approximately 1,100 students. 
Though most of the resource officer’s  me is 
spent at the above 3 loca ons  me is also spent 
at the other schools.  
The program has made it possible to pursue a 
variety of training and projects to enhance the 
overall mission and goals to be er serve the 
OHSD when it comes to safety. 
 SRO Conference 
 Ac ve Shooter Instructor School 
 Ac ve Shooter Training OHPD Personnel 
 Mapping 
 Accessibility 
 School Safety Assessments 
 Safety Presenta ons 

Oak Harbor High School 

Broad View Elementary 

Crescent Harbor Elementary 

Oak Harbor Elementary 

Olympic View Elementary 

329



22 

Complaint  OHHS 
OHMS/

NWMS 

Assaults  12  8 

Drugs  6  3 

Alcohol  2  2 

Malicious Mischief  4  0 

Harassment  4  0 

The   14  4 

Suicide Threats  4  0 

Sex Offense  3  0 

Suspicious  6  1 

Trespass  4  0 

911 Calls  14  16 

Medical  3  3 

Threats  3  4 

Fire Call  2  2 

Disorderly  2  1 

Collisions  2  0 

Lewd Conduct  1  1 

Property  2  0 

Juvenile Runaway  1  0 

Court Order Viola on  0  1 

3   ~   C   S   T  

S   R   O   ( S R O )  

Complaint 
Elementary 

Schools 

Malicious Mischief  2 

Disorderly  1 

911 Calls  2 

Miscellaneous  4 

Oak Harbor Middle School 

Home Connec on—Clover Valley 

330



23 

3   ~   C   S   T  

S   R  O   ( S RO )  

The  School  Resource  program   i s  more  than  a  pol ice  officer   in  the    

schools  but  a  resource  that  can  be  u l ized  on  a  dai ly  basis .  

 

  The program has created a niche for the schools and the community when it comes to the overall 

safety of our students. The resource officer is not only present at the schools during the day but present 

at athle c and social events throughout the school year.  
 

  The posi on has afforded the opportunity to make a difference in the overall safety and welfare. It 

has opened up the door to be able to speak with students about serious issues that affect their lives on a 

daily basis. It is providing guidance on ways to navigate through their world when it comes to social   

media, drugs, bullying and even rela onships. The poster was handed out to several classes to get the 

word out about safe social media prac ces. 

North Whidbey Middle School 

Hillcrest Elementary 

331



24 

3   ~   C   S   T  

T   S  O   ( T S O )  

Traffic Safety Officer  

Loyd Carter: 

The Police Department was 

able to have a full  me 

Traffic Safety Officer for the 

en re year of 2013.  The 

Traffic Safety Officer, Officer 

Carter, is very instrumental 

with not only enforcing but 

also educa ng the public on 

our traffic laws. 

  The Traffic Safety Officer gave mul ple lectures on traffic and 

drug related topics during the year.  These lectures were requested at 

Safety Stand Downs at Naval Air Sta on Whidbey Island (NASWI), the 

Oak Harbor School District and businesses around town. 
 

  Officer Carter is responsible for keeping track of traffic related 

complaints around the city.  Those complaints are used to determine 

loca ons for the department radar trailer placement.  The complaints 

are also used to no fy the proper department or outside agency to cor‐

rect a problem or issue within the city. 
 

  One of Officer Carter’s du es is serving as the Drug Recogni on 

Expert (DRE).  Officer Carter assists not only the Oak Harbor Police De‐

partment in this func on but has been requested by the Island County 

Sheriff’s Office and Washington State Patrol.  Officer Carter assisted with 

six drug related DUI inves ga ons during 2013. 
 

  Officer Carter serves as one of the department’s Field Training 

Officers (FTO).  As an FTO Officer Carter trains newly assigned Patrol 

Officers and Reserve Officers; ensuring they are qualified and able to 

safely patrol in the community. 
 

  With his busy schedule Officer Carter was s ll able to take on the 

collateral duty of Department Firearm Instructor in 2013.  Officer Carter 

became a Cer fied Police Handgun and Patrol Rifle Instructor. 
 

The Traffic Safety Unit also conducts various inves ga ons regarding 

ci zen complaints that involve Nuisance/Hulk vehicles on private prop‐

erty and abandoned vehicles on public roadways. 
 

  There were a total of 187 reportable collisions inves gated by 

the Oak Harbor Police Department in 2013.  This is an 11.4% decrease in 

traffic collisions over the 2012 figure of 211. 

Loyd Carter; TSO 

332



25 

3   ~   C   S   T  

T   S  O   ( T S O )  

2013 T  S  U  A  

Accident Responses  99 

Criminal Traffic  27 

Traffic Stops  1,128 

Verbal Warnings Issued  806 

Wri en Warnings Issued  149 

Directed School Patrol  61 Hours 

Infrac ons Issued  314 

Traffic Safety Tools 

  The Police Department has tools to help improve traffic safety.  The first and most no ceable 

tool is the Motor Unit, which is specifically designated to maintain traffic safety throughout the City of 

Oak Harbor. The motorcycles enable officers to maneuver around traffic and work areas which a vehicle 

cannot go. 
 

  The Motor Unit handles traffic‐related complaints, inves gates collisions, inves gates hulk /

abandoned vehicles, provides traffic control for special events and other traffic‐safety related func ons.  

There are several other tools that are just as important to the mission of traffic safety. 

While the Patrol Division provides the ci zens of Oak Harbor with crime preven on and assistance when 

a crime has occurred, it also plays a vital role when it comes to the mission of traffic safety. 

Finally, it comes down to the tools which help with traffic safety.  Though the radar trailer is a sta onary 

tool, it has been very successful in our mission.  The radar trailer provides drivers with a visual s mulus 

that enables them to react to the current speed zone in the area.  It is a great tool for the motoring   

public and has helped reduce speeding in the areas in which it is placed. 

333



26 

3   ~   C   S   T  

A   C  O   ( A CO )  

Animal Control  

Officer Terry Sampson: 

  Animal Control is an       

important func on of the Oak 

Harbor Police Department.  

Officer Terry Sampson responds 

to a variety of animal issues – 

from at large dogs and cats,      

human vic m animal bites as well 

as animals a acking other         

animals and disposal of deceased   

animals on public roadways. He 

also provides deceased animal    

disposal service for owned animals. In March 2013 Animal      

Control Officer Sampson a ended the Washington State Criminal 

Jus ce Animal Control two week training academy. 
 

  In 2013 the Oak Harbor Police Department received 1,305 

calls within the City Limits and 140 calls on Navy property.       

Animal Control conducted 137 dog impounds and 71 Cat          

impounds that were taken to the holding facility. Out of the 137 

dogs and 71 cats that were impounded, 132 dogs and 13 cats 

were reunited with their respec ve owners. 
 

  Two major factors that contribute to the success of      

reuni ng animals with their owners is due in part to the City’s 

Oak Harbor Stray Facebook page and owners having their        

animals Micro Chipped, which can be scanned by Animal Control.   
 

  If you don’t already know , the new City Of Oak Harbor 

Animal Holding Facility is up and running and working well.  

Whidbey Animal Improvement Founda on (WAIF) staff is there 

to assist the public in the redeeming their animals that have 

been impounded by Animal Control or found by the public and 

turned into the facility. WAIF has programs to assist animal own‐

ers in the spaying and neutering of their cats and dogs and other 

informa on so pet owners can have a safe and healthy pet. 

Terry Sampson; ACO 

New Holding Facility 

In 2013 the US Navy evicted the 

Oak Harbor Police Department from 

its Animal Control Holding Facility 

on the base because of building 

maintenance and sanitary issues (it 

was no longer safe). The be er part 

of 2013 was spent trying to locate a 

suitable facility. On October 1, 2013 

the Oak Harbor Police Department 

moved its Animal Control Holding 

Facility from the US Navy Seaplane 

base to its  current loca on 2725 

N.E. Goldie Road, Oak Harbor, WA.  
 

This is the former site of private 

animal shelter. The Oak Harbor     

Police Department proudly works 

with Whidbey Animal Improvement 

Founda on (WAIF) as a contractor 

to run their holding facility and 

worked with them to make this lo‐

ca on the best it can be; providing a 

large clean climate controlled envi‐

ronment for recovered animals 

awai ng the    return to their own‐

ers.  
 

If you have not visited this       

loca on we would encourage you to 

stop by. The animals at this loca on 

at not up for adop on but the staff 

from WAIF who work there will     

assist you in finding an available   

animal.  

334



27 

3   ~   C   S   T  

A   C  O   ( A CO )  

A  
C  
B  

 Budgeted  Spent  Balance  % 

2012  $183,449.00  $181,666.59  $1,782.41  99.03% 

2013  $229,146.00  $262,894.56  ‐$33,748.56  114.73% 

E  

R      

Chief Green working with volunteers 

making repairs to the new holding facility. 

Officer Sampson at the new  

Animal Control  

Holding Facility at  

2725 N.E. Goldie Road. 

City of Oak Harbor Stray Pet Page 

335



28 

  The Oak Harbor Police Department Chaplain Program was established for the purposes of 

providing spiritual, mental and emo onal support to all members of the Department, their families, and 

members of the public. The Chaplain Program is a nondenomina onal, ecumenical ministry provided by 

volunteer clergy without financial compensa on. The posi on is appointed by the Chief of Police. The 

Chaplain is not a commissioned officer, but is considered a member of the Department, and is a 

creden aled minister.  
 

  For the employee or his or her family members, the Chaplain exists for those  mes when an 

empathe c ear is needed outside the normal structure of the agency, and yet one close enough to 

understand the unique issues of a career in law enforcement. For community members, the Chaplain  

fills a gap when called upon by the Department for those who need help but may be hesitant to seek it 

or who do not know how to do so. The Chaplain will provide comfort, care and compassion during high‐

stress situa ons, serving as a “bridge” to other caregivers in the community, and as liaison between 

community members and the Department. 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C  

Members of the Chaplain Program fulfill the program’s  

purpose in the following manner: 
 

By serving as a resource for Department personnel when dealing with the public 

  in such incidents as accidental deaths, suicides, suicidal subjects, serious accidents,  

  drug and alcohol abuse, and other such situa ons that may arise. 

By providing an addi onal link between the community, other chaplain programs and  

  the Department. 

By providing counseling, spiritual guidance and insight for Department personnel 

   and their families. 

By being alert to the spiritual and emo onal needs of Department personnel and  

  their families. 

By familiarizing themselves with the role of law enforcement in the community. 

336



29 

 

  Pastor Ron Lawler has served as the Oak Harbor Police Department’s Chaplain since November 

of 2010. Following are his observa ons: 
 

  My third year as Chaplain for the Oak Harbor Police Department added yet more confidence in 

our outstanding personnel. A er observing them many and diverse se ngs, I am confident in their 

comment to provide the highest level of professional law enforcement that is possible. Time and again I 

see them going out of their way to protect and to serve.  
 

  In order to provide situa on specific support for OHPD personnel, I a ended a three day seminar 

at Sea‐Tac en tled “Trauma and Law Enforcement.” Law enforcement professionals from all over the 

country and from Canada listened to three days of compelling lectures designed to prepare Law 

Enforcement for the extreme dangers inherent in the job. Some mes the devasta ng effects are from a 

single event and some mes they are the result of accumulated stress. The training provided invaluable 

insight for trauma associated with the dangers of Law Enforcement. 
 

  As part of my Chaplain du es, I regularly visit the Police Department where I have the 

opportunity to connect with various personnel. Regular departmental training helps prepare me to be an 

asset and the  me spent with our officers is rela onally founda onal. Of course the ride along is the best 

place to understand police work and gain insight on the challenges faced day in and day out. Dividing 

the hours spent on chaplain du es by a forty hour work week, I had the privilege of volunteering almost 

an en re month with the department in 2013.  

155 Total Hours For 2013 

Ride ‐A‐Longs: 56 Hours 

Department Contacts: 45 Hours 

C  H  

Training: 46 Hours 

Emergency Call Outs: 8 Hours 

3   ~   C   S   T  

C  

Ron Lawler; Chaplain 

337



30 

4   ~   I  D  

  The 2013 Inves ga on Division was comprised of three detec ves, one Drug Enforcement 

Officer (DEO) and a Detec ve Sergeant.  DEO Detec ve Carl Seim, Detec ve Ron Ho amp and            

Detec ve Jim  Hoagland were joined in July by Detec ve Manny Silveira.  Detec ve Sergeant Teri    

Gardner was the day‐to‐day supervisor for the unit, and Captain Tim Sterkel was the overall                 

supervisor.   

  Detec ves have the responsibility of inves ga ng all major crimes, mostly felony cases.  The      

diverse crimes inves gated include but are not limited to Burglary, Iden ty The , Internet Fraud,  

Embezzlement, Sex Crimes, Child Crimes, Homicide, and Assaults.  The detec ves receive all Domes c  

Violence cases for follow‐up un l the case is adjudicated.  All detec ves assist DEO Seim in drug  

inves ga ons, surveillances, and in serving Drug Search Warrants.   
 

  The unit works closely with the City of Oak Harbor Prosecutor’s Office and the Island County  

Prosecutor’s Office.  On a case by case basis, detec ves assist, as well as are assisted by the Naval  

Criminal Inves ga ons Services (NCIS) and the Island County Sheriff’s Office (ICSO).  More and more,  

we also are working with out of state agencies on crimes, either by conduc ng interviews for that  

agency, or reques ng interviews be conducted by that agency. 
 

  During 2013, there were 507 cases assigned to the detec ves.  However, there were 642 cases 

closed by  detec ves in 2013.  The discrepancy in the numbers is caused by the fact that, going into 

2013, detec ves already had cases assigned to them from prior years.  A second factor in the              

discrepancy of  the yearly sta s cs is that detec ves retain each case all the way from intake through          

adjudica on.  An example would be a case assigned to a detec ve in 2011, an arrest made in 2012, but 

the case did not go through trial or plea un l 2013. The sta s cs would reflect parts of this case in three 

separate years. 
 

  One of the many closure disposi ons of a case is labeled, “Closed, Leads Exhausted”.  There are 

more and more cases being closed with this disposi on.  This is not due to detec ves closing cases    

without following up on all informa on to try to resolve the case.  This is due to the world we live in    

today and the latest technology.  We are receiving larger number of cyber crimes that are being       

commi ed from all over the world. It is usually impossible to complete follow‐up for these cases, thus 

no arrest.   

Collec vely, the detec ves and supervisors measured at over 

120 years of law enforcement experience between them, 80 of 

those with the OHPD 

338



31 

4   ~   I  D  

Detec ve Ron Ho amp 

D  

D  S  T  G  

  Sergeant Gardner con nued supervision of the Detec ve 

Division.  She assisted other detec ves with inves ga ons, inter‐

views, drug search warrants, conducted sixteen Child Forensic In‐

terviews for cases, and worked several sex crime cases.   
 

  She assisted at the Criminal Jus ce Training Center in facil‐

ita ng prac ce interviews for five Child Forensic Interview train‐

ings.  Also, Sgt. Gardner partners with other island agencies on 

the Island County Domes c Violence Task Force. 

Det. Sgt. Teri Gardner 

H  2013 

In April, Detec ve Ho amp was assigned follow‐up to a The  

complaint. The complainant stated that an a orney had commi ed 

the  of funds from a deceased rela ve’s trust account in the 

amount of about $120,000. It was learned that in June, the same 

suspect pled guilty in a San Juan County case to The  in the First 

Degree regarding another Trust Account.  Detec ve Ho amp 

applied for a Search Warrant for bank account 

documenta on.  During the inves ga on, Detec ve Ho amp 

discovered that the suspect accessed yet another Trust Account for 

personal monetary gain.  In July, Detec ve Ho amp arrested the 

In November, Detec ve Ho amp worked follow‐up for an Assault 

Second Degree Domes c Violence, Assault Second Degree, and 

numerous counts of Threats to Kill case.  The suspect was not on 

scene when the OHPD Officers responded to the call.  Detec ve 

Ho amp repeatedly a empted to contact the suspect by phone, 

and by searching for him at several loca ons.  Thirteen days later, 

Detec ve Ho amp made the arrest as the suspect drove in to the 

court parking lot for a pre‐trial hearing on another case in which he 

339



32 

4   ~   I  D  

Detec ve Jim Hoagland 

D  

H  2013 

In June, Detec ve Hoagland responded to an alleged Child Rape 

Complaint.  A er an intensive interview with the 17 year old suspect, it was 

determined that there were addi onal vic ms. Five individual forensic 

interviews were conducted with the vic ms, who disclosed sexual contact 

by the suspect.  Subsequently the suspect was arrested for mul ple counts 

of Child Rape, and is currently incarcerated.  He will be required to register 

as a Sex Offender if released.   

In August, Detec ves were contac ng an apartment complex manager at one of the local apartment 

complexes in reference to narco c ac vity.  During this contact a known felon with current Felony 

warrants ran into an apartment.  Detec ves contacted the resident, who is also a known felon and was 

currently supervised by the Washington State Correc ons Department.  Detec ve Seim, Detec ve 

Hoagland, and Officers from the Department of Correc ons made entry to the residence.  The fleeing 

felon was subsequently arrested.  It was discovered upon further inves ga on that Methamphetamine 

and Heroin had been smoked around the children, and in their play room.  Both children were taken 

into protec ve custody, released to Child Protec ve Services, and taken to a local hospital for 

evalua on.  Detec ves were advised at a later date that both children tested posi ve for illegal drugs 

and were being placed with rela ves out of state. 

In November, Detec ves responded to Harborview Medical Center for an infant with internal bleeding 

of the brain.  Both parents were interviewed immediately while at the hospital.   Doctors at Sea le 

Children’s Hospital reported that there was also evidence of scar  ssue from past injuries to the 

infant.  Both the infant and her sibling were taken into protec ve custody, released to Child Protec ve 

Services, and placed out of home.  Subsequently, the father was found hiding at the placement 

residence where the child had been placed.  He was taken into custody for Assault of a Child in the First 

Degree.  The case has been released to the United States Navy Judge Advocate General for prosecu on. 

340



33 

4   ~   I  D  

Detec ve Manny Silveira 

D  

H  2013 

In August, it was reported that an ex‐boyfriend had repeatedly violated 

a court ‐ordered Domes c Violence Protec on Order, through direct 

contact, electronic contact, and third person contact. Detec ve Silveira 

contacted the vic m, her friends and family.  Copies of the electronic 

messages, texts, and wri en statements from all par es were collected 

through a Search Warrant.  Detec ve Silveira subsequently arrested the 

suspect for 9 counts of Felony Viola on of a DV Protec on Order (34 

actual viola ons) and 9 counts of Stalking, (34 actual viola ons) for 

repeated surveillance of his ex‐girlfriend and for viola ng a court 

ordered No‐Contact order by communica ng with her and her family via 

e‐mail.  Following the arrest, Detec ve Silveira obtained another Search 

Warrant for the suspect’s cell‐phone.  From the data extracted, 

Detec ve Silveira was able to corroborate all of the vic m’s complaints. 

In October, Detec ve Silveira responded to a fire alarm at the Oak Harbor High School. Upon his arrival, 

the school had been evacuated and the fire department was ex nguishing a fire in one of the boys’ 

bathrooms.  Detec ve Silveira, with the assistance of High School Resource Officer Dickinson, iden fied 

several suspects a er reviewing the school’s security camera footage. Detec ve Silveira conducted 

interviews with several students and obtained a confession from one of the students.   He subsequently 

discovered that the student had set two separate fires in separate OHHS buildings.  Detec ve Silveira 

arrested the student on 2 counts of Arson 1St Degree, for se ng two fires in the school bathrooms. The 

student subsequently pled guilty to Arson 2nd Degree. 

In November, Detec ves responded to Sea le Children’s Hospital for a report of a 3 year old boy 

diagnosed with a Grade 4 Lacerated Spleen. When the a ending physicians talked with the boy, the boy 

indicated that his father had caused the injury to him.  Follow‐up inves ga on and interviews with the 

parents and the child resulted in Detec ve Silveira arres ng the child’s father on charges of Assault of a 

Child in the 1St Degree.  A medical examina on of the 3 year old vic m’s 5 month old sister showed a 

diagnosis of a 4 millimeter impression and linear fracture of the skull. Both children were placed into 

protec ve custody with Children’s Protec ve Services. 

341



34 

4   ~   I  D  

D  E  O  

C  S  

  In 1999, the Oak Harbor Police Department made a specific commitment to the ci zens of Oak 

Harbor, crea ng a posi on for a dedicated full‐ me Drug Enforcement Officer (DEO).  Detec ve Carl 

Seim has been the DEO for the department since November of 2008.  Detec ve Seim is responsible for 

aggressively inves ga ng illicit drug ac vity in our community.  Part of his job entails working with     

ci zens contac ng him with concerns of where possible drug ac vity is occurring.  He conducts           

surveillances, works with Confiden al Informants, and writes and serves Drug Search Warrants. 

Detec ve Seim is responsible for collec ng evidence, securing the chain of custody, and having evidence 

items sent to the Washington State Police laboratory for tes ng results.  When warranted, he also seizes 

money, guns, vehicles and property. 
 

  Detec ve Seim, along with Detec ve Hoagland, has been trained in the forensic recovery of    

informa on / evidence from cell phones.  This system is used for seized cell phones when a person has 

been arrested for illicit drug ac vity.  
 

  For the year, Detec ve Seim wrote and served eleven Drug Search Warrants, completed one buy

‐bust, and seized one handgun and two vehicles.  The total amount of money seized for the year was 

$17,394.00. This money goes directly into the Drug Seizure Fund. 

D   E  O   ( D EO )  

342



35 

4   ~   I  D  

D   E  O   ( D EO )  

In April, a Search Warrant was served on a male suspect and his vehicle.  A er the take‐down, the 

suspect was arrested for possession of Cocaine with Intent to Deliver.  Detec ve Seim recovered an 

In May, a Search Warrant was served on a male suspect and his residence.  Recovered were heroin, 

methamphetamine, cocaine, marijuana, a stolen handgun and nearly $10,000 in cash. The suspect and 

another individual were arrested at the scene. The suspect later pled guilty to Possession with Intent to 

Manufacture / Deliver Methamphetamine, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm First Degree, and Possession 

of a Stolen Firearm Second Degree. The suspect was sentenced to prison for over 10 years. 

In July, a Search Warrant was served on a male suspect. Methamphetamine, paraphernalia and stolen 

mail were recovered. The suspect was arrested for Possession of Methamphetamine and for Possession 

H  2013 

In August, Detec ve Seim completed a “buy‐bust” on a female suspect.  This means that right a er a 

purchase of the drug, she was arrested at the scene.  She was arrested for Delivery of 

Methamphetamine.  A Search Warrant was wri en for her vehicle and methamphetamine, 

In September, Detec ve Seim assisted NAS Security, who had recovered a large amount of 

methamphetamine from a male suspect.  Detec ve Seim arrested the suspect for Possession of 

Methamphetamine with Intent to Deliver.  Then in December, Detec ve Seim arrested the same 

individual for Driving While License Suspended Third Degree and recovered methamphetamine from his 

person.  Detec ve Seim then wrote a Search Warrant for his vehicle.  He recovered stolen property, to 

include a coin collec on valued at over $10,000.  Detec ve Seim also seized the vehicle.  The cases were 

In December, Detec ve Seim served a Search Warrant on a male suspect and his 

residence.  Methamphetamine, prescrip on pills, drug paraphernalia and cash were recovered.  The 

suspect was arrested for Possession of Methamphetamine with Intent to Deliver.  He pled immediately 

343



36 

5   ~   J  D  

  The Jail Division operates a 12 bed, 30 day holding facility. 

The Jail is staffed by six Correc ons Officers, under the supervision 

of Jail Sgt. Braunstein, who reports to the Department Captain. All    

Correc ons Officers are trained and cer fied through the            

Washington State Criminal Jus ce Training Commission (WSCJTC). 

Officers are also required to maintain Level I and II Defensive Tac cs 

cer fica on and must qualify to Departmental firearms standards. 

Correc ons Officers work in 3 officer squads: one Officer works day 

shi  (6 a.m. to 6 p.m.), one works cover shi  (6 a.m. to 6 p.m.) and 

one works mid shi  (6 p.m. to 6 a.m.). This provides double         

coverage during the busiest hours of the day, while maintaining 24 

hour coverage of the Oak Harbor City Jail.  The cover shi  hours  

adjust to allow for addi onal coverage as needed. 
 

  The Correc on Officers’ primary du es include the care and 

custody of all prisoners held at the Oak Harbor City Jail. Correc ons 

Officers process all arrests brought into the Jail through finger‐

prin ng, photographing and data entry of each subject. Officers  

coordinate all commitments of convicted individuals from the Oak 

Harbor Municipal Court and also the scheduling and transpor ng of 

individuals for any required court appearances or transfers to other 

law enforcement agencies. Correc on Officers are responsible for 

Mark Rodney 
Correc ons Officer 

Greg Woodward 
Correc ons Officer 

Rob Hartman 
Correc ons Officer 

Brian Braunstein 
Sergeant 

Combined Years of Service 

with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department 

73 Years 

344



37 

5   ~   J  D  

entering informa on into State and Na onal computer databases; such as stolen or impounded          

vehicles, missing persons and runaways, and certain types of stolen property.  
 

  Correc on Officers also maintain the Arrest Warrants file, which consists of approximately 500 

warrants. This includes the confirma on and removal of all locally served warrants and working with 

other agencies when the warrant is served outside of Oak Harbor jurisdic on. Among the Correc on 

Officers’ other collateral du es are fingerprin ng of applicants for Concealed Pistol Licenses, special   

license requirements, School District employment, and elimina on prin ng required by the Department. 

The majority of fingerprint submissions are done through the Live Scan Fingerprint System. This system 

electronically submits fingerprints directly to the Washington State Patrol, which provides for a more 

efficient response in ques ons of individual iden ty and for placing charge informa on on criminal     

histories. Inmates, under the direct supervision of Correc on Officers, are responsible for meal         

prepara on, laundry, cleaning of all Jail areas, as well as other work details in and around the Police   

Department. 
 

  The Jail has an inmate phone system that is based on collect‐calls, with phones readily available 

to inmates in each cell. This allows inmates constant access to phones and alleviates Jail staff from 

spending  me assis ng inmates with phone calls. The phones generate revenue for the City; $1,080.06 

in 2013, but are maintained by a private company with no opera ng costs to the City. 

 

The City of Oak Harbor has three exis ng contracts to house inmates. These contracts are with the De‐

partment of Correc ons (DOC) and the Ci es of Burlington and Anacortes. The jail charges $65.00 per 

day for housing these inmates. In 2013 the Jail generated $39,585.00 with these contracts.   

David Faagau 
Correc ons Officer 

Carlos Espiritu 
Correc ons Officer 

Jeff Rang 
Correc ons Officer 

345



38 

6   ~  R  D  

Barbara Sampson 
Supervisor 

Renee Hammer 
Recep onist 

H      R  M  S  (RMS) 

The Oak Harbor Police Department’s RMS is known as Spillman (Integrated Public Safety So ware), and 

has been in use since 1999. It is widely used in law enforcement and provides the Records Division a 

highly efficient RMS with many different applica ons.  Our Records personnel have become quite 

proficient with Spillman and even receive calls from other agencies seeking usage  ps and informa on.  

A goal for many agencies is to have a paperless RMS. This year we made another step in that direc on 

with the introduc on of Spillman’ s case tracking system, known as Workflow. This gives us the ability 

to track an incident from data input, to the officer for follow up, on to the sergeant for approval and 

finally to Records for upda ng by forwarding to the prosecutor and/or closing the case.  At this point 

most of the incidents are s ll printed and put into files, but a lot more are being handled in the 

computer. Our future goal with Workflow is to be able to send cases to the prosecutors electronically. 

R  

The recep onist, Renee Hammer, was assisted this past year by 

one of our correc ons officers, Mark Rodney. They processed all 

Concealed Pistol Licenses (CPL), a total of 676, which included five 

firearms dealer’s licenses. They also entered all cita ons, 

reportable accidents, and wri en warnings into the Spillman 

Support Supervisor Barbara Sampson and her staff con nue 

to work hard to u lize technology advancements in how to 

manage records for the Oak Harbor Police Department.  
 

“Were it not for Records each Officer’s and Detec ve’s work 

would be for naught.” –Courtesy of Anacortes Police  

Department 

Combined Years of Service with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department ~ 71 Years 

346



39 

6   ~  R  D  

Barbi May 
Records Specialist 

Yve e Noyes 
Records Specialist 

R  D  

The Records Staff at the Oak Harbor Police Department prides itself in running an efficient 

department, keeping up with the ever‐changing regula ons and procedures that occur within law 

enforcement. The staff performs a mul tude of du es as well as assis ng officers and ci zens with 

mely responses to requests.  In recent years, workload has increased for the Records Division with the 

addi on of warrants, which were previously the responsibility of Correc ons Officers.  
 

Our Records specialists’ dedica on and a en on to detail in performing their du es helps ensure our 

department runs smoothly and efficiently. These du es include but are not limited to the prepara on of 

court orders to be served, preparing /copying cases for the prosecutor, running criminal histories, 

warrant entry, daily case review and prepara on, background checks and public disclosure requests.  

E  / ID D  

Support Services Supervisor Barbara Sampson, assisted by Yve e 

Noyes, con nued to cover the Evidence /ID Technician posi on, in 

addi on to their regular du es.  
 

1,475 items were entered into the OHPD Spillman evidence 

system. These items included 231 items of found property, 52 items 

taken for safekeeping, and 38 guns. At year‐end, there were 1737 

items stored in evidence at the Oak Harbor Police Department. 

Sampson and Noyes also disposes of evidence when cases has been 

adjudicated or otherwise closed.  A total of 2273 items were either, 

received, returned to owner or disposed of in 2013. 
 

We con nue to store found property which includes clothing, 

iden fica on, suitcases, backpacks , and bicycles and most anything 

you might imagine.  Items of unclaimed property that have been held 

for the required  me, are sold at auc on through PropertyRoom.com. 
 

Items seized in connec on with drug arrests, are also sold at 

auc on through PropertyRoom.com, with the proceeds going to the 

City’s drug seizure fund. The drug seizure fund provides extra training 

and equipment to aid in the war on drugs.  

347



40 

6   ~  R  D  

 2013 S  H  

An increase in the number of Cases entered. 3,477 in 2012 to 3,573 in 2013. 

An increase in Concealed Pistol Licenses issued. 542 in 2012 to 676 in 2013. 

An increase of No ces of Infrac on & Criminal Cita ons entered. 
1,145 in 2012 to 1,919 in 2013; a  67.6% increase. 

An increase in Wri en Warnings entered. 815 in 2012 to 1,029 in 2013; a 26.3% increase. 

20 CD’s & DVD’s Transcribed for a total of 494 pages. 

73 Non‐Custodial Arrests entered. 

187 Reportable Accidents entered. 

H  2013  

C  E  

Records Specialists May and Noyes processed 13,516 incidents.  Each record is examined to 

determine if it is a NIBRS (Na onal Incident Based Repor ng System) incident.  If it is, further work is 

done on the incident to ensure all required data for submission is present and correct.   Specialists 

processed 3,573 cases of which they prepared 1,565 paper case files. There were 2,008 computer 

entry cases. Computer entry cases are paperless cases that have all the details of the incident added 

into the Spillman Records Management System including officer’s reports, involved names, property, 

involved vehicles, and photos, but are not printed. 

B  C   

Sixty local records checks were performed for government contracted agencies along with fulfilling 

many requests for private ci zens. This number is down considerably from last year’s number of 1888, 

largely due to cutbacks in federal government spending.  Background checks for law enforcement 

agencies where no records is found are not counted or recorded.  

W  E   

P  D  R   W  T  

There were 2,438 reports disseminated to the 

public and to other agencies, such as Child 

Protec ve Services and other law enforcement 

In excess of 750 weapons transfers were 

processed in 2013 however exact numbers are 

not available as Federal Law prohibits agencies 

Specialists processed and entered 579 Misdemeanor and Gross Misdemeanor warrants both in 

Spillman (integrated law enforcement so ware) and in WACIC (the Washington Crime Informa on 

Center) and NCIC (the Na onal Crime Informa on Center). These are the two systems that maintain 

wanted person records and respond to queries by officers in the field.  Oak Harbor City Jail officers 

assist in this task when needed.  WSP/Access requires warrants be entered within 72 hours of receipt.  

348



41 

7   ~     P  

Patrol Division:  The largest individual component within the Department, the Patrol Squads are     

composed of sixteen full‐ me posi ons ‐ four Patrol Sergeants and twelve Patrol Officers. Each         

Sergeant  supervises a team of three officers. Their responsibili es include responding to primary 

(emergency) and secondary (rou ne) calls for service, inves ga ng reports of criminal ac vity,          

enforcing traffic laws and fulfilling their community caretaking responsibili es by assis ng the public, 

as best they can, by responding to requests for assistance in ma ers such as public speaking and      

educa onal events, stranded motorists, answering ques ons about the legal system and many other 

examples too   numerous to detail. 

349



42 

7   ~     P  

Sergeant Niiro is the department Explorer Post advisor and is on 

the Board of Directors for CADA (Ci zens Against Domes c 

Abuse) and was appointed to the City of Oak Harbor’s Youth 

Commission in 2013. 

A   S  

Sergeant Cedric Niiro 

Officer John Li le Officer Pat Horn  Officer Chris Peabody 

Combined Years of Service 

with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department 

66 Years 

350



43 

7   ~     P  

A   S  

A S  ~ H  2013 

Officer Peabody along with Officer Li le received a commenda on from the Chief for the successful 

apprehension of a wanted armed robbery suspect from California in May.  

In August Officer Horn took a the  complaint from the Coachman Inn. A customer le  her purse on 

the counter and it was stolen. Officer Horn had each of his squad mates watch the video on scene in 

hopes of iden fying the suspect. Video was later recovered from the Coachman by Officer Yzaguirre 

and forwarded by e‐mail. The next day, while on another call Officer Peabody saw the suspect walking 

down the street. She was wearing the same bandana as seen in the video. Both Horn and Peabody 

contacted the suspect on the street and she confessed to the the .  

In September Officer Li le caught a suspect in a burglary in progress at a local church. The suspect was 

interviewed at the scene and admi ed to trying to break in although all she claimed she wanted was a 

safe place to stay. 

Officer Horn in October was bi en by a dog whose owner deliberately let the dog bite Officer Horn 

despite repeated warnings by Officer Horn. Officer Horn chose not use deadly force on the dog. Both 

the dog and the owner were taken into custody without incident. 

Officer Horn and Peabody In October worked together as team to take mul ple shop li ing complaints 

from downtown merchants at the same  me by the same suspect who was located and arrested. The 

suspect had most of the stolen merchandise in her purse. She had gone from shop to shop, shopli ing 

from each business. 

Officer Peabody in October caught one suspect and iden fied a poten al second suspect in a string of 

graffi  incidents. The suspect taken into custody a empted to wash the spray paint off of his hands 

while in the jail holding cell. 

Officer Peabody did a safety stand down in November for one of the squadrons on base. He received a 

le er and challenge coin from the squadron. 

351



44 

7   ~     P  

B     C   S  

Officer Tony Slowik Officer Steve Nordstrand  Officer Lisa Powers‐Rang 

Combined Years of Service 

with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department 

46 Years 

352



45 

7   ~     P  

B     C   S  

C S  ~ H  2013 

Officer Powers‐Rang and Reserve Officer Rang spo ed some suspicious ac vity in a parked car in an 
apartment complex parking lot during bike patrol. As they performed the field interview they saw drug 
paraphernalia in the car including a methamphetamine pipe with white residue that the person in the 
driver’s seat was holding.  Officer Esparza, Officer Peabody and Sergeant Wilkie arrived to give 
addi onal assistance. The occupants were arrested for Possession of Methamphetamine. Sergeant 
Wilkie obtained permission to search the car and many VUCSA items were seized as evidence. The 
officers located stolen property in the car that solved addi onal cases.   

Officer Powers‐Rang spo ed a wanted female subject on a bicycle.  Officer Powers‐Rang tried to 

detain the subject, but she tried to flee on the bicycle.  Officer Powers‐Rang gave chase on foot, caught 

the subject and pulled her off the bicycle and onto the ground.  The subject was arrested on the 

warrant. Stolen property linked to two the s, including a vehicle prowl, was found during search of 

suspect’s backpack subsequent to arrest. Property from two vic ms was located.  The suspect was 

arrested on mul ple warrants as well as new charges of Possession of Stolen Property 3rd, several 

counts of Iden ty The  2nd and two counts of Possession of Legend Drug without Prescrip on.  

Officer Powers‐Rang made an arrest on a subject for DWLS.  A search of suspect’s property subsequent 
to arrest led to the discovery of a large amount of stolen property including mail and bank access 
devices.  The subject was arrested for several felony counts of the  and iden ty the . The vic m 
count totaled over 60 vic ms with mul ple charges. Officer Powers‐Rang did a tremendous job and 
spent a lot of  me working this case that would normally be inves gated by a Department detec ve.   

Officer Nordstrand and Sergeant Wilkie inves gated a domes c dispute where a witness saw a female 
and male in a fight with the male smothering the female with a pillow.  The female was on the floor on 
her back with the male on top. Officer Nordstrand arrested the male for Assault 4th (DV).   

Officer Peabody handled a medical call where the pa ent was violent and tried to assault him.  Officer 
Peabody used proper and effec ve force to control the person.  Officer Slowik and Officer Powers‐
Rang joined Peabody and all three officers did an excellent job of restraining the subject while dealing 
with the subject trying to punch, push, pull and bite at the officers.  

353



46 

7   ~     P  

B     C   S  

Sergeant Bill Wilkie 

Officer Ron Esparza 

B S  ~ H  2013 

Officer Esparza had eight self‐generated field contacts where he 
arrested persons on warrants that led to arrests for Possession of 
Methamphetamine or Heroin when he searched them incident to 
arrest on the warrants. 

Reserve Officer Rang with his FTO Officer Esparza handled a 
disorderly complaint at Wal‐Mart.  The suspect vehicle ran from the 
officers a emp ng to elude ini ally before turning into a private 
residence driveway.  Reserve Officer Rang pulled in behind the 
suspect vehicle.  The suspect exited his vehicle and Reserve Officer 
Rang gave him commands at gun point.  The suspect was detained.  
The officers con nued their inves ga on and the suspect was later 
charged with several crimes including DUI.   

Officer Clements arrested a male suspect for strangling his wife 
during a domes c violence incident. There were mul ple a acks as 
the male chased the female through the home and outside.  He 
choked her mul ple  mes and released her when it appeared she 
was having trouble breathing.  On the final a empt outside, a er 
tackling her, the suspect put his wife in a choke hold from behind 
and told her to “tap for her life” which she did and he released her 
as she did this and a neighbor intervened.   

Officer Lolmaugh and Officer Horn responded to a disorderly subject 
call at Walmart. The female was refusing to leave and was yelling 
profani es. Officer Lolmaugh detained her to issue a trespass 
warning.  Officer Horn recognized her as a burglary suspect at the 
Safeway gas sta on.  Photographs from their surveillance system 
had been distributed at the Police Department. Officer Lolmaugh 
recognized her as well.  While speaking to the female she tried to 
run away, but was subdued by the Officers. The suspect bit Officer 
Lolmaugh’s arm, but luckily he was wearing his jumpsuit with 
sleeves that has fairly strong fabric to where he was not injured 
from the bite. The officers were able to handcuff her. The suspect 
was booked for Burglary 2nd (Safeway Burglary), The  3rd (Safeway 
Burglary), Assault 3rd, Resis ng Arrest and A empted Escape.  

Combined Years of Service 

with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department 

68 Years 

354



47 

7   ~     P  

B     C   S  

Officer Mike Clements Officer Mel Lolmaugh 

B   C S  ~ H  2013 

Officer Lolmaugh, Officer Clements and Officer Nordstrand assisted NAS Police on a home invasion 
robbery. Officer Lolmaugh was able to assist them in iden fying one of the suspects based on a 
nickname provided.  The officers then located and detained the suspect when he was located on an 
unrelated call (noise complaint).   

Officer Slowik, Officer Peabody, Officer Powers‐Rang, Officer Esparza, Sergeant Gardner, Detec ve 
Seim, Detec ve Hoagland, Detec ve Ho amp and Captain Sterkel handled a suicidal threats 
complaint.  ICOM said they received a report from the Veterans Crisis Line repor ng a suicidal male in 
Oak Harbor who claimed to have stockpiled flammables and was planning on se ng his house on fire. 
The officers worked well together and did a good inves ga on which led to the subject being located 
in Evere , WA.   

Officer Slowik con nued a burglary inves ga on that Officer Clements began. Officer Clements took a 
burglary complaint where a female suspect broke into an apartment at Margie’s House. There was 
surveillance footage documen ng part of the crime.  Officer Clements told Officer Slowik that the 
suspect needed to be interviewed. The suspect’s cell phone had been turned into the Police 
Department and there was a chance she may show to retrieve it.  She did show and Officer Slowik 
interviewed her. Officer Slowik was able to obtain a confession and made the arrest for Burglary 2nd 
and The  3rd.  Officer Slowik conducted follow‐up interviews, viewed the surveillance video and 
collected it as evidence as part of his inves ga on.   

Officer Clements and Officer 
Lolmaugh received the Departments’ 
Life Saving Award for performing  
CPR on a female subject and  

saving her life. 
 
 

Officer Clements did significant work 
on developing the Automated  

External Defibrillator (AED) policy and 
program for the Department. 

355



48 

7   ~     P  

D   S  

Officer Gravel was selected 

in February to be a Field 

Training Officer (FTO) 

Sergeant Larry Ferguson 

Officer Jennifer Gravel  Officer Jon Valenzuela 

Combined Years of Service 

with the Oak Harbor  

Police Department 

31 Years 

Preserving History 

Stop by the Police Department lobby and take a  

moment to look at the items in the display case 

that we set up in August. We want to preserve 

 and remember the history of the  

Oak Harbor Police Department. 

  

“As we go into the future, let us not  

forget where we came from..”  

~ Chief Ed Green 

356



49 

7   ~     P  

D   S  

D S  ~ H  2013 

In April Sgt. Ferguson and Officer Gravel successfully performed CPR on a woman inside a local 

fast food restaurant who was unresponsive and not breathing. A er a few minutes she was 

revived and transported to the hospital.  

In November Sgt. Ferguson arrested two people for pros tu on at a local motel. 

In September Officer Valenzuela responded to a welfare check request for a woman in a wheel 

chair. Officer Valenzuela found her too exhausted to make the trip back to the nursing home 

and her ba ery operated wheel chair was broken. He pushed her mul ple blocks back to her 

nursing home.  

In April a fugi ve gave a false name to Officer Gravel while repor ng a strong arm robbery. 

Officer Gravel was able to determine his real iden ty and later locate and arrest him for his 

warrant.  

At the end of December of 2012 Officer Gravel started a Custodial Interference case from an 

RP from Bremerton who used to live here. Her ex‐husband was refusing to return the couple’s 

son from CA, where he is sta oned with the Navy. The RP’s ex‐husband was alleging sexual 

abuse and claimed to have ac ve inves ga ons with several agencies. Officer Gravel showed 

great persistence in following up on those alleged inves ga ons and found they ranged from 

accusa ons to no reports what so ever. She wrote a detailed report which was then forwarded 

onto NCIS. A er an inves ga on by NCIS the RP’s son was returned to the RP on January 22, 

2014 at the San Diego Airport. Officer Gravel received a thank you message from both the RP 

and her son.    

In January Officer Mirabal caught two the  suspects in two different incidents a er a foot 

chase. In April Officer Mirabal successfully located a subject selling drugs near a business. A 

witness gave Officer Mirabal enough informa on for an interview. Officer Mirabal was then 

able to obtain a search warrant for the backpack the suspect had. Inside was heroin and 

methamphetamine. 

357



50 

Nature  Count  Cases 

911 Hang Up  911  5 

911 Wireless Hang Up/Misdial  361  0 

Alarm Commercial  294  1 

Alarm Residence  84  1 

Animal  1,305  54 

Assault Physical  244  148 

Assist Agency  258  60 

Assist Other  2  0 

Assist Public  1,148  21 

A empt to Locate  3  0 

Bomb Threats  1  1 

Burglary A empt  30  17 

Burglary Commercial  26  22 

Burglary Residen al  105  74 

Burn Complaint  1  0 

Civil  240  10 

Court Detail  6  0 

Court Order Viola on  122  69 

Custodial Interference  60  6 

Death Invest Una ended  23  23 

Disorderly Conduct  282  79 

Domes c Physical  269  211 

Domes c Verbal  298  238 

Fire AFA Commercial  10  2 

Fire Brush  4  1 

Fire Chimney  3  1 

Fire Commercial  12  2 

Fire Residen al  12  4 

Fire Service Call  2  1 

Fire Vehicle  5  1 

Fireworks Complaint  62  4 

Fraud Bad Check  6  3 

Fraud Forgery  4  4 

7   ~     P  

C     S  

358



51 

Nature  Count  Cases 

Fraud Other  176  91 

Game Viola on  1  1 

Harassment  196  66 

Hazardous Material  2  0 

Informa on Report  67  3 

Juvenile Complaint  92  9 

Juvenile Neglect/Abuse  80  33 

Juvenile Runaway  61  37 

Kidnapping  3  2 

Li ering  51  23 

MVA Non‐Injury  371  350 

MVA Unknown Injury  105  95 

Malicious Mischief  221  138 

Marine Incident  1  0 

Medical Assist Non Emergency  2  1 

Medical  154  44 

Medical CPR  6  4 

Mental Non Criminal  58  0 

Missing Person  84  16 

Noise Complaint  291  115 

Nuisance Other  8  4 

Nuisance Phone Calls  7  2 

Patrol Check  45  1 

Property  276  32 

Prowler  39  3 

Rape  9  5 

Reminder (office use)  49  0 

Rescue Marine  3  0 

Robbery Armed  2  2 

Robbery Strongarm  5  4 

Sex Indecent Exposure  8  4 

Sex Lewd Conduct  16  10 

Sex Offense Other  36  27 

Nature  Count  Cases 

Tobacco Viola on  3  0 

Traffic  417  34 

Traff Crim Driving Susp/Revoked  142  133 

Traffic Disable  88  6 

Traffic Hazard  112  0 

Traffic Possible DUI  247  52 

Trespass Other  277  110 

Unsecure Premise  45  0 

U lity Problem  178  0 

Vehicle Abandon  108  53 

Vehicle Impound  67  49 

Vehicle Prowl  124  99 

Vehicle The   52  29 

Verbal Dispute  76  22 

Vice Liquor HBD  64  10 

Vice Liquor MIP  15  11 

Vice Pros tu on  1  1 

Vice VUCSA  175  59 

Wanted Person  321  29 

Weapon Offense  74  18 

Welfare Check  438  39 

Total Calls For Service  13,516  3,573 

Solici ng  11  1 

Threats  144  66 

Suicide Threat  111  95 

Suspicious Person/Circumstance  921  74 

Taking Motor Veh w/o Permission  18  7 

The   369  243 

The  Services  16  11 

The  Shopli   184  137 

C     S  

7   ~     P  

359



52 

8   ~     S  U  

H   R   E   T   ( H R E T )  

The Oak Harbor Police Department has assembled a group of Officers who work together as a team 

to do some of the most dangerous du es police officers face.  These du es include events like high risk 

search and arrest warrants.  This group of Officers tasked with these du es is known as the High Risk 

Entry Team (HRET).  The HRET is used because it is safer for officers, suspects and bystanders. 
 

HRET members are highly trained, dedicated, mo vated, physically fit, quick thinking and team‐

oriented officers that volunteered to serve on the team to make Oak Harbor a safer place to live.    
 

U lizing the HRET is safer for the public and police because of the team’s training and experience.  

The team trained as a unit for a total of thirty‐six hours in 2013.  Training topics for 2013 included, but 

were not limited to:  Building entry techniques, range training, arrest team tac cs, vehicle takedowns, 

rapid deployment, bus assaults and ac ve shooter techniques.  Sergeant Wilkie and Officer Clements 

a ended addi onal classes on chemical, radiological, nuclear, high yield explosives and improvised ex‐

plosive devices totaling an addi onal 40 hours. 

360



53 

8   ~     S  U  

H   R   E   T   ( H R E T )  

2013 T  M : 

 

Sergeant Bill Wilkie ~ Team Leader 

 Twenty‐two years as tac cal team operator 

 Defensive tac cs Instructor 

 Team trainer 
 

Officer Mike Clements ~ Assistant Team Leader 

 Ten years as tac cal team operator 
 

Officer John Valenzuela ~ Scout 

 Six years as tac cal team operator 

 Rifle instructor 

 Team trainer 
 

Detec ve Jim Hoagland ~ Scout 

 Four years as tac cal team operator 

 Taser Instructor 
 

Detec ve Manny Silveira ~ Scout / Breacher 

 Four years as tac cal team operator 

 Department Armorer 

 

Officer Chris Peabody ~ Scout 

 One year as tac cal team operator 
 

Detec ve Carl Seim ~ Arrest Team 

 Detec ve Seim is the Department Drug Enforcement Officer 

        and provides support for the team as needed. 

361



54 

8   ~     S  U  

H   R   E   T   ( H R E T )  

HRET 

In 2013, the HRET was used on four occasions.  The team served five high risk drug warrants for the 

Department’s Drug Enforcement Division.  An actual a er ac on report narra ve completed by 

Sergeant Wilkie is given below without the actual names, date or loca on.  It is a 2013 case. 

Background 

Detec ve Seim applied for and received a search warrant for an Oak Harbor address.  The warrant 

was for RCW 69.50.401 (Manufacture, Deliver or Possess with Intent to Deliver Methamphetamine). 

The warrant authorized a search of the address as well as the suspect. 

 

Detec ve Seim requested that the HRET (High Risk Entry Team) serve the warrant.  Further details 

from Detec ve Seim were that the suspect was a convicted felon with several felony arrests including 

felony VUCSA and Burglary.   The suspect has also been known to run from the police in the past and 

usually has warrants for his arrest which he did on this date as well. Detec ve Seim further advised 

that the suspect may be in possession of a stolen pistol which he carries with him. 

 

Detec ve Seim also indicated there was drug traffic going in and out of home so there was a 

chance that methamphetamine and or heroin users could be present when the warrant was served.   

362



55 

8   ~     S  U  

H   R   E   T   ( H R E T )  

HRET 

Inves ga on 

On the date of service, Oak Harbor PD units drove to the loca on for the search warrant service. The 

entry team arrived and exited the HRET vehicle.  Containment units moved to their posi ons from their 

vehicles. 
 

Captain Sterkel, NCIS Agent, Officer Horn, DOC Agent Lee and Sergeant Niiro moved to the west side of 

the unit.  Chief Green, Sergeant Gardner and NCIS Agent moved to east side of the home for containment.   
 

HRET staged at the east side door. Officer Clements made the knock and announcement: “Police 

department, search warrant, open the door.”  I had him do this two  mes with a pause between each 

announcement. I heard movement and what sounded like running inside.  I could also see someone moving 

away from the front door.  I asked if the door was locked and was told it was locked.  I gave the command 

“move away from the door” twice which is a signal to begin the entry.  The command also no fies residents 

to move away from the door so they are not injured by the door flying open or from the diversionary device 

deploying.  Officer Silveira opened the door with the ram (tool for breaching a locked door) and Officer 

Clements threw a diversionary device (DD) into the entry way hall. The team entered a er the diversionary 

device ac vated.  We announced our inten on:  “Police Department, search warrant” several  mes as we 

moved through the home.  There was a white male that was running into the living room from the front door 

and went down onto the floor in the prone posi on.  Officer Clements, Detec ve Hoagland and I moved into 

the main living room area. As we moved into the living room area there was a female (visitor) on the couch.  

We ordered her to get onto the ground which she did.  I called for the arrest team.  Detec ve Seim came 

inside and handcuffed the white male while I covered him at gun point.  Detec ve Hoagland handcuffed the 

female while Clements covered her. 
 

Officer Valenzuela, Detec ve Silveira and Officer Mirabal moved upstairs. Officer Valenzuela threw a 

second diversionary device that went into the upstairs bathroom.  As the officers moved upstairs to the 

second floor they heard containment units say the primary suspect was out on the roof over the radio. Officer 

Valenzuela and Detec ve Silveira went into a bedroom.  Officer Valenzuela heard the window blinds making 

noise.  They cleared the room and went to the window that was open.  They moved the blinds, did a quick 

peak and spo ed the suspect lying down on the roof.  They gave him verbal commands to come back inside.  

The suspect came to the window at which point Silveira and Valenzuela pulled him into the room and onto 

the floor. Detec ve Silveira handcuffed the suspect while Officer Valenzuela covered him at gun point.   
 

High Risk Entry Team members did a security sweep and provided perimeter security un l we were 

excused. 

363



56 

8   ~     S  U  

H   /   C  N    

The Oak Harbor Hostage / Crisis Nego a on Team consists of Officer Serloyd Carter and Sergeant Teri  

Gardner.  Sgt. Gardner joined the team in 1999 and is the supervisor for the team.  Officer Carter 

joined the team in 2009.  Quali es looked for in a successful nego ator include being a good listener and 

having the ability to maintain pa ence. 
 

The Hostage / Crisis Nego a on training course consisted of 36 hours of classroom and prac cal 

training, taught by the FBI.  Sgt. Gardner and Officer Carter belong to the Western States Hostage         

Nego ators’ Associa on (WSHNA).  WSHNA offers yearly conferences for con nuing educa on in this 

field.  This offers increasing the knowledge and skills of nego ators through quality training and the   

sharing of knowledge and experience.  It is impera ve that nego ators maintain their unique, but very 

perishable skills. 
 

Sgt. Gardner a ended the 2013 WSHNA conference held in Clackamas County, Oregon.  Officer Carter 

is slated to a end the 2014 WSHNA Conference to be held in Bellevue, WA. 
 

Nego ators are an irreplaceable element of a balanced response to crisis situa ons.  A nego ator’s 

job is to resolve crisis situa ons without the use of force.  However, the tac cal team is also an integral 

part of crisis incidents. In the case of the OHPD, our tac cal team is the HRET – High Risk Entry 

Team.  With mutual support of tac cal operators, both teams’ missions are to bring crisis/tac cal     

emergencies to a safe, successful resolu on.   

Rural Law Enforcement 
Execu ve Management 

Training 
Spokane October 2013 

 
·  Jimmy Nobles, Dep. 

Director University of 
Arkansas Criminal Jus ce 
Ins tute 

·  Chief Ed Green 

· Nancy Beverly; Chief of 
Police; Pensacola, FL. (Ret.) 

364



57 

9   ~    A  U  

C   V  

In 2013 the Oak Harbor Police Department’s 

Ci zen Volunteers consist of 15 volunteers who 

assist the police department in a variety of ways. 
 

Ci zen Volunteers are a welcome addi on to 

the Oak Harbor Police Department and assist 

staff with patrolling residen al neighborhoods, 

parks and business areas.  Volunteers conduct 

many func ons from repor ng observed          

suspicious ac vity, graffi  tagging and vaca on 

checks of residences.  These vaca on checks in‐

Various projects and services             

performed by the Ci zen               

Volunteers included: 

 Zombie Parade 

 Island Drug Grand Opening 

 Veteran’s Day Parade 

 4th of July Parade 

 Holland Happenings Parade 

 Vaca on Watch 

 Patrol vaca on checks 

 Safety Fair at Home Depot 

 Assist with neighborhood watch 

mee ngs & community           

presenta ons 

 Marathon Detail 

 Painted Bicycle Shed 

 Sewn Table Clothes 

The Oak Harbor Police Department is commi ed to the growth and 

con nued success of the Ci zen Volunteer Program.  In the spirit of co‐

opera on and partnership with the community, out pledge is to recruit, 

train and retain dedicated volunteers who will par cipate in meaning‐

ful community safety, security and service ac vi es. 

clude a walk‐around of the residence to check for unlocked 

doors or windows and to report any unusual discrepancies to 

the    Patrol Division. 
 

Some of the volunteers have addi onal training to enable 

them to assist the detec ve division with felony cases, some 

volunteers are access trained to assist with data entry and 

transport cases to the prosecutors office. 
  

During 2013, the Oak Harbor Police Department’s Volun‐

teers logged in a total of 1,229 hours of service for the City of 

Oak Harbor.  For the year of 2013, Washington State average 

for hourly volunteer  me was $22.69 an hour, for a total of 

$27,886.01 contributed to our City and Department by      

volunteers. 

365



58 

9   ~    A  U  

R  O   P  

emergency vehicle response driving, defensive tac cs, firearms, criminal law and patrol procedures to 

name a few.  Each Reserve Officer Cadet is required to complete this training before they can be         

cer fied as a Reserve Police Officer in the State of Washington. 
 

Once a Reserve Officer completes the Reserve Academy, they begin the Oak Harbor Police              

Department’s Reserve Officer Primary Training Phase.  This training requires the Reserve Officer to ride 

with a department Field Training Officer for the first phase of 160 hours.  Once the first phase is        

completed the Reserve Officer then moves to phase two, which requires approximately 100 hours riding 

with a selected Officer (chosen by the Reserve Coordinator) and / or Field Training Officer.  A er phase 

two, the Reserve Officer moves to phase three, which requires at least 24 hours of final training, with a 

Field Training Officer.  At the comple on of the Reserve Officer’s Primary Training phases, the Reserve 

Officer would have completed a minimum of 284 hours of on the job training.  Once the Reserve Officer 

completes his/her Primary Training Phase, they are required to obtain approximately 200 more on the 

job hours for a total of 484 hours.  A er comple ng the required 484 hours, a Reserve Officer can       

request acceptance into the Oak Harbor Police Department’s 12‐14 week Field Training Program. 
 

In 2013, Reserve Officer Hia  and Reserve Officer Rang successfully completed the department’s  

intense Field Training Program, which allows both Reserve Officers to work independent patrol. 
 

Oak Harbor Police Department Reserve Officers volunteer a minimum of 20 hours a month of        

service.  Some of those services that Reserve Officers provide are:  Security/Traffic control for            

In 2013 the Oak Harbor Police       

Department had six Reserve Officers: 

Reserve Officer Michael Koval, Chris   

Hia , Jeff Rang, Kristal Kania, Shawn 

Trisler and Sco  Speer. 
 

Reserve Officers Speer and Trisler 

both graduated from the Reserve Officer 

Academy in September of 2013.  The 

Academy consists of approximately six 

months of weekly training (320+ hours) 

of in‐depth, intense police training at 

Skagit Valley College’s Mt. Vernon    

campus.  The training includes        
Kristal Kania; Sco  Speer; Mike Koval & Shawn Trisler 

366



59 

9   ~    A  U  

R  O   P  

community events, such as parades, 

race week,  music fes val, Oak Harbor 

High School football games, dances and 

gradua on.  Reserve Officer’s also assist 

full  me Officers with patrol du es, 

which include traffic inves ga ons, re‐

sponding to emergency calls along with 

providing addi onal set of eyes and 

ears. 
 

Our Reserve Police Officers are a 

very valuable asset to the Police         

Department and, in turn, the Reserve 

Officers gain very valuable experience 

and training towards a future career as 

a Police Officer. 

Mike Koval; Chris Hia ; Kristal Kania & Jeff Rang 
Taking their Oath of Office 

These Reserve Officers on non‐paid employees and volunteer 

their  me to serve the ci zens of Oak Harbor.  During 2013, the 

Reserve Officers volunteered a total of 2,142 hours serving the 

City of Oak Harbor.  For the year 2013, the Washington State    

es mated average for hourly volunteer  me was $22.69 an hour, 

for a total of $48,601.98 contributed to the City of Oak Harbor 

and the Department. 

Sco  Speer & Shawn Trisler Taking their Oath of Office 

367



60 

9   ~    A  U  

E   P  

The Explorer Program is part of the Boy Scouts of America and our Post is part of the Mount Baker 

Chapter Boy Scouts. The Post has been ac ve since 1991 when it was re‐started by Officer Morhaime. 

The Explorer Post had previously been ac ve in the 1980’s under the direc on of Records Clerk Mary 

Mowry, but was discon nued for a short  me. Sgt. Niiro has been the advisor since 1993. In 2009, 

Officer Gravel volunteered to be an Associate Advisor.    
 

Ac vi es and hours put in by the 2013 Explorer Post include over 266 hours in Patrol ride‐along’s, 

mee ngs and trainings. Community service ac vi es like; Military Apprecia on Day, the Home Depot 

Child Safety Fair, the Kmart Safety fair and The Navy League Veterans’ Day program at the Oak Harbor 

High School. The Explorers also assist our officers in direc ng traffic at the Holland Happening and 

Fourth of July parades. They also assist with training the departments HRET team.  
 

  Currently, thirteen Explorers serve in the Post. Two civilian volunteers serve on the Post Advisory 

Commi ee, and the Police Chief serves as the Execu ve Officer. Six new Explorers came on board in 

2012. 
 

  Explorer Cadets in the Oak Harbor Explorer Post learn about what a career in law enforcement 

may be like in a small city.  Prospec ve Cadets are interviewed and a background inves ga on            

performed prior to being accepted into the Post. They then must a end and successfully complete an 

Explorer Academy held at the Oak Harbor Police Department. Sgt. Niiro designed the Explorer Academy 

curriculum. It is modeled a er the State Criminal Jus ce Training Commission Academy for new law   

enforcement officers. Topics that the Explorers learn about, State criminal law, criminal procedures, 

traffic law, crisis interven on and patrol procedures. These subject areas are taught by veteran members 

of the Police Department and conclude with a comprehensive wri en exam, which the Cadets must 

pass. The Explorer is then allowed to ride along with Department officers as they perform their du es, 

day or night. They assist the Department HRET team during their training by being actors in the many 

poten al scenarios the Team is trained to handle. Monthly mee ngs and trainings are also held, to keep 

the Explorers update to date on current trends in the field of law enforcement. Some of monthly      

trainings are mock scenes where Explorers are put into a scenario much like a regular Police Officer 

would have to handle. The Explorer is expected to use what they have been taught in academy and    

other trainings to come to the proper solu on. Use of other Explorers as actors to act out the part of  

368



61 

vic m and suspect help bring a sense of realism to mock scenes. Explorers also have opportunity to 

a end department trainings on topics like defensive tac cs, firearms and TASER recer fica on. 

Being an Explorer also provides an opportunity to meet other members of the law enforcement    

community, such as the Washington State Patrol, Island County Sheriff’s Office and Federal agencies,    

including the U.S Border Patrol and Department of Homeland Security. It also helps fulfill community    

service requirements for Oak Harbor High School gradua on. Related college scholarship opportuni es on 

a local, state and na onal level are available to those Explorers interested in the Law Enforcement field 

these opportuni es are rarely taken advantage of.     

Find us on Facebook® 

Oak Harbor Police Explorers 

9   ~    A  U  

E   P  

369



62 

1 0   ~   T  

  The Oak Harbor Police Department strives to ensure that the City is a safe place to live, work 

and visit.  As part of that, we a empt  ‐ through educa on and enforcement ‐ to reduce the number of 

collisions that occur.  It's  important that we all keep  in mind the damage and suffering we can cause 

when we are behind the wheel. 

  The Traffic Safety Unit  is supplemented  in  its efforts by Patrol Officers. Together, they  focus 

their enforcement in the high accident loca ons, as a way to reduce accidents. They also focus on the 

main  causes  of  collisions,  which  are  excessive  speed,  right‐of‐way  and  turning  viola ons,  and 

disobeying signals or signs.  

  Educa on efforts  included presenta ons  to community groups,  le ers  to  the  local editor  to 

explain  certain  traffic  rules,  increased  patrol  in  traffic  problem  areas,  and  announcements  on  the 

Department’s Community Alert Network email alert system.   

  Another  tool  available  for  gaining  voluntary  compliance  to  traffic  laws  is  the Department's 

radar trailer. Placed on streets that are experiencing speeding vehicles, the trailer provides a display of 

the actual speed of each passing vehicle, along with the posted speed  limit  for that area. Motorists 

who may have been unaware of their speed are given a clear reminder of the viola on.  

  Although the Police Department tries to keep aware of problem traffic areas by tracking high 

collision  loca ons,  we  welcome  feedback  with  specific  traffic  concerns.  You  can  call  the  Police 

Department at (360) 279‐4600 with  informa on or concerns and  loca ons you would  like to see the 

radar trailer used or areas you would  like addi onal traffic enforcement. Although we cannot get to 

every  loca on  as  quickly  as we would  like, we will  try  to  address  every  area  for which we  have 

received informa on. You can also leave a message for our Community Service Sergeant. 

DUI  A  

Officers assigned to Patrol arrested 48 motorists for DUI in 2012, a decrease 
from 80 in 2011. 

6,439 Traffic Stops 

1,289 Traffic No ce 
of Infrac ons 

982 Wri en 
Warnings 

220 Criminal Traffic 
Cita ons 

4,843 Verbal 
Warnings  

2013 Patrol Division 

Traffic Ac vity 

370



63 

1 0   ~   T  

T  A  D  

  An  important  secondary  func on  of  the  Patrol Division  is  the  enforcement  of  traffic  laws. Our  goal, 

through  this enforcement,  is  to provide  for  the  safe  travel on our  roads. The  level of enforcement  taken, as 

shown by the  following chart,  is based on what  is needed to ensure compliance with traffic  laws. While most 

infrac ons  can  be  corrected  with  Verbal  or  Wri en  Warnings,  No ces  of  Infrac on  (traffic  cket)  are  an 

important tool to keep our motoring public safe. 

T  S  T  C  I  

Includes Criminal Traffic & Traffic NOI’s issued 

371



64 

1 0   ~   T  

T   B   L  

372



65 

1 0   ~   T  

  There were a total of *187 reportable 

collisions inves gated by the Oak Harbor 

Police Department during the 12‐month 

period of January through December 2013.  

This is a 11.4% decrease in traffic collisions 

over the 2012 figure of 211.  

  (*Note:  The reportable collision figure 

does not include Hit and Run cases in which a 

case number is taken, but no accident report is 

submi ed.) 

  There were also an addi onal 270 non‐

reportable accidents in 2013 which is down 

0.7% from the 2012 figure of 272.   

H  A  L  

The primary responsibility of 

the Traffic Safety Officer is 

accident reduc on – by 

enforcement – in those traffic 

areas that have been pre‐

determined to be either High 

Collision Loca ons (HCL’s) or 

High Traffic Complaint 

Loca ons (HTCL’s).  

R  T    

C  

A  E  S  

373



66 

1 0   ~   T    

T  10 H  C  L  

SR 20 & NE 7th Avenue  9 

SR 20 & SW Erie Street  9 

SR 20 & SW Barrington Drive  8 

SW Barlow Street & SR 20  7 

SR 20 & E Whidbey Avenue  6 

SR 20 & SW 8th Avenue  6 

NE Goldie Street & SR 20  5 

NE Midway Blvd. & NE 7th Avenue  5 

SR 20 & SW Swantown Avenue  5 

E Whidbey Avenue & SE Ely Street  4 

D  O  T  W  O  C  

Sunday  19 

Monday  30 

Tuesday  31 

Wednesday  38 

Thursday  22 

Friday  28 

Saturday  19 

T  O  C  

2:00 p.m. ‐  3:00 p.m.  26 

4:00 p.m.‐ 5:00 p.m.  22 

5:00 p.m.‐ 6:00 p.m.  18 

3:00 p.m.‐ 4:00 p.m.  16 

12:00 p.m.‐ 1:00 p.m.  14 

1:00 p.m.‐ 2:00 p.m.  14 

10:00 a.m.‐ 11:00 a.m.  12 

11:00 a.m.‐ 12:00 p.m.  12 

9:00 a.m.‐ 10:00 a.m.  11 

6:00 p.m.‐ 7:00 p.m.  11 

C  C  F  

Ina en on  44 

Did Not Grant Right of Way to Vehicle  34 

Other  16 

Followed Too Closely  10 

Exceeding Reasonable Safe Speed  8 

Improper Backing  8 

Opera ng Defec ve Equipment  7 

Driver Interac on w/Pass/Animal/Object  6 

Improper Turn  6 

None  6 

Disregard Stop & Go Signal  5 

Driver Distract Outside Vehicle  5 

Under Influence of Alcohol  4 

Under Influence of Drugs  4 

Unknown Driver Distrac on  3 

Driver Fa gued  2 

Driver Ea ng or Drinking  2 

Driver Not Distracted  2 

Driver Opera ng Other Electronic Device  2 

Driver Opera ng  Handheld Communicator  2 

Improper Passing  2 

Other Driver Inside Distrac on  2 

Over Center Line  2 

Disregard Stop Sign / Flashing Red  1 

Driver Adjus ng Audio / Entertainment System  1 

Grand Total  187 

Exceeding Stated Speed Limit  1 

Improper U Turn  1 

On Wrong Side of Road  1 

C  

374



67 

1 0   ~   T    

A   B   L  

375



68 

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

Aim/Discharge Firearm  3  0  3 

Alcohol Serve w/o Valid Permit  1  0  1 

Allow Unauth Person to Drive  1  0  1 

Animal Cruelty 2nd  1  0  1 

Animal—Care Required  1  0  1 

Arson 1st  0  1  1 

Assault 2nd  13  2  15 

Assault 2nd/Other Weapon  3  0  3 

Assault 3rd  3  0  3 

Assault 3rd—Health Caregiver  2  0  2 

Assault 3rd—LE Officer  3  0  3 

Assault 4th  96  17  113 

Assault 4th / FTA  29  0  29 

Assault of a Child 1st  2  0  2 

At Risk Youth  2  0  2 

A empt To Elude  2  0  2 

Bomb Threat  1  0  1 

Burglary 1st  2  0  2 

Burglary 2nd  10  0  10 

Burglary 2nd / Day / Force  1  0  1 

Burglary 2nd / FTA  2  0  2 

Burglary Residen al  10  0  10 

Burglary Residen al / FTA  2  0  2 

Child Molest 1st  0  2  2 

Child Rape 1st  0  1  1 

Communi w/Minor Imm Purp  1  0  1 

Community Custody Viola on  1  0  1 

Cont Sub‐Dist Minor <3Y Jr  1  0  1 

Cont Subs‐Mfg/Del/Pos w/Int  4  1  5 

Cont Subs Poss No Prescrip on  1  0  1 

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

Contempt Of Court / FTA  1  0  1 

Controlled Substance Viola on  2  0  2 

Criminal Impersona on 2nd  1  0  1 

Criminal Trespass 1st  26  2  28 

Criminal Trespass 1st / FTA  8  0  8 

Criminal Trespass 2nd  21  1  22 

Criminal Trespass 2nd / FTA  7  0  7 

Deliver Controlled Substance  2  0  2 

Detain For Federal Authori es  1  0  1 

Disobey School Official  0  1  1 

Disorderly Conduct  12  1  13 

Disorderly Conduct / FTA  3  0  3 

Disturb School Ac vity  1  5  6 

DOC Hold/Detainer  4  0  4 

DUI  49  0  49 

DUI Felony /FTA  1  0  1 

DUI / FTA  17  0  17 

DUI / FTC  1  0  1 

DWLS 1st  1  0  1 

DWLS 2nd  8  0  8 

DWLS 2nd / FTA  3  0  3 

DWLS 2nd / FTC  1  0  1 

DWLS 3rd  138  0  138 

DWLS 3rd / FTA  57  0  57 

DWLS 3rd / FTC  2  0  2 

Endangerment w/ Cont. Sub.  2  0  2 

Escape 3rd  1  0  1 

Fail To Comply  4  0  4 

Fail To Stop For Officer  1  0  1 

Fail Trans Title W/I 45 Days  2  0  2 

1 1   ~   S  

A  

376



69 

1 1   ~   S  

A  

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

Fail Trans Title 45 Days / FTA  1  0  1 

Failure To Appear  6  0  6 

False Statement To Officer  7  0  7 

False Statement / FTA  1  0  1 

Figh ng  4  0  4 

Forgery  6  0  6 

Fugi ve From Jus ce Warrants  2  0  2 

Furnish Alcohol To Minor / FTA  2  0  2 

Furnish Alcohol To Minors  1  0  1 

Give False Info To Police  2  0  2 

Harassment  5  0  5 

Harassment/Felony  13  0  13 

Hit & Run A ended Vehicle  2  0  2 

Hit & Run Una ended Prop  3  0  3 

Hit & Run Una ended Vehicle  1  0  1 

Hit & Run Una  Vehicle / FTA  1  0  1 

Iden ty The   1  0  1 

Iden ty The  1st  2  0  2 

Iden ty The  2nd  20  1  21 

Iden ty The  2nd / FTA  1  0  1 

Iden ty The  / FTA  1  0  1 

Illegal Possession Firearm 1st  2  0  2 

Indecent Exposure  3  0  3 

Interfere W/Report Of DV  3  0  3 

Interlock Viola on  8  0  8 

In mid School Official/Student  0  2  2 

Lewd Conduct  2  0  2 

Li ering in City Park  1  0  1 

Malicious Mischief 2nd >$250  3  1  4 

Malicious Misc 3rd Phys Damage  5  1  6 

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

Malicious Mischief 3rd  28  2  30 

Malicious Mischief 3rd / FTA  5  0  5 

Man/Del/Possess Narco c Drug  4  0  4 

Marij Poss < 40 Grams  2  5  7 

Marij Poss< 40 Grams /FTA  5  0  5 

Minor Intoxic Public / FTA  1  0  1 

Minor Poss / Comsum Alc  3  10  13 

Minor Poss / Comsum Alc FTA  3  0  3 

Minor Poss / Comsum Alc FTC  0  1  1 

Minor Pur/Atp Pur Alc / FTA  1  0  1 

MIP/Furn Alc To Minor / FTA  3  0  3 

MIP/Furnish Alcohol to Minor  9  1  10 

Negligent Driving 1st  3  0  3 

Negligent Driving 1st / FTA  2  0  2 

Negligent Driving 1st / FTC  3  0  3 

No Valid Oper Lic  /N o Valid ID  3  0  3 

No Valid Oper Lic  / ID / FTA  2  0  2 

Obstruct Police Officer  18  2  20 

Obstruct A Public Servant / FTA  3  0  3 

Obstruct A Public Servant   2  0  2 

Obstruc ng Publ Serv / FTA  2  0  2 

Paraphernalia Del/Possess/Man  0  1  1 

Paraphernalia/Use  3  1  4 

Patronize Pros tute  1  0  1 

Physical Control  1  0  1 

Possess Controlled Substance  52  1  53 

Possess Dangerous Weapon  7  0  7 

Poss Dangerous Weapon / FTA  1  0  1 

Possess Drug Paraphernalia  2  0  2 

Poss Drug Paraphernalia / FTA  1  0  1 

377



70 

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

Poss Leg Drug W/O Rx  10  3  13 

Poss Leg Drug W/O Rx / FTA  2  0  2 

Poss Lgnd Drug W/O Rx / FTA  5  0  5 

Poss Marijuana < 40 Grams  4  4  8 

Poss MJ < 40 Grams / FTA  3  0  3 

Poss MJ < 40 Grams / FTC  1  0  1 

Poss MJ with Intent To Deliv  3  0  3 

Possess Stolen Firearm  1  0  1 

Poss Stolen Prop 2nd >$250  12  0  12 

Poss Stolen Prop 3rd < $250  5  2  7 

Poss Stolen Prop 3rd  / FTC  3  0  3 

Possession of Stolen Mail  1  0  1 

Proba on/Parole Viola on  64  1  65 

Racing On Highway/Reckless  4  0  4 

Reckless Driving  5  0  5 

Reckless Driving / FTA  1  0  1 

Reckless Endangerment  8  2  10 

Reckless Endangerment / FTA  1  0  1 

Resis ng Arrest  5  1  6 

Robbery 1st  1  0  1 

Robbery 2nd  1  0  1 

Robbery 2nd / FTA  1  0  1 

Sell Alcohol Pers Und Infl  1  0  1 

Sell Alc Pers Und Infl FTA FTC  1  0  1 

Stalking / Fel  9  0  9 

Take Mtr Veh W/O Perm 2nd  3  0  3 

Tamper w/ Physical Evidence  1  0  1 

Tamper w/ Phys Evid / FTA  1  0  1 

The  1st > $1500  5  0  5 

The  2nd  7  0  7 

1 1   ~   S  

A  

Arrests  Adult  Juv  Total 

The  2nd > $750 < $5000  4  1  5 

The  2nd Access Device  5  0  5 

The  2nd / FTA  2  0  2 

The  3rd < $750  119  16  135 

The  3rd / FTA  55  0  55 

The  3rd / FTC  0  1  1 

The  / Rent / Lease / Prop  1  0  1 

The  of Motor Vehicle  3  0  3 

Trafficking 2nd / FTA  1  0  1 

Truancy  1  0  1 

UIBC < $250 / FTA  1  0  1 

UIBC > $750 / FTA  1  0  1 

Unlawful Imprisonment  2  0  2 

Unlawful Posse Of Firearm  3  0  3 

Urina ng In Public  1  0  1 

Vehicle Prowl 2nd  5  0  5 

Viol Civil An ‐Harass Order  2  0  2 

Viol DV Po W/ 2 Prev Convict  20  0  20 

Viol DV Prot Order  22  0  22 

Viol DV Prot Order W/Assault  2  0  2 

Viol Protect Order/DV /FTA  12  0  12 

Viola on DV Restraing Order  1  0  1 

Viola on of No Contact Order  15  0  15 

Viol No Cont Order 2 + Prior  1  0  1 

Viol of No Contact Order DV  1  0  1 

Viol of No Contact Order FTA  5  0  5 

Viol Pre Trial Rels An  Harass  1  0  1 

Viol Protct Ordr Vul Adult DV  1  0  1 

Viol Protect Order DV  4  0  4 

Weapon on School Prop  1  0  1 

Weapon on School Prop / FTA  1  0  1 

Weapon / Dangerous  1  0  1 

Witness Tampering  1  0  1 

Totals  1,316  94  1,410 

378



71 

1 1   ~   S  

The Part 1 Crimes sta s cal analysis uses 
seven criminal statutes (Arson,  Assault, Auto 

The , Burglary, Homicide, Rape and 
Robbery), for the purpose of determining a 
sta s cal comparison of the crime rate 

between ci es of all sizes. 

Year    2012  2013 

Arson  5  2 

Assault  230  202 
Auto The   32  25 

Burglary  155  106 
Homicide  0  0 

Rape  8  5 
Robbery  3  4 

Year    2012  2013 
Bad Checks  5  2 

Car Prowl  36  96 

Disorderly Conduct  51  70 

Forgery  6  19 

Fraud  44  45 

Liquor Viola ons  26  23 

Malicious Mischief  222  166 

Narco cs  210  130 

Resis ng / Obstruc ng  13  27 

Runaways  52  38 

Sex Offenses  27  27 

Shopli ing  117  117 

The   368  283 

Traffic (including DUI)  756  677 

Weapons Viola ons  17  23 

P  1  C  

O  C  

A  

379



72 

1 1   ~   S  

O  

Offense Total  

Accident Hit & Run Prop Damage 73 
Alcohol Offense 23 
Animal Bite 8 
Animal Injured 1 
Animal Noise 23 
Animal Other 1 
Animal Problem 14 
Animal Violation 10 
Arson, Other. Struc. Inhabited 1 
Arson, Other. Struc. Uninhabited 1 
Assault 2nd DV 10 
Assault 4th Child DV 1 
Assault 4th DV 86 
Assault 4th Viol Rest Order DV 4 
Assault No Weapon, Agg Injury 5 
Assault with a firearm 1 
Assault with a Knife 1 
Assault, Intimidation 4 
Assault, Other Weapon 3 
Assault, Police, Other Weapon 1 
Assault, Police, Simple 7 
Assault, Simple 79 
Assist Agency 210 
Assist Public 174 
Attempt Fraud / Swindle / Conf Game 2 
Bomb threat or Attack 1 
Burglary 7 
Burglary 2nd DV 9 
Burglary Attempt 8 
Burglary Commercial 20 
Burglary Residential 2 
Burglary, Non‐Res, Att Forc Ent 1 
Burglary, Non‐Res, Forcible Ent 6 
Burglary, Non‐Res, Unlawful Ent 1 
Burglary, Resid, Att Forc Ent 10 

Offense 
Total  

Reported 
Burglary, Resid, Forcible Ent 40 
Burglary, Resid, Unlawf Ent 10 
Business or License Violation 3 
Child Abuse or Neglect 37 
Civil 9 
Cont Subst Drug Equipment 1 
Cont Subst / Possess Paraphernalia 22 
Cont Subst / Possess Synthetics 12 
Cont Subst / Possession Marijuana 13 
Cont Subst / Sale / Manu Synthetic 1 
Cont Substance / Sale / Manu / Cocn 1 
Cont Substance / Sale / Manu / Other 2 
Controlled Substance Inv 26 
Controlled Substance / Possession 52 
Counterfeiting / Forgery 15 
Court Order Violation 9 
Criminal Trespass 2nd DV 1 
Custodial Interference 4 
DUI Alcohol or Drugs 50 
Death Investigation Unattended 24 
Disorderly Conduct 64 
Display Weapon DV 2 
Domestic Dispute Verbal DV 356 
Domestic Physical 1 
Driving While License Suspended 153 
Embezzlement 1 
Escape 1 
Found Property 17 
False Information or Report 10 
Fire 2 
Fire ‐ Structure 2 
Fire ‐ Vehicle 1 
Fireworks 4 
Force Sex Aslt, Fondling 2 
Force Sex Aslt, Sodomy 1 

380



73 

1 1   ~   S  

O  

Offense Total  

Fraud – Forgery 4 
Fraud – Other 3 
Fraud, Credit Card / ATM 28 
Fraud, ID Theft 12 
Fraud, Impersonation 1 
Fraud, Wire 1 
Fraud / Swindle / Confidence Game 12 
Game Violation 1 
Harassment 12 
Harassment ‐ Computer 5 
Harassment ‐ General 29 
Harassment ‐ Telephone 28 
Harassment DV 8 
Interfere With Reporting DV 2 
Juvenile Problem 7 
Juvenile Runaway 38 
Kidnapping / Abduction 1 
Littering 23 
Lost or Found Property 20 
Malicious Mischief 146 
Malicious Mischief 2nd DV 1 
Malicious Mischief 3rd DV 19 
Missing Person 9 
Negligent Driving 2 
Noise Complaint 120 
Non‐Forcible Sex Aslt, Incest 1 
Nonsufficient Funds Checks 2 
Nuisance Other 2 
Nuisance Phone Call 1 
Obstructing Justice 20 
Official Misconduct 1 
Probation / Parole Violation 2 
Property ‐ Missing 1 
Prostitution 1 
Rape – Acquaintance 3 

Offense 
Total  

Reported 

Rape 2nd DV 1 
Rape – Attempted 1 
Receive / Posses Stolen Property 12 
Reckless Driving 5 
Reckless Endangerment 6 
Reckless Endangerment DV 4 
Recovered Stolen Property 3 
Recovered Stolen Vehicle 1 
Resisting 5 
Robbery Strong Arm 3 
Robbery, Firearm, Street 1 
Sex Indecent Exposure 9 
Sex Lewd Conduct 5 
Sex Offense 13 
Sex Offense Other 1 
Sex Offense ‐ Against Child 4 
Soliciting 1 
Suicide 3 
Suicide Attempt 69 
Suicide Threat 17 
Suspicion 40 
Take Motor Veh W/O Permission 2 
Tampering 2 
Theft ‐ Shoplift 117 
Theft Attempt: Property Other 1 
Theft of Motor Vehicle Fuel 4 
Theft, Property: Bicycle 43 
Theft, Property: Building 40 
Theft, Property: From Motor Veh 67 
Theft, Property: Other 118 
Theft, Property: Vehicle Parts 14 
Theft, Vehicle: Automobile 20 
Theft, Vehicle: Motorcycle 1 
Theft, Vehicle: Other Type 4 
Threatening 24 

381



74 

1 1   ~   S  

Offense 
Total  

Reported 
Tobacco Violation 1 

Traffic Accident Criminal Citation 15 

Traffic Accident Non Reportable 172 

Traffic Accident Officer Involved 3 

Traffic Accident, Prop Damage 2 

Traffic Accident ‐ Infraction 129 

Traffic Accident ‐ No Enforcement 44 

Traffic Offense 29 

Trespass of Real Property 187 

Unlawful Imprisonment DV 3 

O  

P  L  

S  
2013  Value Stolen  Value Recovered 

January  $42,926.73 $1,518.64 

February  $35,599.72 $9,999.88 

March  $79,493.26 $44,414.01 

April  $41,426.49 $2,181.94 

May  $17,886.45 $1,619.48 
June  $16,060.50 $1,429.00 
July  $38,501.01 $9,789.36 

August  $14,784.27 $4,529.12 

September  $40,868.87 $1,221.35 

October  $17,374.95 $3,123.88 

November  $11,906.02 $1,163.50 

December  $25,148.13 $1,352.03 

Totals  $381,936.40 $82,342.19 

Offense 
Total  

Reported 
Vehicle Abandoned 55 

Vehicle Impound 59 

Vehicle Prowl 96 

Verbal Argument No Assault 21 

Viol Prot Order Muni Code DV 1 

Violation Protection Order DV 76 

Warrant Other Agency 1 

Weapons Offense 22 

Welfare Check 19 

Total Offenses Taken 3,919 

382



75 

1 1   ~   S  

V  L  

S  
2013  Value Stolen 

January  $4,500.00 
February  $25,000.00 

March  $6,500.00 

April  $15,180.00 

May  $0.00 

June  $19,500.00 

July  $13,000.00 

August  $16,200.00 

September  $0.00 

October  $6,000.00 

November  $28,500.00 

December  $8,500.00 

Totals  $142,880.00 

Value Recovered 

$0.00 
$25,000.00 
$5,000.00 
$15,180.00 

$0.00 
$15,000.00 
$12,000.00 
$16,200.00 

$0.00 
$1,000.00 
$28,000.00 
$1,500.00 

$118,880.00 

I  Y  H  A  I  A   

C  A  C  T   

O  H  P  D   

T  L  

360.679.TIPS 

383



76 

Guns Vs. Hoses 2013 

T  S  

February 4, 2013 

VFW Award Presented To Officer Mike Clements 

384



77 

T  S  

Ron Lawler vaca oning in San Diego 

Officer Gravel Riding Rory 

Officer Tony Slowik with his family following his 

promo on to Chief Warrant Officer with the U.S. 

Coast Guard Reserves. 

Chief Green and his wife Christy 

385



78 

Valenzuela Look‐A‐Likes 

Officer Jon Valenzuela hos ng  

the office holiday party 

Mike Koval at the Pass 

We love what we do! 

T  S  

386



79 

2013 Annual Report 

Oak Harbor Police Department 
 

Prepared & Presented by 
Edgar J. Green; Chief of Police 

 

Produced by Meg Massey; 
Administra ve Assistant 

 

Grateful thanks to the Department 
personnel who submi ed Division 

reports, sta s cs and photographs. 
 

A special thank you to Sara Nagel 

for photography. 
 

This report is available at: 

www.OakHarbor.org 

Officer Yzaguirre in Maui 

Officer Mel Lolmaugh on the Unity Tour 

387



   

OHPD 

 

388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442



443



444



445



446



447



448



449



450



451



452



453



454



455



456



457



458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



474



475



476



477



478



479



480



481



482



483



484



485



486



487



488



489



490



491



492



493



494



495



496



497



498



6/23/2014

Preconstruction Work Plan and Breakdown Revision 2

Preconstruction  Services  - Workplan

Pr
ec

on
 N

TP
 A

ss
um

ed
 

7/
1/

14

Ju
l-1

4

A
ug

-1
4

Se
p-

14

O
ct

-1
4

N
ov

-1
4

D
ec

-1
4

Ja
n-

15

Fe
b-

15

M
ar

-1
5

A
pr

-1
5

M
ay

-1
5

Ju
n-

15

Ju
l-1

5

A
ug

-1
5

Se
p-

15

O
ct

-1
5

A
ss

um
ed

 C
on

st
. S

er
vi

ce
s 

St
ar

t J
ul

y 
20

15

Total 
MH Cost / MH Estimate Total

Preconstruction Task Schedule:
01 Design  / Coordination Meeting Attendance
02 Value Engineering Studies
03 Constructability Reviews
04 Community Outreach
05 Construction workplan  development
06 Site and Existing Facility Investigation Work
07 Site Logistics Plan Development
08 Safety  & Environmental Assessment & Planning
09 30% Estimate Development 
10 60% Estimate Development
11 90% Estimate Development
12 Early Bid Package Advertising and Award
14 Schedule Updating and Development
15 Plant Operations / Construction Coordination Mtgs

Month Count 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
Project Management

Project Director Tom Peterson 4 8 8 8 4 8 8 8 8 64 $125 $8,000
Project Manager Trevor Thies 80 84 84 104 84 64 120 120 120 120 64 40 1084 $110 $119,240

Project Superintendent
Project Supt Bryan Shirley 20 84 64 64 64 54 120 120 120 120 120 80 1030 $110 $113,300

Safety 
Safety / Environmental  Mgr Ken Gulezian 20 20 80 120 $75 $9,000

Project Engineering
ACS Engineer / CQC Kevin Ryan 20 20 40 40 40 80 240 $75 $18,000
Cultural Resource Engineer Ben Larson 20 20 20 40 40 80 220 $75 $16,500

Scheduling
Scheduling Engineer Scott Bailey 8 20 10 20 10 10 10 20 10 10 10 10 10 20 10 10 198 $75 $14,850

Estimating 
Architectural, Civil, Structural Chris Bjork 40 80 80 40 80 80 60 60 520 $100 $52,000
A/C/S Estimating Support Estimating Support 20 80 80 20 80 80 60 60 480 $80 $38,400

Mechanical Jerry Rosette 20 60 60 40 60 60 40 40 380 $100 $38,000
Electrical Jon Loen 20 60 60 30 60 60 40 40 370 $100 $37,000
M /E Estimating Support M/E Estimating Support 20 80 80 20 80 80 50 50 460 $80 $36,800

Purchasing  / Expediting
Purchasing Manager Marjorie Chang Fuller 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 160 $85 $13,600

BIM
BIM Manager Dale Stenning 8 8 8 8 10 10 8 8 68 $100 $6,800

BIM Tech TBD 16 16 16 8 8 8 40 40 40 40 232 $80 $18,560

MANLOADER TOTALS 226 690 489 1269 1077 606 646 669 1505 768 342 338 10 552 260 10 5,626 MH $540,050
ESTIMATED PRECONSTRUCTION EXPENSES  (OPTIONAL):
Additional Site Investigations $100,000
Temporary dewatering design $20,000
ECCM and MCCM  Precon Expense $120,000
Early bid documents / advertisements $10,000

PRECONSTRUCTION SERVICES TOTAL Grand Total: $790,050

Time Allocation Legend:
40 hours or less per month
More than 41 hours per month
More than 81 hours per month
More than 121 hours per month

Hoffman Construction Company 
of Washington

Oak Harbor Washington
Clean Water Facility

Precon Staff Plan - Rev 2  06-19-17 1

499



SRF Specification Insert 1 Revised 10/30/2013 

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY 

 

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL REVOLVING FUND 

 

SPECIFICATIONS INSERT 

 

Revised 10/30/13 

 

 

The following clauses will be incorporated into construction contracts receiving financial 

assistance from the Washington State Department of Ecology Water Pollution Control Revolving 

Fund.  In the event of conflict within the contract these clauses shall take precedence  

 

Required Bid Submittals 
The following submittals are required to be submitted with the bid proposal:  

 

 Certification Of Nonsegregated Facilities (attachment 3) 

 DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form (EPA Form 6100-4) 

 One copy of DBE Subcontractor Performance Form (EPA Form 6100-3) for each DBE 

subcontractor. 

 Complete Bidders List. 

 

Compliance with State and Local Laws 
The Contractor shall assure compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 

requirements, and ordinances as they pertain to the design, implementation, and administration 

of the approved project. 

 

State Interest Exclusion 
It is anticipated that this project will be funded in part by the Washington State Department of 

Ecology .  Neither the State Of Washington nor any of its departments or employees are, or shall 

be, a party to this contract or any subcontract. 

 

Third Party Beneficiary  
Partial funding of this project is being provided through the Washington State Department of 

Ecology Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund.  All parties agree that the State of Washington 

shall be, and is hereby, named as an express third-party beneficiary of this contract, with full 

rights as such. 

 

Access to the construction site and to records   
The contractor shall provide for the safe access to the construction site and to the contractor's 

records by Washington State Department of Ecology and Environmental Protection Agency 

(EPA) personnel. 

 

The Contractor shall maintain accurate records and accounts to facilitate the Owner’s audit 

requirements and shall ensure that all subcontractors maintain auditable records. 

 

500



SRF Specification Insert 2 Revised 10/30/2013 

These Project records shall be separate and distinct from the Contractor’s other records and 

accounts. 

 

All such records shall be available to the Owner and to Washington State Department of Ecology 

and EPA personnel for examination. All records pertinent to this project shall be retained by the 

Contractor for a period of three (3) years after the final audit. 

 

Protection of the Environment   
No construction related activity shall contribute to the degradation of the environment, allow 

material to enter surface or ground waters, or allow particulate emissions to the atmosphere, 

which exceed state or federal standards.  Any actions that potentially allow a discharge to state 

waters must have prior approval of the Washington State Department of Ecology. 

 

Project Signs 
The Contractor shall display Ecology’s and the EPA’s logo in a manner that informs the public 

that the project received financial assistance from the Washington State Water Pollution Control 

Revolving Fund.    

 

Use Of American Iron And Steel (Buy American) 
This provision applies to projects for the construction, alteration, maintenance, or repair of a 

“treatment works” as defined in the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 USC 1381 et seq.). 

This provision does not apply if the engineering plans and specifications for the project were 

approved by the Ecology prior to January 17, 2014. 

 

The Contractor acknowledges to and for the benefit of the Project Owner and the State of 

Washington that it understands the goods and services under this Agreement are being funded 

with monies made available by the Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund which contains 

provisions commonly known as “Buy American;” that requires all of the iron and steel products 

used in the project be produced in the United States (“Buy American Requirements”).  “Iron and 

Steel products” means the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined 

pipes and fittings, manhole covers and other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe 

clamps and restraints, valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete, and construction 

materials.  

 

The Contractor hereby represents and warrants to and for the benefit of the Project Owner and 

the State that:  

(a) the Contractor has reviewed and understands the Buy American Requirements,  

(b) all of the iron and steel products used in the project will be and/or have been produced 

in the United States in a manner that complies with the Buy American Requirements, 

unless a waiver of the requirements is approved, and  

(c) the Contractor will provide any further verified information, certification or assurance 

of compliance with this paragraph, or information necessary to support a waiver of the 

Buy American Requirements, as may be requested by the Project Owner or the State. 

 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any failure to comply with this 

paragraph by the Contractor shall permit the Project Owner or State to recover as damages 

501



SRF Specification Insert 3 Revised 10/30/2013 

against the Contractor any loss, expense or cost (including without limitation attorney’s fees) 

incurred by the Project Owner or State resulting from any such failure (including without 

limitation any impairment or loss of funding, whether in whole or in part, from the State or any 

damages owed to the State by the Project Owner).  While the Contractor has no direct 

contractual privity with the State, as a lender to the Project Owner for the funding of its project, 

the Project Owner and the Contractor agree that the State is a third-party beneficiary and neither 

this paragraph (nor any other provision of the Agreement necessary to give this paragraph force 

or effect shall be amended or waived without the prior written consent of the State. 

 

Prevailing Wage 
The work performed under this contract is subject to the wage requirements of the Davis-Bacon 

Act.  The Contractor shall conform to the wage requirements prescribed by the federal Davis-

Bacon and Relate Acts which requires that all laborers and mechanics employed by contractors 

and subcontractors performing on contracts funded in whole or in part by SRF appropriations in 

excess of $2000 pay their laborers and mechanics not less than the prevailing wage rates and 

fringe benefits, and determined by the Secretary of Labor, for corresponding classes of laborers 

and mechanics employed on similar projects in the area.  Attachment 1 to this specification insert 

and an up to date wage determination shall be included in full into this contract and in any 

subcontract in excess of $2,000.  Wage determinations can be found at http://www.wdol.gov. 

 

The Contractor agrees that the Contractor is legally and financially responsible for compliance 

with the Davis-Bacon Act wage rules. All laborers and mechanics employed by contractors and 

subcontractors employed as part of this contract shall be paid wages at rates not less than those 

prevailing on projects of a character similar in the locality as determined by the Secretary of 

Labor in accordance with subchapter IV of chapter 31 of title 40, United States Code.   

 

Certification Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility Or Voluntary 

Exclusion  
 

1. The CONTRACTOR, by signing this agreement, certifies that it is not suspended, 

debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible or otherwise excluded from 

contracting with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal 

funds.  If the CONTRACTOR is unable to certify to the statements contained in the 

certification, they must provide an explanation as to why they cannot.   

 

2. The CONTRACTOR shall provide immediate written notice to the Department if at any 

time the CONTRACTOR learns that its certification was erroneous when submitted or 

had become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 

 

3. The terms covered transaction, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower tier covered 

transaction, participant, person, primary covered transaction, principal, proposal, and 

voluntarily excluded, as used in this clause, have the meaning set out in the Definitions 

and Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549.  You may contact 

the department for assistance in obtaining a copy of those regulations..  

 

4. The CONTRACTOR agrees it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 

502

http://www.wdol.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 4 Revised 10/30/2013 

transaction with a person who is proposed for debarment under the applicable Code of 

Federal Regulations, debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 

from participation in this covered transaction.   

 

5. The CONTRACTOR further agrees by signing this agreement, that it will include this 

clause titled “Certification Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility Or Voluntary 

Exclusion” without modification in all lower tier covered transactions and in all 

solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 

 

6. Pursuant to 2CFR180.330, the CONTRACTOR is responsible for ensuring that any lower 

tier covered transaction complies with certification of suspension and debarment 

requirements.    

 

7. CONTRACTOR acknowledges that failing to disclose the information required in the 

Code of Federal Regulations may result in the delay or negation of this funding 

agreement, or pursuance of legal remedies, including suspension and debarment. 

 

8. CONTRACTOR agrees to keep proof in its agreement file, that it, and all lower tier 

recipients or contractors, are not suspended or debarred, and will make this proof 

available to the Department upon request.  RECIPIENT/CONTRACTOR must run a 

search in http://www.sam.gov/ and print a copy of completed searches to document proof 

of compliance. 

 

This term and condition supersedes EPA Form 5700-49, “Certification Regarding Debarment, 

Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters.” 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises  
 

General Compliance (40 CFR Part 33).   

The contractor shall comply with the requirements of the Environmental Protection Agency’s 

Program for Participation By Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) 40 CFR Part 33.   

 

Non-discrimination Provision (40CFR Appendix A to Part 33).   

The contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the 

performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 40 CFR 

part 33 in the award and administration of contracts awarded under EPA financial assistance 

agreements. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this 

contract which may result in the termination of this contract or other legally available remedies. 

 

The contractor shall comply with all federal and state nondiscrimination laws, including, but not 

limited to Title VI and VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 

of 1973, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, 

and Chapter 49.60 RCW, Washington’s Law Against Discrimination, and 42 U.S.C. 12101 et 

seq, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

 

503

http://www.sam.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 5 Revised 10/30/2013 

Six Good Faith Efforts (40 CFR Part 33 Subpart C).   

The contractor agrees to make the following good faith efforts whenever procuring subcontracts, 

equipment, services and supplies.  The contractor shall retain records documenting compliance 

with the following six good faith efforts. 

 

 Ensuring Disadvantaged Business Enterprises are made aware of contracting 

opportunities to the fullest extent practicable through outreach and recruitment activities.  

For Indian Tribal, State and Local and Government recipients, this will include placing 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises on solicitation lists and soliciting them whenever 

they are potential sources.  Qualified Women and Minority business enterprises may be 

found on the Internet at www.omwbe.wa.gov or by contacting the Washington State 

Office of Minority and Women’s Enterprises at (866) 208-1064. 

 Making information on forthcoming opportunities available to Disadvantaged Business 

Enterprises and arrange time frames for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where 

the requirements permit, in a way that encourages and facilitates participation by 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process. This includes, whenever 

possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a minimum of thirty (30) calendar 

days before the bid or proposal closing date. 

 Considering in the contracting process whether firms competing for large contracts could 

subcontract with Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. For Indian Tribal, State and local 

Government recipients, this will include dividing total requirements when economically 

feasible into smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation by 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process.  

 Encourage contracting with a consortium of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises when a 

contract is too large for one of these firms to handle individually. 

 Using services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and the Minority 

Business Development Agency of the Department of Commerce. 

 If the prime contractor awards subcontracts, requiring the subcontractors to take the six 

good faith efforts in paragraphs 1 through 5 above. 

 

MBE/WBE Reporting (40 CFR Part 33 Parts 33.302, 33.502 and 33.503).   

 

1. The contractor shall complete the DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form (EPA Form 

6100–4).   

2. The contractor shall require all DBE subcontractors to complete the DBE Subcontractor 

Performance Form (EPA Form 6100-3).   The DBE Subcontractor Performance Form is 

only required to be completed by certified DBE subcontractors. 

3. The contractor shall submit DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form (EPA Form 6100-4) 

and all completed DBE Subcontractor Performance Form(s) (EPA Form 6100-3) as part 

of the bid, or within one hour after the published bid submittal time (consistent with 

RCW 39.30.060) 

4. The contractor shall provide DBE Subcontractor Participation Form (EPA Form 6100-2) 

to all DBE subcontractors. These subcontractors may submit Subcontractor Participation 

Form (EPA Form 6100-2) to the EPA Region 10 DBE coordinator in order to document 

issues or concerns with their usage or payment for a subcontract.   

 

504

http://www.omwbe.wa.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 6 Revised 10/30/2013 

The 6100 forms can be found at: 

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wq/funding/GrantLoanMgmtDocs/Eng/GrantLoanMgmtEngR

es.html  

 

Bidders List (40 CFR Part 33 part 33.501) 

All bidders shall submit the following information for all firms that bid or quote on subcontracts 

(including both DBE and non-DBE firms) as part of the bid, or within one hour after the 

published bid submittal time (consistent with RCW 39.30.060). 

 

 Firm’s name with point of contact; 

 Firm’s mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail address; 

 The work on which the firm bid or quoted, and when the firm bid or quoted; and 

 Firm’s status as an MBE/WBE or non-MBE/WBE. 

 

Contract Administration Provisions (40 CFR part 33.302).   

The contractor shall comply with the contract administration provisions of 40 CFR, Part33.302.   

 

 The contractor shall pay its subcontractor for satisfactory performance no more than 30 

days from the contractor's receipt of payment. 

 The contractor shall notify the owner in writing prior to any termination of a DBE 

subcontractor. 

 If a DBE subcontractor fails to complete work under the subcontract for any reason, the 

contractor shall employ the six good faith efforts when soliciting a replacement 

subcontractor. 

 The contractor shall employ the six good faith efforts even if the contractor has achieved 

its fair share objectives. 

 

Equal Opportunity (EEO) 
If this Contract exceeds $10,000, the Contractor shall comply with Executive Order 11246, 

“Equal Employment Opportunity,” as amended by Executive Order 11375, “Amending 

Executive Order 11246 Relating to Equal Employment Opportunity,” and as supplemented by 

regulations at 41 CFR part 60. 

 

Contractor’s compliance with Executive Order 11246 shall be based on implementation of the 

Equal Opportunity Clause, and specific affirmative active obligations required by the Standard 

Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications, as set forth in 41 

CFR Part 60-4. 

 

Equal Opportunity Clause (41 CFR part 60-1.4(b)) 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 

 

 The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take 

affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated 

during employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, upgrading, 

505

http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wq/funding/GrantLoanMgmtDocs/Eng/GrantLoanMgmtEngRes.html
http://www.ecy.wa.gov/programs/wq/funding/GrantLoanMgmtDocs/Eng/GrantLoanMgmtEngRes.html


SRF Specification Insert 7 Revised 10/30/2013 

demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates 

of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including 

apprenticeship. The contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to 

employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting forth the 

provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

 The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 

behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for 

employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

 The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he 

has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be 

provided advising the said labor union or workers' representatives of the contractor's 

commitments under this section, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places 

available to employees and applicants for employment. 

 The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 

24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

 The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of 

Labor, or pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by 

the administering agency and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to 

ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

 In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this 

contract or with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be 

canceled, terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared 

ineligible for further Government contracts or federally assisted construction contracts in 

accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, 

and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in Executive 

Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the Secretary of 

Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

 The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph 

(1) and the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase 

order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued 

pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such 

provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The contractor will take 

such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering agency 

may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for 

noncompliance: Provided, however, That in the event a contractor becomes involved in, 

or is threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such 

direction by the administering agency the contractor may request the United States to 

enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 

Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications  

(Executive Order 11246 and 41 CFR part 60-4.3) 

 

 As used in these specifications: 

a. “Covered area” means the geographical area described in the solicitation from which 

this contract resulted; 

b. “Director” means Director, Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, United 

506



SRF Specification Insert 8 Revised 10/30/2013 

States Department of Labor, or any person to whom the Director delegates authority; 

c. “Employer identification number” means the Federal Social Security number used on 

the Employer's Quarterly Federal Tax Return, U.S. Treasury Department Form 941. 

d. “Minority” includes: 

i. Black (all persons having origins in any of the Black African racial groups not 

of Hispanic origin); 

ii. Hispanic (all persons of Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban, Central or South 

American or other Spanish Culture or origin, regardless of race); 

iii. Asian and Pacific Islander (all persons having origins in any of the original 

peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian Subcontinent, or the Pacific 

Islands); and 

iv. American Indian or Alaskan Native (all persons having origins in any of the 

original peoples of North America and maintaining identifiable tribal affiliations 

through membership and participation or community identification). 

 Whenever the Contractor, or any Subcontractor at any tier, subcontracts a portion of the 

work involving any construction trade, it shall physically include in each subcontract in 

excess of $10,000 the provisions of these specifications and the Notice which contains 

the applicable goals for minority and female participation and which is set forth in the 

solicitations from which this contract resulted. 

 If the Contractor is participating (pursuant to 41 CFR 60–4.5) in a Hometown Plan 

approved by the U.S. Department of Labor in the covered area either individually or 

through an association, its affirmative action obligations on all work in the Plan area 

(including goals and timetables) shall be in accordance with that Plan for those trades 

which have unions participating in the Plan. Contractors must be able to demonstrate 

their participation in and compliance with the provisions of any such Hometown Plan. 

Each Contractor or Subcontractor participating in an approved Plan is individually 

required to comply with its obligations under the EEO clause, and to make a good faith 

effort to achieve each goal under the Plan in each trade in which it has employees. The 

overall good faith performance by other Contractors or Subcontractors toward a goal in 

an approved Plan does not excuse any covered Contractor's or Subcontractor's failure to 

take good faith efforts to achieve the Plan goals and timetables. 

 The Contractor shall implement the specific affirmative action standards provided in 

paragraphs 7 a through p of these specifications. The goals set forth in the solicitation 

from which this contract resulted are expressed as percentages of the total hours of 

employment and training of minority and female utilization the Contractor should 

reasonably be able to achieve in each construction trade in which it has employees in the 

covered area. Covered Construction contractors performing construction work in 

geographical areas where they do not have a Federal or federally assisted constuction 

contract shall apply the minority and female goals established for the geographical area 

where the work is being performed. Goals are published periodically in theFederal 

Registerin notice form, and such notices may be obtained from any Office of Federal 

Contract Compliance Programs office or from Federal procurement contracting officers. 

The Contractor is expected to make substantially uniform progress in meeting its goals in 

each craft during the period specified. 

 Neither the provisions of any collective bargaining agreement, nor the failure by a union 

with whom the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement, to refer either 

minorities or women shall excuse the Contractor's obligations under these specifications, 

507



SRF Specification Insert 9 Revised 10/30/2013 

Executive Order 11246, or the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto. 

 In order for the nonworking training hours of apprentices and trainees to be counted in 

meeting the goals, such apprentices and trainees must be employed by the Contractor 

during the training period, and the Contractor must have made a commitment to employ 

the apprentices and trainees at the completion of their training, subject to the availability 

of employment opportunities. Trainees must be trained pursuant to training programs 

approved by the U.S. Department of Labor. 

 The Contractor shall take specific affirmative actions to ensure equal employment 

opportunity. The evaluation of the Contractor's compliance with these specifications shall 

be based upon its effort to achieve maximum results from its actions. The Contractor 

shall document these efforts fully, and shall implement affirmative action steps at least as 

extensive as the following: 

a. Ensure and maintain a working environment free of harassment, intimidation, and 

coercion at all sites, and in all facilities at which the Contractor's employees are 

assigned to work. The Contractor, where possible, will assign two or more women to 

each construction project. The Contractor shall specifically ensure that all foremen, 

superintendents, and other on-site supervisory personnel are aware of and carry out 

the Contractor's obligation to maintain such a working environment, with specific 

attention to minority or female individuals working at such sites or in such facilities. 

b. Establish and maintain a current list of minority and female recruitment sources, 

provide written notification to minority and female recruitment sources and to 

community organizations when the Contractor or its unions have employment 

opportunities available, and maintain a record of the organizations' responses. 

c. Maintain a current file of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of each 

minority and female off-the-street applicant and minority or female referral from a 

union, a recruitment source or community organization and of what action was taken 

with respect to each such individual. If such individual was sent to the union hiring 

hall for referral and was not referred back to the Contractor by the union or, if 

referred, not employed by the Contractor, this shall be documented in the file with the 

reason therefor, along with whatever additional actions the Contractor may have 

taken. 

d. Provide immediate written notification to the Director when the union or unions with 

which the Contractor has a collective bargaining agreement has not referred to the 

Contractor a minority person or woman sent by the Contractor, or when the 

Contractor has other information that the union referral process has impeded the 

Contractor's efforts to meet its obligations. 

e. Develop on-the-job training opportunities and/or participate in training programs for 

the area which expressly include minorities and women, including upgrading 

programs and apprenticeship and trainee programs relevant to the Contractor's 

employment needs, especially those programs funded or approved by the Department 

of Labor. The Contractor shall provide notice of these programs to the sources 

compiled under 7b above. 

f. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy by providing notice of the policy to unions 

and training programs and requesting their cooperation in assisting the Contractor in 

meeting its EEO obligations; by including it in any policy manual and collective 

bargaining agreement; by publicizing it in the company newpaper, annual report, etc.; 

by specific review of the policy with all management personnel and with all minority 

508



SRF Specification Insert 10 Revised 10/30/2013 

and female employees at least once a year; and by posting the company EEO policy 

on bulletin boards accessible to all employees at each location where construction 

work is performed. 

g. Review, at least annually, the company's EEO policy and affirmative action 

obligations under these specifications with all employees having any responsibility 

for hiring, assignment, layoff, termination or other employment decisions including 

specific review of these items with onsite supervisory personnel such as 

Superintendents, General Foremen, etc., prior to the initiation of construction work at 

any job site. A written record shall be made and maintained identifying the time and 

place of these meetings, persons attending, subject matter discussed, and disposition 

of the subject matter. 

h. Disseminate the Contractor's EEO policy externally by including it in any advertising 

in the news media, specifically including minority and female news media, and 

providing written notification to and discussing the Contractor's EEO policy with 

other Contractors and Subcontractors with whom the Contractor does or anticipates 

doing business. 

i. Direct its recruitment efforts, both oral and written, to minority, female and 

community organizations, to schools with minority and female students and to 

minority and female recruitment and training organizations serving the Contractor's 

recruitment area and employment needs. Not later than one month prior to the date 

for the acceptance of applications for apprenticeship or other training by any 

recruitment source, the Contractor shall send written notification to organizations 

such as the above, describing the openings, screening procedures, and tests to be used 

in the selection process. 

j. Encourage present minority and female employees to recruit other minority persons 

and women and, where reasonable, provide after school, summer and vacation 

employment to minority and female youth both on the site and in other areas of a 

Contractor's work force. 

k. Validate all tests and other selection requirements where there is an obligation to do 

so under 41 CFR part 60–3. 

l. Conduct, at least annually, an inventory and evaluation at least of all minority and 

female personnel for promotional opportunities and encourage these employees to 

seek or to prepare for, through appropriate training, etc., such opportunities. 

m. Ensure that seniority practices, job classifications, work assignments and other 

personnel practices, do not have a discriminatory effect by continually monitoring all 

personnel and employment related activities to ensure that the EEO policy and the 

Contractor's obligations under these specifications are being carried out. 

n. Ensure that all facilities and company activities are nonsegregated except that 

separate or single-user toilet and necessary changing facilities shall be provided to 

assure privacy between the sexes. 

o. Document and maintain a record of all solicitations of offers for subcontracts from 

minority and female construction contractors and suppliers, including circulation of 

solicitations to minority and female contractor associations and other business 

associations. 

p. Conduct a review, at least annually, of all supervisors' adherence to and performance 

under the Contractor's EEO policies and affirmative action obligations. 

 Contractors are encouraged to participate in voluntary associations which assist in 

509



SRF Specification Insert 11 Revised 10/30/2013 

fulfilling one or more of their affirmative action obligations (7a through p). The efforts of 

a contractor association, joint contractor-union, contractor-community, or other similar 

group of which the contractor is a member and participant, may be asserted as fulfilling 

any one or more of its obligations under 7a through p of these Specifications provided 

that the contractor actively participates in the group, makes every effort to assure that the 

group has a positive impact on the employment of minorities and women in the industry, 

ensures that the concrete benefits of the program are reflected in the Contractor's minority 

and female workforce participation, makes a good faith effort to meet its individual goals 

and timetables, and can provide access to documentation which demonstrates the 

effectiveness of actions taken on behalf of the Contractor. The obligation to comply, 

however, is the Contractor's and failure of such a group to fulfill an obligation shall not 

be a defense for the Contractor's noncompliance. 

 A single goal for minorities and a separate single goal for women have been established. 

The Contractor, however, is required to provide equal employment opportunity and to 

take affirmative action for all minority groups, both male and female, and all women, 

both minority and non-minority. Consequently, the Contractor may be in violation of the 

Executive Order if a particular group is employed in a substantially disparate manner (for 

example, even though the Contractor has achieved its goals for women generally, the 

Contractor may be in violation of the Executive Order if a specific minority group of 

women is underutilized). 

 The Contractor shall not use the goals and timetables or affirmative action standards to 

discriminate against any person because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

 The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract with any person or firm debarred 

from Government contracts pursuant to Executive Order 11246. 

 The Contractor shall carry out such sanctions and penalties for violation of these 

specifications and of the Equal Opportunity Clause, including suspension, termination 

and cancellation of existing subcontracts as may be imposed or ordered pursuant to 

Executive Order 11246, as amended, and its implementing regulations, by the Office of 

Federal Contract Compliance Programs. Any Contractor who fails to carry out such 

sanctions and penalties shall be in violation of these specifications and Executive Order 

11246, as amended. 

 The Contractor, in fulfilling its obligations under these specifications, shall implement 

specific affirmative action steps, at least as extensive as those standards prescribed in 

paragraph 7 of these specifications, so as to achieve maximum results from its efforts to 

ensure equal employment opportunity. If the Contractor fails to comply with the 

requirements of the Executive Order, the implementing regulations, or these 

specifications, the Director shall proceed in accordance with 41 CFR 60–4.8. 

 The Contractor shall designate a responsible official to monitor all employment related 

activity to ensure that the company EEO policy is being carried out, to submit reports 

relating to the provisions hereof as may be required by the Government and to keep 

records. Records shall at least include for each employee the name, address, telephone 

numbers, construction trade, union affiliation if any, employee identification number 

when assigned, social security number, race, sex, status (e.g., mechanic, apprentice 

trainee, helper, or laborer), dates of changes in status, hours worked per week in the 

indicated trade, rate of pay, and locations at which the work was performed. Records 

shall be maintained in an easily understandable and retrievable form; however, to the 

degree that existing records satisfy this requirement, contractors shall not be required to 

510



SRF Specification Insert 12 Revised 10/30/2013 

maintain separate records. 

 Nothing herein provided shall be construed as a limitation upon the application of other 

laws which establish different standards of compliance or upon the application of 

requirements for the hiring of local or other area residents (e.g., those under the Public 

Works Employment Act of 1977 and the Community Development Block Grant 

Program). 

 

Reporting Requirements (EEO-1) 

On or before September 30 of each year, a contractor that is subject to Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, as amended, and that has 100 or more employees, shall file with the EEOC 

or its delegate an “Employer Information Report EEO-1”.  Instructions on how to file are 

available on the EEOC’s website at http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/eeo1survey/howtofile.cfm.  

The contractor shall retain a copy of the most recent report filed. 

 

Segregated Facilities (41 CFR part 60-1.8) 

The contractor shall ensure that facilities provided for employees are provided in such a manner 

that segregation on the basis of race, color, religion, sex or national origin cannot result. The 

contractor may neither require such segregated use by written or oral policies nor tolerate such 

use by employee custom. The contractor's obligation extends further to ensuring that its 

employees are not assigned to perform their services at any location, under the contractor's 

control, where the facilities are segregated. This obligation extends to all contracts containing the 

equal opportunity clause regardless of the amount of the contract. The term “facilities,” as used 

in this section, means waiting rooms, work areas, restaurants and other eating areas, time clocks, 

restrooms, wash rooms, locker rooms, and other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking 

fountains, recreation or entertainment areas, transportation, and housing provided for employees; 

Provided, That separate or single-user restrooms and necessary dressing or sleeping areas shall 

be provided to assure privacy between the sexes. 

 

Attachments: 
 

1. Wage Rate Requirements For Subrecipients 

2. Current Wage Rate Determination (to be provided by project owner) 

3. Certification Of Nonsegregated Facilities 

4. Notice To Labor Unions Or Other Organization Of Workers: Non-Discrimination In 

Employment 

 

EPA Form 6100-4, EPA Form 6100.3, EPA Form 6100-2 

  

511

http://www.eeoc.gov/employers/eeo1survey/howtofile.cfm


SRF Specification Insert 13 Revised 10/30/2013 

ATTACHMENT 1 - WAGE RATE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SUBRECIPIENTS.  (To be included in full in any contract in excess of $2,000) 
 

 
 The following terms and conditions specify how recipients will assist EPA in meeting its Davis-Bacon 

(DB) responsibilities when DB applies to EPA awards of financial assistance under the FY 2013 

Continuing Resolution with respect to State recipients and subrecipients that are governmental entities. If 

a subrecipient has questions regarding when DB applies, obtaining the correct DB wage determinations, 

DB provisions, or compliance monitoring, it may contact the State recipient. If a State recipient needs 

guidance, the recipient may contact Lorraine Fleury at fleury.lorraine@epa.gov or at 215-814-2341 of 

EPA, Region III Grants and Audit Management Branch for guidance. for guidance. The recipient or 

subrecipient may also obtain additional guidance from DOL’s web site at http://www.dol.gov/whd/  

1.  Applicability of the Davis- Bacon (DB) prevailing wage requirements.  

 

Under the FY 2013 Appropriations Act, DB prevailing wage requirements apply to the construction, 

alteration, and repair of treatment works carried out in whole or in part with assistance made available by 

a State water pollution control revolving fund and to any construction project carried out in whole or in 

part by assistance made available by a drinking water treatment revolving loan fund.   If a subrecipient 

encounters a unique situation at a site that presents uncertainties regarding DB applicability, the 

subrecipient must discuss the situation with the recipient State before authorizing work on that site.   

 

2. Obtaining Wage Determinations.  

  

(a)  Subrecipients shall obtain the wage determination for the locality in which a covered activity subject 

to DB will take place prior to issuing requests for bids, proposals, quotes or other methods for soliciting 

contracts (solicitation) for activities subject to DB.  These wage determinations shall be incorporated into 

solicitations and any subsequent contracts.  Prime contracts must contain a provision requiring that 

subcontractors follow the wage determination incorporated into the prime contract.   

 

(i) While the solicitation remains open, the subrecipient shall monitor www.wdol.gov weekly to 

ensure that the wage determination contained in the solicitation remains current.  The subrecipients 

shall amend the solicitation if DOL issues a modification more than 10 days prior to the closing date 

(i.e. bid opening) for the solicitation.  If DOL modifies or supersedes the applicable wage 

determination less than 10 days prior to the closing date, the subrecipients may request a finding from 

the State recipient that there is not a reasonable time to notify interested contractors of the 

modification of the wage determination.  The State recipient will provide a report of its findings to the 

subrecipient.  

 

(ii) If the subrecipient does not award the contract within 90 days of the closure of the solicitation, 

any modifications or supersedes DOL makes to the wage determination contained in the solicitation 

shall be effective unless the State recipient, at the request of the subrecipient, obtains an extension of 

the 90 day period from DOL pursuant to 29 CFR 1.6(c)(3)(iv).  The subrecipient shall monitor 

www.wdol.gov on a weekly basis if it does not award the contract within 90 days of closure of the 

solicitation to ensure that wage determinations contained in the solicitation remain current.   

 

(b) If the subrecipient carries out activity subject to DB by issuing a task order, work assignment or 

similar instrument to an existing contractor (ordering instrument) rather than by publishing a solicitation, 

the subrecipient shall insert the appropriate DOL wage determination from www.wdol.gov into the 

ordering instrument.   

 

512

http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 14 Revised 10/30/2013 

(c) Subrecipients shall review all subcontracts subject to DB entered into by prime contractors to verify 

that the prime contractor has required its subcontractors to include the applicable wage determinations.  

 

(d)  As provided in 29 CFR 1.6(f), DOL may issue a revised wage determination applicable to a 

subrecipient’s contract after the award of a contract or the issuance of an ordering instrument if DOL 

determines that the subrecipient has failed to incorporate a wage determination or has used a wage 

determination that clearly does not apply to the contract or ordering instrument.   If this occurs, the 

subrecipient shall either terminate the contract or ordering instrument and issue a revised solicitation or 

ordering instrument or incorporate DOL’s wage determination retroactive to the beginning of the contract 

or ordering instrument by change order.  The subrecipient’s contractor must be compensated for any 

increases in wages resulting from the use of DOL’s revised wage determination.     

 

3.  Contract and Subcontract provisions. 

 

(a)  The Recipient shall insure that the subrecipient(s) shall insert in full in any contract in excess of 

$2,000 which is entered into for the actual construction, alteration and/or repair, including painting and 

decorating, of a treatment work under the CWSRF or a construction project under the DWSRF financed 

in whole or in part from Federal funds or in accordance with guarantees of a Federal agency or financed 

from funds obtained by pledge of any contract of a Federal agency to make a loan, grant or annual 

contribution (except where a different meaning is expressly indicated), and which is subject to the labor 

standards provisions of any of the acts listed in § 5.1 or the FY 2012 Appropriations Act , the following 

clauses: 

 

(1) Minimum wages.  

 

(i) All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work will be paid 

unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate 

on any account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations issued by the 

Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona 

fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates not 

less than those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached 

hereto and made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to 

exist between the contractor and such laborers and mechanics.  

 

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 

1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to 

such laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions of paragraph (a)(1)(iv) of this section; also, 

regular contributions made or costs incurred for more than a weekly period (but not less often 

than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, are 

deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period. Such laborers and 

mechanics shall be paid the appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination 

for the classification of work actually performed, without regard to skill, except as provided in § 

5.5(a)(4). Laborers or mechanics performing work in more than one classification may be 

compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time actually worked therein: 

Provided that the employer's payroll records accurately set forth the time spent in each 

classification in which work is performed. The wage determination (including any additional 

classification and wage rates conformed under paragraph (a)(1)(ii) of this section) and the Davis-

Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall be posted at all times by the contractor and its subcontractors at 

the site of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be easily seen by the 

workers.  

 

513



SRF Specification Insert 15 Revised 10/30/2013 

Subrecipients may obtain wage determinations from the U.S. Department of Labor’s web site, 

www.wdol.gov.   

 

(ii)(A) The subrecipient(s), on behalf of EPA, shall require that any class of laborers or 

mechanics, including helpers, which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be 

employed under the contract shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination. The 

State award official shall approve a request for an additional classification and wage rate and 

fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met:  

 

(1) The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a 

classification in the wage determination; and  

 

(2) The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and  

 

(3) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable 

relationship to the wage rates contained in the wage determination.  

 

(B) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if 

known), or their representatives, and the subrecipient(s) agree on the classification and wage 

rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits where appropriate), documentation 

of the action taken and the request, including the local wage determination shall be sent by 

the subrecipient (s) to the State award official.  The State award official will transmit the 

request, to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards 

Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC 20210 and to the EPA DB 

Regional Coordinator concurrently. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will 

approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification request within 30 days of 

receipt and so advise the State award official or will notify the State award official within the 

30-day period that additional time is necessary.  

 

(C) In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification 

or their representatives, and the subrecipient(s) do not agree on the proposed classification 

and wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits, where appropriate), the 

award official shall refer the request and the local wage determination, including the views of 

all interested parties and the recommendation of the State award official, to the Administrator 

for determination. The request shall be sent to the EPA DB Regional Coordinator 

concurrently. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a determination 

within 30 days of receipt of the request and so advise the contracting officer or will notify the 

contracting officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  

 

(D) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to 

paragraphs (a)(1)(ii)(B) or (C) of this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in 

the classification under this contract from the first day on which work is performed in the 

classification.  

 

(iii) Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or 

mechanics includes a fringe benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall 

either pay the benefit as stated in the wage determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe 

benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.  

 

(iv) If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the contractor 

may consider as part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably 

514

http://www.wdol.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 16 Revised 10/30/2013 

anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits under a plan or program, Provided, That the 

Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of the contractor, that the applicable 

standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the 

contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or 

program.  

 

(2) Withholding. The subrecipient(s), shall upon written request of the EPA Award Official or an 

authorized representative of the Department of Labor,  withhold or cause to be withheld from the 

contractor under this contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any 

other federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage requirements, which is held 

by the same prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered 

necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by 

the contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract. In the event of 

failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or 

working on the site of the work, all or part of the wages required by the contract, the (Agency) may, 

after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be 

necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until such 

violations have ceased.  

 

(3) Payrolls and basic records.  

 

(i) Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the contractor during the 

course of the work and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and 

mechanics working at the site of the work.  Such records shall contain the name, address, and 

social security number of each such worker, his or her correct classification, hourly rates of 

wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or 

cash equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), 

daily and weekly number of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever 

the Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) that the wages of any laborer or 

mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits under a 

plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall 

maintain records which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that 

the plan or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has been 

communicated in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and records which show the costs 

anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits. Contractors employing 

apprentices or trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the 

registration of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of 

the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage rates prescribed in the applicable programs.  

 

(ii)(A)   The contractor shall submit weekly, for each week in which any contract work is 

performed, a copy of all payrolls to the subrecipient, that is, the entity that receives the sub-

grant or loan from the State capitalization grant recipient.  Such documentation shall be 

available on request of the State recipient or EPA. As to each payroll copy received, the 

subrecipient shall provide written confirmation in a form satisfactory to the State indicating 

whether or not the project is in compliance with the requirements of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1) based 

on the most recent payroll copies for the specified week. The payrolls shall set out accurately 

and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(3)(i), 

except that full social security numbers and home addresses shall not be included on the 

weekly payrolls.  Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually identifying 

number for each employee (e.g., the last four digits of the employee's social security number). 

The required weekly payroll information may be submitted in any form desired. Optional 

515



SRF Specification Insert 17 Revised 10/30/2013 

Form WH-347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour Division Web site at 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/programs/dbra/wh347.htm or its successor site. The prime 

contractor is responsible for the submission of copies of payrolls by all subcontractors. 

Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain the full social security number and current 

address of each covered worker, and shall provide them upon request to the subrecipient(s) 

for transmission to the State or EPA if requested by EPA , the State, the contractor, or the 

Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit 

of compliance with prevailing wage requirements. It is not a violation of this section for a 

prime contractor to require a subcontractor to provide addresses and social security numbers 

to the prime contractor for its own records, without weekly submission to the subrecipient(s).  

 

(B) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a “Statement of Compliance,” signed by 

the contractor or subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the 

persons employed under the contract and shall certify the following:  

 

(1) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be 

provided under § 5.5 (a)(3)(ii) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, the appropriate information 

is being maintained under § 5.5 (a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, and that such 

information is correct and complete;  

 

(2) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) 

employed on the contract during the payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages 

earned, without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no deductions have been 

made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than permissible 

deductions as set forth in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3;  

 

(3) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates 

and fringe benefits or cash equivalents for the classification of work performed, as 

specified in the applicable wage determination incorporated into the contract.  

 

(C) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side 

of Optional Form WH-347 shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of 

Compliance” required by paragraph (a)(3)(ii)(B) of this section.  

 

(D) The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the contractor or 

subcontractor to civil or criminal prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 

of title 31 of the United States Code.  

 

(iii) The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (a)(3)(i) of 

this section available for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the 

State, EPA or the Department of Labor, and shall permit such representatives to interview 

employees during working hours on the job. If the contractor or subcontractor fails to submit the 

required records or to make them available, the Federal agency or State may, after written notice 

to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the 

suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit 

the required records upon request or to make such records available may be grounds for 

debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.  

 

(4) Apprentices and trainees--  

 

516

http://www.dol.gov/whd/programs/dbra/wh347.htm


SRF Specification Insert 18 Revised 10/30/2013 

(i) Apprentices. Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the 

work they performed when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona 

fide apprenticeship program registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and 

Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services, or 

with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or 

her first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, 

who is not individually registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Office of 

Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where 

appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an apprentice. The allowable ratio of 

apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater than the 

ratio permitted to the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered program. Any 

worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise employed 

as stated above, shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for 

the classification of work actually performed. In addition, any apprentice performing work on the 

job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than 

the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed. Where a 

contractor is performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its 

program is registered, the ratios and wage rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman's 

hourly rate) specified in the contractor's or subcontractor's registered program shall be observed. 

Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered program for the 

apprentice's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified 

in the applicable wage determination. Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with 

the provisions of the apprenticeship program. If the apprenticeship program does not specify 

fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage 

determination for the applicable classification. If the Administrator determines that a different 

practice prevails for the applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance 

with that determination. In the event the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor 

Services, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, withdraws approval of an 

apprenticeship program, the contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less 

than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is 

approved.  

 

(ii) Trainees. Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less 

than the predetermined rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and 

individually registered in a program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal 

certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration. The 

ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan 

approved by the Employment and Training Administration. Every trainee must be paid at not less 

than the rate specified in the approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a 

percentage of the journeyman hourly rate specified in the applicable wage determination. 

Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the trainee program. If 

the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the full amount of 

fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour 

Division determines that there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding 

journeyman wage rate on the wage determination which provides for less than full fringe benefits 

for apprentices. Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is not registered and 

participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be 

paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of 

work actually performed. In addition, any trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the 

ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate 

on the wage determination for the work actually performed. In the event the Employment and 

517



SRF Specification Insert 19 Revised 10/30/2013 

Training Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer 

be permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work 

performed until an acceptable program is approved.  

 

(iii) Equal employment opportunity. The utilization of apprentices, trainees and journeymen 

under this part shall be in conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of 

Executive Order 11246, as amended and 29 CFR part 30.  

 

(5) Compliance with Copeland Act requirements. The contractor shall comply with the requirements 

of 29 CFR part 3, which are incorporated by reference in this contract.  

 

(6) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses 

contained in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the EPA determines  may by 

appropriate, and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier 

subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or 

lower tier subcontractor with all the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.  

 

(7) Contract termination; debarment. A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds 

for termination of the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 

29 CFR 5.12.  

 

(8) Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements. All rulings and interpretations of 

the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by 

reference in this contract.  

 

(9) Disputes concerning labor standards. Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this 

contract shall not be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract. Such disputes shall be 

resolved in accordance with the procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, 

and 7. Disputes within the meaning of this clause include disputes between the contractor (or any of 

its subcontractors) and Subrecipient(s), State, EPA, the U.S. Department of Labor, or the employees 

or their representatives.  

 

(10) Certification of eligibility.  

 

(i) By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any 

person or firm who has an interest in the contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be 

awarded Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 

5.12(a)(1).  

 

(ii) No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a 

Government contract by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  

 

(iii) The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 

1001. 

 

4.  Contract Provision for Contracts in Excess of $100,000. 

 

(a) Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. The subrecipient shall insert the following clauses set 

forth in paragraphs (a)(1), (2), (3), and (4) of this section in full in any contract in an amount in excess of 

$100,000 and subject to the overtime provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. 

518



SRF Specification Insert 20 Revised 10/30/2013 

These clauses shall be inserted in addition to the clauses required by Item 3, above or 29 CFR 4.6. As 

used in this paragraph, the terms laborers and mechanics include watchmen and guards. 

 

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract 

work which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit 

any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work 

in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at 

a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty 

hours in such workweek.  

 

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the 

clause set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible 

therefore shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be 

liable to the United States (in the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a 

territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall 

be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, 

employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for 

each calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the 

standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set 

forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.  

 

(3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The subrecipient, upon written request of 

the EPA Award Official or an authorized representative of the Department of Labor, shall withhold or 

cause to be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or 

subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, 

or any other federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, 

which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to 

satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as 

provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (b)(2) of this section.  

 

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth 

in paragraph (a)(1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include 

these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance 

by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (a)(1) 

through (4) of this section.  

 

(b) In addition to the clauses contained in Item 3, above, in any contract subject only to the Contract 

Work Hours and Safety Standards Act and not to any of the other statutes cited in 29 CFR 5.1, the 

Subrecipient shall insert a clause requiring that the contractor or subcontractor shall maintain payrolls and 

basic payroll records during the course of the work and shall preserve them for a period of three years 

from the completion of the contract for all laborers and mechanics, including guards and watchmen, 

working on the contract. Such records shall contain the name and address of each such employee, social 

security number, correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly number of hours 

worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid. Further, the Subrecipient shall insert in any such 

contract a clause providing hat the records to be maintained under this paragraph shall be made available 

by the contractor or subcontractor for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives 

of the (write the name of agency) and the Department of Labor, and the contractor or subcontractor will 

permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the job. 

 

5.  Compliance Verification   

 

519



SRF Specification Insert 21 Revised 10/30/2013 

(a)  The subrecipient shall periodically interview a sufficient number of employees entitled to DB 

prevailing wages (covered employees) to verify that contractors or subcontractors are paying the 

appropriate wage rates.  As provided in 29 CFR 5.6(a)(6), all interviews must be conducted in confidence. 

The subrecipient must use Standard Form 1445 (SF 1445) or equivalent documentation to memorialize 

the interviews.  Copies of the SF 1445 are available from EPA on request.   

 

(b) The subrecipient shall establish and follow an interview schedule based on its assessment of the risks 

of noncompliance with DB posed by contractors or subcontractors and the duration of the contract or 

subcontract.  Subrecipients must conduct more frequent interviews if the initial interviews or other 

information indicates that there is a risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not complying with DB .  

Subrecipients shall immediately conduct necessary interviews in response to an alleged violation of the 

prevailing wage requirements.  All interviews shall be conducted in confidence.    

 

(c)  The subrecipient shall periodically conduct spot checks of a representative sample of weekly payroll 

data to verify that contractors or subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage rates. The subrecipient 

shall establish and follow a spot check schedule based on its assessment of the risks of noncompliance 

with DB posed by contractors or subcontractors and the duration of the contract or subcontract.  At a 

minimum, if practicable, the subrecipient should spot check payroll data within two weeks of each 

contractor or subcontractor’s submission of its initial payroll data and two weeks prior to the completion 

date the contract or subcontract . Subrecipients must conduct more frequent spot checks if the initial spot 

check or other information indicates that there is a risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not 

complying with DB. In addition, during the examinations the subrecipient shall verify evidence of fringe 

benefit plans and payments thereunder by contractors and subcontractors who claim credit for fringe 

benefit contributions.  

 

(d)   The subrecipient shall periodically review contractors and subcontractors use of apprentices and 

trainees to verify registration and certification with respect to apprenticeship and training programs 

approved by either the U.S Department of Labor or a state, as appropriate, and that contractors and 

subcontractors are not using disproportionate numbers of, laborers, trainees and apprentices.  These 

reviews shall be conducted in accordance with the schedules for spot checks and interviews described in 

Item 5(b) and (c) above. 

 

(e)   Subrecipients must immediately report potential violations of the DB prevailing wage requirements 

to the EPA DB contact listed above and to the appropriate DOL Wage and Hour District Office listed at 

http://www.dol.gov/whd/america2.htm.   

 

 

 

  

520

http://www.dol.gov/whd/america2.htm


SRF Specification Insert 22 Revised 10/30/2013 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

 

DAVIS-BACON WAGE RATE DETERMINATION 
 

[SRF Assistance Recipient to insert applicable wage determinations here] 

 

How to obtain a Wage Determination: 

 

1. www.wdol.gov 

2. Click “Selecting DBA WDs” 

3. Select the State and county where the work will be performed 

4. Select the “Construction Type”: Heavy, Building, Highway, or Residential 

5. Click on one of the wage determinations.  Verify that the wage determination displayed is 

the correct wage determination, and not for “Heavy Dredging”. 

6. Select the text box displaying the Wage Determination and copy the text of the Wage 

Determination. 

7. Click “Sign Up for Alert Service” to receive notification if the Wage Determination is 

updated. 

 

When to update the wage determination: 

 

1. If DOL updates the Wage Determination, you must update the Wage Determination 

through an addendum to the bid specifications. 

2. If the update occurs less than 10 days prior to the date of bid opening, you are not 

required to update the Wage Determination. 

  

521

http://www.wdol.gov/


SRF Specification Insert 23 Revised 10/30/2013 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

  

522



SRF Specification Insert 24 Revised 10/30/2013 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 3 

 

CERTIFICATION OF NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES 
 

(Applicable to federally assisted construction contracts and related subcontracts exceeding 

$10,000 which are not exempt from the Equal Opportunity clause.) 

 

The federally assisted construction contractor certifies that he does not maintain or provide for 

his employees any segregated facilities at any of his establishments, and that he does not permit 

his employees to perform their services at any location, under his control, where segregated 

facilities are maintained.  The federally assisted construction contractor certified, further that he 

will not maintain or provide for his employees any segregated facilities at any of his 

establishments, and that he will not permit his employees to perform their services at any 

location, under his control, where segregated facilities are maintained.  The federally assisted 

construction contractor agrees that a breach of this certification is a violation of the Equal 

Opportunity clause in this contract. 

 

As used in this certification, the term "segregated facilities" means any waiting rooms, work 

area, rest rooms and wash rooms, restaurants and other eating areas, time clocks, locker rooms 

and other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, recreation or entertainment 

areas, transportation, and housing facilities provided for employees which are segregated by 

explicit directive or area, in fact, segregated on the basis of race, creed, color, or national origin, 

because of habit, local custom, or otherwise.  The federally assisted construction contractor 

agrees that (except where he has obtained identical certifications from proposed contractors for 

specific time periods) he will obtain identical certifications from proposed subcontractors prior to 

the award of subcontracts exceeding $10,000 which are not exempt from the provisions of the 

Equal Opportunity clause, and that he will retain such, certification in this file. 

 

 

  _______________________________ __________________ 

Signature     Date 

 

  ______________________________________________________ 

Name and title of signer (please type) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[THIS FORM SHALL BE COMPLETED IN FULL AND SUBMITTED WITH THE BID 

PROPOSAL] 

523



SRF Specification Insert 25 Revised 10/30/2013 

ATTACHMENT 4  

 

NOTICE TO LABOR UNIONS OR OTHER ORGANIZATION OF 

WORKERS: NON-DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT 
 

TO: _____________________________________________________________________ 

(name of union or organization of worker) 

 

The undersigned currently holds contract(s) with _________________________________ 

(name of applicant)  

_______________________ involving funds or credit of the U.S. Government or (a) 

subcontract(s) with a prime contractor holding such contract(s). 

 

You are advised that under the provisions of the above contract(s) or subcontract(s) and in 

accordance with Section 202 of Executive Order 11246 dated September 24, 1965, the 

undersigned is obliged not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, creed, or national origin.  This obligation not to discriminate in 

employment includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 

EMPLOYMENT, UPGRADING, TRANSFER OR DEMOTION 

RECRUITMENT AND ADVERTISING 

RATES OF PAY OR OTHER FORMS OF COMPENSATION 

 

SELECTION FOR TRAINING INCLUDING APPRENTICESHIP, LAYOFF OR 

TERMINATION 

 

This notice is furnished you pursuant to the provisions of the above contract(s) or subcontract(s) 

and Executive Order 11246. 

 

Copies of this notice will be posted by the undersigned in conspicuous places available to 

employees or applicants for employment. 

 

       _________________________________ 

 

       _________________________________ 

 

       _________________________________ 

 

       _________________________________ 

(contractor or subcontractor(s) 

 

       _________________________________ 

  (Date) 

  

524



 

EPA FORM 6100-2 (DBE Subcontractor Participation Form) 

 
 

OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program  

DBE Subcontractor Participation Form 

 

An EPA Financial Assistance Agreement Recipient must require its prime contractors to provide this form to its 

DBE subcontractors. This form gives a DBE1 subcontractor2 the opportunity to describe work received and/or 

report any concerns regarding the EPA-funded project (e.g., in areas such as termination by prime contractor, late 

payments, etc.).  The DBE subcontractor can, as an option, complete and submit this form to the EPA DBE 

Coordinator at any time during the project period of performance. 

 

Subcontractor Name 
 

Project Name 

Bid/ Proposal No. Assistance Agreement ID No. (if known) Point of Contact 
 

Address 
 
Telephone No. 
 

Email Address 

Prime Contractor Name Issuing/Funding Entity: 

 

Contract 
Item 

Number 

Description of  Work Received from the Prime Contractor  Involving 
Construction,  Services , Equipment or Supplies 

Amount Received 
by Prime 

Contractor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

1 
A DBE is a Disadvantaged, Minority, or Woman Business Enterprise that has been certified by an entity from which EPA accepts certifications as 

described in 40 CFR 33.204-33.205 or certified by EPA. EPA accepts certifications from entities that meet or exceed EPA certification standards as 
described in 40 CFR 33.202.  
 
2 

Subcontractor is defined as a company, firm, joint venture, or individual who enters into an agreement with a contractor to provide 

services pursuant to an EPA award of financial assistance. 

 

525



 

EPA FORM 6100-2 (DBE Subcontractor Participation Form) 

 
 

 

OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

      Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program  

DBE Subcontractor Participation Form 

 

 

Please use the space below to report any concerns regarding the above EPA-funded project: 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
 

The public reporting and recordkeeping burden for this collection of information is estimated to average three (3) hours 

per response. Send comments on the Agency's need for this information, the accuracy of the provided burden 

estimates, and any suggested methods for minimizing respondent burden, including through the use of automated 

collection techniques to the Director, Collection Strategies Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2822T), 1200 

Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Washington, D.C. 20460. Include the OMB control number in any correspondence. Do not send 

the completed form to this address. 

Subcontractor Signature Print Name 
  

Title Date 
  

526



 

EPA FORM 6100-3 (DBE Subcontractor Performance Form) 

 
 

OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program  

DBE Subcontractor Performance Form 

 

This form is intended to capture the DBE1 subcontractor’s2 description of work to be performed and the price of 

the work submitted to the prime contractor.  An EPA Financial Assistance Agreement Recipient must require its 

prime contractor to have its DBE subcontractors complete this form and include all completed forms in the prime 

contractors bid or proposal package.  

 

Subcontractor Name 
 

Project Name 

Bid/ Proposal No. Assistance Agreement ID No. (if known) Point of Contact 
 

Address 
 
Telephone No. 
 

Email Address 

Prime Contractor Name Issuing/Funding Entity: 

 

 

Contract Item Number Description of  Work Submitted to the Prime Contractor  
Involving Construction,  Services , Equipment or Supplies 

Price of Work 
Submitted to the 
Prime Contractor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

DBE Certified By: ____ DOT              ____ SBA      

____ Other: _________________________________________        

Meets/ exceeds EPA certification standards?   

____ YES   ____ NO  ____ Unknown 

 
 
1 

A DBE is a Disadvantaged, Minority, or Woman Business Enterprise that has been certified by an entity from which EPA accepts certifications as 

described in 40 CFR 33.204-33.205 or certified by EPA. EPA accepts certifications from entities that meet or exceed EPA certification standards as 
described in 40 CFR 33.202.  
 
2 

Subcontractor is defined as a company, firm, joint venture, or individual who enters into an agreement with a contractor to provide services 

pursuant to an EPA award of financial assistance. 

 
 

527



 

EPA FORM 6100-3 (DBE Subcontractor Performance Form) 

 
 

OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program  

DBE Subcontractor Performance Form 

 
 
I certify under penalty of perjury that the forgoing statements are true and correct.  Signing this form does not 
signify a commitment to utilize the subcontractors above.  I am aware of that  in the event of a replacement of a 
subcontractor, I will adhere to the replacement requirements set forth in 40 CFR Part 33 Section 33.302 (c).   
 

Prime Contractor Signature Print Name 
  

Title Date 
  

 
 
 
Subcontractor Signature Print Name 

  

Title Date 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The public reporting and recordkeeping burden for this collection of information is estimated to average three (3) hours 

per response. Send comments on the Agency's need for this information, the accuracy of the provided burden 

estimates, and any suggested methods for minimizing respondent burden, including through the use of automated 

collection techniques to the Director, Collection Strategies Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2822T), 1200 

Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Washington, D.C. 20460. Include the OMB control number in any correspondence. Do not send 

the completed form to this address. 

528



EPA FORM 6100-4 (DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form) 

 
 

OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program 

DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form 

 

This form is intended to capture the prime contractor’s actual and/or anticipated use of identified certified DBE1 

subcontractors2 and the estimated dollar amount of each subcontract.  An EPA Financial Assistance Agreement 

Recipient must require its prime contractors to complete this form and include it in the bid or proposal package.  

Prime contractors should also maintain a copy of this form on file. 

 

Prime Contractor Name 
 

Project Name 

Bid/ Proposal No. Assistance Agreement ID No. (if known) Point of Contact 
 

Address 
 
Telephone No. 
 

Email Address 

Issuing/Funding Entity: 

 

I have identified potential DBE 
certified subcontractors 

___ YES ___ NO 

If yes, please complete the table below. If no, please explain: 
 
 
 

Subcontractor Name/ 
Company Name 

 
 

Company Address/ Phone/ Email 
 

Est. Dollar 
Amt 

Currently 
DBE 

Certified? 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

    

    

 
1 

A DBE is a Disadvantaged, Minority, or Woman Business Enterprise that has been certified by an entity from which EPA accepts certifications as 

described in 40 CFR 33.204-33.205 or certified by EPA. EPA accepts certifications from entities that meet or exceed EPA certification standards as 
described in 40 CFR 33.202.   
 
2 

Subcontractor is defined as a company, firm, joint venture, or individual who enters into an agreement with a contractor to provide 

services pursuant to an EPA award of financial assistance. 

Continue on back if needed 

529



EPA FORM 6100-4 (DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form) 

 
 

 

 
OMB Control No: 2090-0030 

Approved: 8/13/2013 

Approval Expires: 8/31/2015 

 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program 

DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form 

 
 
 
 
I certify under penalty of perjury that the forgoing statements are true and correct.  Signing this form does not 
signify a commitment to utilize the subcontractors above.  I am aware of that  in the event of a replacement of a 
subcontractor, I will adhere to the replacement requirements set forth in 40 CFR Part 33 Section 33.302 (c).   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The public reporting and recordkeeping burden for this collection of information is estimated to average three (3) hours 

per response. Send comments on the Agency's need for this information, the accuracy of the provided burden 

estimates, and any suggested methods for minimizing respondent burden, including through the use of automated 

collection techniques to the Director, Collection Strategies Division, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2822T), 1200 

Pennsylvania Ave., NW, Washington, D.C. 20460. Include the OMB control number in any correspondence. Do not send 

the completed form to this address. 

Prime Contractor Signature Print Name 
  

Title Date 
  

530



Cost Responsibility Matrix for GC/CM Services-Clean Water Facility  
Page 1 of 5 

LEGAL120786731.1  

Cost Responsibility Matrix  

City of Oak Harbor 
Clean Water Facility 

5-29-14 

(To be attached to Agreement at contract execution) 

This Cost Responsibility Matrix ("Matrix") defines the specific categories of cost expected for this project. 

The checked box indicates in what section of the fee proposal the City expects GC/CM proposers to apply 

the identified cost. "COW" is Cost of Work to be awarded via subcontracts or Negotiated Self-Performed 

Work, "NSS" is Negotiated Support Services, "SGC" is Specified General Conditions and "PCS" is 

Preconstruction Services. Proposers should refer to the RFFP, GC/CM Agreement and General Conditions 

documents including all addenda, to ascertain all the project scope requirements. In the event there are 

omitted items contained in this Matrix, the Contract Documents shall govern. In the event there is a conflict 

between this Matrix and the Contract Documents, this Matrix shall govern. 

# Item  COW NSS SGC Fee PCS Owner 

1. Design participation through GMP     X  

2. Estimating through GMP     X  

3. Meeting minutes-through GMP     X  

4. Pre-construction schedules     X  

5. 
Subcontractor and supplier analysis of 
market conditions prior to bidding 

    X  

6. 
Review and implementation of possible 
product substitutions 

    X  

7. 
Participation in Value Engineering 
studies 

    X  

8. 
Participation in pre-bid Constructability 
Reviews 

    X  

9. 
Assembling and updating BIM models as 
assigned 

    X  

10. 
Other technical or administrative tasks 
as assigned 

    X  

11. 
Development of GMP or interim Contract 
Amendments 

    X  

12. 
Subcontractor bid planning and 
development 

    X  

13. Subcontractor bidding process     X  

14. Advertise project for bids     X  

15. Pre-bid conferences and marketing     X  

531



 

 

Cost Responsibility Matrix for GC/CM Services-Clean Water Facility  
Page 2 of 5 

 

LEGAL120786731.1  

 Item  COW NSS SGC Fee PCS Owner 

16. 
Subcontractor  and supplier bid analysis 
and award recommendation including 
possible MCCM and ECCM 

    X  

17. 
Review and analysis of subcontractor 
qualifications per RCW 39.10 

    X  

18. 

Coordination and finalization of 
subcontracting for labor, material and 
equipment, including reviews/finalization 
of scopes of work and buyouts 

    X  

19. Project Manager during construction   X    

20 Superintendent during construction   X    

21. 
Senior Project Engineer during 
construction 

  X    

22. Project Engineer during construction    X    

23. Project Administrator during construction   X    

24. 
Quality Control Manager during 
construction 

 X     

25. Commissioning and Start Up Coordinator  X     

26. Federal funding support documentation   X    

27. Estimating during construction   X    

28. 
Meeting minutes and administration 
during construction 

  X    

29. 
Schedule development and updating 
during construction 

  X    

30. 
Sub-contract administration and 
coordination 

  X    

31. 
Contractor accounting and cost 
accounting 

  X    

32. Cash flow analysis   X    

33. 
Administration of the project safety 
program 

  X    

34. 
Administration of the environmental 
program 

  X    

35. 
All GC/CM insurance, payment and 
performance bonds (not including 
Builders Risk) 

   X   

36. 
Builders risk insurance as stated in 
agreement 

 X     

532



 

 

Cost Responsibility Matrix for GC/CM Services-Clean Water Facility  
Page 3 of 5 

 

LEGAL120786731.1  

# Item  COW NSS SGC Fee PCS Owner 

37. Applications for payments   X    

38. 
Change order preparation and 
procedures 

  X    

39. Communications and coordination   X    

40. Managing regulatory requirements   X    

41. 
Review and processing of submittals, 
shop drawings and samples 

  X    

42. 
Maintaining and updating BIM models 
during construction 

 X     

43. Contractor quality control manager  X     

44. Coordination of testing laboratory   X    

45. 
Administration and coordination of the 
commissioning program 

 X     

46. 
Equipment, phones, and supplies related 
to management 

  X    

47. 
Travel and subsistence for supervision 
assigned to project 

  X    

48. 
Company-owned vehicles assigned to 
staff  (company trucks) 

  X    

49. 
Travel, gas, oil, maintenance for 
company-owned vehicles assigned to 
staff 

  X    

50. Project signs   X    

51. Coordination of other Owner contractors   X    

52. Contract close-out   X    

53. Punch-list preparation and administration   X    

54. Electronic equipment and software   X    

55. Primary surveying and control  X     

56. Construction office and facilities  X     

57. 
Equipment and supplies incorporated in 
the work 

X      

58. 
Equipment and supplies not incorporated 
in the work 

 X     

59. 
Refuse collection, clean-up, removal and 
disposal from the site—unless included 
in sub bids 

 X     

533



 

 

Cost Responsibility Matrix for GC/CM Services-Clean Water Facility  
Page 4 of 5 

 

LEGAL120786731.1  

# Item  COW NSS SGC Fee PCS Owner 

60. 
Dust control—unless included in sub 
bids 

 X     

61. Street cleaning  X     

62. Power and water use during construction  X     

63. Utility hook-up, meters and fees      X 

64. Temporary signs fences and barricades  X     

65. Temporary sanitation   X     

66. Site security including lighting  X     

67. Flaggers and traffic control  X     

68. Erosion control  X     

69. Cranes and hoisting  X     

70. Scaffolds and shoring  X     

71. Elevator operations  X     

72. Weather protection  X     

73. 
Temporary site conditions and 
modifications 

 X     

74. Selective demolition  X     

75. Mock-ups  X     

76. Temporary project fire protection  X     

77. Temporary heat, power and water  X     

78. Final cleaning  X     

79. 
Negotiated self-performed work including 
foreman level supervision 

X      

80. Subcontractor and material costs X      

81. 
Regulatory requirements of the Contract 
Documents  

X      

82. Permits other than building permit X      

        

534



 

 

Cost Responsibility Matrix for GC/CM Services-Clean Water Facility  
Page 5 of 5 

 

LEGAL120786731.1  

# Item  COW NSS SGC Fee PCS Owner 

83. Warranties X      

84. GC/CM fee (profit)    X   

85. 
GC/CM use, sales, B&O, income, and 
other taxes except sales taxes on 
progress payments 

   X   

86. Liquidated damages    X   

87. 

Fee proposal preparation, site walk, 
interview process, invitation to propose, 
GC/CM Agreement and General 
Conditions  

   X   

88. 

Replacement of defective or non-
conforming work including retesting 
unless the responsibility of a 
subcontractor. 

   X   

89. GC/CM corporate overhead    X   

90. Architectural and engineering services      X 

91. 
Subcontractor bid document 
reproduction 

     X 

92. WSST on GC/CM billings      X 

93. Building permit      X 

94. 
Testing laboratory and testing services 
per the Contract Documents 

     X 

95. Project management consultant      X 

96. Commissioning agent      X 

 
 

      

 

535



 

 

Exhibit 5:  Indemnification / Hold Harmless and Insurance Requirements 
 

Indemnification / Hold Harmless 
 
The Construction Manager shall defend, indemnify and hold the Owner, its officers, officials, employees and 
volunteers harmless from and against any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses or suits, including but not limited 
to costs, design professional and consultant fees, and attorneys’ fees, incurred on such claims and in proving the 
right to indemnification, arising out of or in connection with the performance of this Agreement, except for injuries 
and damages caused by the sole negligence of the Owner. 
 
Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, then, in the 
event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to property caused by or resulting 
from the concurrent negligence of the Construction Manager and the Owner, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers, the Construction Manager’s liability and defense, indemnity, and hold harmless obligations hereunder 
shall be only to the extent of the Construction Manager’s negligence.  It is further specifically and expressly 
understood that the indemnification provided herein constitutes the Construction Manager’s waiver of immunity 
under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of this indemnification.  This waiver has been 
mutually negotiated by the parties.  The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement. 
 
The obligations of the Construction Manager under this Section shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or 
otherwise reduce any other right or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to any party or person 
described in this Section. To the extent the wording of this Section would reduce or eliminate the insurance coverage 
of the Construction Manager or the Owner, this Section shall be considered modified to the extent that such 
insurance coverage is not affected. To the extent that any portion of this Section is stricken by a court or arbitrator 
for any reason, all remaining provisions shall retain their vitality and effect. This Section shall survive completion, 
acceptance, final payment and termination of the Contract. 
 
The Construction Manager agrees to being added by the Owner as a party to any arbitration or litigation with third 
parties in which the Owner alleges indemnification or contribution from the Construction Manager, any of its 
Subcontractors of any tier, anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of 
them may be liable. The Construction Manager agrees that all of its Subcontractors of any tier will, in their 
subcontracts, similarly stipulate; in the event any does not, the Construction Manager shall be liable in place of such 
Subcontractor(s) of any tier. 
 
Insurance 
 
The Construction Manager shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement, insurance against claims 
for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the 
work hereunder by the Construction Manager, their agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. 
 
No Limitation. 
 
Construction Manager’s maintenance of insurance, its scope of coverage and limits as required herein shall not be 
construed to limit the liability of the Construction Manager to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise 
limit the Owner’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

Insurance: 
A. Minimum Scope of Insurance 
 
Construction Manager shall obtain insurance of the types described below: 
 

536



 

- 2 - 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased vehicles. Coverage shall 
be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01 or a substitute form  providing equivalent 
liability coverage.  If necessary, the policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

 
2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 and shall cover 

liability arising from premises, operations, stop gap liability, independent contractors, products-completed 
operations, personal injury and advertising injury, and liability assumed under an insured contract. The 
Commercial General Liability insurance shall be endorsed to provide the Aggregate Per Project 
Endorsement ISO form CG 25 03 11 85 or an equivalent endorsement.  There shall be no endorsement or 
modification of the Commercial General Liability insurance for liability arising from explosion, collapse or 
underground property damage. The Owner shall be named as an insured under the Construction Manager’s 
Commercial General Liability insurance policy with respect to the work performed for the Owner using 
ISO Additional Insured endorsement CG 20 10 10 01 and Additional Insured-Completed Operations 
endorsement CG 20 37 10 01 or  substitute endorsements providing equivalent coverage.  
 

3. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Construction Manager’s profession. 
 

4. Workers’ Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of Washington. 
 

5. Builders Risk insurance covering interests of the Owner, the Construction Manager, Subcontractors, and 
Sub-subcontractors in the work.  Builders Risk insurance shall be on a all-risk policy form and shall insure 
against the perils of fire and extended coverage and physical loss or damage including flood,  earthquake, 
theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, collapse, temporary buildings and debris removal.  This Builders Risk 
insurance covering the work will have a deductible of $5,000 for each occurrence, which will be the 
responsibility of the Construction Manager.  Higher deductibles for flood and earthquake perils may be 
accepted by the Owner upon written request by the Construction Manager and written acceptance by the 
Owner.  Any increased deductibles accepted by the Owner will remain the responsibility of the 
Construction Manager.  The Builders Risk insurance shall be maintained until final acceptance of the work 
by the Owner. 
 

6. Construction Manager’s Pollution Liability insurance covering losses caused by pollution conditions that 
arise from the operations of the Construction Manager. The Construction Manager’s Pollution Legal 
Liability insurance shall be written in an amount of at least $1,000,000 per loss, with an annual aggregate 
of at least $1,000,000. 
 
If coverage the Construction Manager’s Pollution Liability insurance is written on a claims-made basis, the 
Construction Manager warrants that any retroactive date applicable to coverage under the policy precedes 
the effective date of this contract; and that continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended 
discovery period will be exercised for a period of three (3) years beginning from the time that work under 
the contract is completed. 
 
The Owner shall be named by endorsement as an insured on the Construction Manager’s Pollution Liability 
insurance policy. 
 
If the scope of services as defined in this contract includes the disposal of any hazardous materials from the 
job site, the Construction Manager  must furnish to the Owner evidence of pollution liability insurance 
maintained by the disposal site operator for losses arising from the insured facility accepting waste under 
this contract. Coverage certified to the Owner under this paragraph 1.7 must be maintained in minimum 
amounts of $1,000,000 per loss, with an annual aggregate of at least $1,000,000. 
 

7. This contract involves work on or adjacent to navigable water, as defined by the U.S. Department of Labor.  
The Construction Manager therefore shall provide proof of insurance coverage in compliance with the 
statutory requirements of the U.S. Longshore and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act (administered by the 
U.S. Department of Labor). 

 

537



 

- 3 - 

If the Construction Manager is working from barges or any other watercraft, owned or non-owned, the 
Construction Manager must maintain Protection and Indemnity (P&I) insurance providing coverage for 
actions of the crew to third parties in the amount of $1,000,000 each occurrence or accident.  The Owner 
shall be named by endorsement as an insured on the Construction Manager’s  Protection and Indemnity 
insurance policy. The Construction Manager must also provide proof of insurance coverage in compliance 
with the statutory requirements of the Merchant Marine Act of 1920 (the “Jones Act”). 

B. Minimum Amounts of Insurance 
 
Construction Manager shall maintain the following insurance limits: 
 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily injury and property 
damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

 
2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than $1,000,000 each 

occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate and a $2,000,000 products- completed operations aggregate 
limit.  

 
3. Professional Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than $5,000,000 per claim and 

$5,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 
 

4. Builders Risk insurance shall be written in the amount of the completed value of the project with no 
coinsurance provisions. 
 

5. The Construction Manager shall purchase and maintain Excess or Umbrella Liability insurance with limits 
not less than $10,000,000 per occurrence and annual aggregate. This Excess or Umbrella liability insurance 
shall apply above, and be at least as broad in coverage scope, as the Construction Manager’s Commercial 
General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance. 
 

This requirement may be satisfied instead through the Construction Manager’s Commercial General Liability and 
Automobile Liability insurance, or any combination thereof. 

C. Other Insurance Provision 
 
The Construction Manager’s Automobile Liability, Commercial General Liability and Builders Risk insurance 
policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as respect the Owner.  Any 
Insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the Owner shall be excess of the Construction 
Manager’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

D. Construction Manager’s Insurance for Other Losses 
 
The Construction Manager shall assume full responsibility for all loss or damage from any cause whatsoever to any 
tools, Construction Manager’s employee owned tools, machinery, equipment, or motor vehicles owned or rented by 
the Construction Manager, or the Construction Manager’s agents, suppliers or contractors as well as to any 
temporary structures, scaffolding and protective fences. 
 

A. Waiver of Subrogation 
 
The Construction Manager and the Owner waive all rights against each other, any of their Subcontractors,  
Sub-subcontractors, agents and employees, each of the other, for damages caused by fire or other perils to the extent 

538



 

- 4 - 

covered by Builders Risk insurance or other property insurance obtained pursuant to the Insurance Requirements 
Section of this Contract or other property insurance applicable to the work.  The policies shall provide such waivers 
by endorsement or otherwise.   
 
B. Acceptability of Insurers 
 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best rating of not less than A: VII. 
 

C. Verification of Coverage 
 
Construction Manager shall furnish the Owner with original certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements, 
including but not necessarily limited to the additional insured endorsement, evidencing the Automobile Liability and 
Commercial General Liability insurance of the Construction Manager before commencement of the work.  Before 
any exposure to loss may occur, the Construction Manager shall file with the Owner a copy of the Builders Risk 
insurance policy that includes all applicable conditions, exclusions, definitions, terms and endorsements related to 
this project. 
 

D. Subcontractors 
 
The Construction Manager shall have sole responsibility for determining the insurance coverage and limits required, 
if any, to be obtained by subcontractors, which determination shall be made in accordance with reasonable and 
prudent business practices.   
 

E. Notice of Cancellation 
 
The Construction Manager shall provide the Owner and all Additional Insureds for this work with written notice of 
any policy cancellation, within two business days of their receipt of such notice. 
 

F. Failure to Maintain Insurance 
 
Failure on the part of the Construction Manager to maintain the insurance as required shall constitute a material 
breach of contract, upon which the Owner may, after giving five business days’ notice to the Construction Manager 
to correct the breach, immediately terminate the contract or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance and 
pay any and all premiums in connection therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the Owner on 
demand, or at the sole discretion of the Owner, offset against funds due the Construction Manager from the Owner. 

539



540



541



542



543



544



545



546



547



548



549



550



551



552



553



554



555



556



557



558



559



560



561



562



563



564



565



566



567



568



569



570



571



572



573



WINDJAMMER PARK

LEGEND

CLOSED CONSTRUCTION AREAS

CITYOF

0 200 400

Feet

TEMPORARY PEDESTRIAN ROUTE

(7/7 – 12/31)

Project Description:
The west stormwater outfall in Windjammer Park has been in a state of failure for many years due to 40 years of exposure to
the harsh marine environment.  The failing outfall results in high maintenance costs associated with dredging and unplugging
by City crews.  Additionally, the current condition exacerbates flooding on SR-20 between SW Barlow and Pioneer Way.  This
repair project involves replacing the existing west outfall and relocating it next to the east outfall.  Both outfalls will then be
extended the same distance into Oak Harbor to help minimize plugging from sand and debris. Construction of the new
stormwater outfall will begin on July 7th and work will continue through the end of 2014; as a result portions of the park,
beach and boat ramp will be closed as shown through the end of construction.  Please feel free to contact John Piccone, P.E.,
Project Engineer with any questions or concerns at (360) 914-7000.  Thank you for your patients. 

WINDJAMMER PARK
STORMWATER OUTFALL
REPLACEMENT PROJECT  

574



42-inch Stormwater Outfall Project 6/19/2014

Project Cost Summary

Cost Category
PWTF Estimated 

Project Costs
Contracted 

Amount 2010
Contracted 

Amount 2014
Current 

Encumberance Expended to Date
Estimate to 
Complete

Engineering 333,908.00$          383,037.00$          219,184.00$          219,184.00$          320,054.54$          93,648.09$            
Cultural Resources 11,108.00$            6,162.00$               16,345.20$            16,345.20$            6,100.00$               16,345.20$            
Permits 38,020.00$            -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         
Contingency -$                         -$                         10,959.00$            10,959.00$            -$                         -$                         
Construction 1,100,738.00$       -$                         669,400.00$          669,400.00$          -$                         669,400.00$          
Sales Tax 98,386.00$            -$                         58,237.00$            58,237.00$            -$                         58,237.00$            
Cultural Resources -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         438,570.13$          
Construction Management -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         121,500.00$          
Contingency 325,277.00$          -$                         72,764.00$            -$                         -$                         -$                         
Total 1,907,437.00$       389,199.00$          1,046,889.20$       974,125.20$          326,154.54$          1,397,700.42$       

Estimated Total Project Cost 1,700,000$            

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
an

d 
De

sig
n

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

575



576



577



578



 
Amendment No. 2 7/1/2014 Page 1 of 2 

Professional  Services Agreement 
Amendment Number ____2______ 
 

Organization and Address 
 
City of  Oak Harbor 
865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, WA 98239 
 
Phone: 360-279-4539 

Original Agreement Title: 
 
42” Outfall Repair 

Project Number: 
 
ENG-06-42 

Execution Date 
 
3/18/2013 

Completion Date (Prior) 
 
12/31/2014 

Project Title 
 
Archaeology Permitting  

New Maximum Amount Payable 
 
$454,915.33 
 

Description of Work 
Assist with the archaeology monitoring and associated field work for the project.   
 
 
The City of Oak Harbor   desires to supplement the agreement entered into with Equinox 
Research and Consulting International and executed on    3/18/2013    and identified as 
 Professional Services Agreement with Equinox Research and Consulting International. 
 
All provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as expressly modified by this 
supplement. 
 
The changes to the agreement are described as follows: 
 
SCOPE OF WORK is hereby amended to add the following: 
  See attached scope of work and fee. ________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SCOPE OF WORK is hereby changed and supplemented with the following: 
 NO CHANGE. _________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

579



 
Amendment No. 2 7/1/2014 Page 2 of 2 

PROJECT COMPLETION DATE AMENDED TO: No Amendment – Remain 12/31/2014 __ 
 
PAYMENT shall be amended as follows:  
 Amendment reflects an increase in time and cost necessary to complete the work required for 
archaeology monitoring and associated field work.  The maximum amount payable under the 
contract is increased by $438,570.13, from $16,345.20to $454,915.33, as outlined in the attached 
scope of work.              
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Payment shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions described in the original 
contract.  
 
If you concur with this amendment and agree to the changes as stated above, please sign in the 
appropriate spaces and return to this office for final action. 
 
 
By:  Equinox Research & Consulting International  By:  Scott Dudley, Mayor   
 
             
Consultant Signature     Approving Authority Signature 
 
             
         Date 

580



 
41507 South Skagit Hwy Concrete, WA 98237 Tel.360-826-4930 Fax. 360-826-4830 www.equinoxerci.com  

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 17, 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Piccone 

City of Oak Harbor Public Works 

1400 NE 16
th
 Avenue 

Oak Harbor, WA 98277 

 

Re: Professional Archaeological Monitoring for 42 inch stormwater outfall replacement project 

Windjammer Park, Oak Harbor, Washington 

 

Dear Mr. Piccone: 

 

Thank you for the considering Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) for your 

cultural resource management needs. ERCI provides a full service cultural resource management program 

and we look forward to providing you timely and professional fieldwork and reporting.  

 

Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA), SEPA and Executive Order 05-05 

requires agencies to consider the effects of their actions on historic properties and to consult with others 

in carrying out historic preservation activities. The State of Washington also has a series of RCWs and 

associated WACs concerning cultural resources that we are guided by.  In providing cultural resource 

management services for clients, Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) works in 

accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. 

 

This project currently has a U.S. Army Corps of Engineers permit and they are the lead agency for 

cultural resources. We submitted our Monitoring Plan to the Corps and received concurrence with 

revisions in May 2014.  It is this Monitoring Plan (April 28, 2014) 

 

 

We are providing this scope and budget for the following tasks: 

 Project Management including planning, administration, logistics 

 Coordination with SHPO, Corps, and Tribes 

 Document Control, transcriptions and report production 

 Reporting including weekly interim reports, research and final report 

 Documentation, analysis, and preparation for curation on historic and pre contact artifacts 

 Graphics including field maps, profiles and report ready maps, field and lab photos 

581

http://www.equinoxerci.com/


City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    2 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

 Equipment maintenance for equipment specific to this field work 

 Field and lab supplies  

 Documentation, analysis, and preparation for curation human and faunal (animal) remains 

 Professional archaeological monitoring on the removal and management of the sediments 

associated with the installation of the new outfall and the removal of the old outfall.   

 Accommodations and travel for all archaeologists for this project 

 Prepare historic and pre contact artifacts, faunal remains, samples for curation at the Burke 

Museum. This includes up to 4 boxes of artifacts or documents including faunal remains. 

 Provide weekly interim reports to stakeholders 

 Provide report to state and federal standards this includes one draft and one final report with 

appendices 

 

We expect the field work to happen in 5 phases.   

 

1. The first phase will be providing a single monitor on call to track activities that the contractor is 

doing in Windjammer Park as they mobilize for the fieldwork. We will also be mobilizing our 

field lab and equipment for our fieldwork at this time and we expect this phase to be 1-2 weeks in 

length. 

2. The second phase will be the active removal of the largest upland portion of the trench footprint 

down to just above ground water. This will require 4-5 field and lab technicians and 1 field 

director. If we encounter intact cultural deposits we would need and additional 4 – 5 field/lab 

technicians to do the careful removal of these deposits. We expect this phase to last 2 – 6 weeks 

depending on what we encounter. 

3. The third phase is the contractor doing the in-water work and preparing the upland work. This 

will likely require 1 – 2 field technicians and will last 2 – 4 weeks. 

4. The final upland digging. This will include digging to replace both vaults and the rest of the 

digging for the trench from just above the water table down to 11-13 feet for the installation of 

the outfall pipe and vaults. This will require 4-5 field and lab technicians and 1 field director. If 

we encounter intact cultural deposits we would need and additional 2-4 field/lab technicians to do 

the careful removal of these deposits. We expect this phase to last 2 – 6 weeks depending on what 

we encounter. 

5. The last phase is any restoration and/or decommissioning work on the 42 outfall project area. 

This work will likely require 1 monitor on call from the installation through to the end of the 

project. 

 

 

Assumptions: 

 

 Human remains will be encountered only once during this monitoring program. 

 No more than 5 cubic meters of intact deposits will need to be excavated  

 No more than 4 boxes of artifacts, faunal material and documents will be curated from this 

monitoring program 

 No additional plans or protocols are included in this scope. Should we need to develop a 

Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) that would be outside this scope. 

 Costs associated with completing an HPIF (historic property inventory form) for the existing 

infrastructure or facilities is outside this scope. 

 ERCI will not supply safety fencing, trench safety management or information signs 

 ERCI will not supply any heavy equipment such as excavators or dump trucks 

 

582



City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    3 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

Qualifications: 

 Experience working in Puget Sound and on projects associated with public works systems and 

infrastructure.  

 Principal investigator meets the Secretary of Interior’s professional qualification standards for 

archaeology 

 Expertise on prehistoric and historic archaeology of Western Washington 

 Experience in Executive Order 05-05 and NHPA Section 106 work and in working with 

additional state laws related to historic preservation and human remains. 

 Positive working relationship with federally recognized Tribes in and adjacent to the project area 

and experience in tribal consultation. 

 Experience in processes that balance competing resource needs 

 Strong record of completing work on time within budget 

 

The team at ERCI is comprised of individuals with strong personal research specialties who pride 

themselves on efficiency, performance and integrity. We provide the highest quality product in a timely 

fashion. Please check out our web site for additional details www.equinoxerci.com 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide excellent heritage planning services for the City of Oak Harbor. 

 

Regards, 

 
Kelly R. Bush 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

583

http://www.equinoxerci.com/


City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    4 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

 

 

 
Description - this section primarily administrative, lab and 

writing 

Units    Rate/HR Sub Total    

Ongoing administrative work 4 hrs/week July 1 through 

October 31 - 18 weeks 

72.00   143.75 10,350.00   

Ongoing consultation with SHPO and Corps  (1 hrs/week 18 

weeks)  

18.00   143.75 2,587.50   

Ongoing consultation with affected Tribes (1 hrs/week)  18.00   143.75 2,587.50   

Logistical Planning for field work (1 hours per week) 18.00   143.75 2,587.50   

Document control and transcriptions (20 hrs/week) 360.00   63.25 22,770.00   

Site Inventory Forms   6.00   63.25 379.50   

Archival background research 30.00   97.75 2,932.50   

Interim (weekly) Report writing (4 hrs/week) 72.00   97.75 7,038.00   

Interim (weekly) Report editing (1 hr/week) 18.00   143.75 2,587.50   

Graphics (weekly) Report (1 hr/week) 18.00   97.75 1,759.50   

Report production interim (1 hr per week) 18.00   63.25 1,138.50   

Analysis of pre contact artifact data 16.00   97.75 1,564.00   

Analysis of historic artifacts 16.00   97.75 1,564.00   

Draft and Final Report writing 200.00   97.75 19,550.00   

Draft and Final Report editing 16.00   143.75 2,300.00   

Graphics and layout (field and lab photos, additional hand 

drawing for profiles and report ready graphics for final reports 

80.00   97.75 7,820.00   

Report production draft and final reports 8.00   63.25 506.00   

Report production Appendices 4.00   63.25 253.00   

Field and Lab Supplies: paper bags, plastic bags, field and 

archive paper, storage boxes, other lab supplies 

1.00   833.00 833.00   

Archaeological On call Monitor for the entire process to work 

with the contractor when needed from mobilization  through 

take down 

600.00   74.75 44,850.00   

584



City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    5 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

Mileage for on call monitor 15 trips from Mt. Vernon, no 

charge for local travel 

2000.00   0.60 1,200.00   

Subtotal of committed time regardless rate and content of 

excavated sediments 

      137,158.00   

DESCRIPTION Estimate for Curation for artifacts and 

documents up to 4 archive boxes this is the most likely 

number of boxes needed unless we hit a surprizing feature  

          

Oversignt of curation process-Lab Director 40.00   97.75 3,910.00   

Curation preparation of artifacts and documents Lab Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archive supplies for Curation 1.00   1,100.00 1,100.00   

Costs for curation at the Burke 1500.00 per box 4.00   1,500.00 6,000.00   

Subtotal for Curation  0.00   74.75 16,990.00   

Sub Total for administration, reporting, curation.         154,148.00 
            

DESCRIPTION: Field Monitoring  4 weeks - 

Units 

12 weeks - 

Units 

Rates 4 weeks- Sub 

Total 

12 weeks Sub 

Total 

Principal Investigator 2 days per week  64.00 192.00 143.75 9,200.00 27,600.00 

Travel time for PI 16.00 48.00 40.00 640.00 1,920.00 

Mileage for PI @ 60/day 480.00 1440.00 0.60 288.00 864.00 

Field Director 40 hr/week  160.00 480.00 97.75 15,640.00 46,920.00 

Physical (Biological) Anthropologist 1 days/week includes 

weekly reports  

32.00 96.00 115.00 3,680.00 11,040.00 

Travel time for Physical Anthropologist 8.00 48.00 40.00 320.00 1,920.00 

Mileage the Physical Anthropologist. 400.00 1200.00 0.60 240.00 720.00 

Lab technician assistant to the Physical Anthropologist 1 

day/week for 18 weeks 

32.00 96.00 74.75 2,392.00 7,176.00 

Archaeological Field Technician 160.00 480.00 74.75 11,960.00 35,880.00 

Archaeological Field  Technician 160.00 480.00 74.75 11,960.00 35,880.00 

Archaeological Field  Technician 160.00 480.00 74.75 11,960.00 35,880.00 

585



City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    6 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

Equipment maintenance on-going 1 hours per week when all 

equipment is working 

4.00 12.00 74.75 299.00 897.00 

Documentation and analysis of pre contact artifacts such as 

stone, bone, antler or shell tools: photo, metrics and 

characterization of pre contact artifacts (45 minutes per artifact 

@ an estimate of 75 artifact for 2 weeks and 200 artifacts for 12 

weeks 

33.75 90.00 74.75 2,522.81 6,727.50 

Documentation and analysis of Historic artifacts (45 minutes 

per artifact @ an estimate of 150 artifacts) 

50.00 67.50 74.75 3,737.50 5,045.63 

Sub totals for field monitoring and associated lab       74,839.31 218,470.13 

Travel and Accommodations for Archaeologists           

local travel time 0.00   40.00 0.00 0.00 

Travel time for crew members not staying in town 2 hours per 

day  

40.00 120.00 40.00 1,600.00 4,800.00 

Housing - for 4 crew members at $22.50/crew member/night = 

$450.00 per week 

4.00 12.00 450.00 1,800.00 5,400.00 

Per Diem  0.00   61.00 0.00 0.00 

SUB TOTAL of accommodations and travel       3,400.00 10,200.00 

SUB TOTALS for work without encountering 

intact deposits 

      232,387.31 382,818.13 

            

Contingency work should we encounter intact deposits or 

human remains and need 2 weeks of mitigative data 

recovery 

          

Physical (Biological) Anthropologist  32.00   115.00 3,680.00   

Lab technician assistant to the Physical Anthropologist  32.00   74.75 2,392.00   

Lab Director 80.00   97.75 7,820.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

586



City of Oak Harbor – 42 Inch Stormwater Outfall Replacement Project    7 

Equinox Research and Consulting International Inc. (ERCI) 

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Archaeological Field  Technician 80.00   74.75 5,980.00   

Document control and transcriptions (20 hrs/week) 40.00   63.25 2,530.00   

Reassociation of Ancestral Remains 8.00   115.00 920.00   

SUB TOTAL for additional field work should we 

encountering intact deposits 

       55,752.00 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

587



42-inch Stormwater Outfall Project 6/19/2014

Project Cost Summary

Cost Category
PWTF Estimated 

Project Costs
Contracted 

Amount 2010
Contracted 

Amount 2014
Current 

Encumberance Expended to Date
Estimate to 
Complete

Engineering 333,908.00$          383,037.00$          219,184.00$          219,184.00$          320,054.54$          93,648.09$            
Cultural Resources 11,108.00$            6,162.00$               16,345.20$            16,345.20$            6,100.00$               16,345.20$            
Permits 38,020.00$            -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         
Contingency -$                         -$                         10,959.00$            10,959.00$            -$                         -$                         
Construction 1,100,738.00$       -$                         669,400.00$          669,400.00$          -$                         669,400.00$          
Sales Tax 98,386.00$            -$                         58,237.00$            58,237.00$            -$                         58,237.00$            
Cultural Resources -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         438,570.13$          
Construction Management -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         121,500.00$          
Contingency 325,277.00$          -$                         72,764.00$            -$                         -$                         -$                         
Total 1,907,437.00$       389,199.00$          1,046,889.20$       974,125.20$          326,154.54$          1,397,700.42$       

Estimated Total Project Cost 1,700,000$            

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
an

d 
De

sig
n

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

588



589



590



591



592



593



594



595



596



597



598



599



600



601



602



603



Professional Services Agreement 
Amendment Number:  1 
 

Organization and Address: 
City of  Oak Harbor 
865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, WA 98239 
 
Phone: (360) 279-4525 

Original Agreement Title:  North Reservoir 
 
 
Project Number:  Eng 06-43 
 

Execution Date 
April 17, 2013 

Completion Date 
Dec 21, 2014 

Project Title:  
North Reservoir  
 

New Maximum Amount Payable 
 
                     $34,569.00 

Description of Work:   
Construction support services, see Attachment A to this Amendment 
 
 
The Local Agency of City of Oak Harbor desires to supplement the agreement entered into with 
 Gray & Osborne, Inc.    and executed on    April 17, 2013 and identified as 
Professional Services Agreement City of Oak Harbor Agreement with Gray & Osborne, Inc.. 
 
All provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as expressly modified by this 
supplement 
 
The changes to the agreement are described as follows: 
 
SCOPE OF WORK is hereby changed to read: 
   Additional services and fees as described in Attachment A  
              
 
TIME FOR BEGINNING AND COMPLETION IS AMENDED to read:  N/A  
          
 
PAYMENT shall be amended as follows:  
     Hourly not to exceed $34,569.00     
             
    
 
If you concur with this amendment and agree to the changes as stated above, please sign in the 
appropriate spaces and return to this office for final action. 
 
By:  Gray & Osborne, Inc.    By:  Scott Dudley, Mayor  
                                                                                                 
  
             
Consultant Signature     Approving Authority Signature 
 
             
         Date 

604



605



606



607



North Reservoir - Project Cost Status
6\19\14 Engineer's Estimate Original Contracted Costs Expended to Date Estimated Remaining
Veterans Northwest Construction 4,984,541.77$          4,486,324.17$                        3,845,633.46$        559,980.34$                   
Gray & Osborne 24,949.00$                             24,949.00$              9,620.00$                       
KBA, Inc 332,123.00$                           233,528.09$            10,000.00$                     
Materials Testing & Consulting 73,466.00$                             115,897.50$            30,563.00$                     
Geoengineeers, Inc 35,900.00$                             35,598.68$              -$                                 
Puget Sound Energy -$                                         108,443.09$            -$                                 
Frazier Surveying 598,145.01$             11,658.00$                             11,649.25$              -$                                 
Authorized Contingency 200,000.00$                           -$                          -$                                 

5,582,686.78$          5,164,420.17$                        4,375,699.07$        610,163.34$                   

Estimated Project Cost at Completion 4,985,862.41$               

12% 
Construction 
Management 
Estimate. 

608



609



610



611



612



613



614



615



616



617



618



619



620



621



622



623



624



625



626



627



628



629



630



631



632



633



634



635



636



637



638



639



640



641



642



643



644



645



646



647



648



649



Professional Services Agreement 
Amendment Number:  1 
 

Organization and Address: 
City of  Oak Harbor 
865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, WA 98239 
 
Phone: (360) 279-4525 

Original Agreement Title:  North Reservoir 
 
 
Project Number:  Eng 06-43 
 

Execution Date 
May 7, 2013 

Completion Date 
Dec 22, 2014 

Project Title:  
North Reservoir  
 

New Maximum Amount Payable 
 
                     $146,460.50 

Description of Work:   
Construction support services, see Attachment A to this Amendment 
 
 
The Local Agency of City of Oak Harbor desires to supplement the agreement entered into with 
 Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.    and executed on    May 7, 2013 and identified 
as Professional Services Agreement City of Oak Harbor Agreement with Materials Testing & 
Consulting, Inc.. 
 
All provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as expressly modified by this 
supplement 
 
The changes to the agreement are described as follows: 
 
SCOPE OF WORK is hereby changed to read: 
   Additional services and fees as described in Attachment A  
              
 
TIME FOR BEGINNING AND COMPLETION IS AMENDED to read:  N/A  
          
 
PAYMENT shall be amended as follows:  
     Hourly not to exceed $146,460.50    
             
     
 
If you concur with this amendment and agree to the changes as stated above, please sign in the 
appropriate spaces and return to this office for final action. 
 
By:  Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.  By:  Scott Dudley, Mayor  
                                                                                                 
  
             
Consultant Signature     Approving Authority Signature 
 
             
         Date 

650



Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc. 
   Geotechnical Engineering & Consulting ● Special Inspection ● Materials Testing ● Environmental Consulting   

C o r po ra t e    7 7 7  Ch r y s l e r  Dr i v e    B u r l i n g t o n ,  W A  9 8 2 3 3    P h o ne  3 6 0 . 7 55 .1 9 9 0    F a x  36 0 .75 5 .198 0  
S W  R e g io n    2 1 1 8  B la c k  L a k e  B l v d .  S . W .  O l y mp i a ,  W A  9 851 2    Phon e  360 .5 34 .9 77 7    F a x  36 0 .5 34 .9 779  

N W  R e g io n    2 1 2 6  E a s t  B ak e r v i e w  R o a d    B e l l i ng ha m,  WA  9 82 26    Ph on e  36 0 .64 7 .6 061    Fax  360 .647 .811 1  
  V i s i t  o u r  w eb s i t e :  w w w . mt c - i n c .n e t  

 
Via Email: apeterschmidt@oakharbor.org 
 
May 13, 2014 
 
Mr. Arnold Peterschmidt 
City of Oak Harbor 
865 SE Barrington Drive 
Oak Harbor, WA. 98277 
 

 
Re:  North Reservoir ENG 06-43 

Change Order Request No. 1 for Special Inspection and Materials Testing 
 

 

Dear Mr. Peterschmidt:  
 
Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc. respectfully submits this Change Order Request No. 1 for the North Reservoir ENG06-
43 project in Oak Harbor, Washington.  MTC provides its services on as-needed / as-scheduled basis and we have no control 
of the inspection request processes.  On this particular project MTC provided additional services including Geotechnical 
Engineer of Record (GEOR) as well as the Offsite Fabrication Shop and Coating Inspection Services in California.  Below 
is a brief description of the additional services and cost for each.    
 

 Geotechnical Engineer of Record Services. 
MTC was asked to provide an additional scope as the Geotechnical Engineer of Record (GEOR) for the work performed 
along Gun Club Road. These services increased the budget / contract amount by $ 1,492.50. These services were performed 
during the months of June and November 2013. 
 

 Offsite  Welding Fabrication and Coatings Inspection (California) 
MTC was asked provide 3rd party services to provide inspection services in the Fabrication Shop located in California. 
These services increased the budget / contract amount by $47,743.00 of which $8,637.75 was unanticipated overtime.  
These services were performed during the months of June thru October of 2013. 
 

 Onsite Coating Inspection  
MTC’s original estimate included a provision for the onsite coating inspection.  MTC’s estimate was for $44,550.00 and to 
date we have spent $46,034.00 which includes $3,267.00 of unanticipated overtime.   We currently anticipate an additional 
6 weeks of inspection for completion of this task which equates to $23,760.00.  The increase can be directly linked to the 
slower than anticipated schedule as well as quality based issues referenced in the coating inspection reports.    
.    
 

 Summary Change Order Amount 
Geotechnical Services:   $   1,492.50 
Offsite & 3rd Party Services:  $ 47,743.00 
Additional Onsite Coating Services: $ 23,760.00 

Total Change Order:    $ 72,995.00 
 
In closing, MTC has been honored to be a part of the team bringing this very important project to fruition, and understands 
the value of communication in the team environment. If you have any questions or need any additional backup please feel 
free to contact me at any time.    
 
Respectfully,  
 

Raymond McNamara 
Raymond McNamara 
Project Manager        

651

mailto:apeterschmidt@oakharbor.org
apeterschmidt
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



North Reservoir - Project Cost Status
6\19\14 Engineer's Estimate Original Contracted Costs Expended to Date Estimated Remaining
Veterans Northwest Construction 4,984,541.77$          4,486,324.17$                        3,845,633.46$        559,980.34$                   
Gray & Osborne 24,949.00$                             24,949.00$              9,620.00$                       
KBA, Inc 332,123.00$                           233,528.09$            10,000.00$                     
Materials Testing & Consulting 73,466.00$                             115,897.50$            30,563.00$                     
Geoengineeers, Inc 35,900.00$                             35,598.68$              -$                                 
Puget Sound Energy -$                                         108,443.09$            -$                                 
Frazier Surveying 598,145.01$             11,658.00$                             11,649.25$              -$                                 
Authorized Contingency 200,000.00$                           -$                          -$                                 

5,582,686.78$          5,164,420.17$                        4,375,699.07$        610,163.34$                   

Estimated Project Cost at Completion 4,985,862.41$               

12% 
Construction 
Management 
Estimate. 

652



CITY OF OAK HARBOR 
CONSULTANT AGREEMENT 

WITH       

PROJECT TITLE:       

PROJECT COMPLETION DATE:        

MAXIMUM AMOUNT PAYABLE:        

Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc

North Reservoir - ENG#06-43

653



Table of Contents - 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONSULTANT CONTRACT 

I. INSTRUCTIONS ...................................................................................................................................... 1 

II. CONSULTANT INFORMATION ...................................................................................................... 1 

III. PROJECT INFORMATION .................................................................................................................. 1 

IV. ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS ADDED TO THIS CONTRACT ............................................ 1 

V. INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

VI. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF WORK ........................................................................................... 2 

VII. SCOPE OF WORK ................................................................................................................................... 2 

VIII. PAYMENT .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

IX. CERTIFICATION OF THE CONSULTANT AND THE CITY ................................................ 3 

X. COMPLETE AGREEMENT ................................................................................................................. 3 

XI. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................................ 3 

XII. EXECUTION AND ACCEPTANCE ................................................................................................. 3

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

1. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .................................................................................................... 1 

2. TIME FOR BEGINNING AND COMPLETION ............................................................................ 1 

3. SUBCONTRACTING ............................................................................................................................. 1

4. EMPLOYMENT ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

5. NONDISCRIMINATION ....................................................................................................................... 2 

6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT .................................................................................................. 4 

7. CHANGES OF WORK ........................................................................................................................... 5 

8. DISPUTES .................................................................................................................................................. 5 

9. VENUE, APPLICABLE LAW AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION....................................... 5 

10. LEGAL RELATIONS AND INSURANCE ..................................................................................... 5 

11. INDEMNIFICATION REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................................ 6 

12. INSURANCE. ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

13. EXTRA WORK ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

14. ENDORSEMENT OF PLANS .............................................................................................................. 8 

15. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY ...................................................................................................................... 9

654



Table of Contents - 2 

EXHIBITS 

EXHIBIT A-1 ........................................................................................................................................................... 1 

CERTIFICATION OF CONSULTANT ........................................................................................................... 1 

CERTIFICATION OF CITY OFFICIAL ......................................................................................................... 1

EXHIBIT A-2 ........................................................................................................................................................... 3 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, ...................................................... 3 

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS- PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS ....... 3

EXHIBIT B ................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

SCOPE OF WORK (ADD ON) .......................................................................................................................... 4

EXHIBIT C ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

PAYMENT (NEGOTIATED HOURLY RATE PLUS COSTS) .............................................................. 5

EXHIBIT D-1 ........................................................................................................................................................... 8 

CONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION - SUMMARY SHEET ........................................................ 8

EXHIBIT D-2 ........................................................................................................................................................... 9 

CONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION - SUMMARY SHEET ........................................................ 9 

(SPECIFIC RATES OF PAY) ............................................................................................................................. 9

EXHIBIT F .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 

PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT BY CITY .................................................... 10 

OTHER THAN FOR FAULT OF THE CONSULTANT ......................................................................... 10

EXHIBIT G-1 ......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

SUBCONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION -- SUMMARY SHEET ........................................... 11

EXHIBIT G-2 ......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

BREAKDOWN OF SUBCONSULTANT'S OVERHEAD COST ........................................................ 12 

655



Consultant Contract - 1 
(Hourly Rate(s) Plus Costs) 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

CONSULTANT CONTRACT 
HEADING

I. INSTRUCTIONS

This contract must be completed in full, including all applicable exhibits.  If an exhibit is not 
applicable, it should be marked "VOID". 

Any changes or additions to this contract must be made in writing and set forth below.  (The 
parties may attach appendices and exhibits to this contract but they must be listed in Section IV 
below.)  Any exceptions or changes to the General Requirements must be listed in Section XI of 
the contract. 

II.   CONSULTANT INFORMATION

Name:        

Address:        

Telephone/Fax No.:        

Federal ID No.:        

Do you require a 1099 for the IRS?        

III. PROJECT INFORMATION

Protect Title:        

Project Description:        

 Project Completion Date:        
 Maximum Amount Payable:        
 Progress Payments:        

IV. ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS ADDED TO THIS CONTRACT

Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.

777 Chrysler Drive, Burlington, WA 98233

P. 360-755-1990 / F. 360-755-1980

91-1694934

Not for this project

North Reservoir, ENG06-43, Washington

Special Inspection & Materials Testing

MTC proposal for services

656



Consultant Contract - 2 
(Hourly Rate(s) Plus Costs) 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

AGREEMENT

V. INTRODUCTION 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this       day of       ,  
     , between the City of Oak Harbor, Washington, hereinafter called the "CITY", and the 
below identified organization hereinafter called the "CONSULTANT" consists of this 
agreement, the exhibits and the General Requirements attached hereto. 

WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to accomplish the above-referenced project, and 

WHEREAS, the CITY does not have sufficient staff to meet the required commitment and, 
therefore, deems it advisable and desirable to engage the assistance of a CONSULTANT to 
provide the necessary services for the PROJECT; and 

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT represents that he/she is in compliance with the Washington 
State statutes relating to professional registration, if applicable, and has signified a willingness to 
furnish consulting services to the CITY; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants and performance 
contained herein, or attached and incorporated and made a part hereof, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

VI. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF WORK

The work under this AGREEMENT shall consist of the work and services described in Section 
III of this AGREEMENT and as herein defined and necessary to accomplish the completed work 
for this PROJECT.  The CONSULTANT shall furnish all services, labor and related equipment 
necessary to conduct and complete the work as designated elsewhere in this AGREEMENT. 

VII. SCOPE OF WORK

The Scope of Work and project level of effort for this project is detailed in Exhibit "B" attached 
hereto, and by this reference made a part of this AGREEMENT. 

VIII. PAYMENT

The CONSULTANT shall be paid by the CITY for completed work and services rendered under 
this AGREEMENT on the basis of a negotiated hourly rate plus costs as provided in Exhibit "C" 
attached hereto, and by this reference made part of this AGREEMENT.  Such payment shall be 
full compensation for work performed or services rendered and for all labor, materials, supplies, 
equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the work specified in Exhibit "B" attached 

3 April 2013

657



Consultant Contract - 3 
(Hourly Rate(s) Plus Costs) 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

hereto and by this reference made part of this AGREEMENT; except for out of pocket costs as 
identified in Exhibit "C". 

IX. CERTIFICATION OF THE CONSULTANT AND THE CITY

Attached hereto as Exhibit "A-1" is the Certification of the Consultant and Certification of City 
Official.  Exhibit "A-2" is the Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other 
Responsibility Matters - Primary Covered Transactions. 

X. COMPLETE AGREEMENT

This document and referenced attachments contain all covenants, stipulations and provisions 
agreed upon by the parties.  No agent or representative of either party has authority to make, and 
the parties shall not be bound by or be liable for, any statement, representation, promise or 
agreement not set forth herein.  No changes, amendments, or modifications of the terms hereof 
shall be valid unless reduced to writing and signed by the parties as an amendment to this 
AGREEMENT. 

XI. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

The General Requirements for Consulting Contract, on file in the City Clerk's Office at Oak 
Harbor City Hall, a copy of which is attached hereto, shall apply to this AGREEMENT except as 
modified in this Section XI (General Requirements).  The CONSULTANT has assured that the 
attached copy of the General Requirements conforms to the set filed in the City Clerk's Office. 

General provisions are modified to provide that "CONSULTANT shall provide period reports as 
required and not necessarily on a monthly basis." 

XII. EXECUTION AND ACCEPTANCE

This AGREEMENT may be simultaneously executed in several counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed to be an original having identical legal effect.  The CONSULTANT does hereby 
ratify and adopt all statements, representations, warranties, covenants, and agreements contained 
in the proposal, and the supporting materials submitted by the CONSULTANT, and does hereby 
accept the AGREEMENT and agrees to all of the terms and conditions thereof. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this AGREEMENT as of the day 
and year first above written. 

By       By      
Consultant:            Agency:        
         Principal 

Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.
Raymond McNamara

658



Consultant Contract - 4 
(Hourly Rate(s) Plus Costs) 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

I,      , Consultant, certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington 
that this copy of the General Requirements for Consultant Contract conform to the set filed in the 
Clerk's Office. 

Dated:    
       By     

*

* Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.

Raymond McNamara
Director of Operations

April 3, 2013

659



Consultant Contract - 1 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

1. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

All aspects of coordination of the work of this AGREEMENT, with outside agencies, groups or 
individuals shall receive advance approval by the CITY.  Necessary contacts and meetings with 
agencies, groups or individuals shall be coordinated through the CITY. 

The CONSULTANT shall attend coordination, progress and presentation meetings with the 
CITY or such officials, groups or individuals as may be requested by the CITY.  The CITY will 
provide the CONSULTANT sufficient notice prior to meetings requiring CONSULTANT's 
participation.  The minimum number of hours or days notice required shall be agreed to between 
the CITY and the CONSULTANT and shown in Exhibit "B" attached hereto and made part of 
this AGREEMENT.  The CONSULTANT shall prepare a monthly progress report as needed by 
the CITY (but in no case shall it be more than once a month), in a form approved by the CITY, 
that will outline in written and graphical form the various phases and the order of performance of 
the work in sufficient detail so that the progress of the work can easily be evaluated. 

All reports and other data, furnished to the CONSULTANT by the CITY shall be returned.  All 
designs, drawings, specifications, documents, and other work products prepared by the 
CONSULTANT prior to completion or termination of this AGREEMENT are instruments of 
service for this PROJECT and are property of the CITY.  Reuse by the CITY or by others acting 
through or on behalf of the CITY of any such instruments of service, not occurring as part of this 
PROJECT, shall be without liability or legal exposure to the CONSULTANT. 

2. TIME FOR BEGINNING AND COMPLETION 

The CONSULTANT shall not begin any work under the terms of this AGREEMENT until 
authorized in writing by the CITY.  All work under this AGREEMENT shall be completed by 
the date shown in Section III of this AGREEMENT under "Project Completion Date". 

The established completion time shall not be extended because of any delays attributable to the 
CONSULTANT, but may be extended by the CITY, in the event of a delay attributable to the 
CITY, or because of unavoidable delays caused by an act of God, governmental actions or other 
conditions beyond the control of the CONSULTANT.  A prior supplemental agreement issued 
by the CITY is required to extend the established completion date. 

3. SUBCONTRACTING

The CITY permits subcontracts for only those items of work designated for subcontracts in 
Exhibit "G-1" or "G-2" to this AGREEMENT. 

The work of the subconsultant shall not exceed its maximum amount payable unless prior written 
approval has been issued by the CITY. 

660



Consultant Contract - 2 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

All reimbursable direct labor, overhead, direct non-salary costs and fixed fee costs for the 
subconsultant shall be substantiated in the same manner as outlined in Section VIII.  All 
subcontracts exceeding Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) in cost shall contain all applicable 
provisions of this AGREEMENT. 

The CONSULTANT shall not subcontract for the performance of any work under this 
AGREEMENT without prior written permission of the CITY.  No permission for subcontracting 
shall create, between the CITY and subcontractor, any contract or any other relationship. 

4. EMPLOYMENT

The CONSULTANT warrants that he/she has not employed or retained any company or person, 
other than a bona fide employee working solely for the CONSULTANT, to solicit or secure this 
contract, and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide 
employee working solely for the CONSULTANT, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage 
fee, gift, or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of 
this contract.  For breach or violation of this warrant, the CITY shall have the right to annul this 
AGREEMENT without liability, or in its discretion, to deduct from the AGREEMENT price or 
consideration or otherwise recover the full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, 
brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee. 

Any and all employees of the CONSULTANT or other persons while engaged in the 
performance of any work or services required of the CONSULTANT under this AGREEMENT, 
shall be considered employees of the CONSULTANT only and not of the CITY, and any and all 
claims that may or might arise under any Workers' Compensation Act on behalf of said 
employees or other persons while so engaged, and any and all claims made by a third party as a 
consequence of any act or omission on the part of the CONSULTANT's employees or other 
persons while so engaged on any of the work or services provided to be rendered herein, shall be 
the sole obligation and responsibility of the CONSULTANT. 

The CONSULTANT shall not engage, on a full or part time basis, or other basis, during the 
period of the contract, any professional or technical personnel who are, or have been, at any time 
during the period of the contract, in the employ of the CITY, except regularly retired employees, 
without written consent of the public employer of such person. 

5. NONDISCRIMINATION

The CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate against any client, employee or applicant for 
employment or for services because of race, creed, color, national origin, marital status, sexual 
orientation, sex, age, honorably discharged veteran or military status, or the presence of any 
sensory, mental or physical disability or the use of a trained dog guide or service animal by a 
person with a disability; unless based upon a bona fide occupational qualification; with regard to, 
but not limited to, the following:  employment upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or 
any recruitment advertising, a layoff or termination, rate of pay or other forms of compensation, 
selection for training, or rendition of services.  The CONSULTANT understands and agrees that 
if it violates this provision, this AGREEMENT may be terminated by the CITY and further that 

661



Consultant Contract - 3 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

the CONSULTANT shall be barred from performing any services for the CITY now or in the 
future unless a showing is made satisfactory to the CITY that discriminatory practices have 
terminated and that recurrence of such action is unlikely. 

During the performance of this AGREEMENT, CONSULTANT, for itself, its assignees and 
successors in interest agrees as follows: 

A. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS:  The CONSULTANT shall comply with the 
applicable federal law relative to nondiscrimination, Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations, which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this 
AGREEMENT.  The CONSULTANT shall comply with the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1992, as amended. 

B. INFORMATION AND REPORTS:  The CONSULTANT shall provide all information 
and reports required by the CITY and shall permit access to its books, records, accounts, 
other sources of information, and its facilities as may be determined by the CITY to be 
pertinent to ascertain compliance with such state or federal law.  Where any information 
required of the CONSULTANT is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or 
refuses to furnish this information, the CONSULTANT shall so certify to the CITY, and 
shall set forth what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 

C. SANCTIONS FOR NONCOMPLIANCE:  In the event of the CONSULTANT's 
noncompliance with the nondiscrimination provisions of this AGREEMENT, the CITY 
shall impose such sanctions as it may determine to be appropriate, including, but not 
limited to: 

(1) Withholding of payments to the CONSULTANT under the AGREEMENT until 
the CONSULTANT complies, and/or 

(2) Cancellation, termination or suspension of the AGREEMENT, in whole or in part. 

D. INCORPORATION OF PROVISIONS:  The CONSULTANT shall include the 
provisions of paragraphs (A) through (E) in every subcontract, including procurement of 
materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations or directives issued 
pursuant thereto.  The CONSULTANT shall take such action with respect to any 
subconsultant or procurement as the CITY may direct as a means of enforcing such 
provisions including sanctions for noncompliance; provided, however, that, in the event a 
CONSULTANT becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a 
subconsultant or supplier as a result of such direction, the CONSULTANT may request 
the CITY to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the CITY. 

E. UNFAIR EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES:  The CONSULTANT shall comply with 
RCW 49.60.180 and Executive Order number E.O. 77-13 of the Governor of the State of 
Washington which prohibits unfair employment practices. 

662



Consultant Contract - 4 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

The right is reserved by the CITY to terminate this AGREEMENT at any time upon ten (10) 
days' written notice to the CONSULTANT. 

In the event this AGREEMENT is terminated by the CITY other than for default on the part of 
the CONSULTANT, a final payment shall be made to the CONSULTANT as shown in Exhibit 
"F". 

No payment shall be made for any work completed after ten (10) days following receipt by the 
CONSULTANT of the Notice to Terminate.  If the accumulated payment made to the 
CONSULTANT prior to Notice to Terminate exceeds the total amount that would be due, 
computed as set forth herein above, then no final payment shall be due and the CONSULTANT 
shall immediately reimburse the CITY for any excess paid. 

If the services of the CONSULTANT are terminated by the CITY for default on the part of the 
CONSULTANT, the above formula for payment shall not apply.  In such an event, the amount to 
be paid shall be determined by the CITY with consideration given to the actual costs incurred by 
the CONSULTANT in performing the work to the date of termination, the amount of work 
originally required which was satisfactorily completed to date of termination, whether that work 
is in a form or a type which is usable to the CITY at the time of termination; the cost to the CITY 
of employing another firm to complete the work required and the time which may be required to 
do so, and other factors which affect the value to the CITY of the work performed at the time of 
termination.  Under no circumstances shall payment made under this subsection exceed the 
amount which would have been made using the formula set forth in the previous paragraph. 

If it is determined for any reasons that the CONSULTANT was not in default or that the 
CONSULTANT's failure to perform is without it or its employee's fault or negligence, the 
termination shall be deemed to be a termination for the convenience of the CITY in accordance 
with the provision of this AGREEMENT. 

In the event of death of any member, partner or officer of the CONSULTANT or any of its 
supervisory personnel assigned to the project, or, dissolution of the partnership, termination of 
the corporation, or disaffiliation of the principally involved employee, the surviving members of 
the CONSULTANT hereby agree to complete the work under the terms of this AGREEMENT, 
if requested to do so by the CITY.  This subsection shall not be a bar to renegotiation of the 
AGREEMENT between the surviving members of the CONSULTANT and the CITY, if the 
CITY so chooses. 

In the event of the death of any of the parties listed in the previous paragraph, should the 
surviving members of the CONSULTANT, with the CITY's concurrence, desire to terminate this 
AGREEMENT, payment shall be made as set forth in the second paragraph of this section. 

Payment for any part of the work by the CITY shall not constitute a waiver by the CITY of any 
remedies of any type it may have against the CONSULTANT, or for failure of the 

663



Consultant Contract - 5 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

CONSULTANT to perform work required of it by the CITY.  Forbearance of any rights under 
the AGREEMENT will not constitute waiver of entitlement to exercise those rights with respect 
to any future act or omission by the CONSULTANT. 

7. CHANGES OF WORK

The CONSULTANT shall make changes and revisions in the complete work of this 
AGREEMENT as necessary to correct errors appearing therein, when required to do so by the 
CITY, without additional compensation thereof.  Should the CITY find it desirable for its own 
purposes to have previously satisfactorily completed work or parts thereof changed or revised, 
the CONSULTANT shall make such revisions as directed by the CITY.  This work shall be 
considered as Extra Work and will be paid for as herein provided under General Requirements, 
Section 13. 

8. DISPUTES

Any dispute concerning questions of fact in connection with the work not disposed of by 
AGREEMENT between the CONSULTANT and the CITY shall be referred for determination to 
the City Administrator or his/her designee, whose decision in the matter shall be final and 
binding on the parties of this AGREEMENT, provided, however, that if an action is brought 
challenging the Public Works Superintendent or City Engineer's decision, that decision shall be 
subject to de novo judicial review. 

9. VENUE, APPLICABLE LAW AND PERSONAL JURISDICTION

In the event that either party deems it necessary to institute legal action or proceedings to enforce 
any right or obligation under this AGREEMENT, the parties hereto agree that any such action 
shall be initiated in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, situated in Island County.  
The parties hereto agree that all questions shall be resolved by application of Washington law 
and that the parties to such action shall have the right of appeal from such decisions of the 
Superior Court in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.  The CONSULTANT 
hereby consents to the personal jurisdiction of the Superior Court of the State of Washington, 
situated in Island County. 

10. LEGAL RELATIONS AND INSURANCE

A. The CONSULTANT shall comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and ordinances 
applicable to the work to be done under this AGREEMENT.  This AGREEMENT shall 
be interpreted and construed in accordance with the laws of Washington. 

B. The CONSULTANT's relation to the CITY shall be at all times as an independent 
contractor and not as an employee. 

C. Unless otherwise specified in the AGREEMENT, the CITY shall be responsible for 
administration of construction contracts, if any, on the project.  Subject to the processing 
of an acceptable, supplemental agreement, the CONSULTANT shall provide on-call 

664



Consultant Contract - 6 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

assistance to the CITY during contract administration.  By providing such assistance, the 
CONSULTANT shall assume no responsibility for:  proper construction techniques, job 
site safety, or any construction contractor's failure to perform its work in accordance with 
the contract documents. 

D. The CITY will pay no payments under Section VIII "Payments" until the 
CONSULTANT has fully complied with this section.  This remedy is not exclusive; and 
the CITY may take such other action as is available to them under other provisions of this 
AGREEMENT, or otherwise in law. 

11. INDEMNIFICATION REQUIREMENTS 

Indemnification/Hold Harmless.  CONSULTANT shall defend, indemnify and hold the CITY, 
its officers, officials, employees and volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, 
damages, losses or suits including attorney fees, arising out of or resulting from the acts, errors 
or omissions of the CONSULTANT in performance of this AGREEMENT, except for injuries 
and damages caused by the sole negligence of the CITY. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the preceding paragraph, it is understood and mutually agreed 
by the CONSULTANT and the CITY that neither party will attempt to enforce strict liability for 
any act, error or omission against either party and that the work covered under this 
AGREEMENT will be completed by the CONSULTANT with the standard of care of the        
profession in the State of Washington. 

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this AGREEMENT is subject to RCW 
4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or 
damages to property caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the 
CONSULTANT and the CITY, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the 
CONSULTANT's liability hereunder shall be only to the extent of the CONSULTANT's 
negligence.  It is further specifically and expressly understood that the indemnification provided 
herein constitutes the CONSULTANT's waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 
RCW, solely for the purposes of this indemnification.  This waiver has been mutually negotiated 
by the parties.  The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
AGREEMENT. 

12. INSURANCE.

The CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of this AGREEMENT, 
insurance claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in 
connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the CONSULTANT, its agents, 
representatives or employees. 

A. No Limitation.  CONSULTANT's maintenance of insurance as required by the 
AGREEMENT shall not be construed to limit the liability of the CONSULTANT to the 
coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise limit the CITY's recourse to any 
remedy available at law or in equity. 

665



Consultant Contract - 7 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

B. Minimum Scope of Insurance.  CONSULTANT shall obtain insurance of the types 
described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased 
vehicles.  Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 
00 01 or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage.  If necessary, 
the policy shall be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written on ISO occurrence form 
CG 00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, independent 
contractors and personal injury and advertising injury.  The CITY shall be named 
as an insured under the CONSULTANT's Commercial General Liability 
insurance policy with respect to the work performed for the CITY. 

3. Workers' Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of 
the State of Washington. 

4. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the CONSULTANT's profession. 

C. Minimum Amounts of Insurance.  CONSULTANT shall maintain the following 
insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily 
injury and property damage of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less than 
One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) each occurrence, Two Million Dollars 
($2,000,000.00) general aggregate. 

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be written with limits not less than One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per claim and One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) policy aggregate limit. 

D. Other Insurance Provisions.  The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to 
contain, the following provisions for Automobile Liability, Professional Liability and 
Commercial General Liability insurance: 

1. The CONSULTANT's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with respect 
to the CITY.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage 
maintained by the CITY shall be in excess of the CONSULTANT's insurance and 
shall not contribute with it. 

2. The CONSULTANT's insurance shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not 
be cancelled by either party, except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the CITY. 

666



Consultant Contract - 8 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

E. Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. 
Best rating of not less than A:VII. 

F. Verification of Coverage.  CONSULTANT shall furnish the CITY with original 
certificates and a copy of the amendatory endorsements including, but not necessarily 
limited to, the additional insured endorsement evidencing the insurance requirements of 
the CONSULTANT before commencement of the work. 

13. EXTRA WORK

A. The CITY may at any time, by written order, make changes within the general scope of 
the AGREEMENT in the services to be performed. 

B. If any such change causes an increase or decrease in the estimated cost of, or the time 
required for, performance of any part of the work under this AGREEMENT, whether or 
not changed by the order, or otherwise affects any other terms and conditions of the 
AGREEMENT, the CITY shall make an equitable adjustment in the (1) maximum 
amount payable; (2) delivery or completion schedule, or both; and (3) other affected 
terms and shall modify the AGREEMENT accordingly.  If the change causes an increase 
in the maximum amount payable, it shall not become a part of this AGREEMENT unless 
and until a written amendment to the AGREEMENT is executed by both the CITY and 
the CONSULTANT. 

C. The CONSULTANT must submit its "request for equitable adjustment" (hereafter 
referred to as "claim") under this clause within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of 
the written order.  However, if the CITY decides that the facts justify it, the CITY may 
receive and act upon a claim submitted before final payment of the AGREEMENT. 

D. Failure to agree to any adjustment shall be a dispute under the Disputes clause.  However, 
nothing in this clause shall excuse the CONSULTANT from proceeding with the 
AGREEMENT as changed. 

E. Notwithstanding the terms and conditions of paragraphs (A) and (B) above, the 
maximum amount payable for this AGREEMENT shall not be increased or considered to 
be increased except by specific written supplement to this AGREEMENT. 

14. ENDORSEMENT OF PLANS

The CONSULTANT shall place his endorsement on all plans, estimates or any other engineering 
data furnished by him. 

667



Consultant Contract - 9 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

15. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

A. Compliance with 41 CFR 60-1.4 -- Equal Opportunity Clause.  The CITY incorporates 
41 CFR 60-1.4 -- Equal Opportunity Clause by reference. 

B. Compliance with 41 CFR 60-250.5 -- Equal Opportunity Clause (Special Disabled 
Veterans).

1. The CONSULTANT will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because he or she is a special disabled veteran, veteran of the 
Vietnam era, recently separated veteran, or other protected veteran in regard to 
any position for which the employee or applicant for employment is qualified.  
The CONSULTANT agrees to take affirmative action to employ, advance in 
employment and otherwise treat qualified individuals without discrimination 
based on their status as a special disabled veteran, veteran of the Vietnam era, 
recently separated veteran, or other protected veteran in all employment practices, 
including the following: 

i. Recruitment, advertising, and job application procedures; 

ii. Hiring, upgrading, promotion, award of tenure, demotion, transfer, layoff, 
termination, right of return from layoff and rehiring;  

iii. Rates of pay or any other form of compensation and changes in 
compensation; 

iv. Job assignments, job classifications, organizational structures, position 
descriptions, lines of progression, and seniority lists; 

v. Leaves of absence, sick leave, or any other leave; 

vi. Fringe benefits available by virtue of employment, whether or not 
administered by the CONSULTANT; 

vii. Selection and financial support for training, including apprenticeship, and 
on-the-job training under 38 U.S.C. 3687, professional meetings, 
conferences, and other related activities, and selection for leaves of 
absence to pursue training; 

viii. Activities sponsored by the CONSULTANT including social or 
recreational programs; and 

ix. Any other term, condition, or privilege of employment. 

668



Consultant Contract - 10 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

2. The CONSULTANT agrees to immediately list all employment openings which 
exist at the time of the execution of this AGREEMENT and those which occur 
during the performance of this AGREEMENT, including those not generated by 
this AGREEMENT and including those occurring at an establishment of the 
CONSULTANT other than the one wherein the AGREEMENT is being 
performed, but excluding those of independently operated corporate affiliates, at 
an appropriate local employment service office of the state employment security 
agency wherein the opening occurs.  Listing employment openings with the U.S. 
Department of Labor's America's Job Bank shall satisfy the requirement to list 
jobs with the local employment service office. 

3. Listing of employment openings with the local employment service office 
pursuant to this clause shall be made at least concurrently with the use of any 
other recruitment source or effort and shall involve the normal obligations which 
attach to the placing of a bona fide job order, including the acceptance of referrals 
of veterans and nonveterans.  The listing of employment openings does not 
require the hiring of any particular job applicants or from any particular group of 
job applicants, and nothing herein is intended to relieve the CONSULTANT from 
any requirements in Executive orders or regulations regarding nondiscrimination 
in employment. 

4. Whenever the CONSULTANT becomes contractually bound to the listing 
provisions in paragraphs 2 and 3 of this clause, it shall advise the state 
employment security agency in each state where it has establishments of the name 
and location of each hiring location in the state:  Provided, That this requirement 
shall not apply to state and local governmental CONSULTANTS.  As long as the 
CONSULTANT is contractually bound to these provisions and has so advised the 
state agency, there is no need to advise the state agency of subsequent 
AGREEMENTS.  The CONSULTANT may advise the state agency when it is no 
longer bound by this AGREEMENT clause. 

5. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of this clause do not apply to the listing of 
employment openings which occur and are filled outside of the 50 states, the 
District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, and the Virgin 
Islands.

6. As used in this clause: 

i. All employment openings include all positions except executive and top 
management, those positions that will be filled from within the 
CONSULTANT's organization, and positions lasting three (3) days or 
less.  This term includes full-time employment, temporary employment of 
more than (3) three days' duration, and part-time employment. 

669



Consultant Contract - 11 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

ii. Executive and top management means any employee: 

(a) whose primary duty consists of the management of the enterprise 
in which he or she is employed or of a customarily recognized 
department or subdivision thereof; and 

(b) who customarily and regularly directs the work of two (2) or more 
other employees therein; and  

(c) who has the authority to hire or fire other employees or whose 
suggestions and recommendations as to the hiring or firing and as 
to the advancement and promotion or any other change of status of 
other employees will be given particular weight; and 

(d) who customarily and regularly exercises discretionary powers; and 

(e) who does not devote more than twenty percent (20%), or, in the 
case of an employee of a retail or service establishment who does 
not devote as much as forty percent (40%), of his or her hours of 
work in the work week to activities which are not directly and 
closely related to the performance of the work described in (a) 
through (d) of this paragraph 6.ii.; Provided, that (e) of this 
paragraph 6.ii. shall not apply in the case of an employee who is in 
sole charge of an independent establishment or a physically 
separated branch establishment, or who owns at least a twenty 
percent (20%) interest in the enterprise in which he or she is 
employed. 

iii. Positions that will be filled from within the CONSULTANT's organization 
means employment openings for which no consideration will be given to 
persons outside the CONSULTANT's organization (including any 
affiliates, subsidiaries, and parent companies) and includes any openings 
which the contractor proposes to fill from regularly established "recall" 
lists.  The exception does not apply to a particular opening once an 
employer decides to consider applicants outside of his or her own 
organization.

7. The CONSULTANT agrees to comply with the rules, regulations, and relevant 
orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to the Act. 

8. In the event of the CONSULTANT's noncompliance with the requirements of this 
clause, actions for noncompliance may be taken in accordance with the rules, 
regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to the 
Act.

670



Consultant Contract - 12 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

9. The CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees 
and applicants for employment, notices in a form to be prescribed by the Deputy 
Assistant Secretary for Federal Contract Compliance, provided by or through the 
contracting officer.  Such notices shall state the rights of applicants and 
employees as well as the CONSULTANT's obligation under the law to take 
affirmative action to employ and advance in employment qualified employees and 
applicants who are special disabled veterans, veterans of the Vietnam era, recently 
separated veterans, or other protected veterans.  The CONSULTANT must ensure 
that applicants or employees who are special disabled veterans are informed of the 
contents of the notice (e.g., the CONSULTANT may have the notice read to a 
visually disabled individual, or may lower the posted notice so that it might be 
read by a person in a wheelchair). 

10. The CONSULTANT will notify each labor organization or representative of 
workers with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract 
understanding, that the CONSULTANT is bound by the terms of the Vietnam Era 
Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974, as amended, and is committed to 
take affirmative action to employ and advance in employment qualified special 
disabled veterans, veterans of the Vietnam era, recently separated veterans, and 
other protected veterans. 

11. The CONSULTANT will include the provisions of this clause in every 
subcontract or purchase order of Twenty-five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) or 
more, unless exempted by the rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary issued 
pursuant to the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974, as 
amended, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or 
vendor.  The CONSULTANT will take such action with respect to any 
subcontract or purchase order as the Deputy Assistant Secretary for Federal 
Contract Compliance may direct to enforce such provisions, including action for 
noncompliance. 

C. Compliance with 41 CFR 60-741.5 -- Equal Opportunity Clause (Workers with 
Disabilities).

1. The CONSULTANT will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of physical or mental disability in regard to any position for 
which the employee or applicant for employment is qualified.  The 
CONSULTANT agrees to take affirmative action to employ, advance in 
employment and otherwise treat qualified individuals with disabilities without 
discrimination based on their physical or mental disability in all employment 
practices, including the following: 

i. Recruitment, advertising, and job application procedures; 

671



Consultant Contract - 13 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

ii. Hiring, upgrading, promotion, award of tenure, demotion, transfer, layoff, 
termination, right of return from layoff and rehiring; 

iii. Rates of pay or any other form of compensation and changes in 
compensation; 

iv. Job assignments, job classifications, organizational structures, position 
descriptions, lines of progression, and seniority lists; 

v. Leaves of absence, sick leave, or any other leave; 

vi. Fringe benefits available by virtue of employment, whether or not 
administered by the CONSULTANT; 

vii. Selection and financial support for training, including apprenticeship, 
professional meetings, conferences, and other related activities, and 
selection for leaves of absence to pursue training; 

viii. Activities sponsored by the CONSULTANT including social or 
recreational programs; and 

ix. Any other term, condition, or privilege of employment. 

2. The CONSULTANT agrees to comply with the rules, regulations, and relevant 
orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to the act. 

3. In the event of the CONSULTANT's noncompliance with the requirements of this 
clause, actions for noncompliance may be taken in accordance with the rules, 
regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to the 
act. 

4. The CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees 
and applicants for employment, notices in a form to be prescribed by the Deputy 
Assistant Secretary for Federal Contract Compliance Programs, provided by or 
through the contracting officer.  Such notices shall state the rights of applicants 
and employees as well as the CONSULTANT's obligation under the law to take 
affirmative action to employ and advance in employment qualified employees and 
applicants with disabilities.  The CONSULTANT must ensure that applicants and 
employees with disabilities are informed of the contents of the notice (e.g., the 
contractor may have the notice read to a visually disabled individual, or may 
lower the posted notice so that it might be read by a person in a wheelchair). 

5. The CONSULTNAT will notify each labor organization or representative of 
workers with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract 
understanding, that the contractor is bound by the terms of section 503 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and is committed to take affirmative 

672



Consultant Contract - 14 
General Requirements 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

action to employ and advance in employment individuals with physical or mental 
disabilities. 

6. The CONSULTANT will include the provisions of this clause in every 
subcontract or purchase order in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), 
unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary issued pursuant 
to section 503 of the act, as amended, so that such provisions will be binding upon 
each subcontractor or vendor.  The CONSULTANT will take such action with 
respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the Deputy Assistant Secretary for 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs may direct to enforce such provisions, 
including action for noncompliance. 

673



Exhibits - 1 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT A-1 
CERTIFICATION OF CONSULTANT

Project No.       

I hereby certify that I am        a duly authorized representative of the firm of       whose 
address is       and that neither I nor the above firm I here represent has: 

(a) employed or retained for a commission, percentage, brokerage, contingent fee or other 
consideration, any firm or person (other than a bona fide employee working solely for me 
or the above CONSULTANT) to solicit or secure this contract. 

(b) agreed, as an express or implied condition for obtaining this contract, to employ or retain 
the services of any firm or person in connection with carrying out the contract. 

(c) paid, or agreed to pay, to any firm, organization or person (other than a bona fide 
employee working solely for me or the above CONSULTANT) any fee, contribution, 
donation or consideration of any kind for, or in connection with procuring or carrying out 
the contract; except as here expressly stated (if any). 

I further certify that the firm I here represent is authorized to do business in the State of 
Washington and that the firm is in full compliance with the requirements of the Board of 
Professional Registration. 

I acknowledge that this certificate is subject to applicable State and Federal laws, both criminal 
and civil. 

Date       Signature 

CERTIFICATION OF CITY OFFICIAL

I hereby certify that I am the responsible City official for the City of Oak Harbor, Washington, 
for this AGREEMENT and that the above consulting firm or its representative has not been 
required directly or indirectly as an express or implied condition in connection with obtaining or 
carrying out this contract to: 

(a) employ or retain, or agree to employ or retain, any firm or person; or 

(b) pay or agree to pay to any firm, person or organization, any fee, contribution, donation or 
consideration of any kind, except as here expressly stated (if any). 

Raymond McNamara
^ ^

Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.

*
*777 Chrysler Drive, Burlington, WA 98233

April 3, 2013

674



Exhibits - 2 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

I acknowledge that this certificate is subject to applicable State and Federal laws, both criminal 
and civil. 

Date       Signature 

675



Exhibits - 3 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT A-2 
CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, 

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS- 
PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

1. The CONSULTANT, through the prospective primary participant, certifies to the best of 
its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals: 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any State or 
Federal department or city; 

b. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or 
had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission or fraud or a criminal 
offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public 
(federal, state or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation 
of federal or state antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, 
forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, 
or receiving stolen property; 

c. are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a 
governmental entity (federal, state or local) with commission of any of the 
offenses enumerated in paragraph 1.b. of this certification; and 

d. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or 
more public transactions (federal, state or local) terminated for cause or default. 

2. Where the CONSULTANT, through the prospective primary participant, is unable to 
certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall 
attach an explanation to this proposal. 

Consultant (Firm):       

Date       President or Authorized Official or 
       Consultant Signature 

April 3, 2013

676



Exhibits - 4 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT B 
SCOPE OF WORK (ADD ON) 

Project No.      

See attached documents furnished by the Consultant

677



Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc.

Inspection & Laboratory Testing Services Visits Units Quantity Rate Cost
Utility Trench Compaction - Assumes 4 Trips 4 Hours 16  $       48.00  $              768.00 
Reservoir Area Subgrade Compaction & Backfill - Assumes 2 Trips 4 Hours 16  $       48.00  $              768.00 
Roadway Subgrade - Verify Subgrade, Storage Bed, Choker Courses, 6 
Trips 6 Hours 24  $       48.00  $           1,152.00 
Reservoir Area Asphalt Paving 1 Hours 8  $       48.00  $              384.00 
Roadway & Reservoir Area Perviour Asphalt Paving 2 Hours 16  $       48.00  $              768.00 
Proctor with Sieve Analysis - CSBC, Gravel for Trench Backfill, Foundation 
Gravel - Each 3  $     225.00  $              675.00 
Combined Gradation - Bedding For Electrical, Gravel Backfill for Dry 
Wells, Pipe Bedding, Choker Course and Storage Bed Products - Each 8  $       95.00  $              760.00 
Sand Equivalent - Incl. Extracted Asphalt Fine Aggregate - Each 5  $       80.00  $              400.00 
Fracture Percentage - Each 2  $       50.00  $              100.00 
Asphalt Extraction / Gradation - Paving Under Reservior - Each 1  $     225.00  $              225.00 
Asphalt Maximum Theoretical Specific Gravity (Rice Density) - Each 1  $       75.00  $                75.00 

 $           6,075.00 

Inspection & Laboratory Testing Services Visits Units Quantity Rate Cost
Reservoir Ringwall & Column Pad Foundations - Assumes 2 Pours 2 Hours 10  $       48.00  $              480.00 
Column Plinths 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
E Access Well Slab 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
E Access Well Walls 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
E Access Walls Upper Slab 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
Center Drain Slab 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
Center Drain Walls 1 Hours 5  $       48.00  $              240.00 
Concrete Test Cylinders - Set of 4, Per 50 CY - Each 40  $       18.00  $              720.00 

 $           2,640.00 

Inspection Service Visits Units Quantity Rate  Cost 
Fabrication Shop - AISC Approval Assumed - AWS Certified Welding 
Inspector (CWI) Audit Only 1 Hours 4  $       75.00  $              300.00 
AWS Certified Welding Inspector - Procedural qualifications testing (Visual 
inspection of welding with equal and smaller rod diameter per AWWA 
D100 Section 11.4.5.1) - Assumes 4 welders 3 Hours 18  $       75.00  $           1,350.00 
Site Erection & Visual Welding 12 Hours 72  $       56.00  $           4,032.00 
Non-Destructive Testing:  Ultrasonic Testing: 3 Hours 15  $       65.00  $              975.00 

Subconsultant: Mistras Group, Inc : Non-Destructive Testing: Radiographic 
Testing - 1 test per qualification procedure per welder, 1 test per 100 LF of 
butt splice weld per AWWA D100 Section 11.5.1 10 Hours 80  $     115.00  $           9,200.00 
Subconsultant: Mistras Group, Inc : Non-Destructive Testing: Radiographic 
Testing - 17" Film [Per Sheet] - Per sheet 50  $        5.52  $              276.00 
Subconsultant: Mistras Group, Inc : Non-Destructive Testing: Radiographic 
Testing - Darkroom Truck / Source [Per Day] - Per day 10  $       51.75  $              517.50 
Subconsultant: Mistras Group, Inc : Travel Mileage - 100 miles RT [Federal 
Mileage Rate] - per mile 1000  $        0.55  $              550.00 

 $         17,200.50 

Inspection Services Visits Units Quantity Rate Cost
Coatings Inspections - Full time during installation, 50 day duration assumed 
for estimate, assumed 9 hrs per day for inspection 50 Hours 450  $       99.00  $         44,550.00 
Proprietary Anchors - Epoxy - If Required - Hours 0  $       48.00  - 

 $         44,550.00 

Prepared: January 28, 2013. Based on drawings dated January 2013 provided by Gray and Osbourne

Subtotal - Structural Steel Welding & Bolting:
��Special Cases - including Epoxy & Proprietary Anchorage inspections, Floor Flatness Testing, Suspended Ceilings, Spray Applied Fire Resistive Materials and 
other specialty testing and inspection items such as coating inspection or roofing evaluation

Subtotal - Special Cases:

��Structural Steel Welding, High-Strength Bolting, Metal Decking & Seismic Force Resisting Systems - including verification 
and documentation of AWS & WABO certifications; as well as verification and documentation of materials and procedural compliance with AWS D1.1 and AWS D1.3

Subtotal - Reinforced Concrete:

��Reinforced Concrete - including inspection of all mild reinforcement, concrete placement observation, sampling and sample pick-up.

Geotechnical Engineering & Consulting � Materials Testing � Special Inspection � Environmental Consulting

��Earthwork & Soils - including visual inspections, nuclear density testing and related work; all associated laboratory testing below is based on WSDOT testing 
protocols, unless otherwise specified in project documents

Subtotal - Earthwork & Soils:

Project Name - North Reservoir - ENG#06-43

Estimate for Services
Project Location - Vicinity of Gun Club Rd and Rifle Rd, Oak Harbor, Washington

EXHIBIT B

678



Service Visits Units Quantity Rate Cost
Project Management - Hours 40  $       75.00  $           3,000.00 
Digital Report Production & Distribution - Hours 0  No Charge  - 
Trip Charge (Based on Round Trip Mileage, Portal to Portal) - Trips 0  No Charge  - 

 $           3,000.00 
 $       73,465.50 Budget Estimate for Services - Total: 

��Support Services

Subtotal - Support Services:

JBLM
1705 North “I” Street
Fort Lewis, WA 98433
P: (253) 302-4433
F: (253) 302-4433

NW Region
2126 E Bakerview Rd #101
Bellingham WA 98226
P: (360) 647-9295
F: (360) 647-8111

Kitsap Region
5451 NW Newberry Hill Road
Silverdale, WA 98383
P: (360) 698-6787
F: (360) 698-6787

Corporate Office
777 Chrysler Dr.
Burlington, WA 98233
P: (360) 755-1990
F: (360) 755-1980

SW Region
2118 Black Lake Blvd SW
Olympia, WA 98512
P: (360) 534-9777
F: (360) 534-9779

EXHIBIT B, CONT''D

679



Exhibits - 5 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT C 
PAYMENT (NEGOTIATED HOURLY RATE PLUS COSTS)

The CONSULTANT shall be paid by the CITY for completed work and services rendered under 
this AGREEMENT as provided hereinafter.  Such payment shall be full compensation for work 
performed or services rendered and for all labor, materials, supplies, equipment, and incidentals 
necessary to complete the work.  If a federal highway project, the CONSULTANT shall conform 
with all applicable portions of 48 CFR 31. 

1. Hourly Rates

 The CONSULTANT shall be paid by the CITY for work done, based upon the negotiated 
hourly rates shown in Exhibits "D-1" and "D-2" attached hereto and by this reference 
made part of this AGREEMENT.  The rates listed shall be applicable for the first twelve 
(12) month period and shall be subject to negotiation for the following twelve (12) month 
period upon request of the CONSULTANT or the CITY.  If negotiations are not 
conducted for the second or subsequent twelve (12) month periods within ninety (90) 
days after completion of the previous period, the rates listed in this AGREEMENT or 
subsequent written authorization(s) from the CITY shall be utilized for the life of the 
AGREEMENT.  The rates are inclusive of direct salaries, payroll additives, overhead and 
fees.

 In the event renegotiation of the hourly rates is conducted, the CITY reserves the right to 
audit for any change in the overhead rate currently in use by the CONSULTANT and 
modify the hourly rates to be paid to the CONSULTANT subsequent to the renegotiation 
accordingly.  Any changes in CONSULTANT's fixed hourly rates may include salary or 
overhead adjustments. 

2. Direct Non-salary Costs

 Direct non-salary costs will be reimbursed at the actual cost to the CONSULTANT.  
These charges may include, but are not limited to, the following items:  travel, printing, 
long distance telephone, supplies, computer charges, and fees of subconsultants.  Air or 
train travel will only be reimbursed to economy class levels unless otherwise approved by 
the CITY.  Automobile mileage for travel will be reimbursed as the current rate approved 
for CITY employees and shall be supported by the date and time of each trip with origin 
and designation of such trips.  Subsistence and lodging expenses will be reimbursed at 
the same rate as for CITY employees.  The billing for non-salary cost, directly 
identifiable with the PROJECT, shall be an itemized listing of the charges supported by 
the original bills, invoices, expense accounts, and miscellaneous supporting data retained 
by the CONSULTANT.  Copies of the original supporting documents shall be supplied to 
the CITY upon request.  All above charges must be necessary for the services provided 
under this AGREEMENT. 

680



Exhibits - 6 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

3. Management Reserve Fund

 The CITY may desire to establish a Management Reserve Fund to provide the Agreement 
Administrator the flexibility of authorizing additional funds to the AGREEMENT for 
allowable unforeseen costs, or reimbursing the CONSULTANT for additional work 
beyond that already defined in this AGREEMENT.  Such authorization(s) shall be in 
writing and shall not exceed the lesser of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000.00) or ten 
percent (10%) of the Total Amount Authorized as shown in the heading of this 
AGREEMENT.  The amount included for the Management Reserve Fund is shown in the 
heading of this AGREEMENT.  This fund may be replenished in a subsequent 
supplement agreement.  Any changes requiring additional costs in excess of the 
"Management Reserve Fund" shall be made in accordance with Section 11, "Extra 
Work". 

4. Maximum Amount Payable

 The maximum amount payable for completion of work under this AGREEMENT shall 
not exceed the amount shown in the heading of this AGREEMENT.  The maximum 
amount payable includes the Management Reserve Fund, but does not include payment 
for extra work as stipulated in Section 11, "Extra Work" of the General Requirements.  
No minimum amount payable is guaranteed under this AGREEMENT. 

5. Monthly Progress Payments

 Progress payments may be claimed on a monthly basis for all costs authorized in (1) and 
(2) above.  The monthly invoices shall be supported by detailed statements for hours 
expended at the rates established in Exhibits "D-1" and "D-2", including names and 
classifications of all employees, and invoices for all direct non-salary expenses.  To 
provide a means of verifying the invoiced salary costs for the CONSULTANT's 
employees, the CITY may conduct employee interviews.  These interviews may consist 
of recording the names, titles, salary rates, and present duties of those employees 
performing work on the project at the time of the interview. 

6. Inspection of Cost Records

 The CONSULTANT and his/her subconsultants shall keep available for inspection by 
representatives of the CITY, State, and the United States, for a period of three (3) years 
after final payment, the cost records and accounts pertaining to this AGREEMENT and 
all items related to or bearing upon these records with the following exception:  if any 
litigation, claim, or audit is started before the three (3) year period, the records shall be 
retained until all litigation, claims, or audit filings involving the records have been 
resolved.  The three (3) year retention period begins when the CONSULTANT receives 
final payment. 

681



Exhibits - 7 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

7. Final Payment

 Final payment of any balance due the CONSULTANT of the gross amount earned will be 
made promptly upon its verification by the CITY after the completion of the work under 
this AGREEMENT, contingent upon receipt of all PS&E, plans, maps, notes, reports, and 
other related documents which are required to be furnished under this AGREEMENT.
Acceptance of such final payment by the CONSULTANT shall constitute a release of all 
claims for payment which the CONSULTANT may have against the CITY unless such 
claims are specifically reserved in writing and transmitted to the CITY by the 
CONSULTANT prior to its acceptance.  Said final payment shall not, however, be a bar 
to any claims that the CITY may have against the CONSULTANT or to any remedies the 
CITY may pursue with respect to such claims. 

 The payment of any billing will not constitute agreement as to the appropriateness of any 
item and at the time of final audit, all required adjustments will be made and reflected in 
a final payment.  In the event that such final audit reveals an overpayment to the 
CONSULTANT, the CONSULTANT will refund such overpayment to the CITY within 
ninety (90) days of notice of the overpayment.  Such refund shall not constitute a waiver 
by the CONSULTANT of any claims relating to the validity of a finding by the CITY of 
overpayment. 

682



Exhibits - 8 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT D-1 
CONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION - SUMMARY SHEET

Project:       

Direct Salary Cost (DSC): 

Classification Man Hours x Rate  =  Cost

   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   

Total DSC =    $   

Overhead (OH Cost -- including Salary Additives): 
  OH Rate x DSC of    % x $    $   

Fixed Fee (FF): 
  FF Rate x DSC of    % x $    $   

Reimbursables:
  Itemized       $   

Subconsultant Costs (See Exhibit "G"):     $   

Grand Total         $   

Prepared by       Date     

683



Exhibits - 9 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT D-2 
CONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION - SUMMARY SHEET 

(Specific Rates of Pay) 

Fee Schedule 

Discipline or Job Title  Hourly Overhead Profit  Rate 
     Rate  @ % @ % Per Hour 

684



Exhibits - 10 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT F 
PAYMENT UPON TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT BY CITY 

OTHER THAN FOR FAULT OF THE CONSULTANT 
(Refer to General Requirements, Section 3)

Specific Rates of Pay Contracts
A final payment shall be made to the CONSULTANT for actual hours charged at the time of 
termination of this AGREEMENT plus any direct non-salary costs incurred at the time of 
termination of this AGREEMENT. 

685



Exhibits - 11 
6/17/2008 11:42 AM 

EXHIBIT G-1 
SUBCONSULTANT FEE DETERMINATION -- SUMMARY SHEET

Project:       

Direct Salary Cost (DSC): 

Classification Man Hours x Rate  =  Cost

   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   
   $   

Total DSC =    $   

Overhead (OH Cost -- including Salary Additives): 
  OH Rate x DSC of    % x $    $   

Fixed Fee (FF): 
  FF Rate x DSC of    % x $    $   

Reimbursables:
  Itemized       $   

Grand Total         $   

Prepared by       Date     

North Reservoir- ENG#06-43

 Special Ins. II 40.00 22.50 900.00

Eng. Tech I 80.00 18.00 1,440.00
Special Ins. III 72.00 23.50 1,692.00

NDT Tech I 15.00 30.88 463.20

Project Manager 40.00 39.66 1,589.40

6,763.96

20

20

6,763.96 1,352.80

2,955.00 591.00

63,801.26

Raymond McNamara
April 3, 2013

CWI 22.00 30.88 679.36

 55,093.50

686



Description Statement MTC Adj T Adj. Ref. Amount %

Direct Labor 1,272,030$      $1,272,030 100.00%

Fringe Benefits:
Vac,Sick,Hol and Bonus 202,058 -2200  -excess comp $199,858 15.71%
Payroll Taxes Direct & NonDir 254,105 -15533  238,572 18.76%
Insur-Medical & Dental 153,492 -9716 143,776 11.30%
Simple Pension Plan 21,517 21,517 1.69%
Fringe Benefit Adjustment $0 O 0 0.00%

Total Fringe Benefits $631,172 ($27,449) $0 $603,723 47.46%

General Overhead:
Office & Mngmt & NonBill-W 729,300 729,300 57.33%
Sales/Mrktng Wages 142,681 (135,074) I,N 7,607 0.60%
Proposals & Bids Wages 109,324 0 109,324 8.59%
Accntants/Audits 2,402 0 2,402 0.19%
Advertising 5,536 (5,236) N 300 0.02%
Bad Debt Exp 0 0 B 0 0.00%
Bank Service Chrg 602 602 0.05%
Books & Periodicals 1,848 1,848 0.15%
Bus Cards/forms/Uforms 6,367 6,367 0.50%
Charity & Donations 3,548 (3,548) M 0 0.00%
Cleaning Services 10,681 10,681 0.84%
Meetings Client & EE's 9,248 9,248 0.73%
Client Marketing 7,430 (7,430) I,N 0 0.00%
Computer Hardware 7,091 7,091 0.56%
Computer Software 6,206 6,206 0.49%
Comp Internet 12,386 12,386 0.97%

Consult/ Programing 7,216 7,216 0.57%
Dept Licenses & Certifictns 23,424 0 23,424 1.84%
Dues & Subscr 6,023 (400) H 5,623 0.44%
Drug Testing 892 892 0.07%
Education & Seminars 14,901 14,901 1.17%
Gasoline 41,872 0 41,872 3.29%
Gifts 969 (969) I 0 0.00%
Ins-Comm &Auto Liab 30,640 30,640 2.41%
Insurance-E&O 27,652 27,652 2.17%
Leases 156,008 -fed inc tx 156,008 12.26%
Legal 9,073 (8,000) K 1,073 0.08%
Lodging & Meals 5,363 5,363 0.42%
Maint Offc & Bldg 2,989 2,989 0.23%
Miscellaneous 1,131 (500) O -key life 631 0.05%
Mobile Phone/Accessories 47,077 47,077 3.70%

Postage/Shipping 3,917 -common contr 3,917 0.31%
Office Expenses 24,043  24,043 1.89%
Taxes- B & O 70,152  70,152 5.51%
Misc Taxes & Licenses 2,279  2,279 0.18%
Telephone 5,540 5,540 0.44%
Temporary Service 405 405 0.03%
Trash/Dump Fees 3,315 3,315 0.26%
Utility-Electricity 16,775 16,775 1.32%
Utility- Gas 2,826 2,826 0.22%
Utility- Water & Swg 4,662 4,662 0.37%
Vehicle Maint 29,200 29,200 2.30%
Vehicle Regis 903 903 0.07%
Depreciation 60,903 0 G 60,903 4.79%

0.00%
 -all goodwill 0 0.00%

Total General Overhead $1,654,800 ($161,157) $0 $1,493,643 117.42%

Total Overhead Costs $2,285,972 ($188,606) $0 $2,097,366 164.88%

Overhead Rate (Less FCC) 179.71% 164.88% 164.88%

Facilities Cost of Capital $0 $0 0.00%
$2,097,366

Overhead Rate (Includes FCC) 164.88%

Materials Testing & Consulting, Inc. 

Breakdown of Subconsultants Overhead Cost
EXHIBIT G-2

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

687



DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

CONTACTPRODUCER NAME:
FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:
PRODUCER
CUSTOMER ID #:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
INSURED INSURER A :

INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

ADDL SUBRINSR POLICY EFF POLICY EXPTYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITSPOLICY NUMBERLTR (MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)INSR WVD
GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE $

DAMAGE TO RENTED
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $
PRO- $POLICY LOCJECT

COMBINED SINGLE LIMITAUTOMOBILE LIABILITY $(Ea accident)
ANY AUTO

BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
ALL OWNED AUTOS

BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $
SCHEDULED AUTOS PROPERTY DAMAGE $(Per accident)HIRED AUTOS

$NON-OWNED AUTOS

$

UMBRELLA LIAB EACH OCCURRENCE $OCCUR
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

$DEDUCTIBLE

$RETENTION $
WC STATU- OTH-WORKERS COMPENSATION

TORY LIMITS ERAND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $

N / AOFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

© 1988-2009 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORDACORD 25 (2009/09)

OP ID: MF

04/03/2013

Phone: 360-647-9000
The Unity Group - Bellingham
110 Unity Street, P.O. Box X
Bellingham, WA 98227
Greg K. Poehlman, CIC

Fax: 360-734-8496

MATER-1

Materials Testing and
Consulting Inc
777 Chrysler Dr
Burlington, WA 98233-4100

American Fire & Casualty Co 24066
Endurance American Specialty

1,000,000
A X X X BKA54530460 07/01/2012 07/01/2013 100,000

X 15,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

X
X X 1,000,000

A X BAA54530460 07/01/2012 07/01/2013

X
A BKA54530460 07/01/2012 07/01/2013 1,000,000N WA STATE STOP GAP 1,000,000

1,000,000
B Professional Liab PPL10002153802 07/01/2012 07/01/2013 Occurrenc 1,000,000

DED:  $10,000 CLAIMS MADE Aggregate 2,000,000

Professional Liability: Deductible $10,000.  Occurrence Limit Retro Date    
01-21-2000. Aggregate Limit Retro Date 11-22-2011                           

                       ***SEE HOLDER NOTES***                               

OAK

City of Oak Harbor
865 SE Barrington Drive
Oak Harbor, WA 98277

688



PAGEHOLDER CODE   NOTEPAD: INSURED'S NAME DATE

OAK MATER-1 2
Materials Testing and OP ID: MF 04/03/13

Certificate holder is additional insured on General Liability as per      
CG8810 10/09 endorsement-includes Primary/Non-Contributory & Waiver of    
Subrogation. Per Project Aggregate applies as per CG8870 12/08. Also      
additional insured on Auto as per CA8810 01/10-includes Primary/Non-      
Contributory & Waiver of Subrogation.                                     

Additional Insured's cannot be added to Professional Liability policy.    

Cancellation provisions apply as per CL0103 10/02 endorsement on G/L,     
IL0146 09/07 on auto and 14-02-4231 07/2001 on Professional Liability.    

RE: North Reservoir Project

689



690



691



692



EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 
City Attorney – Nikki Esparza 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, effective August 1, 2014, by and between the City of Oak Harbor, hereinafter 
referred to as “City”, and Nikki Esparza, hereinafter referred to as “City Attorney”.  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to OHMC 2.06.010, Nikki Esparza has been appointed by the Mayor to the 
position of City Attorney and confirmed by the City Council; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City to provide certain benefits, establish certain conditions of 
employment, and to set working conditions for the position of City Attorney through an employment 
contract proposed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Attorney agrees to serve in that capacity subject to the terms and conditions set 
forth in this Employment Contract; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION OF the terms and conditions hereinafter set 
forth, the City and City Attorney agree as follows: 
 
1. Employment.  The City hereby employs the City Attorney to serve in this position for the City of 

Oak Harbor.  The duties of said position shall be to perform all duties assigned to the position of 
City Attorney as provided in the job description, the Oak Harbor Municipal Code, and 
Washington State law, together with such other and further duties and special projects as may be 
assigned to the City Attorney by the City’s Mayor and/or City Administrator.  Pursuant to 
OHMC 2.06.010 and 2.34.055 the City Attorney shall serve at the pleasure and at the discretion 
of the City’s Mayor. 

 
2. Duration of Employment.  This Employment Agreement shall become effective on August 1, 

2014, and shall continue indefinitely thereafter unless sooner terminated by the parties as 
provided in paragraphs 3 and 4 below. 

 
3. “At Will” – Termination by the City.   The City Attorney shall at all times during employment be 

considered an “At Will” employee, subject to termination by the City’s Mayor at any time with 
or without cause.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed other than an “At Will” 
employment relationship between the City and the City Attorney and the City Attorney expressly 
acknowledges that no contrary representations have been made by the City. 
 

4. Resignation – Termination by the City Attorney.  The City Attorney reserves the right to resign 
from employment at any time with or without cause.  The City Attorney agrees to give the City 
not less than one (1) month notice prior to the effective date of any such resignation. 

 
5. Compensation:  The City Attorney shall be compensated for services rendered during the term of 

this Agreement as follows: 
 

a. Base Salary.  The City Attorney shall receive a starting monthly salary of $8,195. After a 
satisfactory twelve month review, the City Attorney may be eligible for a step increase 

   
  Oak Harbor City Attorney 
  Employment Agreement 
  Page 1 of 5 

693



within the applicable range. The rate of pay may be adjusted annually thereafter 
consistent with the salary range and steps established for this position. The City Attorney 
shall be eligible for market-based salary adjustments consistent with those provided to 
other department heads. 

 
b. In the event that a salary and wage study is conducted, the City Attorney position shall be 

included.  
 

c. Benefits.  The City Attorney shall be entitled to a sick leave accrual of one day each per 
month, vacation leave accrual as set forth in the City Personnel Polices, and eleven paid 
holidays which includes one floating holiday of the City Attorney’s choice. 

 
 The City Attorney shall also receive all other benefits provided by the City of Oak Harbor to 

regular employees as they exist now or as they are modified in the future. The following 
describes the benefits as they exist on the effective date of the Agreement: 

 
• Medical insurance, premium paid 100% and 75% premium paid for spouse and 

dependent children. 
• Dental insurance, premium paid 100% and 75% premium paid for spouse and 

children. 
• Standard Insurance life insurance policy of  $25,000 paid for employee only 
• Enrollment in Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) retirement system. 

 
The City Attorney shall also be entitled to elect other voluntary benefit options as they exist now 
or as they are modified in the future. The following describes the voluntary benefits as they exist 
on the effective date of the Agreement:  
 

• Self-paid individual and/or family supplemental insurance coverage for Short-
term Disability, Cancer Care, and Critical Illness 

• Pre-tax deductions for Unreimbursed Expenses (except medical) and/or 
Dependent Day Care 

• Additional self-paid Voluntary Group Life Insurance 
• Self-paid enrollment in a choice of two Deferred Compensation Plans 

 
d. Timing of Monthly Payments – Deductions.  All monthly payments of salary and benefits 

shall be made at the same time and on the same date as the City’s regular payroll.  All 
such monthly payments shall be subject to all required state and federal deductions, 
including income tax, social security, and any other deduction required and authorized by 
law.   The City agrees to pay all employer contributions to FICA, worker’s compensation, 
and similar programs as required by law. 

 
6. Work Schedule.  The City Attorney is a confidential, exempt employee for purposes of the 

Federal Fair Labor Standards Act and as such shall not work a fixed forty hour per week 
schedule.  The City Attorney’s work shall generally be conducted at Oak Harbor City Hall 
during regular business hours of the City, Monday through Friday, provided, that the City 
Attorney shall receive time off for holidays according to the holiday schedule customarily 

   
  Oak Harbor City Attorney 
  Employment Agreement 
  Page 2 of 5 

694



observed by the City.  The City Attorney is also required to attend all meetings of the Oak 
Harbor City Council unless excused by the Mayor and such other staff meetings as requested by 
the Mayor or City Administrator or as required by the duties of the position.  

 
7. Severance Package.   
 
 a. Severance for At Will Termination.  In the event the City Attorney’s employment with 

the City is terminated for any reason other than those delineated in subparagraph (b) 
below, the City will provide the City Attorney a monthly severance payment equal to the 
monthly salary at the time of termination for a period of six (6) months after the effective 
date of termination.  The monthly amount shall be paid on the same schedule as the 
regular City payroll, and shall be subject to the same mandatory deductions as the City 
Attorney’s salary was prior to termination, except as provided for in Section 7.c. 

 
i. Reference.  In the event of termination of the City Attorney’s employment by the 

City, the City Attorney shall be entitled to an employment reference from the 
City, the language of which shall be agreed upon by the parties, provided, that in 
the event the parties cannot agree on the form of the reference, the City will 
provide only the dates of the City Attorney’s employment, the last position held, 
the last salary received, the fact that the City Attorney is no longer employed by 
the City. 

 
  ii. Unemployment Benefits.  The City will not oppose any unemployment benefit  

  claims  made by the City Attorney. 
 

b. Termination by Resignation or for Cause.  The severance package provided for in 
subparagraph (a) above shall not be available to the City Attorney if the termination of 
the City Attorney’s employment with the City is due to: 

 
i. Resignation.  The City Attorney’s voluntary resignation from employment.  For 

purposes of this paragraph, “voluntary resignation” means a written resignation of 
employment resulting from the free choice of the City Attorney and not the result 
of a suggestion to resign in lieu of termination made by formal action of the 
Mayor or City Council; or 

 
ii. Misconduct.  Criminal conduct, commission of any crime, abuse of public office, 

or other gross misconduct, including, but not limited to, fraud, deceit, 
embezzlement, theft of funds or property, assault, or sexual, racial, or other 
harassment; or  

 
iii. Job Performance.  Disbarment or suspension from the practice of law, 

insubordination, incompetence, inadequacy, or inefficiency of the City Attorney 
in the performance of official duties.   

 
c. Construction.  The severance package provided in subparagraph (a) above shall not be 

construed as an extension of the City Attorney’s employment beyond the termination 
   
  Oak Harbor City Attorney 
  Employment Agreement 
  Page 3 of 5 

695



date.  The City Attorney shall not, during the period between the termination date and the 
end of the severance payments, accrue any additional sick leave, vacation leave, health 
care benefit or other benefit accorded active City employees. 

 
8. Professional Development.  The City agrees to pay the reasonable professional dues and 

subscriptions necessary for continuation, enrollment and full participation of continued education 
in the field of municipal law. In addition, the City may pay for membership in such other 
associations or organizations, and may reimburse the City Attorney for attendance at annual 
conferences or the same and for such other professional development activities as the City 
Attorney may approve and as may be annually budgeted by the City Council. 

 
9. The City agrees to cover the City Attorney on the City’s liability insurance policies to the same 

extent as any regular employee of the City is covered for acts, errors, or omissions within the 
scope of employment.  All such liability insurance coverage shall be provided at the City’s sole 
cost and expense. 

 
10. The City of Oak Harbor agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the City Attorney from any and 

all costs, risk or liability associated with or arising out of acts or failures to act which are 
performed within the scope of employment as the City Attorney including the reasonable cost of 
legal defense by counsel appointed by the City or its insurance carrier, as applicable. This 
promise to indemnify shall exclude only criminal acts of the City Attorney and acts or failure to 
act which would constitute an intentional tort or intentional wrongdoing knowingly committed 
by the City Attorney without the express direction of the Mayor or City Administrator of the City 
of Oak Harbor.  This promise to hold harmless and indemnify shall survive beyond the 
employment of the City Attorney with the City of Oak Harbor in order that the City Attorney 
shall be held harmless, indemnified and defended in the future for all acts taken as the City 
Attorney subject to the limitations contained herein. 

 
11. Severability.  If any paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall be held by a 
 court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, said invalidity or unenforceability 
 shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase, 
 and to that end the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement shall be severable. 
 
12. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between 

the parties as to the terms and conditions of the City Attorney’s employment by the City and no 
other agreements or understandings, oral or otherwise, exist or shall be deemed binding upon the 
parties.  The Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument duly executed by both 
parties. 

 
 
 
Dated this __________________ day of __________________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
   
  Oak Harbor City Attorney 
  Employment Agreement 
  Page 4 of 5 

696



        For the City of Oak Harbor:     
 
        ____________________________________ 
        D. Scott Dudley, Mayor    
  
 
 
               
        Nikki Esparza, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Anna Thompson, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
        
Grant K. Weed, Interim City Attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
  Oak Harbor City Attorney 
  Employment Agreement 
  Page 5 of 5 

697



698



699



 

 
 
 RETAINER AGREEMENT 

FOR MUNICIPAL LEGAL AND SUPPORT SERVICES 
  
 
 I - PARTIES/EMPLOYMENT  

 The CITY OF OAK HARBOR (hereinafter "CITY") agrees to retain the law firm of 

WEED, GRAAFSTRA AND BENSON, INC., P.S., 21 Avenue A, Snohomish, Washington, and 

said law firm (hereinafter "ATTORNEY") agrees to  provide municipal law services and  legal 

support services on the terms and conditions stated below.  The ATTORNEY shall serve at the 

pleasure of the Mayor; PROVIDED, that all decisions relative to such employment, or 

termination of the same, shall be subject to confirmation by a majority vote of the City Council. 

 II - QUALITY OF SERVICES  

 The ATTORNEY shall perform all legal services covered by this contract in a capable 

and efficient manner, and in accordance with the professional and ethical standards of the 

Washington State Bar Association. 

 III - COMPENSATION  

 A. Basic Retainer:  The CITY shall pay the ATTORNEY a retainer in the amount of 

$4,200.00 per month, which retainer shall be compensation for up to 24 hours of work per month 

for the following legal services: 

 
  1. Between July 1, 2014 and July 31, 2014, to serve as Interim City Attorney 

for Oak Harbor and oversee and supervise the prosecution function for the CITY in 
municipal court. 

  
  2. From and after  August 1, 2014,  to provide municipal law services and 

support to the Mayor, Councilpersons, City Administrator, City Attorney and 
administrative heads of the various departments of the CITY under the direction of the 
Mayor, City Administrator and City Attorney.  

  
  3. To prepare such ordinances, resolutions, and instruments as the Mayor, 

City Council, City Administrator and City Attorney may direct, to render legal advice on 
all civil and criminal matters, and to prepare or review such correspondence, contracts, 
easements, and instruments as may be necessary and appropriate. To perform such other 
municipal legal services as requested. 

WGB Retainer Agreement   1 
7.1.14 – 6.30.15 

700



 

 

 B. Additional Services:  The CITY shall pay the ATTORNEY for the following 

additional or special legal services at the rate of $185.00 per hour, or, if said services are 

performed by a paralegal in the ATTORNEY's office the same shall be compensated at the rate 

of $140.00 per hour:  

 
  1. Time in excess of basic retainer.  Any and all hours expended on legal 

services referred to in paragraph A above (Basic Retainer) in excess of 24 hours per 
month. 

 
  2. Extra meetings.  Attendance, at the request of the Mayor or City 

Administrator, at evening meetings of CITY boards, City Council, commissions or 
committees. 

 
  3. Local Improvement Districts.  All legal services performed in connection 

with the formation and financing of any LID or ULID (although it is understood that the 
primary responsibility for this type of legal work will fall under the exceptions referred to 
in paragraph V below). 

 

 C. Litigation.  The CITY shall pay the ATTORNEY for all superior and appellate 

court litigation and all administrative hearings of a quasi-judicial nature, except those conducted 

by the CITY itself, at the rate of $195.00 per hour. 

 D. Time Records.  In order to determine appropriate compensation, the ATTORNEY 

shall maintain accurate time records, copies of which shall be made available to the CITY. 

 E. Time for Payment.  The CITY shall pay all compensation provided herein to the 

ATTORNEY on a monthly basis, and within two weeks of the date on which each billing 

statement is received. 

 IV - REIMBURSEMENT  

 In addition to compensation for the legal services specified above, the CITY shall 

reimburse the ATTORNEY for direct expenses incurred, and costs advanced, including but not 

limited to court costs, filing fees, witness fees, recording fees, copying expenses at cost, long 

distance phone calls, library charges for municipal law books, and the cost of travel, at the hourly 

rate one way, lodging and tuition relating to meetings of the Association of Washington Cities 

WGB Retainer Agreement   2 
7.1.14 – 6.30.15 

701



 

and Association of Municipal Attorneys which shall be pro-rated.  However, ordinary law office 

operating expenses, such as rent and secretarial services, shall not be compensated or 

reimbursed.  

 V - EXCEPTIONS 

 This contract shall not cover legal representation relating to insurance defense, the 

formation and financing of local improvement districts, or other specialized fields where it is 

agreed by the parties that other legal counsel should be retained. 

 VI - INSURANCE COVERAGE  

 The ATTORNEY shall provide errors and omissions, and malpractice insurance coverage 

while providing services under this Agreement.  Provided, the CITY shall indemnify and hold 

the ATTORNEY harmless from any and all claims brought by third parties against the 

ATTORNEY acting in said capacity.  

VII – EMPLOYMENT 

 The CITY agrees for a period of two years from the effective date of this Agreement it 

shall not employ or contract with any employee, former employee or independent contractor of 

WEED, GRAAFSTRA AND BENSON, INC., P.S., for services.  This provision shall survive 

expiration and/or termination of this Agreement. 

 

VIII - EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION 

 This contract shall take effect on July 1, 2014 and shall continue in effect through June 

30, 2015 unless earlier terminated or renegotiated by either party upon 60 days' written notice.   

WGB Retainer Agreement   3 
7.1.14 – 6.30.15 

702



 

 
 
DATED this _____ day of ___________, 2014. 
 
 
 
WEED, GRAAFSTRA AND  
BENSON, INC., P.S.      CITY OF OAK HARBOR 
 
 
By:_______________________________   By:______________________________ 
     GRANT K. WEED,  PRESIDENT       SCOTT DUDLEY, MAYOR   
  
  
     
       ATTEST:  
  
 
        By:______________________________ 
               ANNA THOMPSON, City Clerk 

WGB Retainer Agreement   4 
7.1.14 – 6.30.15 

703



704



705



706



707



708



709



710



711



712



713


	Regular Agenda for July 1, 2014 Council Meeting
	C/A 4.a Regular Minutes for June 3, 2014 and Workshop Minutes June 25, 2014
	C/A 4.b Approval of Payroll and Accounts Payable Vouchers
	Voucher Listings

	C/A 4.c CAB Appointment
	Biography of Terryl Lacey

	C/A 4.d Contract for Financial Advisor Services -PRM
	Draft Agreement for Financial Advisory Services

	C/A 4.e Lagoon Treatment Plant Outfall Pipe Emergency Repair
	Invoice and supporting documents

	C/A 4.f Island County Multi-Jurisdiction Hazard Mitigation Plan
	Island County Multi-Jurisdiction Hazard Mitigation Plan - 2014 Update
	Letter of Intent

	C/A 4.g Interlocal Agreement HOME Consortium
	Resolution 14-26
	Interlocal Agreement HOME Consortium
	Letter from Skagit County Board of Commissioners

	C/A 4.h Purchase authorization for Toro Mower
	C/A 4.i Opporntity Council Facilities Lease Agreement Update
	Lease Agreement

	C/A 4.j Lodging Tax Advisory Committee Appointments; Annual Membership Review
	Biography of Michelle Curry
	Biography of Ron Apgar

	C/A 4.k Planning Commission Appointment -Clifford Howard
	7.a Resolution Adopting the Island County Solid Waste and Moderate Risk Waste Management Plan
	Resolution 14-23
	Table 1-1 Summary of Recommendations
	Island County Solid Waste and Moderate-Risk Waste Management Plan

	9.a Police Department 2013 Annual Report
	2013 Annual Report

	9.b WWTP - GC/CM Agreement and Preconstruction Services
	A-133 Agreement
	Attachment 1 - A201
	Attachment 2 - Work plan breakdown
	Attachment 3 - WA State DOE
	Attachment 4 - Cost Responsibility Matrix
	Attachment 5 - Indemnification


	9.c 42 " Stormwater Outfall at Windjammer Park - KBA PSA, Amendment 1
	Amendment No. 1
	Original Agreement with KBA, Inc.
	Project Description
	Project Cost Summary

	9.d 42 " Stormwater Outfall - ERCI PSA, Amendment 2
	Amendment No. 2
	ERCI Scope of Services
	Project Cost Summary
	Original Agreement

	9.e North Reservoir - Gray & Osborne PSA, Amendment 1
	Amendment No. 1
	Project Scope of Work
	Project Cost Status
	Original Agreement

	9.f North Reservoir - Materials Testing and Constulting, Inc., PSA Amendment 1
	Amendment No. 1
	Change Order Request with MTC
	Project Cost Status
	Original Agreement

	9.g City Attorney Confirmation and Employment Agreement - Nikki Esparza
	Employment Contract

	9.h Retainer Agreement for Interim City Attorney and Legal Support Services
	Retainer Agreement for Weed, Graafstra and Benson

	9.i WA State Patrol Agreement
	WA State Patrol User Agreement





